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Prospectus

5,500,000 Shares

Complete

genomics

Common Stock

We are offering all of the 5,500,000 shares ofaammon stock offered by this prospectus.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global kgrunder the symbol “GNOM.” On May 25, 2011, thesing price of our common
stock as reported on The NASDAQ Global Market wh3.$2 per share.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degeeof risk. Before buying any shares, you should cafully read the discussion of
material risks of investing in our common stock in* Risk Factors” beginning on page 10 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission n@ny state securities commission has approved or digproved of these securities ¢
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complee. Any representation to the contrary is a crimind offense.

Per Share Total
Public offering price $ 12.5( $68,750,00
Underwriting discounts and commissions $ 0.687: $ 3,781,251
Proceeds, before expenses, to $11.812! $64,968,75

The underwriters have the option, exercisable domefore the thirtieth day after the date of thiggpectus, to purchase up to an additional
825,000 shares of our common stock at the publeriafy price, less the underwriting discounts aathmissions payable by us, to cover over-
allotments, if any. If the underwriters exercises thption in full, the total underwriting discourdad commissions will be $4,348,438, and our
total proceeds, before expenses, will be $74,784,06

The underwriters are offering the common stockea$asth under “Underwriting.Delivery of the shares will be made on or aboueJun2011

Jefferies UBS Investment Banl

Baird Cowen and Compan

The date of this prospectus is May 25, 2(
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You should rely only on the information contained m this prospectus. We have not, and the underwritexr have not, authorized anyone t
provide you with additional information or informat ion different from that contained in this prospectus. We are offering to sell, and
seeking offers to buy, shares of our common stockly in jurisdictions where offers and sales are peanitted. The information contained
in this prospectus is accurate only as of the dataf this prospectus, regardless of the time of deléry of this prospectus or of any sale of
shares of our common stock.
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Prospectus Summary

This summary highlights information contained elsexe in this prospectus and does not contain athefinformation you should consider in
making your investment decision. You should readsimmary together with the more detailed infoforgtincluding our financial statements
and the related notes, elsewhere in this prospedtas should carefully consider, among other thjrilges matters discussed in “Risk Factors”
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finah€ondition and Results of Operations” before nmakan investment decision. Unless
otherwise indicated, “Complete Genomics, Inc.,” “@plete Genomics,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “ot’ refer to Complete Genomics,
Inc.

” o

Our Company

We are a life sciences company that has developgd@mmercialized an innovative DNA sequencingfptat, and our goal is to become the
preferred solution for complete human genome sezjugrand analysis. Our Complete Genomics Analygiféd?m, or CGA Platform,

combines our proprietary human genome sequencitgpédogy with our advanced informatics and dataagament software and our
innovative, end-to-end, outsourced service modplowide our customers with data that is immedjatehdy to be used for genome-based
research. We believe that our solution providesl@cdc and biopharmaceutical researchers with campleman genomic data and analysis at
an unprecedented combination of quality, cost aadesvithout requiring them to invest in in-housgencing instruments, high-performance
computing resources and specialized personneleByving these constraints and broadly enablingarebers to conduct large-scale complete
human genome studies, we believe that our sollésthe potential to significantly advance medieakarch and expand understanding of the
basis, treatment and prevention of complex dise&ese launching our service in May 2010, we hsaguenced over 1,400 complete human
genomes, including over 600 in the first quarte2@f1, and, as of March 31, 2011, we had an oraeklbg of over 2,000 genomes.

We believe that our complete human genome sequgteitinology, which is based on our proprietary D&tfays and ligation-based read
technology, is superior to existing commerciallaigable complete human genome sequencing methadsms of quality, cost and scale. In
the DNA sequencing industry, complete human gensageencing is generally deemed to be coverageleasit90% of the nucleotides in the
genome. Because we have optimized our technolagfopin and our operations for the unique requireehhigh-throughput complete
human genome sequencing, we are able to achieueaagdevels of 99.999% at a total cost that isi§icantly less than the total cost of
purchasing and using commercially available DNAusging instruments and the necessary informatioogssing technology, and then
performing all the required sequence data asseanttyanalysis. We believe that we will be able tohier improve our accuracy levels and
reduce the total cost of sequencing and analysé)lig us to maintain significant competitive adzages over the next several years. Because
our technology resides only in our centralizedlfées, we can quickly and easily implement enhameets and provide their benefits to our
entire customer base. Our goal is to be the fostgany to sequence and analyze tqghlity complete human genomes, at scale, forad ¢ofs
of under $1,000 per genome.

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequenciimgtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdelata, requiring their customers to
invest significant additional resources to prodéss raw data into a form usable for research, ffigxr our customers an end-to-end, outsourced
solution that delivers research-ready genomic degahe cost of complete human genome sequenciclipnds, we believe the basis of
competition in our industry will shift from the dosf sequencing to the value of the entire sequensolution. We believe that our integrated,
advanced informatics and data management servidemmwerge as a key competitive advantage as thfs@ccurs.

Our genome sequencing center, which began comrhepszations in May 2010, combines a high-througlgample preparation facility, a
collection of our proprietary high-throughput seaciag instruments and a large- scale data centarc@stomers ship us their samples via
common carrier services such as Federal Express and
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United Parcel Service. We then sequence and antilgse samples and provide our customers withhigmisresearcheady data, enabling the
to focus exclusively on their single highest ptiprdiscovery.

Our customers include some of the leading globatlamic and government research centers and biopbatriical companies. At present, our
facility has the capacity to sequence and analyee 400 complete human genomes per month. We eXfiegtapacity to increase between
two- and three-fold by the end of 2011 as we depldgitional sequencers and increase the througifputr sequencing process through
software refinements and component upgrades. imeytears, we plan to construct additional genoemters in the United States and
international strategic markets to accommodatexaeaed growing global demand for high-quality, loast complete human genome
sequencing on a large scale.

Our Industry

Studying how genes differ between species and armatigiduals within a species, or genetic variaiphelps scientists to determine their
functions and roles in health and disease. Impmuwour understanding of the genome and its functi@ssdriven and, we expect, will continue
to drive advancements in medical research and d&mps. Genetic analysis products comprise instrusnand consumables, as well as
associated hardware, software and services dirigsthived in the study of DNA and RNA. Scientia Aslrs, a third-party research firm,
estimated genomic revenue in 2009 to be approxlyn@ge8 billion and projects the market to groweaggproximately $9.0 billion by 2014.
Scientia Advisors further estimates that human geos research will grow from $4.6 billion in 2009$7.3 billion in 2014.

The primary genetic analytical methods traditionpabed by genetic researchers fall into three caitegt DNA sequencing, genotyping and
gene expression analysis. DNA sequencing is theegsoof determining the exact order, or sequeri¢beandividual nucleotides in a DNA
strand so that this information can be correlatetihé genetic activity influenced by that segmdridNA. Genotyping is the process of
examining certain known mutations or variationsh@ DNA sequence of genes to determine whethepahéular variant can be associated
with a specific disease susceptibility or drug ese. Gene expression analysis is the processafieing the molecules that are produced
when a gene is activated, or expressed, to deterwlirether a particular gene is expressed in afspb@logical tissue.

The Importance of Complete Human Genome Sequencirgnd the Limitations of Existing Technologies

One of the most difficult challenges facing the giimresearch and analysis industry is the neéapoove our understanding of how genes
contribute to diseases that have a complex patteimheritance. For many diseases, multiple geaeb enake a subtle contribution to a
person’s predisposition or susceptibility to a dseor response to a drug treatment protocol. Aangly, we believe that unraveling this
complex network will be critical to understandingnan health and disease. We believe that sequeosimglete human genomes is the most
comprehensive and accurate method by which to eelieese objectives and improve our understandihgiman disease.

Innovations in DNA sequencing have led to the dawelent of high-throughput sequencing technologiesymonly referred to as next-
generation or second-generation sequencing, whiaduge thousands to millions of sequences at dkldtgough secondyeneration sequencit
technologies have led to dramatic reductions it and improvements in quality and throughput famptete human genome sequencing, they
were designed as general-purpose instruments doeseing the DNA or RNA of plants, animals, baetemd viruses. We believe the key
limitations of the model of purchasing and usingosel-generation technologies for sequencing laugebers of complete human genomes
include the following:

= High Cost. Laboratories using commercially available DEguencing instruments cannot sequence completarhgenomes at a
price low enough to make lar-scale projects affordable to research

= |nsufficient Scaleand Speed. Laboratories using commercially available DEguencing instruments typically require month
sequence all of the genomes for large projt
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= Difficulty of Data Management. Many users of commercially available DNA seugirg instruments lack the costly comput
resources, storage capacity, network bandwidthspedialized personnel to process and analyze tksiveadata sets generated by
sequencing complete human genon

Our Solution

We have developed a novel approach focused on edenplman genome sequencing. Our solution combumegroprietary sequencing
technology, which achieves accuracy levels of 9889with our advanced informatics and data managesadtware and our innovative, end-
to-end service model to deliver researehdy genomic data at a total cost that is siganifily less than the total cost of purchasing aretatmnc
commercially available DNA sequencing instruments.

Proprietary Sequencing Technology

Our patterned DNA nanoball, or DNB, arrays, duéhtgir small size and biochemical characteristiogbde us to pack DNA very efficiently on
a silicon chip. In addition, we have developedghhi accurate combinatorial probe-anchor ligatimngPAL, read technology, which enables
us to read DNA fragments efficiently using smalhcentrations of low-cost reagents, while retairemggemely high single-read accuracy. We
believe this unique combination of our proprietB){B and cPAL technologies is superior in both dqyadind cost when compared to other
commercially available approaches and providesitissignificant competitive advantages. As repoitethe January 2010 edition Stience,
we sequenced a complete human genome at a conssneait of approximately $1,800 and with a conseaswr rate of approximately 1
error in 100,000 nucleotides. Our read accuracyfudBer validated by one of our customers, théitite for Systems Biology, or ISB, as
published inScience Expreda March 2010. We have continued to reduce ourscolstonsumables, and, currently, our consumalsis are
under $1,000 per genome.

Advanced Informatics and Data Management

Sequencing complete human genomes generates sidistarounts of data that must be managed, stard@nalyzed. To address this
potential need by our customers, we have builtreogecs data processing facility with computing &sfiructure for managing both small- and
large-scale genomic sequencing projects. Our petgisi assembly software uses advanced data analgsisthms and statistical modeling
techniques to accurately reconstruct over 90% ettimplete human genome from approximately tw@ohilf0-base reads. After assembling
the genomic data, we use our analysis softwargetatify and annotate key differences, or variantgach genome.

By using our analytical tools and data managemefidvare, our customers can significantly reducertileestments in computing
infrastructure. Our customers are provided witfatBé access to assembled and annotated sequdnda daultiple formats to ease data
sharing and comparative analyses. In additiongdata storage options provide flexibility and alloustomers to customize their data
management strategy based on their particular bssjroperational and scientific requirements. Wi lieveloped a suite of open source
analytical tools, called CGA™Tools, designed tol#eaur customers to rapidly analyze the data wegde from their samples. We are also
developing additional analytical tools, such agradr-normal comparison tool designed to allow canesearchers to compare a cancer
genome to the normal genome from which it was @eri\As the reagent cost of sequencing decline®elveve that the cost and complexity of
data analysis and management will emerge as thepyiconstraint for conducting complete human gemamalysis.

Innovative, End-to-End Outsourced Solution

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequencimgtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdetata, our end-to-end, outsourced
solution enables our customers to offload to usctimaplex processes of sample
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preparation, sequencing, computing and data st@adenanagement. We believe our services will edplae potential addressable market by
enabling a broad base of researchers who may tdfikient capital and the specialized personnekssary to build and operate a sequencing
laboratory, or who have historically been consediby the high total cost of sequencing, to conthrge-scale complete human genome
studies.

Our end-to-end solution provides the following athages to our customers:
= High-Quality Data. Our technology delivers what we believe isititstry' s highest quality complete human genome ¢

= Cost-Savings.  Our customers can avoid purchasing expensiyeeseing instruments and high-performance computisgurces or
hire the necessary specialized personnel to sequetttanalyze large sets of complete human genatae

= Speed at Scale.  Our customers can often complete their |-scale projects more quickly by using our servitestby using
commercially available sequencing instrume

» Easeof Use. We believe our customers can avoid the difficahd tim-consuming process of purchasing and operating tueir
sequencing instruments and can outsource the gmtioess to us, from sample preparation to delieérgsearc-ready data

= Operational Flexibility. By outsourcing their large-scale complete hug@mome sequencing projects to us, our customar§ea
up the capacity of -house instruments to run smaller or more targetgdencing projects and applicatio

= Technological Flexibility. As DNA sequencing technology improves, our aoers will have available to them the latest tedbo
that we have implemented, and they avoid the rigkair expensive instruments becoming technoldlyicbsolete.

= Enables Customersto Focuson Discovery.  Outsourcing offloads the operational burdensiahaging larc-scale genom
sequencing projects and enables our customergts their resources on their strength in reseavhich can reduce the time to
discovery.

We have more than 40 past and current customeishwritlude some of the leading global academicgmdernment research centers and
biopharmaceutical companies. In May 2010, we reszean order from SAIC-Frederick, Inc., under a dbizi Cancer Institute prime contract,
to use our sequencing and bioinformatics end dfieeervices to sequence and analyze 50 tumor-abpairs, or 100 complete human
genomes. This contract contains a provision forGGAtederick to engage us at its option to sequerare than 500 additional cancer cases, or
more than a 1,000 complete human genomes, oveB-amohth period. In addition, we sequenced compgetemes that enabled ISB to
pinpoint the causal gene, and subsequently corfieingene’s role, in Miller Syndrome. This work hed to two follow-on projects with the

ISB to sequence an additional 122 and 615 genamgsectively. We also worked with Genentech, Inanémber of the Roche Group) on a
non-small cell lung cancer study that was the fimhplete human genome sequence of a primary nati-sell lung tumor and matched

normal tissue. The data we delivered allowed Gesodnto measure the rate of smoking-induced mutatacumulated over time.

Applications for Our Sequencing Service

Potential applications for our complete human gemseqguencing service include:

= Cancer Research. We believe understanding genetic mutationsaircer patients will guide development of new caticerapeutic:
and diagnostics and ultimately enable doctors lectéhe best course of therapy based on the $peuiftations found in a tumc

= Mendelian Disease Research. By sequencing the complete genomes of famdlifected with Mendelian diseases, which likely have
a significant genetic component, we believe theeiertauses of these diseases can be discoverat, eduld lead to the developm:
of novel diagnostics and therapeuti
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Rare Variant Disease Research.  Largescale genomic studies of central nervous systeardbss, cardiac disease and cer
metabolic disorders may help to identify disruppethways and lead to the development of novel distirs and therapeutic

Clinical Trial Optimization. We believe that selecting or stratifying patieon the basis of their genetic profiles couldd@ahe
preferential admission of high responders intoicéihtrials, lowering costs and resulting in fastinical trials and drug
commercialization

In addition to these research studies, we expeateiclinical applications to include:

Companion Diagnostics.  We believe that therapeutics that are not-fin& treatments for the general population maglesated to
first-line treatments or used in combination théagor subsets of the population that share a comgenetic profile. Complete
human genome studies may unlock new market opptesifior these therapies or combination theray

Cancer Pathology. We believe that analyzing complex cancer gersotingt involve large and unpredictable structunanges will
be most reliably and economically implemented usiognplete human genome sequenc

Universal Diagnostics.  As medical records technology and public hepdilicy advance, we believe that large numbersopfe
will have their complete human genomes sequenceédtamned in their electronic medical records fag bg their physicians in
managing their health care decisic

Competitive Strengths
We believe that our competitive strengths are Hevis:

Proprietary Human Genome Sequencing Technology.  Our proprietary sequencing technology achiegesiracy levels of 99.999
at a total cost that is significantly less thanttital cost of purchasing and operating commescelailable DNA sequencing
instruments and the necessary information procgg¢etchnology, and then performing all the requseduence data assembly and
analysis.

Fully Integrated Advanced | nformatics and Data Management Software.  Our solution enables our customers to manadgeyaim
useful information from the massive data sets gdedrin complete human genome sequent

Highly Scalable and Capital-Efficient BusinessModel .  Consolidating volume across our entire custdnase enables us
sequence large numbers of genomes while avoidimgdkt and complexity of employing a large fielsgtallation and support
organization. By implementing a high degree of eation, we have reduced the possibility of humaarsrthat could adversely affe
quality and increase cos

Unique Insight Into Customer Needs. We interact directly with our customers onittliiscovery projects, which enables us
develop and enhance our analysis software to meetustomers’ specific needs while expanding owteustanding of variation in the
human genome

Fast and Efficient Deployment of Operational and Technological Enhancements. Because our sequencing operations and data «
are centralized, we can rapidly upgrade our tedgyand deliver the benefits to our customersdiitéon, our access to genomic ¢
allows our software engineers to continually refamel improve our software with each genome we sempu

Expanded Market Opportunity . We believe our outsourced model will exparelpgbtential addressable market by providing
academic and biopharmaceutical researchers whasld€kient budgets or the specialized personneéssary to build and operate a
sequencing laboratory with access to l-quality, low-cost complete human genome di
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Our Strategy

We intend to become the leading complete humanrgersequencing and analysis company and the prefelagform for human genome
discovery by:

continuing to deliver the highest quality genomitadand analysis at a low total cc
maintaining and strengthening our technolc

capitalizing on our scalable mod

establishing ourselves as the leader in outsoureetblete human genome sequenc
expanding globally to increase capacity and reash markets

exploring strategic partnerships and collaboratiams!

expanding applications for the use of our techngl

Risks Associated with our Business

Our business is subject to numerous risks, as sistlmore fully in the section entitled “Risk Fastommediately following this prospectus
summary. These risks include the following, amotiters:

We are an early, commerc-stage company and have a limited operating his
We may need substantial additional capital in titark in order to maintain and expand our busir
We have a history of losses, and we may not actoegestain profitability in the future, on a quaty or annual basi

Our only source of revenue is our human genomeesexjg service, which is a new business model iamaerging industry, an
failure to achieve market acceptance will harmmusiness

Our order backlog may never be completed, and wemager earn revenue on backlogged contracts toeseg genomes; our ability
to convert backlog orders into revenue is depenitepart on our receiving genomic samples fromauwstomers, which can follow a
signed order by weeks or mont|

The presence or absence in a specific quarterembomore new large orders for hundreds of genanascause our results
operations and backlog to fluctuate significantlyaoquarterly basi:

Our success depends on the growth of markets fdysia of genetic variation and biological functi@md the shift of these markets to
complete human genome sequenc

We face significant competition from large, welpdalized companies. The emergence of new competifenome sequencing
technologies may also harm our busin

We must significantly expand our capacity in orttereach profitability

If our Mountain View genome sequencing facility betes inoperable, we will be unable to perform amame sequencing servic
and our business will be harme

If third parties assert, as they currently are disgg that we have infringed their patents or oftvprietary rights or challenge t
validity of our patents or other proprietary rightee may become involved in costly and time-consgdisputes and litigation that
could affect our ability to sell our service

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the state of Delaware ore I, 2005. The address of our principal executffiees is 2071 Stierlin Court, Mountain
View, California 94043, and our telephone numb&6&0) 943-2800. Our website address is www.coregltomics.com. We do not
incorporate the information on, or that can be ased through, our website into this prospectus,yandshould not consider it part of this
prospectus.
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Common stock offered by Complete Genon
Common stock to be outstanding after this offe

NASDAQ Global Market symbc
Use of proceeds

Risk factors

The Offering

5,500,000 shares (or 6,325,000 shares if the unidersvexercise their ov-allotment
option in full).

31,488,934 shares (or 32,313,934 shares if therumitiers exercise their ov-allotment
option in full).

“GNOM”

We currently intend to use the net proceeds ofdfiering for capital expenditures to
expand the sequencing and computing capacity iMmumtain View and Santa Clara
leased facilities, to finance the further developtraf our sequencing technology and
services, for sales and marketing activities amdviarking capital and other general
corporate purposes. Please “Use of Proceec”

See “Risk Factors” starting on page 10 of this peasus for a discussion of factors you
should carefully consider before deciding to invastur common stoclt

The number of shares of common stock to be outstgradter this offering is based on 25,988,934 shautstanding as of March 31, 2011 and

excludes:

= 2,875,125 shares of common stock issuable uporierenf options outstanding as of March 31, 201th wiweighte-average

exercise price of $2.40 per shs

= 27,500 shares of common stock issuable upon vesfirggstricted stock units outstanding as of M&8th2011,;

= an aggregate of 5,207,396 shares of common steekwed for future issuance under our 2010 Equitemtive Award Plan and
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as well as any atitbimereases in the number of shares of our comstack reserved for future

issuance under these benefit plans;

= 2,165,323 shares of common stock subject to war@ustanding as of March 31, 2011 with a weig-average exercise price

$2.42 per shart

Except as otherwise indicated, all informationhis tprospectus reflects or assumes no exercideeafrtderwriters’ over-allotment option.
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Summary Financial Data

The following tables set forth a summary of outdvigal financial data as of, and for the perioddex on, the dates indicated. You should read
these tables together with our financial statemantsthe related notes, “Selected Financial Datd"8anagement’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationglliided elsewhere in this prospectus. The stateafaerations data for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are derived fianawdited financial statements included elsewiretbis prospectus. The statement of
operations data for the three months ended MarcB@I0 and 2011, and the balance sheet data aarehN1, 2011 are derived from our
unaudited financial statements included elsewhethis prospectus. The unaudited financial statésiesave been prepared on a basis
consistent with our audited financial statementsiaclude, in the opinion of management, all adpestts, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for the fair statementeofittancial information in those statements. Ostdrical results are not necessarily indicative
of the results to be expected in any future perod], the results for the three months ended Mat¢i2@L1 are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for the year ending Dece®be2011.

Three months ended
Years ended December 31, March 31,

2008 2009 2010 2010 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ — $ 622 $ 9,38¢ $ 33¢ $ 6,83:
Operating expense

Cost of revenu — — — — 6,58
Star-up production cost — 5,03z 19,89¢ 4,07 —
Research and developm 23,63 22,42 21,69 6,16¢ 6,80¢
General and administrati\ 3,17¢ 4,95: 9,34t 3,09¢ 2,78(
Sales and marketir 1,04¢ 1,79¢ 6,111 1,22¢ 2,70C
Total operating expens: 27,85 34,20¢ 57,04 14,57 18,87(
Loss from operation (27,857 (33,58%) (47,659 (14,23%) (12,039
Interest expens (974 (3,46%) (2,827) (311 (340
Interest and other income (expense), 437 1,101 (7,207 21C (87)
Net loss (28,39¢) (35,949 (57,687 (14,33¢) (12,46)
Deemed dividend related to beneficial conversiatuee of
Series E convertible preferred stc — — (405) — —
Net loss attributed to common stockhold $(28,399) $(35,949 $ (58,09 $(14,33¢) $ (12,46)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $(369.3¢) $(386.5¢) $ (13.60 $ (51.1% $ (0.4¢)
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstandgied in
computing net loss per share, basic and dil 76,87 92,99¢ 4,271,17 280,28: 25,959,92

8
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The table below presents our balance sheet datbMarch 31, 2011:
= on an actual basis; al

= 0on an as adjusted basis to give effect to theadfleb00,000 shares of common stock in this offganhthe public offering price, aft
deducting underwriting discounts and commissiortsestimated offering expenses payable by
March 31, 2011

As
Actual adjusted

(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivale $ 68,79: $132,86(
Working capital 64,69¢ 128,76¢
Total asset 105,08¢ 169,15¢
Current and lon-term notes payabl 24,13¢ 24,13¢
Total stockholder equity 62,75¢ 126,82!
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Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. You should carefully consider the follogwrisk factors, as well as the otk
information in this prospectus, before deciding thiee to invest in shares of our common stock. Tdoeiwence of any of the events described
below could harm our business, financial conditimsults of operations and growth prospects. Irhsaic event, the trading price of our
common stock may decline and you may lose all drgfgour investment.

Risks Related to Our Limited Operating History, Fin  ancial Condition and Capital Requirements

We are an early, commercial-stage company and have a limited operating history, which may make it difficult to evaluate our current
business and predict our future performance.

We are an early, commercial-stage company and &éivdited operating history. We were incorporated®elaware in June 2005 and began
operations in March 2006. From March 2006 until 12009, our operations focused on research and @ewent of our DNA sequencing
technology platform. In December 2009, we recoghizer first revenue from the sale of our genomeisaging services, and in 2010 and the
three months ended March 31, 2011, our revenueb@dsmillion and $6.8 million, respectively. Oumited operating history, particularly in
light of our novel, service-based business modéténrapidly evolving genome sequencing industrgry make it difficult to evaluate our
current business and predict our future performa®ce lack of a long operating history, and espgbc@ur very short history as a revenue-
generating company, make any assessment of outgtitify or prediction about our future success/@bility subject to significant
uncertainty. We have encountered and will contitauencounter risks and difficulties frequently esipeced by early, commercial-stage
companies in rapidly evolving industries. If wemlat address these risks successfully, our busimgissuffer.

Based on our current operating projections, we will need substantial additional capital in the futurein order to maintain and expand our
business. A failure to secure additional capital will have a material effect on our ability to meet our long-term objectives.

Our future capital requirements are substantiatjqdarly as we further develop our business, expthe sequencing and computing capacity
in our Mountain View and Santa Clara, Californiaded facilities and establish additional genomeaecjng centers. Historically, we have
financed our operations through private placemehgseferred stock, convertible debt, borrowingslemour credit facility, secured debt and
through our recently completed initial public offe.

We believe that, based on our current level of afp@ns and anticipated growth, our cash and caslvaent balances, including interest
income we earn on those balances, when taken &metth the proceeds from this offering, will befftient to meet our anticipated cash
requirements beyond 12 months from the date ofafféing. Based on our current operating projediovithout giving effect to the proceeds
from this offering, we will need additional capitalfund our operations in 2012 and to expand asiress to achieve our longer term business
objectives.

We may not be able to raise sufficient additiom@dificing on terms that are acceptable, if at dlle@the risks associated with our business,
including our limited operating history and our nbusiness model in an emerging industry, and rediffitulties for life sciences companies
raising funds in the capital markets, we may beblento raise additional capital in the amounts @aguire, if at all. Our failure to raise
additional capital in sufficient amounts, will segly impact our ability to operate our busines®.2 and meet our long-term business
objectives. In addition, if future financings invelthe issuance of equity securities, our exissitmgkholders would suffer dilution. If we raise
additional debt financing, we may be subject toittmital restrictive covenants that limit our ahjlio conduct our business. If we fail to raise
sufficient funds and continue to incur losses, ahility to operate our business, take advantagerafegic opportunities, further develop and
enhance our technology or otherwise respond to etitiye pressures could significantly suffer. listhhappens, we may be forced to:

= slow or halt the expansion of our Mountain Viewiliacand the establishment of additional genomgusscing center:
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= slow the commercialization of our servic

= delay or terminate research or development progr

= curtail or cease operations;

= seek to obtain funds through collaborative anchieg arrangements, which may require us to relgiggommercial rights or grant

licenses on terms that are not favorable tc

The amount of additional capital and timing at viee require the additional capital necessary il four operations and expand our business
depends on many factors, including:

= the financial success of our genome sequencingéss

= our ability to increase the sequencing and comgutapacity in our Mountain View and Santa Claraéebfacilities:

= the rate at which we establish additional genongeesecing centers and whether we can find suitadnfmers to establish such centt
if at all;

= whether we are successful in obtaining paymentsa frostomers

= whether we can enter into collaborations or esthldirecurring customer ba:

= the progress and scope of our research and develdprojects

= the effect of any joint ventures or acquisitiontfer businesses or technologies that we may eriteor make in the future
= the filing, prosecution and enforcement of patdaints; anc

= the costs associated with lawsuits brought agaisisly third parties, including our current litigatiwith Illumina, Inc.

We have a history of losses, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future, on a quarterly or annual basis.

We have not been profitable in any quarterly pesiode we were formed. We incurred net losses 8f4gillion, $35.9 million and

$57.7 million for the years ended December 31, 20089 and 2010, respectively. As of March 31, 2@Lt accumulated deficit was $151.3
million (unaudited). Based on our current operafifans and assumptions, we do not expect to aclpi@fiability on an annual basis in the
near future. In addition, we expect our cash exjteres to increase significantly in the near teimejuding significant expenditures for the
expansion of our Mountain View, California sequeciacility, research and development, sales anttetiag and general and administrative
expenses and the possible development of additgmtplencing centers. We may encounter unforesffeuliies, complications and delays in
expanding our Mountain View sequencing facilityimestablishing additional genome sequencing certed other unforeseen factors that
require additional expenditures. These costs, amtmey factors, have had and will continue to havedverse effect on our working capital
and stockholders’ equity. We will have to geneiatd sustain substantially increased revenue t@eeldnd maintain profitability, which we
may never do. If we are unable to achieve and thaimtain profitability, the market value of our comon stock will decline.

Our operating results may fluctuate in the future. As a result, we may fail to meet or exceed the expectations of research analysts or
investors, which could cause our stock priceto decline.

Our financial condition and operating results magtiiate from quarter to quarter and year to yedhé future due to a variety of factors, m
of which are beyond our control. Factors relatim@tr business that may contribute to these fldictna include the following, as well as other
factors described elsewhere in this prospectus:

= our ability to achieve profitability
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our need for and ability to obtain capital necegsamperate and expand our busin

the size and frequency of customer ord

the presence or absence in a specific quarterebomore new large orders for hundreds of geno
our ability to expand our sequencing operati

the cost of our sequencing servic

the demand for the sequencing of complete humaarges;

the existence and extent of government fundingdsearch and development relating to genome seingg
the emergence of alternative genome sequencingaéajies;

risks associated with expanding our business mtrmational market:

our ability to lower the average cost per genonag We sequenct

our dependence on sin-source suppliers

our ability to manage our growt

our ability to successfully partner with other messes in joint ventures or collaborations, orgrdte any businesses we may acquire
with our business

our dependence on, and the need to attract arid,rkéy management and qualified sales persol

our ability to obtain, protect and enforce our lietetual property rights and avoid infringing thetellectual property rights of othel
our ability to prevent the theft or misappropriatiof our knov-how or technologies

lawsuits brought against us by third part

business interruptions, such as earthquakes aed odtural disaster

public concerns about the ethical, legal and sadaterns related to the use of genetic informa

our ability to comply with current laws and regidais and new or expanded regulatory schel

our ability to properly handle and dispose of hdeas materials used in our business and biologiaeate; anc

our ability to use our net operating loss carryfargs to offset future taxable incon

Due to the various factors mentioned above, anerstthe results of any prior quarterly or annualqals are not necessarily indicative of our
future operating performance.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our only source of revenue isour human genome sequencing service, which is a new business model in an emerging industry, and failure to
achieve market acceptance will harm our business.

Since our inception, all of our efforts have beecuksed on the creation of a technology platformofarhuman genome sequencing service,
which we have only just recently commercialized. #¥pect to generate all of our revenue from ourdnugenome sequencing service for the
foreseeable future. As a result, market acceptahoar human genome sequencing service is criticalir future success.

Providing genome sequencing as a service is a ndwiproven business model in a relatively newrapétly evolving industry. We are usi
proprietary technology, involving multiple scieitiind engineering disciplines, and a novel sermoelel to bring complete human genome
sequencing to an unproven market. Historically,
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companies in this industry have sold sequencingumeents directly to customers, and the customgopas the sequencing itself. We do not
know if the purchasers and users of sequencingumsints will adopt our service model. For examplany potential customers want to
sequence human genomes for proprietary studiesrénaiead to discoveries which they would seek«aat, either commercially or through
the publication of scientific literature. Accordiggthese potential customers may have significasérvations about allowing a third party to
control the sequencing processes for their pragayettudies. Alternatively, other potential custosn@ay want to sequence only portions of
human genomes, rather than complete human gendimexe are many reasons why our services mightexirne widely adopted, ranging
from logistical or quality problems to a failure byr sales force to engage potential customersirethading the other reasons stated in this
“Risk Factors” section. As a result, our genomeuseging service may not achieve sufficient markeegatance to allow us to become
profitable.

Our success depends on the growth of markets for analysis of genetic variation and biological function, and the shift of these marketsto
complete human genome sequencing.

We are currently targeting customers for our gensatgiencing service in academic and governmeranaséstitutions and in the
pharmaceutical and other life science industries. €dstomers are using our service for small- angelscale human genome studies for a v
variety of diagnostic and discovery applicationse3e markets are new and emerging, and they majemetop as quickly as we anticipate, or
reach their full potential. The development of tharket for complete human genome sequencing ansuitess of our service depend in part
on the following factors:

= demand by researchers for complete human genomerseiqg;

= the usefulness of genomic data in identifying eating diseas¢

= the ability of our customers to successfully analyfze genomic data we provic

= the ability of researchers to convert genomic d@tamedically valuable informatiol

= the capacity and scalability of the hardware stere@mponents necessary to store, manage, backaip, aad safeguard genomic d¢
and

= the development of software tools to efficientlaah, correlate and manage genomic ¢

For instance, demand for our genome sequencingceenay decrease if researchers fail to find meguolrcorrelations between genetic
variation and disease susceptibility through genarte association studies. In addition, factorgetihg research and development spending
generally, such as changes in the regulatory emwiemt affecting pharmaceutical and other life sséecompanies and changes in government
programs that provide funding to companies andarebeinstitutions, could harm our business. If auget markets do not develop in a timely
manner, demand for our service may grow at a sloaterthan we expect, or may fall, and we may obhtewve profitability.

To date, relatively few complete human genomes baes sequenced, in large part due to the highofdastgescale sequencing. Our busin:
plan assumes that the demand for sequencing capletan genomes will increase significantly asctist of complete human genome
sequencing decreases. This assumption may prdeitaorrect, or the increase in demand may tak@fgiantly more time than we
anticipate. For example, potential customers maymok our cost reductions are sufficient to pdrarijustify large-scale sequencing.
Moreover, some companies and institutions havesedwn sequencing targeted areas of the genomarthbelieved to be primarily associe
with disorders and diseases, as opposed to the gathome. Demand for sequencing complete humasmggsimay not increase if these
targeted sequencing strategies, such as exomersgogiewhere selected regions containing key postiof genes are sequenced, prove to be
more cost effective or are viewed as a more efftamethod of genetic analysis than complete hunesoige sequencing. Since exome
sequencing is currently less expensive than theeserng of an entire human genome, customers,dimguthose with limited budgets, may
choose to sequence exomes instead of using ourrhgemme sequencing services.
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We face significant competition. Our failure to compete effectively could adversely affect our sales and results of operations.

We currently compete with companies that develognufacture and market genome sequencing instrurnept®vide genome sequencing
services. We expect competition to increase asompetitors develop new, improved or cheaper insnis or expand their businesses to
include sequencing services, and as new companiestbe market with innovative technologies.

The market for genome sequencing technology islyhigbmpetitive and is served by several large camgsawith significant market shares.
For example, established companies such as lllurhicg Life Technologies Corporation and Rochegdbiastics Corporation are marketing
instruments for genetic sequencing that are diyextmpetitive with our services, and these comah#re significantly greater financial,
technical, marketing and other resources than we dlovest in new technologies and have substaintiellectual property portfolios and
substantial experience in product development agdlatory expertise. Also, there are many otherpgamies, such as NABsys, Inc., Oxford
Nanopore Technologies, Ltd. and Pacific Bioscientes, that are developing sequencing technologiieservices that would compete w
ours. Moreover, large established companies mayigcgmaller companies with emerging technologies use their extensive resources to
develop and commercialize such technologies orpuarate such technologies into their instrumentssarvices. For example, in 2010, Life
Technologies acquired lon Torrent Systems, Inchip-based sequencing technology company.

In addition, there are many research, academio#ret nonprofit institutions that are pursuing new sequegdecthnologies. These institutic
often have access to significant government anerdtmding. For example, BGI (formerly known asjBegj Genomics Institute) in the
People’s Republic of China offers a service thainsilar to ours and is funded by the governmerZioina. In the United States, agencies such
as the National Human Genome Research Institutedgadunding to institutions to discover new seqtieg technology. We may compete
directly with these institutions, or these insiibats may license their technologies to third partiéth whom we would compete.

While many of our existing competitors primarilylseequencing instruments, they may also providpisacing services like us. Since these
competitors have already developed their own serjogriechnology, they will not experience signifitdéechnological barriers to entry and
likely enter the sequencing services market fajrickly and with little additional cost. For exaraplllumina started providing whole genome
sequencing services in-house and through its IhanGenome Network in mid-2010, and Life Technolsdias recently announced a
collaboration to build a genome sequencing facikyrthermore, many of these instrumentation congsamave already established a
significant market presence and are trusted byoousts in the industry. As established instrumenitatiompanies enter the sequencing sen
market, many potential customers may purchase sequgeservices from these companies instead afues) if we offer superior technology
and services.

For more information regarding our existing andeptill competitors, please see “Business—Competitio

The emergence of competitive genome sequencing technologies may harm our business.

The success of our genome sequencing servicedepi#nd, in part, on our ability to continue to emteathe performance and decrease the cos
of our genome sequencing technology. A number nbgee sequencing technologies exist, and new metrdigmprovement to existing
methods are currently being developed, includicgrnelogy platforms developed by companies that xpeet will directly compete with us as
providers of sequencing services or instrumentes&mew technologies may result in faster, moreeffisctive and more accurate sequencing
methods than ours. For example, our sequencingtéofpy does not currently cover all of the nucldes in the genome. If competitive
technologies emerge that sequence portions ofg¢herge that our technology does not, our businads suffer if those portions contain
important genomic information. We expect to facepetition from emerging companies, including NABs@xford Nanopore Technologies
and Pacific Biosciences. As a result of the emeargei these competitive sequencing technologiesadd for our service may decline or

never develop sufficiently to sustain our operagion

14



Table of Contents

Our industry is rapidly changing, with emerging amhtinually evolving technologies that increase efficiency and reduce the cost of
sequencing genomes. As new technologies emergeeleye that the cost and error rates of, andithe tequired to, sequence human
genomes will eventually decrease to a level whemetition in the industry will shift to other faes, such as providing related services and
analytical technologies. We may not be able to tagirany technological advantage over these newesaing technologies, and if we fail to
compete effectively on other factors relevant to@istomers, our business will suffer.

Our order backlog may never be completed, and we may never earn revenue on backlogged contracts to sequence genomes.

As of March 31, 2011, we had a backlog of ordersémuencing over 2,000 genomes, which we belieuttdaesult in approximately $15.0
million in revenue over the next 12 months. Thigife represents the number of genomes for whictoess have placed sequencing orders
that we believe are firm and for which we haveyeitrecognized revenue. We may not be able to coovéer backlog into revenue at the rate
or times we anticipate, or at all. Consequentlg,drder backlog we report in this prospectus asevehere from time to time may not be
indicative of future revenue.

We may fail to complete backlog orders as we exfoahany reasons. We may experience sequencigsiel customers might cancel
orders. We are in the early stages of launchingetvrices, and while we have been increasing saughput capacity rapidly, we have in the
past experienced growing backlog due to our ingttiti keep pace with new orders. Delays in sequignicir which we are responsible could
cause backlog orders to be cancelled by customéish has happened to us at least once. Even wftitient throughput capacity, we are not
always in control of the rate at which we completgers and therefore convert backlog to revenueekample, customers often place firm
orders with us before providing us with genomic phes, delaying our start of the sequencing probgsseeks or months. Additionally, once
we receive a customer’s samples, we test themstorashat they are of sufficient quality and quigrfor sequencing. If not, we contact the
customer and request additional samples, resutifgther delay. Also, customers may negotiaterdqal of time, measured in weeks or in
some cases months, to accept or reject our sedquereports once delivered. Customer acceptandeesetinstances is a prerequisite for
recording revenue for those orders. For these nsagou should use caution in adopting changearithe absolute amount of, our backlog as a
proxy for market acceptance of our sequencing sesvor as an indicator of future revenue.

The presence or absence in a specific quarter of one or more new large orders, or the cancellation of any previous orders, for hundreds of
genomes may cause our results of operations and backlog to fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis.

Since beginning commercial operations, we havevedgurchase orders or contracts from a limiteghber of customers each quarter,
typically between 10 and 20 customers quarterlgtdfically, the size of each purchase order haguated between a few genomes and
multiple hundreds of genomes. As a result, thegores or absence in a specific quarter of one oemew large orders, or the cancellation of
any previous orders, for hundreds of genomes, coeabivith our uncertain sales cycle and changdseivariables that influence conversion of
orders into revenue, may cause our results of tipasand our backlog to fluctuate on a quartedgi. These fluctuations may be significant
from one quarter to the next. In addition, our tedi commercial history and the characteristicsusfquarterly orders makes it very difficult to
predict or forecast our future operating resultd lacklog.

We must significantly increase our production capabilitiesin order to achieve profitability.

We have very limited experience in running a conuiadiscale production facility. We have only ongusencing facility, which at present has
the capacity to sequence over 400 complete humaonges per month. This capacity is significanthsldsan what would be required to
achieve profitability. Our business plan assumasre will be able to increase our capacity mudtifald.
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We plan to increase the capacity of our sequerfeicitity by installing additional sequencing maodsn improving our software and designing
and installing newer generations of sequencingunstnts that are currently under research and dpweint. We may also construct additional
genome sequencing centers in the United Stateslaedhere in 2012 and afterward. We may encouifferulties in expanding our
sequencing infrastructure, and we may not buildiemarove this infrastructure in time to meet thdwwoe, quality or timing requirements
necessary to be successful. Manufacturing and gupallity issues may arise, including due to tipiadties who provide the components of our
technology platform. Implementing improvements tw sequencing technology may involve significardradpes, which may result in delays
may not achieve expected results. For example revexperimenting with increasing the density of BN our DNA arrays. These
experiments may be unsuccessful and may not leBehsible technological improvements that increbeecapacity or reduce the costs of our
sequencing services. If capacity or cost limitagipnevent us from meeting our customers’ expectative will lose revenue and our potential
customers may take their business to our compstitor

Our need to increase capacity may require us toagiggour machines to enhance our current produptiocess. This may render our current
machines obsolete sooner than anticipated. Ifatbdsirs, the value of these machines could be imgand we may need to write down the
value of this equipment, which could have a makémaact on our financial statements in light oé tthollar significance of the longred asset
carried on our balance sheet.

Our genome sequencing technology platform was developed for human DNA and is not currently optimized to sequence non-human DNA.

Our technology platform was developed and has beémized for sequencing human DNA, and we do nta&rid to sequence non-human
DNA. We face significant competition from establishcompanies who sell genome sequencing instrurtfettsan sequence both human and
non-human DNA. Many of the academic and researsfitutions that are our target customers conductiss on both human and non-human
DNA. Prospective customers may choose to purchepeesicing instruments from a competitor becauslesdf broader sequencing applicat
Our competitors may also choose to provide sequgrearvices for non-human DNA. As a result, theasy mot be sufficient demand for our
human genome sequencing service, which will harmbaginess.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers, including single-source suppliers, of various critical components for our sequencing process.
Theloss of these suppliers, or their failure to supply us with the necessary components on a timely basis, could cause delays in the current
and future capacity of our sequencing center and adversely affect our business.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers, incigdiome single-source suppliers, of various ctitoaponents for our sequencing process.
We do not have long-term contracts with our supplag service providers. Because we do not havg-term contracts, our suppliers generally
are not required to provide us with any guarantegdmum production levels. As a result, we may b@@able to obtain sufficient quantities of
critical components in the future.

Although alternative suppliers exist for each @ tritical components of our sequencing process,gtocess has been designed around the
functions, limitations, features and specificatiofisthe components that we currently utilize. Fxaraple, the cameras in our sequencers are
supplied by Hamamatsu Photonics and the opticdpetgnt is supplied by Carl Zeiss, Inc. A failure dither or both of these companies to
supply these components would require us to integrternative cameras and optical equipment, abtehfially integrate other components,
into future sequencing instruments. If we are regglito integrate new components into future seqersneve would experience a delay in the
deployment of these sequencers, and, as a resukfforts to expand our sequencing capacity wbeldielayed.

A delay or interruption by our suppliers may alsorh our business. For example, the wafers that dsmhe base of our sample slide are
fabricated by SVTC Technologies, L.L.C. We haveyeitqualified an alternative source for the supylyhese wafers, which are critical to -
sequencing process, and the custom manner in
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which these wafers are made may make it difficuljualify other semiconductor suppliers to manufeethem for us. Similarly, an
interruption of services by Amazon Web Servicesywiom we rely to deliver finished genomic data tw customers, would result in our
customers not receiving their data on time.

In addition, the lead time needed to establisHaiomship with a new supplier can be lengthy, aedmay experience delays in meeting
demand in the event we must switch to a new supfitee time and effort to qualify a new supplieaktbresult in additional costs, diversion of
resources or reduced manufacturing yields, anyha¢vwould negatively impact our operating resulisr dependence on single-source
suppliers exposes us to numerous risks, includiaddllowing:

= our suppliers may cease or reduce production dvet@s, raise prices or renegotiate ter

= delays by our suppliers could significantly limitrcability to sequence customer data and delayeffarts to increase our sequencing
capacity;

= we may be unable to locate a suitable replacementoeptable terms or on a timely basis, if ataal

= delays caused by supply issues may harm our réputétustrate our customers and cause them tottuonr competitors for future
projects.

If our Mountain View genome sequencing facility becomes inoperable, we will be unable to perform our genome sequencing services and
our business will be harmed.

We currently do not have redundant sequencingitiasilon a scale that could support our businessp@fform all of our commercial genome
sequencing in our facility located in Mountain Vie@alifornia. Mountain View is situated on or nearthquake fault lines. Our facility, the
equipment we use to perform our sequencing sereigdour other business process systems are ¢ostplace and could require substantial
time to repair or replace. The facility may be hadhor rendered inoperable by natural or man-maskestérs, including earthquakes, wildfires,
floods, acts of terrorism or other criminal aciied, infectious disease outbreaks and power outagesh may render it difficult or impossible
for us to sequence genomes for some period of timaddition, these events may temporarily interayr ability to receive samples from our
customers or materials from our suppliers and coess to our various systems necessary to oparatmisiness. The inability to perform our
sequencing service would result in the loss ofamsts and harm our reputation. While we currentiyntain approximately $40.0 million in
property insurance coverage, we do not currentieliasurance coverage for damage arising from ghaaake. Our insurance covering
damage to our property may not be sufficient toec@ll of our potential losses and will not coverini the event of an earthquake, and may not
continue to be available to us on acceptable teomat, all.

Failure to achieve expected sequencing process yields, or variability in our sequencing process yields, could harm our operating results and
damage our reputation.

Our sequencing process, like any other commercikgproduction process, is not flawless. For examgqur DNBs may not adhere to all of
the “sticky” spots on the surface of the siliconfeva we use to sequence DNA, or parts of the waifeng be unreadable. We refer to the
efficiency of our sequencing process as its yi€lte sequencing process yields we achieve depetiteatesign and operation of our
sequencing process, which uses a number of coraplésophisticated biochemical, informatics, optarad mechanical processes. An
operational or technology failure in one of thesmplex processes may result in sequencing proaegids that are lower than we anticipate
or that vary between sequencing runs. In additnare regularly evaluating and refining our segirenprocess. These refinements may
initially result in unanticipated issues that fustlieduce our sequencing process yields or incthaseariability of our sequencing yields. Low
sequencing Yyields, or higher than anticipated Wélifg, increases total sequencing costs and resittte number of genomes we can sequer

a given time period, which can cause variabilitpur operating results and damage our reputation.

17



Table of Contents

We may have to resequence genomes due to contamination of DNA samples or other failuresin the sequencing process.

In the past, we have had to resequence variousngesamples as a result of contamination occurrirtbé sample preparation and library
construction process. The sequencing process lidyhégnsitive, and the presence of any foreigntsumoes during the preparation of the slide
samples can corrupt the results of the sequencgeps. The quality of our sequencing runs may\asp for other reasons. Resequencing
requires additional expense, time and capacitydatalys the recognition of revenue from the sen&@mples may be contaminated in the
future or the quality of our sequencing results masy, which may damage our reputation and decriggsdemand for our service.

Mishandling or switching of DNA samples or genomic data may harm our reputation and result in litigation against us.

We may unintentionally mishandle DNA samples. Bareple, if customer samples or sequencing restétswaitched, our customers would
receive the wrong sequencing data, which could Baysficant consequences, particularly if thatadatused to diagnose or treat disease.
Mishandling customer samples or data could ledds® of current or future business, harm our rafmrtaand result in litigation against us.

If we are not successful in reducing the average cost of our sequencing service, demand for our services, and therefore our business, will
suffer.

Our ability to expand our customer base dependsyhin our ability to reduce the average cost gluemcing a human genome. For example,
certain academic or government-sponsored reseagelmiaations may forgo or delay whole genome-wideiss based on the cost required to
sequence complete human genomes, in favor of hgrexpensive studies. Additionally, certain of @uget customers may decide it is more
cost-effective to purchase sequencing instrumeata & competitor than contract for our sequencargise. To compete effectively with
competitors who sell and market sequencing instrugy@ur service must provide cost advantages rsuggpiality and time savings over the
purchase of sequencing instruments. In additiomeascompetitors enter the market or expand thesimess model to include sequencing
services, or as the price of competitor sequensimgices decreases, we expect increased pricisgyme which may force us to decrease the
price of our genome sequencing service. Our grox#t pnd operating results will suffer if we areable to offset any reductions in our prices
by reducing our costs by developing new or enhateegthologies or methods, or increasing our saj@swes.

Reduction or delay in research and development budgets and government funding may adversely impact our sales.

We expect that for the foreseeable future, ourmaeewill be derived primarily from selling our gane sequencing service to a relatively small
number of academic, governmental and other reséastitutions, as well as pharmaceutical and ofifeescience companies. Our revenue may
decline substantially due to reductions and dellayssearch and development expenditures by theseroers, which depend, in part, on their
budgets and the availability of government fundifgctors that could affect the spending levelsusfaustomers include:

= weakness in the global economy and changing maditions that affect our custome

= changes in the extent to which the pharmaceutiwdliée science industry may use genetic infornraiad genetic testing as a
methodology for drug discovery and developm

= changes in government programs that provide funttirgpmpanies and research institutic

= changes in the regulatory environment affectingplageutical and life science companies and resg
= impact of consolidation within the pharmaceutigadi $ife science industry; ar

= cos-reduction initiatives of customel
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Also, government funding of research and developrisesubject to the political process, which isdrémtly unpredictable. Any reduction in
funding of life science research and developmerletaty surrounding the approval of government budggposals may cause our customel
delay or forgo purchases of our services. A reduaabir delay in demand for our service will adveysafect our ability to achieve profitability.

Thetiming and extent of funding provided by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 could adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

In February 2009, the U.S. government enacted ther&an Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, lvkie refer to as the Recovery Act,
to provide stimulus to the U.S. economy in the wakthe economic downturn. As part of the Recoviey, over $10 billion in research
funding was provided to the National InstitutedHafalth, or NIH, through September 2010 to supg@tadvancement of scientific research. A
portion of the stimulus funding supported the asizlpf genetic variation and biological functiordanay have a significant positive long-term
impact on our business and the industry generallthe short-term, however, potential customers delgy or forgo their purchases of our
services as they wait to learn whether, and to whegnt, they will receive stimulus funding. If patial customers are unable to obtain stim
money, they may reduce their research and develaiplbuglgets, resulting in a decrease in demanduoservice. In addition, even if potential
customers receive these stimulus funds, they mapurghase our services, and we may not benefit fte Recovery Act.

Ethical, legal and social concerns related to the use of genetic information could reduce demand for our genome sequencing services.

Our genome sequencing services are intended tddeeiarge-scale human genome studies for a wadiety of diagnostic and discovery
applications. However, genetic testing has raigeida, legal and social issues regarding privany the appropriate uses of the resulting
information. Governmental authorities could, focisbor other purposes, limit or regulate the usgametic testing or prohibit testing for
genetic predisposition to certain conditions, paittrly for those that have no known cure. Simylathese concerns may lead individuals to
refuse to use genetics tests even if permissible.

In addition, we do not control how our customers tiee genomic data we provide. In most cases, wetknow the identity of the individua
whose DNA we sequence, the reason why their DN#eiag sequenced or the intended use of the gerdetdcwe provide. If our customers
use our services or the resulting genomic datapomasibly or in violation of legal restrictions,raeputation could be harmed and litigation
may be brought against us.

Ethical and social concerns may also influence drf8. foreign patent offices and courts with regargdatent protection for technology relev
to our business. These and other ethical, legabkanil concerns may limit market acceptance ofteciinology for certain applications or
reduce the potential markets for our technologiegiof which could have an adverse effect on asirtess, financial condition or results of
operations.

We use biological and hazardous materials that require considerable expertise and expense for handling, storage and disposal and may
result in claims against us.

We work with materials, including chemicals, bidlkag agents and compounds and DNA samples, thadl tmuhazardous to human health .
safety or the environment. Our operations also predhazardous and biological waste products. Fedéate and local laws and regulations
govern the use, generation, manufacture, storagelling and disposal of these materials and waS@sipliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations is expensive,amrent or future environmental laws and regategimay restrict our operations. If we do
not comply with applicable regulations, we may bbjsct to fines and penalties.

In addition, we cannot eliminate the risk of acaitd injury or contamination from these materialsvastes. While our property insurance
policy provides limited coverage in the event ofitzonination from hazardous and biological prodactd the resulting cleanup costs, we do
not currently have any additional insurance coverfag legal liability for claims arising from theahdling, storage or disposal of hazardous
materials. Further, our
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general liability insurance and workers’ compermsatinsurance policies do not cover damages and finising from biological or hazardous
waste exposure or contamination. Accordingly, | ¢lent of contamination or injury, we could béléafor damages or penalized with fine:
an amount exceeding our resources and our opesatarid be suspended or otherwise adversely affecte

We have limited selling and marketing resources and may be unable to successfully commercialize our human genome sequencing service.

To grow our business as planned, we must expandabes, marketing and customer support capabilieEsmay be unable to attract, retain
and manage the specialized workforce necessargitongarket acceptance and successfully commereializ services. In addition, developing
these functions is time consuming and expensive.

The sale of genome sequencing services involvesisixte knowledge about genomic research and seigqgeiechnology, including the
sequencing technology of our competitors. To beassful, our sales force and related personnel beusgchnically proficient in a variety of
disciplines. For example, many of our existing spérsons have a Ph.D. or other advanced degrekirant scientific fields. There are
relatively few people that have the necessary kadgé and qualifications to be successful salespgmosupport personnel in our industry.

In certain regions or markets, we may seek to pastrith others to assist us with sales, marketimdy@stomer support functions. However,
may be unable to find appropriate third partiehwihom to enter into these arrangements. Furthernifoive do enter into these arrangements,
these third parties may not perform as expected.

Our software may incorrectly analyze the raw genomic data produced by our sequencing eguipment.

Our sequencing instruments generate raw genomécfoah various segments of the genome being seqdeiibis data must be arranged into
the correct order to reconstruct the original geieastructure of the sample. We have developed soéwalgorithms that facilitate this
reconstruction. However, these algorithms rely tatistical models that provide only relative asses and not absolute assurance, that the
original genomic structure has been reconstructed.

In addition, the genomic data we provide our cusianincludes a comparison of the sequenced gengaiesa a reference genome to help
identify possible mutations or variations. Thisareince genome is designed to approximate a “stdhtdaman genome. However, this
approximation may not be accurate.

If the algorithms we use to reconstruct genomia@datorrectly reconstruct the sequenced genomiépar reference genome is significantly
flawed, the genomic data we deliver could be ineateuand of little or no use to our customers.

An inability to manage our planned growth or expansion of our operations could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results
of operations.

Our business has grown rapidly, and we expecgiioiith to continue as we expand our sequencingodgp&or example, we had three
employees at the end of 2005 and 202 employeeksMarch 31, 2011. The rapid expansion of our bussrend addition of new personnel may
place a strain on our management and operatiostdsg. To effectively manage our operations andigrove must continue to expend funds
to enhance our operational, financial and manageowrirols, reporting systems and procedures amadttact and retain sufficient numbers of
talented employees. If we are unable to expandjenome sequencing capacity and implement improvemerour control systems efficiently
and quickly, or if we encounter deficiencies ingtixig systems and controls, then we will not be ablsuccessfully expand the
commercialization of our services. In addition tdhhancing our sequencing capacity, our future opeyaesults will depend on our
management’s ability to:

= implement and improve our sales, marketing andotnist support programs and our research and develapefforts;
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= enhance our operational and financial control sgst:
= expand, train and manage our employee t
= integrate acquired businesses, if applicable;
= effectively address new issues related to our gr@stthey arise
We may not manage our expansion successfully, wdoahd adversely affect our business, financialdition or results of operations.

I f we expand our operations outside of the United States, we will face risks that may increase our operating costs.

We plan to expand our operations to include aduitiggenome sequencing centers outside of the UBti@tes. Because the laws of certain
countries currently prohibit the export of DNA, wl have to establish local facilities to accelssege markets and establish a presence in othe
markets. To date, we have not expanded our opasatiotside the United States. Operating in inténat markets requires significant
resources and management attention and will subgett regulatory, economic and political riskst @ different from those in the United
States. Because of our limited experience withrivaonal operations, our international expansifores may be unsuccessful. In addition, we
will face risks in doing business internationatyt could increase our operating costs, includirgfollowing:

= economic conditions in various parts of the wo

= unexpected and more restrictive laws and regulgtimeluding those laws governing ownership ofllatgual property, collection ar
use of personal information and other privacy adesitions, hazardous materials and other activitipertant to our busines

= new and different sources of competiti

= multiple, conflicting and changing tax laws anduladgions that may affect both our international dodhestic tax liabilities and result
in increased complexity and cos

= the difficulty of managing and staffing additiorgggnome sequencing centers and the increased tisvastructure and legal
compliance costs associated with multiple inteoreti locations

= (difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectingcounts receivable, especially in developing awesy
= fluctuations in exchange rates; ¢

= tariffs and trade barriers, import/export contratel other regulatory or contractual limitationsoom ability to sell or develop ot
services in certain foreign marke

The success of the expansion of our business atienally will depend, in part, on our ability toticipate and effectively manage these and
other risks associated with international operati@ur failure to manage any of these risks suaissould increase our operating costs.

Certain of our potential customers may require that we become certified under the Clinical Laboratory | mprovement Amendments of 1988.

Although we are not currently subject to the Claticaboratory Improvement Amendment of 1988, or £lwe may in the future be required
by certain customers to obtain a CLIA certificati@LIA, which extends federal oversight over clalitaboratories by requiring that they be
certified by the federal government or by a fedgrapproved accreditation agency, is designed suenthe quality and reliability of clinical
laboratories by mandating specific standards iratieas of personnel qualifications, administratiod participation in proficiency testing,
patient test management, quality control, qual#susance and inspections. If our customers requ@tlA certification, we will have to
continually expend time, money and effort to enghet we meet the applicable quality and safetyiregnents, which may divert the attention
of management and disrupt our core business opegati
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Because the market for genome sequencing is relatively new and rapidly evolving, we may become subject to additional future governmental
regulation, which may place additional cost and time burdens on our operations.

We are subject, both directly and indirectly, te #dverse impact of existing and potential futuweegnment regulation of our operations and
markets. The life sciences and pharmaceutical inésswhich are significant target markets for sarvices, have historically been heavily
regulated. There are comprehensive federal anel Istas regarding matters such as the privacy éémpeinformation and research in genetic
engineering. For example, if we inadvertently disel private patient information in the course aiting our sequencing services, we could
be prosecuted for violations of federal law.

Legislative bodies or regulatory authorities maggtcadditional regulation that adversely affects market opportunities. They could also
extend existing regulations to cover our serviées.example, medical diagnostic products may, déipgnon their intended use, be regulated
as medical devices by the Food and Drug Adminisimabr FDA, if they are:

= used in the diagnosis of disease or other condit
= used in the cure, mitigation, treatment or preventf disease; ¢
= intended to affect the structure or any functionhef body.

Medical devices generally cannot be marketed witfficat receiving clearance or approval (dependinghe regulatory pathway) from the
FDA. We do not believe that our sequencing sendcescurrently subject to the FDA’s medical devieguirements because we do not intend
our services to be used for the diagnosis of desddswever, we cannot control how the genomic imfation we provide will be used by our
customers.

In addition, the FDA is focusing on our market, ethhas created uncertainty regarding the reguldémyscape. The FDA has recently taken
actions suggesting that it interprets the applieabbulations expansively to cover certain genafeidces and services, particularly those sold
directly to consumers. Since June 2010, the FDAskas numerous letters to certain companies imtlaiket, including 23andMe, Inc.,
deCODE Genetics, Knome, Inc., Navigenics, Inc. Rathway Genomics. In these letters, the FDA ndtatlit considers genetic tests mark
by these companies to be subject to FDA regulatiah accordingly, unapproved medical devices. Aaldttly, in March 2011, the FDA helc
public two-day meeting discussing the appropriatpitation of the direct-to-consumer genetic teBte FDA may extend this position to
services such as ours. In addition, the FDA maylémpnt new regulations that may be broad enouglbver our operations. Changes to the
current regulatory framework, including the impmsitof new regulations, could arise anytime, andwasy be unable to obtain or maintain
FDA or comparable regulatory approval or cleardoc®ur services, if required. For example, the FIDAy impose restrictions on the types of
customers to which we can market and sell our sesvand the types of persons whose DNA we may sequélso, future legislation may
require that patients provide specific consentaeehtheir DNA sequenced. This could require outausrs to obtain new consents before they
can submit DNA samples to us for sequencing.

In any event, if we expand our business to inclsspuencing services intended to be used for tlgndgas of disease, we will likely become
subject to regulation by the FDA or other compagagencies of other countries, which may require wbtain regulatory approval or
clearance before we can market those services.

These regulatory approval processes may be exgerisne-consuming and uncertain, and our failurelttain or comply with these approvals
or clearances could harm our business, financiadiiion or operating results.
Disruption to or failure of our data center or other technical systems may disrupt our business and harm our operating results.

We rely on our network infrastructure, data centengerprise applications and technology systemth&development and support of our
sequencing service, including the preparation,yaigbnd transmission of data from our sequencémger, as well as for the internal operation
of our business. These systems are susceptiblertgption or failure in the event of natural digastsuch as a major earthquake, fire, flood,
cyber-attack, terrorist
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attack, telecommunications failure, power outagetber catastrophic event. Further, our data cemdrour sequencing facility, which houses
certain of our technology systems, are located megor earthquake faults. Disruptions to or théufai of our data center or any of these
technology systems, including the network connectietween our Mountain View facility and our dagater, and the resulting loss of critical
data, could cause delays in the transmission aalysis of the sequencing data, prevent us fronillfaf our customers’ orders and severely
affect our ability to conduct normal business ofier.

Our term loans contain restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

In December 2010, we entered into two loan andrggagreements and refinanced our existing criaditity. In March 2011, we entered into

a new loan and security agreement for a term logrepaid and terminated one of the December 2§fékaents with the proceeds from the
new term loan. Our term loans contain various canénthat limit our ability to engage in speciftggdes of transactions. These covenants limit
our ability to, among other things:

= sell, transfer, lease or dispose of our as:

= create, incur or assume additional indebtedr

= encumber or permit liens on certain of our as

= make restricted payments, including paying dividead, repurchasing or making distributions withpeseg to our common stoc
= make specified investments (including loans ancades)

= consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise disposelafradubstantially all of our assets; ¢

= enter into certain transactions with our affilia

A breach of any of these covenants or a materiati@e change to our business could result in auttefader either or both of our term loans.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default undetenm loans, our lenders could elect to decldrarabunts outstanding to be immediately
due and payable and terminate all commitments tienebfurther credit. If we were unable to repaysthamounts, the lenders could proceed
against the collateral granted to them to securh swebtedness. We have pledged substantialbf allir assets, other than our intellectual
property, as collateral under the term loans.

If we fail to retain the services of our key executives or if we are unable to attract and retain skilled personnel, our ability to grow our
business and our competitive position would be impaired.

We believe our future success will depend in lggge upon our ability to attract, retain and mativhighly skilled personnel. In particular, we
depend highly on the contributions of Clifford Aeid, Ph.D., our President and Chief Executive @ffiand Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., our C
Scientific Officer. The loss of either of these extves could make it more difficult to manage operations and research and development
activities, reduce our employee retention and rageand impair our ability to compete. If eithertloése key executives were to leave us
unexpectedly, we could face substantial difficutthiring qualified successors and could experieméess in productivity, both during the
search for, and integration of, any such successor.

Our research and development, operations and aatesarketing personnel represent a significartas®l serve as the source of our busi
strategy, scientific and technological innovatiansl sales and marketing initiatives. As a resuit,success substantially depends on our al
to retain and attract personnel for all areas ofowganization. Competition for qualified personigeintense, and we may not be successful in
attracting and retaining qualified personnel omeely basis or on competitive terms, if at all.dddition, many qualified personnel are located
outside of Northern California, where we are lodasind some qualified personnel that we may reamnait not be interested in relocating. If
are unable to attract and retain the necessargipaeson a cost-effective basis, our ability towgimur business and our competitive position
would be impaired.
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We may engage in joint ventures or acquisitionsthat could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders, reduce our financial
resources and result in increased expenses.

In the future, we may enter into joint venturesoguire other businesses, products or technoloBesause we have not entered into any joint
ventures or made any acquisitions to date, ouitybd do so successfully is unproven. We may reoable to find suitable partners or
acquisition candidates, and we may not be ablerteptete such transactions on favorable terms,aflabr successfully integrate any acquired
business, products or technologies into our opmratilf we do enter into any joint ventures or ctetgacquisitions, we may not strengthen
competitive position or achieve our goals, or thesesactions may be viewed negatively by custormensvestors. In addition, we may have
difficulty integrating and motivating personnelcimologies and operations from acquired businemsgsetaining and motivating key
personnel from those businesses. Joint venturea@qdsitions may disrupt our ongoing operatiomgerd management from day-to-day
responsibilities and increase our expenses. Fagaisitions may reduce our cash available foratpers and other uses, and could result |
increase in amortization expense related to idabt# intangible assets acquired, potentially dikitssuances of equity securities or the
incurrence of debt. We cannot predict the numli@ing or size of future joint ventures or acquisits, or the effect that any such transactions
might have on our operating results.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management devotes substantial time to new compliance
initiatives. We may fail to comply with the rules that apply to public companies, including section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

We have incurred and will continue to incur sigrafiit legal, accounting and other expenses as &pdavhpany, including costs resulting fr
public company reporting obligations under the $ities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and régokaregarding corporate governance
practices. The listing requirements of The NASDADRIaI Market require that we satisfy certain cogiergovernance requirements relatin
director independence, distributing annual andriimeeports, stockholder meetings, approvals artthgpsoliciting proxies, conflicts of

interest and a code of conduct. Our managemenotied personnel will need to devote a substantredunt of time to all of these
requirements. Moreover, the reporting requiremeantss and regulations will increase our legal ina@ncial compliance costs and will make
some activities more time-consuming and costly.seheporting requirements, rules and regulatiomspled with the increase in potential
litigation exposure associated with being a pubtimpany, could make it more difficult for us toratt and retain qualified persons to serve on
our board of directors or board committees or twes@s executive officers.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, oibBaes-Oxley Act, and the related rules of the Sgesitand Exchange Commission, or SEC,
require that we maintain effective internal contsgér financial reporting and disclosure contraig @rocedures. In particular, our managen
and, depending on the size of our public floatepehdent registered public accounting firm will @aw provide a report on the effectivenes
our internal control over financial reporting withir annual report for the year ending DecembefB11, as required by Section 404 of the
Sarbane®©xley Act. To date, we have never conducted a vewkour internal control for the purpose of prawgl the reports required by the
rules. During the course of our review and testimg,may identify deficiencies and be unable to rdiate them before we must provide the
required reports. We or our independent registpraglic accounting firm may not be able to conclodean ongoing basis that we have
effective internal control over financial reportjnghich could harm our operating results, causesitws to lose confidence in our reported
financial information and cause the trading pri€eur stock to fall.

Our compliance with Section 404 may require thaiweeir substantial expense and expend significartagement time on compliance-related
issues. Moreover, if we are unable to comply wlid tequirements of Section 404 in a timely manoeif, we or our independent registered
public accounting firm is unable to conclude that mternal control over financial reporting is edfive or otherwise identifies material
weaknesses in our internal control, the marketpoifcour stock would likely decline and we coulddubject to sanctions or investigations by
NASDAQ), the SEC or other regulatory authoritiesjahhwould require additional financial and managetiresources
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Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal ReesBode of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a ctigrothat undergoes an “ownership
change” is subject to limitations on its abilityuse its pre-change net operating loss carryforsyandNOLSs, to offset future taxable income. If
the Internal Revenue Service challenges our arsallgat our existing NOLs will not expire beforeligtition due to previous ownership
changes, our ability to use our NOLs could be Ealiby Section 382 of the Code. Future changesristoek ownership, some of which are
outside of our control, could result in an ownepstihange under Section 382 of the Code. Furthermoareability to use NOLs of companies
that we may acquire in the future may be subjetihiitations. For these reasons, we may not be @blse a material portion of the NOLs
reflected on our balance sheet, even if we attaifitpbility.

Unfavorable global economic conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our results of operations could be adversely adfétly general conditions in the global economyiartie global financial markets. The rec
global financial crisis caused extreme volatilitydadisruptions in the capital and credit marketsef&ere or prolonged economic downturn,
such as the recent global financial crisis, cogklitt in a variety of risks to our business, inahgd reductions or delays in planned research anc
development and other expenditures by our custooraitecreased funding of genomic research by govental entities. A weak or declining
economy could also put strain on our supplierssipbg resulting in supply disruption, or cause oustomers to delay making payments for
services. Any of the foregoing could harm our basm

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
We currently are, and could in the future be, subject to litigation regarding patent and other proprietary rightsthat could harm our business.

Our commercial success depends in part on nohgifrg patents and proprietary rights of third pestiOn August 3, 2010, Illumina, Inc. and
Solexa, Inc. (an entity acquired by lllumina) filaccomplaint in the U.S. District Court in Delawalkeging patent infringement by us. The
complaint alleges that our Complete Genomics Anglytatform, and in particular our combinatoriablpe anchor ligation technology,
infringes upon three patents held by lllumina antega. The complaint seeks, among other thingseknginary and permanent injunction
against us from infringing these patents and uriipdanonetary damages. We may incur substantiz thind expense in defending against
complaint. If we were found to infringe one or meedid claims of a patent-in-suit and if the distrcourt granted an injunction on that basis,
we may be forced to redesign portions of our segugmprocess, seek a license or cease the infgragitivity. Redesigning portions of our
sequencing process may take substantial time aodirees and may delay our ability to generate newelm addition, a license to the necessary
patent rights may not be available on commercigsonable terms, if at all. In the event thatdis&rict court grants an injunction and we are
unsuccessful in redesigning our sequencing pramesbtaining a license, we may be forced to ceass@quencing operations altogether. See
“Business—Legal Proceedings.”

As we enter our markets, it is possible other cditgre will claim that our services infringe théirtellectual property rights as part of a
business strategy to impede our successful entmse markets. Such competitors and other gartles may have obtained and may in the
future obtain patents covering products or procetsa are similar to or may include steps or psees used in our sequencing technology,
allowing them to claim that the use of our techggs infringes these patents. In particular, weaavare of issued U.S. patents owned by
competitors and other third parties, includingriina, to which we do not have licenses that magteao our sequencing technology and wi
pertain to, among other things:

= sample preparation technigu
= processes for making nucleic acid templates, oafibconstruction
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= processes for making DNBs from nucleic acid tengsi;

= nucleic acid arrays

= methods of making arrays of DNE

= sequencing methods, including those involving lyat

= identifying genomic sequences on nucleic acid &t

= devices and apparatus used in nucleic acid detestistems, including optical systems; i

= information processing systems including softwarebfase calling, sequence mapping and asse!

Some of the third parties that own these patemt¢siding Illumina, have strong economic incentiveasg substantial financial resources, to
claim that we are infringing their patent rights.d patent infringement claim against us, we magrasas a defense, that we do not infringe the
relevant patent claims, that the patent is invatidoth. The strength of our defenses will depemthe patents asserted, the interpretation of
these patents, our ability to identify invalidatitpgior art” (that is, publication of the patentltier’s invention or technology prior to the stated
invention date) in order to invalidate the assepatknt and on other factors. However, we couldrseiccessful in advancing naxfringement
and/or invalidity arguments in our defense. Inithéted States, issued patents enjoy a presumptigalidity, and the party challenging the
validity of a patent claim must present clear aodvincing evidence of invalidity, which is a highrden of proof. Conversely, the patent
owner need only prove infringement by a preponderanf the evidence, which is a lower burden of firoo

If we were found by a court to have infringed aidi@atent claim, we could be prevented from usheggatented technology or be required to
pay the owner of the patent rights for the rigbtsige that technology. If we decide to pursueenbe to one or more of these patents, we may
not be able to obtain such a license on commeyaiedsonable terms, if at all, or the license wiobmay require us to pay substantial
royalties or grant cross licenses to our patetttsig-or example, if the relevant patent is owngd lbompetitor, that competitor may choose

to license patent rights to us, as it would be umaeobligation to do so. If we decide to develtipraative technology, we may not be able to
do so on a timely or cost-effective manner, iflat a

In addition, because patent applications can takesyto issue and are often afforded confidentifdit some period of time, there may
currently be pending applications, unknown to usicl later result in issued patents that processesr sequencing technology infringe.
Processes in our sequencing technology may alsagefexisting issued patents of which we are cilyainaware. Even though we own or
have other rights to patents, these patents dprostde us with the freedom to offer our sequenaaryices unimpeded by the patent rights of
others. For example, we may be required to pursulefend a patent infringement action in orderrmtgrt our intellectual property rights or
practice our sequencing technology. In additiondaenot currently provide sequencing services ithéeinto be used for diagnosis of disease. If
we expand our business to include sequencing ssritended to be used for the diagnosis of diséasay be necessary to license patents
related to such services.

It is possible that, in addition to our currenigiiition, we may in the future receive, particulaala public company, communications from
competitors and others alleging that we may beérigiing their patents, trade secrets or other iatdlial property rights or offering licenses to
such intellectual property or threatening litigatié-or example, an educational institution hasmdgenvited us to engage in negotiations for
the license of certain of that institution’s pataghts. We have not yet determined whether we sk such a license. In addition to patent
infringement claims, third parties may assert cagtr trademark or other proprietary rights agairsstWe may not be able to successfully
defend against the claims asserted by lllumindutore claims, and our business may suffer if weefatund to have infringed upon the patents
held by lllumina, or if future claims are brougigainst us.
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We may not be able to protect our patent rights or other intellectual property which could impair our ability to compete effectively.

We depend on proprietary technology for our suceesisability to compete. If others are able to eepice our technology, our business will
suffer significantly unless we can prevent thenmfritompeting with us. To protect our proprietanyhtemlogy, we rely on patents and other

intellectual property laws, as well as nondisclesagreements, licensing arrangements and confadignfirovisions. U.S. patent, copyright ¢
trade secret laws afford us only limited protectiand the laws of some foreign countries do notgataproprietary rights to the same extent.

We have licensed, from Callida Genomics, Inc., @8l international patents and patent applicatielaging to our business. Because the
issuance of a patent is not conclusive of its ¥glidr enforceability, our existing patent righ#sd rights we may obtain in the future, may not
provide us with meaningful protection. The pategihts on which we rely may be challenged and imh&i&d or may be interpreted not to be
broad enough to cover the critical components oftechnology. Our pending patent applications mayehtheir claims limited or may not
result in issued patents. Moreover, our patentsigecome more limited as owned or licensed patergs to expire in 2014. We will be able
to protect our technologies from unauthorized usthivd parties only to the extent that valid amfoeceable patents or other proprietary rights
cover them. Even if we have valid and enforceablemts or other proprietary rights, competitors heyble to design alternative methods or
devices that avoid infringement of those patentsghts.

Our key patent rights are licensed from Callidaioltis owned by our Chief Scientific Officer andlsipouse. If we breach the terms of these
licenses, or if our relationship with Callida os @wners deteriorates, Callida may seek to termitiet licenses. If we lose our rights to use
these patents, we may be forced to re-design aureseing technology, which would be expensive aagt not be possible.

The patent positions of biotechnology companieduting us, can be highly uncertain and involve ptam and evolving legal and factual
guestions. No consistent policy regarding the hieaticlaims allowed in biotechnology patents harged to date in the United States. Legal
developments may preclude or limit the patent mtata available for our sequencing technology.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgglattempts may be made to copy or reverse engaisgects of our sequencing technology or
to obtain and use information that we regard apnpetary. Accordingly, we may be unable to protmat proprietary rights against unauthori
third-party copying or use. Furthermore, policihg tinauthorized use of our intellectual propertgifscult. Litigation may be necessary in the
future to enforce our intellectual property rightsprotect our trade secrets or to determine #ielity and scope of the proprietary rights of
others. Litigation could result in substantial sosihd diversion of resources and could harm ounbss.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of our current, or future, litigation or other proceedingsrelating to patent and other proprietary
rights.

The genomic sequencing industry includes severgélaompanies that have rights to many broad ispagzhts and pending patent
applications. Competitors in this industry haved@y litigated their patent positions and alleg&dingements by others. For example, lllurr
and Affymetrix were recently involved in long anxpensive patent litigation relating to DNA sequenctechnology. This litigation resulted in
a settlement involving the payment of $90 milliondne party to the other.

Our involvement in intellectual property litigatipimcluding our current litigation with llluminay@dministrative proceedings could result in
significant expense. Some of our competitors, idiclg lllumina, Life Technologies and Affymetrix, & considerable resources available to
them. We, on the other hand, are an early-stagenssoial company with comparatively few resourcesilable to us to engage in costly and
protracted litigation. Intellectual property infgament claims asserted against us, whether witfitbout merit, could be costly to defend and
could limit our ability to use some technologieghe future. They will be time consuming, will div@ur management’s and scientific
personnels’ attention and may result in liabiliby f
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substantial damages. In addition, our standardmest contract requires us to indemnify our custenfier claims alleging that any of our
products misappropriate or violate any third pgyent, copyright, trade secret or other intellacpwoperty or proprietary rights.

If third parties file patent applications or arsusd patents claiming technology also claimed by gending applications, we may be required
to participate in interference proceedings withlth8. Patent Office or in other proceedings outliideUnited States, including oppositions, to
determine priority of invention or patentabilityvé&nh if we are successful in these proceedings, aeintur substantial costs, and the time and
attention of our management and scientific persowiilebe diverted in pursuit of these proceedings.

We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protetdliectual property rights to the same extenhaddaws of the United States. Many
companies have encountered significant problenpsdtecting and defending intellectual property tigim certain foreign jurisdictions. The
legal systems of some countries, particularly depielg countries, do not favor the enforcement @épis and other intellectual property
protection, especially those relating to biotecbgygl This could make it difficult for us to stopetinfringement of our patents or the
misappropriation of our other intellectual propetights. For example, many foreign countries hamsmpulsory licensing laws under which a
patent owner must grant licenses to third partireaddition, many countries limit the enforcealilitf patents against third parties, including
government agencies or government contractorfidset countries, patents may provide limited or evefit.

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in for@igisdictions could result in substantial costd divert our efforts and attention from other
aspects of our business. Accordingly, our effastprotect our intellectual property rights in swduntries may be inadequate. In addition,
changes in the law and legal decisions by courtisérn).S. and foreign countries may affect ourighib obtain adequate protection for our
technology and the enforcement of intellectual prop

Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosures of our trade secrets and other proprietary
information.

We rely in part on trade secret protection to proteir confidential and proprietary information gmdcesses. However, trade secrets are
difficult to protect. We have taken measures tdgumbour trade secrets and proprietary informatiar these measures may not be effective.
We require new employees and consultants to exeoutiidentiality agreements upon the commencemiean @mployment or consulting
arrangement with us. These agreements generallyreettat all confidential information developedthg individual or made known to the
individual by us during the course of the indivitlsaelationship with us be kept confidential anat disclosed to third parties. These
agreements also generally provide that inventiameeived by the individual in the course of rendgservices to us will be our exclusive
property. Despite these measures, our proprietdoymation may be disclosed, third parties coulteree engineer our sequencing technolc
and others may independently develop substanggjlyvalent proprietary information and techniquestberwise gain access to our trade
secrets. Costly and time-consuming litigation cduddhecessary to enforce and determine the scopa @iroprietary rights, and failure to
obtain or maintain trade secret protection coulkasely affect our competitive business position.

Risks Related to This Offering and Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our stock priceisvolatile and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial losses.

Our stock price is volatile, and from November 2210, the first day of trading of our common stackMay 25, 2011, the trading prices of
stock have ranged from $17.25 to $6.60 per shdve nfarket price of our common stock may fluctuaaiBcantly in response to a number of
factors. These factors include those discussehisrRisk Factors” section and others such as:

= quarterly variations in our results of operationshmse of our competitor
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= changes in earnings estimates or recommendatiossduyities analyst:

= announcements by us or our competitors of new mtsdar services, significant contracts, commenkdtionships, acquisitions
capital commitments

= developments with respect to intellectual propedits;
= our commencement of, or involvement in, litigati

= changes in financial estimates or guidance, inolgidiur ability to meet our future revenue and ofxegeprofit or loss estimates or
guidance

= announcements regarding equity or debt financiagsictions

= any major changes in our board of directors or rgameent;

= changes in governmental regulations;

= a decrease in government funding of research avela@@nent or a slowdown in the general econc

In recent years, the stock market in general, hadrtarket for technology/life science companiegsdrticular, has experienced extreme price
and volume fluctuations that have often been utedlar disproportionate to the operating perforneasficthose companies. Broad market and
industry factors may seriously affect the markétgpof our common stock, regardless of our actparating performance. These fluctuations
may be even more pronounced in the trading madteidr stock shortly following this offering. In didion, in the past, following periods of
volatility in the overall market and the marketqeriof a particular comparg/securities, securities class action litigatioa dten been institutt
against these companies. This litigation, if ing&tl against us, could result in substantial castsdivert our management’s attention and
resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse or misleading opinion
regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts publish about us or
our business. If any of the analysts who covessigé an adverse or misleading opinion regardingusiness model, technology or stock
performance, our stock price would likely declitfeone or more of these analysts cease coverags of fail to publish reports on us regularly,
we could lose visibility in the financial marketghich in turn could cause our stock price or trgdmlume to decline. Moreover, the
unpredictability of our financial results likelydeces the certainty, and therefore reliabilitythef forecasts by securities or industry analysts of
our future financial results, adding to the potantblatility of our stock price.

Our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders and their respective affiliates will continue to have substantial influence over us
after this offering and could delay or prevent a changein corporate control.

Our directors, executive officers and the holddnsore than 5% of our common stock, together witkirtaffiliates, beneficially own
approximately 80% of our outstanding common staz$elol on the number of shares outstanding on Apri2@11. These stockholders, acting
together, have significant influence over the ooteaf matters submitted to our stockholders foraygi, including the election of directors
and any merger, consolidation or sale of all orssanitially all of our assets. In addition, thesekholders, acting together, have significant
influence over our management and affairs. Accalglirthis concentration of ownership might harm tharket price of our common stock by:

= delaying, deferring or preventing a change in aan
= impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or otheiness combination involving us;
= discouraging a potential acquiror from making alexroffer or otherwise attempting to obtain contrbus.
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Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock priceto decline.

If our existing stockholders sell, or if the markefieves our existing stockholders will sell, salgial amounts of our common stock in the
public market, the trading price of our common ktoould decline significantly.

As of April 29, 2011, there were:
= 4,014,727 shares subject to outstanding optionsrumat 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and 2010 Equitsehtive Award Plar
= 27,500 shares issuable upon vesting of restri¢tezk sinits under our 2009 Equity Incentive Pl

= an aggregate of 4,045,407 shares reserved foefigsuance under our 2010 Equity Incentive AwaehRInd Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, as well as any automatic increagbe number of shares of our common stock resdorefdture issuance under these
benefit plans; an

= 2,165,323 shares of common stock subject to warraunistanding as of April 29, 2011 with a weigl-average exercise price of $2.
per share

If additional shares are sold, or if it is perceitbat they will be sold, in the public market, gréce of our common stock could decline
substantially.

Some of our existing stockholders have demand aygypack rights to require us to register with 8C up to approximately 21.7 million
shares of our common stock, including shares idsugion exercise of outstanding options. If we stgithese shares of common stock, the
stockholders would be able to sell those sharedyfia the public market, subject to the lock-upesgnents described above.

We also registered 6,628,347 shares of our comnozk that are subject to outstanding stock optenm reserved for issuance under our
equity plans. These shares can be freely soldeiptiblic market upon issuance, subject to vesssgictions.

Purchasersin this offering will experience immediate and substantial dilution in the book value of their investment.

The offering price of our common stock will be stawgially higher than the net tangible book valfiear common stock immediately after the
offering. As a result, purchasers of our commoulstn this offering will incur immediate and substial dilution of approximately $8.48 per
share, based on the public offering price of $1&0share. Those purchasers could experiencaaudidilution upon the exercise of
outstanding stock options and warrants. See “ititfor a more detailed discussion of the dilutieew investors will incur in this offering.

We have broad discretion to determine how to use the funds raised in this offering, and may use them in ways that may not enhance our
operating results or the price of our common stock.

Our management will have broad discretion ovemuse of proceeds from this offering, and we coulehspthe proceeds from this offering in
ways our stockholders may not agree with or thatatoyield a favorable return, if at all. We curtlgrintend to use the net proceeds of this
offering for capital expenditures to expand theuseging and computing capacity in our Mountain Veawd Santa Clara leased facilities, to
finance the further development of our sequenaieprniology and services, for sales and marketirigitees and for working capital and other
general corporate purposes. If we do not invesippty the proceeds of this offering in ways thapiove our operating results, we may fail to
achieve expected financial results, which couldseanur stock price to decline.
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Provisionsin our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable and may
lead to entrenchment of management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmaaind amended and restated bylaws contain progisiat could delay or prevent changes
in control or changes in our management withoutctivessent of our board of directors. These provisioglude the following:

= a classified board of directors with th-year staggered terms, which may delay the abifistackholders to change the membershi
a majority of our board of director

= no cumulative voting in the election of directosich limits the ability of minority stockholders tlect director candidate

= the exclusive right of our board of directors teatla director to fill a vacancy created by theasgion of the board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, whpclvents stockholders from being able to fill vaas on our board of directol

= the ability of our board of directors to authorthe issuance of shares of preferred stock andtesrdane the price and other terms
those shares, including preferences and votindsjgtithout stockholder approval, which could bedio significantly dilute the
ownership of a hostile acquirc

= the ability of our board of directors to alter diylaws without obtaining stockholder appros

= the required approval of at least®6 /3% of theeshantitled to vote at an election of directoradopt, amend or repeal our bylaws or
repeal the provisions of our amended and restatridicate of incorporation regarding the electanmd removal of director:

= a prohibition on stockholder action by written cents which forces stockholder action to be takesnatnnual or special meeting
our stockholders

= the requirement that a special meeting of stocldrsldhay be called only by the chairman of the bo&udirectors, the chief executi
officer, the president or the board of directorhjali may delay the ability of our stockholdersaock consideration of a proposal or to
take action, including the removal of directorsg.

= advance notice procedures that stockholders masplyowith in order to nominate candidates to ouaroloof directors or to propose
matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meetihggh may discourage or deter a potential acqdifoom conducting a solicitation
of proxies to elect the acqui’s own slate of directors or otherwise attemptinglitain control of us

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provistmrmgained in Section 203 of the Delaware Geneaap@ration Law. Under Section 203, a
corporation may not, in general, engage in a bgsigembination with any holder of 15% or more sftiépital stock unless the holder has held
the stock for three years or, among other excegptitve board of directors has approved the traiasadtor a description of our capital stock,
see the section titled “Description of Capital &toc

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not currently intend to pay any cash divideon our common stock for the foreseeable future.cWfrently intend to invest our future
earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Additionalthe terms of our credit facility restrict our atyilto pay dividends. Therefore, you are not
likely to receive any dividends on your common ktéar the foreseeable future.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This prospectus contains forward-looking statemeiitisin the meaning of Section 27A of the Secusithect of 1933, as amended, and within
the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exghakct of 1934, as amended, that are subject téstife harbor” created by those sections.
These forward-looking statements involve risks andertainties and are contained principally ingbetions entitled “Prospectus Summary,”
“Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Anays Financial Condition and Results of Operaticarsd “Business.” These statements
relate to future events or our future financiabperational performance and involve known and umkmgsks, uncertainties and other factors
that could cause our actual results, levels of/aigtiperformance or achievement to differ matdyiflom those expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. These risks and untei¢a are contained principally in the sectioniteed “Risk Factors.”

Forward-looking statements include all statemdmds &re not historical facts. In some cases, youdentify forward-looking statements by
terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “intend,” ‘@uld,” “would,” “continue,” “expect,” “plan,” “anttipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,”
“predict,” “potential” or the negative of those ies, and similar expressions and comparable teragydhtended to identify forward-looking
statements. These statements reflect our currentswivith respect to future events and are basedgsumptions and subject to risks and
uncertainties. Given these uncertainties, you shoat place undue reliance on these forward-looktagements. These forward-looking
statements represent our estimates and assumptignas of the date of this prospectus, and, exagpéquired by law, we undertake no
obligation to update or revise publicly any forwdodking statements, whether as a result of nearmétion, future events or otherwise after
the date of this prospectus.

This prospectus also contains estimates and atf@mation concerning our current and target markigat are based on industry publications,
surveys and forecasts, including those generate®tigntia Advisors. These estimates and informdtisalve a number of assumptions and
limitations, and you are cautioned not to give wndieight to these estimates and information. Thedestry publications, surveys and
forecasts generally indicate that their informati@s been obtained from sources believed to babteliThe industry in which we operate is
subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk tthua variety of factors, including those desdatibe“Risk Factors.” These and other factors
could cause actual results to differ materiallyrirthose expressed in these publications, survey$omacasts.
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Use of Proceeds

We estimate that we will receive net proceeds pfaximately $64.1 million from the sale of 5,500006hares of common stock offered in this
offering, or approximately $73.8 million if the vexdvriters exercise their over-allotment optionufi,fbased on the public offering price per
share and after deducting the underwriting discoantd commissions and estimated offering experesgsbfe by us.

We currently intend to use approximately $20.0inillof the net proceeds of this offering for calpéependitures to expand the sequencing
computing capacity in our Mountain View and Santar&leased facilities. We intend to use approxalya$15.0 million of the net proceeds of
this offering to finance the further developmenbaf sequencing technology and services, and appabely $15.0 million for sales and
marketing activities. We intend to use the remairtdehe net proceeds of this offering for workicepital and other general corporate
purposes.

The expected use of net proceeds of this offempgasents our current intentions based upon oseptglan and business conditions. As o
date of this prospectus, we cannot specify withadety all of the particular uses for the net pred®to be received upon the completion of this
offering. Accordingly, we will have broad discratiin the application of the net proceeds, and itorsswill be relying on our judgment
regarding the application of the proceeds of tfffiering.

Until we use the net proceeds of this offering,imtend to invest the net proceeds in short-terter@st-bearing, investment-grade securities.
We cannot predict whether the proceeds investddyigid a favorable return, if any.
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Market Price of Common Stock

On November 12, 2010, our common stock began tganiinThe NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “GMO The following table
presents quarterly information on the price ranigeuo common stock. This information indicates tigh and low sales prices reported by The
NASDAQ Global Market. These prices do not includ&ail markups, markdowns or commissic

High Low
Year ended December 31, 201
Fourth quarte $ 8.4f $6.6(C
Year ending December 31, 201
First quarte 9.1¢ 6.91
Second quarter (through May 25, 20 17.2¢ 9.01

On May 25, 2011, the last sale price reported om NASDAQ Global Market for our common stock was 8P3per share.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock and currently do not plan to dedivelends on shares of our common
stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, thevjsions of our term loans currently prohibit ugm paying cash dividends on our common
stock. We expect to retain our future earninganif, for use in the operation and expansion obasiness. The payment of cash dividends in
the future, if any, will be at the discretion ofrdaoard of directors and will depend upon suchdicts earnings levels, capital requirements,
requirements under the Delaware General Corporagow restrictions and covenants pursuant to aun teans and any other credit facilities
we may enter into, our overall financial conditimd any other factors deemed relevant by our boladdectors. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resesre-Term Loans” for a description of
the restrictions on the payment of dividends impldsg our existing term loans.
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Capitalization

The following table sets forth our capitalizationaf March 31, 2011:
= on an actual basis; al

= on an as adjusted basis to give effect to theafde500,000 shares of our common stock we areinffeat the public offering price
after deducting underwriting discounts and comrissiand estimated offering expenses payable k

You should read this table together with “Managetisebiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditemd Results of Operations” and our
financial statements and the related notes appeeatdewhere in this prospectus.

As of March 31, 2011

Actual As adjusted

(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share
and per share amounts)
Notes payable, net of current porti $ 22,72 $ 22,72
Stockholder equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; )000hares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding, actual and as adjus — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 300,00G0ares authorized, 25,988,934 shares issued and

outstanding, actual; 300,000,000 shares author&edg8,934 shares issued and outstanding, as

adjustec 26 32
Additional paic-in capital 214,03¢ 278,10:
Accumulated defici (151,309 (151,309

Total stockholder equity 62,75¢ 126,82!
Total capitalizatior $ 85,48( $ 149,54

The outstanding share information in the table abexcludes:

= 2,875,125 shares of common stock issuable uporierenf options outstanding as of March 31, 201thwiweighted-average
exercise price of $2.40 per shg

= 27,500 shares of common stock issuable upon vesfirggstricted stock units outstanding as of M&th2011,;

= an aggregate of 5,207,396 shares of common stsekwed for future issuance under our 2010 Equitemtive Award Plan an
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as well as any atitomereases in the number of shares of our comstock reserved for future
issuance under these benefit plans;

= 2,165,323 shares of common stock subject to war@utstanding as of March 31, 2011 with a weigleglrage exercise price of
$2.42 per shart
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Dilution

If you invest in our common stock, you will experie dilution to the extent of the difference betwéee public offering price per share of our
common stock you pay in this offering and the aegible book value per share of our common stotk #iis offering. As of March 31, 2011,
our net tangible book value was $62.5 million, 2r4f. per share of our common stock. Net tangiblekh@lue per share is equal to our total
tangible assets minus total liabilities, all dividey the number of shares of common stock outshgnoin March 31, 2011.

After giving effect to the sale of 5,500,000 shasesommon stock we are offering at the public offg price of $12.50 per share, and after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissiortsestimated offering expenses payable by us, oadpsted net tangible book value at
March 31, 2011 would have been approximately $186lkon, or $4.02 per share. This represents améuiate increase in net tangible book
value of approximately $1.61 per share to exissitmgkholders and an immediate dilution of approxatya$8.48 per share to new investors.
The following table illustrates this per share tidn:

Public offering price per sha $12.5(
Net tangible book value per share as of March 811 $2.41
Increase per share attributable to this offe _1.61
As adjusted net tangible book value per share #fteffering 4.0z
Dilution per share to investors in this offeri $ 8.4¢

If the underwriters fully exercise their over-aitegnt option, as adjusted net tangible book valter #fis offering would increase to
approximately $4.22 per share, and there wouldnbenanediate dilution of approximately $8.28 perrghi@ new investors.

To the extent that outstanding options or warraritls an exercise price per share that is less thams adjusted net tangible book value per
share are exercised, you will experience furthlettidn. If all of our outstanding options and warts.described below were exercised, our as
adjusted net tangible book value as of March 31]12ffter this offering would have been approxima$dl33.7 million, or approximately $3.
per share, representing dilution to new investéapproximately $0.29 per share.

In addition, we may choose to raise additional tedyiue to market conditions or strategic consitiena even if we believe we have sufficient
funds for our current or future operating plansti® extent that we raise additional capital thtotlge sale of equity or convertible debt
securities, the issuance of these securities aesldlt in further dilution to our stockholders.

The information and tables in this section are dase25,988,934 shares of common stock issued atsteoding as of March 31, 2011 and
exclude:

= 2,875,125 shares of common stock issuable upormierenf options outstanding as of March 31, 201th wiweighted-average
exercise price of $2.40 per shs

= 27,500 shares of common stock issuable upon vestirestricted stock units outstanding as of Ma&8&h2011,

= an aggregate of 5,207,396 shares of common steekwed for future issuance under our 2010 Equitemtive Award Plan and
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as well as any atitbinereases in the number of shares of our comstack reserved for future
issuance under these benefit plans;

= 2,165,323 shares of common stock subject to wariauitistanding as of March 31, 2011 with a weiglaeelrage exercise price of
$2.42 per share
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Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should bedremyether with our financial statements and acamgimg notes and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operationsippearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The seldictencial data i
this section is not intended to replace our finahsiatements and the accompanying notes.

We derived the statement of operations data foyé&aes ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 201(harizhtance sheet data as of

December 31, 2009 and 2010 from our audited firerstatements appearing elsewhere in this prospedta derived the statement of
operations data for the years ended December 88, &3d 2007 and the balance sheet data as of Dec&hb2006, 2007 and 2008 from our
audited financial statements not included in thigspectus. The statement of operations data fahtlee months ended March 31, 2010 and
2011 and the balance sheet data as of March 31, @&@lderived from our unaudited financial statets@ppearing elsewhere in this
prospectus. The unaudited financial statements baga prepared on a basis consistent with ouredifiitancial statements and include, in the
opinion of management, all adjustments, consigtimyg of normal recurring adjustments, necessaryHerfair statement of the financial
information in those statements. Our historicalitssare not necessarily indicative of the residtbe expected in any future period, and the
results for the three months ended March 31, 20 het necessarily indicative of the results teekpected for the year ending December 31,
2011.

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ — % — 3 — $ 628 $ 938 $ 33 % 6,83
Operating expense

Cost of Revenu — — — — — — 6,582

Star-up production cost — — — 5,03: 19,89¢ 4,077 —

Research and developme 3,73 10,30¢ 23,63 22,42¢ 21,69 6,16¢ 6,80¢

General and administrati\ 951 1,89¢ 3,17¢ 4,95 9,34t 3,09¢ 2,78(

Sales and marketir — — 1,04¢ 1,79¢ 6,111 1,22¢ 2,70C

Total operating expens: 4,68: 12,20 27,85 34,20¢ 57,04: 14,57 18,87(

Loss from operation (4,687 (12,20)) (27,859) (33,589 (47,659 (14,23Y (12,03))
Interest expens (11) (215) (974) (3,465 (2,827 (317) (340
Interest and other income (expense), 12¢ 163 437 1,101 (7,207%) 21C (84)
Net loss (4,56%) (12,259 (28,399 (35,949 (57,68) (14,33¢) (12,467)
Deemed dividend related to beneficial

conversion feature of Series E

convertible preferred stoc — — — — (40%) — —
Net loss attributable to commi

stockholder: $ (4565  $(12,257)  $(28,399 $(35949 $ (58,09) $(14,33) $ (12,46)
Net loss per share attributed to comn

stockholders, basic and dilut $(123.5¢)  $(211.00 $(369.3¢0 $(386.5¢) $ (13.60 $ (51.1YH % (0.4%)
Weighted-average shares outstanding

used in computing net loss per shar:

attributed to common stockholders,

basic and dilute 36,94 58,07 76,87 92,99¢ 4,271,17 280,28: 25,959,92
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December 31, March 31,
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivale $1632 $ 426 $ 6,18 $ 7,768 $ 68,91¢ $ 68,79
Working capital 1,043 1,84¢ 741 2,96/ 61,33 64,69¢
Total asset 2,74¢ 8,76 15,75¢ 30,27¢ 103,16( 105,08¢
Current and lon-term notes payabl 1,00(¢ 3,47: 11,697 7,95( 13,30: 24,13¢
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil 39 38¢€ 1,10( 1,55: — —
Convertible preferred stoc 6,23¢ 20,22 45,62 85,83: — —
Total stockholder equity (deficit) $(4,852) $(17,12) $(45,159) $(77,69() $ 73,63¢ $ 62,75¢
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our financial
statements and related notes that appear elsewhehis prospectus. In addition to historical firdal information, the following discussion
contains forward-looking statements that involaksi and uncertainties. Our actual results may diffaterially from those discussed below.
Factors that could cause or contribute to theséed#nces include those discussed below and elsevitnéhis prospectus, particularly und
the caption “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a life sciences company that has developg@@mmercialized a DNA sequencing platform for ptete human genome sequencing
and analysis, and our goal is to become the pefesolution for complete human genome sequencid@aalysis. Our Complete Genomics
Analysis Platform, or CGA Platform, combines ouogmietary human genome sequencing technology wittadvanced informatics and data
management software and our innovative, end-to-emdpurced service model to provide our customéisdata that is immediately ready to
be used for genome-based research. We believeuhablution provides academic and biopharmacdugsgarchers with complete human
genomic data and analysis at an unprecedented natids of quality, cost and scale without requirthgm to invest in in-house sequencing
instruments, high-performance computing resouroéssaecialized personnel. By removing these constrand broadly enabling researchers
to conduct large-scale complete human genome studibelieve that our solution has the potenigignificantly advance medical research
and expand understanding of the basis, treatmehp@avention of complex diseases.

We have targeted our complete human genome seaquesmivice at academic, governmental and othearesénstitutions, as well as
pharmaceutical and other life science companiethdrDNA sequencing industry, complete human gensegeiencing is generally deemed to
be coverage of at least 90% of the nucleotidesergenome. We perform our sequencing service atlountain View, California headquartt
facility, which began commercial operation in Ma&31®. In the near term, we expect to make signifiexpenditures related to the expansion
of our Mountain View sequencing facility and ousearch and development initiatives, as well as¢oease our sales and marketing and
general and administrative expenses to support@umercial operations and anticipated growth. tariyears, we may construct additional
genome centers in the United States and in othetlegic markets to accommodate an expected groglobal demand for high-quality, low-
cost complete human genome sequencing on a laatge sc

Our ability to generate revenue, and the timingwfrevenue, will depend on generating new ordedscantracts, receiving qualified DNA
samples from customers and the rate at which weaavert our backlog of sequencing orders into deted and delivered data and the price
per genome contracted with the customer. We défaoilog as the number of genomes for which custemave placed orders that we believe
are firm and for which no revenue has yet beenrdszmb As of March 31, 2011, we had a backlog oeémdor sequencing over 2,000 genon
which we believe could result in approximately $il&illion in revenue over the next 12 months. Theesl with which we can convert orders
into revenue depends principally on:

= the speed with which our customers provide us gitalified samples after submitting an orc
= the rate at which our system can sequence a gersord
= the rate at which all significant contractual obtigns are fulfilled

The presence or absence in a specific quarterebomore new large orders for hundreds of genaoewined with our uncertain sales cycle
and changes in the variables that influence coieis orders to revenue will cause our resultsmérations and our backlog to fluctuate on a
quarterly basis, perhaps significantly from onertprao the next. In addition, we have only recgethgaged in commercial-scale
manufacturing, so we have a very limited historyndrich we can rely in making predictions regardapgrating variables such as equipment
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failure, throughput yield, customer delivery of fied genomic samples and other factors that caiflelct our ability to sequence genomes
recognize revenue.

We have not been profitable in any period sincewsee formed. We incurred net losses attributablgdck holders of $28.4 million,

$35.9 million and $58.1 million for the years end@etember 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectivety$ad.3 million and $12.5 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2010 and 201fdectsely. We recognized revenue of $0.0 milliof,8million and $9.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010 ctesgg, and $0.3 million and $6.8 million for thieree months ended March 31, 2010
2011, respectively. As of March 31, 2011, we hadecumulated deficit of $151.3 million.

Although we do not anticipate any material seaseffatts, given our limited operating history ageenue generating company, our sales
cycle is uncertain. Thirty-nine customers accouffitedll of the revenue we recognized in 2010, witle customer accounting for 10.6 % of
total revenue in 2010. A limited number of custosn@eccounted for all of the revenue we recognizedhf® three months ended March 31,
2011, with Pfizer and the University of Amsterdaoc@unting for approximately 34% and 18%, respebtjvaf total revenue in three months
ended March 31, 2011. If demand for our servicggmpgs as expected, we do not anticipate that #sedbany of the customers named above
would have a material adverse effect on our futesalts of operations.

Key Financial Measures
Revenue

Our revenue is derived from selling our human gemseqguencing service. We sell our service to ostocoers through a direct field sales and
support organization. Our customers enter intolpase orders, and, in some cases, genome servigaasiwith us. For most arrangements,
we recognize revenue upon shipment of genomictdatee customer. If the customer has a midivery acceptance right, which is atypical,
recognize revenue upon expiration of the acceptpatded or, if sooner, customer acceptance. Thegprome price of our sequencing service
is based principally on the number of genomes tedagienced in the arrangement, with price per gerdeureasing as order size increases
anticipate periodically reducing the price per gaedor our service as the costs of sequencing dseseand competitive conditions change
expect that our primary source of revenue for thedeeable future will be derived from our humamogee sequencing service.

Operating Expenses
Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the costs related to @anee testing of customer genomic samples, samepapmtion and sequencing, the proces
of data generated by our sequencing instrumentsialikery of data to our customers. In 2011, weiedadd full commercial production as the
development of the commercial genome sequencingepsowas completed and employees were dedicatbd pvoduction process. Therefore,
the costs we incurred sequencing genomic samplésgdine three months ended March 31, 2011 aredied in cost of revenue in the
statement of operations.

Start-up Production Costs

Prior to 2011, we had not yet achieved full comradqroduction. As a result, the costs that we e related to the sequencing of genomic
samples during the periods prior to 2011 have lrednded in start-up production costs, which priityaconsist of costs related to the
acceptance testing of customer genomic sampleglea®quencing preparation, sample sequencingyrtoessing of data generated by the
prototype sequencing instruments, continued vatidaif the production process and optimizationnstiument performance. These costs
primarily include personnel-related expenses ancksbased compensation, chemical reagents andesrgig materials and supplies,
consultant fees, depreciation of equipment anditiasirelated costs. Prior
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to 2009, we were primarily involved in developingr@equencing technology platform, and, as a resust of these expenses were accounted
for as research and development. In 2009, we bpgasiding our genome sequencing service to custsmmed accounted for these costs as
start-up production costs.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses consist ofassgisiated with scientific research activitiestvsafe and hardware engineering
development efforts and process automation. Thests primarily include personnel-related expenisediding stock-based compensation,
chemical reagents and engineering materials anglisspdepreciation of equipment, consulting fees facilities-related costs.

In 2007, we were awarded a grant from the Natitmstitute of Science and Technology, or NIST, tlylowhich we are eligible to receive
reimbursement of a portion of our research and ldpweent expenses and certain administrative exgefmseach of 2008 and 2009, we
recognized a $0.8 million reduction in research @ekelopment expenses for activities funded by NIST

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist pafigipf personnel-related expenses, including steaged compensation for our finance,
human resources and certain executive personmdégsional services fees, such as consulting, ,dadiand legal fees, general corporate costs
and facilities-related costs. We are eligible toefee reimbursement for a portion of our administmexpenses pursuant to our NIST grant. In
each of 2008 and 2009, we recognized a $0.2 mitkdluction in general and administrative expenseadtivities funded by NIST.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist principalhecfonnel-related expenses, including stoaked compensation for our sales and mark
personal, costs related to sales and marketingittesi marketing research and facilities-relatests.

Interest Expens
Interest expense consists of interest on our rEagable and issuance costs associated with oun\bioiys.

Interest and Other Income (Expense),

Interest and other income (expense), net, corslistderest earned on our cash and cash equivaedtshanges in the fair value of our
convertible preferred stock warrant liability.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oaniiial condition and results of operations are tb@seour financial statements that have
been prepared in accordance with accounting pliegigenerally accepted in the United States. Thpgyation of our financial statements
requires our management to make estimates, assama@nd judgments that affect the reported amafrassets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the datéheffinancial statements and the reported amafmsvenues and expenses during the
applicable periods. Management bases its estimadeamptions and judgments on historical experiandeon various other factors that it
believes to be reasonable under the circumstabiffsrent assumptions and judgments would changestitimates used in the preparation of
our financial statements, which, in turn, could enatly change the results from those reported. @anagement evaluates its estimates,
assumptions and judgments on an ongoing basisoritially, our critical accounting estimates havé differed materially from actual results.
However, if our assumptions change, we may neeeMise our estimates, or take other correctiveoastieither of which may also have a
material adverse effect on our statements of oj@stliquidity and financial condition.
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Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from selling our human genemeesicing services under purchase orders or ctsitRevenues are recognized when all
of the following criteria are met: persuasive evide of an arrangement exists, title has transfethedprice is fixed or determinable and
collectability is reasonably assured. Upon comgietf the sequencing process, we ship the reseaatty genomic data to the customer. We
use shipping documents and third-party evidenaetiy shipment of the data. In order to determirteether collectability is reasonably
assured, we assess a number of factors, includisigtansaction history with the customer and teditworthiness of the customer. If we
determine that collectability is not reasonablyuasd, we defer the recognition of revenue untilezbility becomes reasonably assured. We
also receive down payments from customers pritihéaccommencement of the genome sequencing process.

For revenue generated under purchase orders, wedstablished standard terms and conditions teatacified for all orders. We use the
purchase order to establish persuasive evidenae afrangement and whether there is a fixed aratrdatable price for the order. Revenue is
recognized based upon the shipment of individuabgéc data to customers and satisfaction of rel@sds and conditions contained in the
purchase order. Any down payments received arededas deferred revenue until we meet all reveacegnition criteria.

For revenue generated under contracts, we consabdr contract’s terms and conditions to deternmgeliligations associated with the
contract. We will defer revenue until individualrgenic data has been shipped to customers andda@geificant obligations, as defined in 1
contract, have been met. Any down payments receivedecorded as deferred revenue until we meedahue recognition criteria.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Receipt of payment on our existing receivableshieen reasonably assured such that we do not befiavan allowance for doubtful accounts
is currently required. If our revenue increasesxsected and our accounts receivable balance gmeveitend to perform regular evaluations
of our customers’ creditworthiness and continuousdnitor collections and payments to estimate Emwalnce for doubtful accounts that is
based on the aging of the underlying receivablesoam experiences with regard to specific colletigsues.

Estimated Useful Lives of Property and Equipment

We depreciate our property and equipment usingaggstline method over their estimated useful lives. Pnaperty primarily consists of lea
improvements, and our equipment primarily consi§tsur sequencing instruments and computer equiposad in the sequencing process.
While we use our best judgment to determine théulibees of our sequencing instruments and competglipment, a significant change in
technology or the emergence of an advanced techyalould result in a shorter useful life than wigiatly anticipated. Our equipment
represents the largest asset on our balance sineled, subsequent reduction in the useful livegjoipgnent could have a material impact on
statement of operations.

I nventory

Inventory consists of the raw materials we useunsequencing process, work in process and finigloeds. Inventories are stated at the lower
of cost or market value. Cost is determined ustagdard costs, which approximate actual costs, fostan, first-out basis. Market value is
determined as the lower of replacement cost oreaizable value. We regularly review inventory nitees on hand for excess and obsolete
inventories, giving consideration to potential desoence, our product life cycle and developmeaniql product expiration and quality issues.
To date, these factors have not been significanuagventory amounts have been immaterial. Howewe anticipate that these estimates will
become more significant if our sequencing volunmesdase as expected.
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Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

We assess our long-lived assets for impairment ev@mevents or changes in circumstances indicatdtie carrying amount of a long-lived
asset may not be recoverable. These indicatoramehyde, but are not limited to, significant de@es in the market value of an asset and
significant changes in the extent or manner in Wiaio asset is used. If these or other indicat@paesent, we test for recoverability by
measuring the carrying amount of the assets agituse net cash flows which the assets are exgeotgenerate. If these assets are consi
to be impaired, the impairment recognized is measby the amount by which the carrying amount efdahsets exceeds the projected
discounted future net cash flows arising from tbsets. We make estimates and judgments about furdiscounted cash flows and fair val
Although our cash flow forecasts are based on agans that are consistent with our plans, themggsificant exercise of judgment involved
in determining the cash flow attributable to a ldivgd asset over its estimated remaining usefel Dur estimates of anticipated cash flows
could be reduced significantly in the future. Aeault, the carrying amounts of our long-lived &sseuld be reduced through impairment
charges in the future. There have been no suchiimeats of long-lived assets to date. However, nticgpate that a future impairment could
have a material impact on our financial statemenligiht of the dollar significance of the long-#d assets carried on our balance sheet.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense related to thedawg of employee stock options, based on thenastid fair value of the awards granted
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Wepalse the Black-Scholes option-pricing model teweine the fair value of non-employee
stock option grants. In accordance with authoxitaguidance, the fair value of non-employee stqatioo grants is re-measured as they vest,
and the resulting increase in value, if any, iDgeized as expense during the period the relatsitses are rendered.

Stock Option Modification

In January 2010, our board of directors approvetdification of outstanding unexercised stock apdibeld by then-current employees and
consultants to decrease the exercise price of 8tesk options to $1.50 per share. Other than acestiexercise price, the terms and conditions
of the stock options remained the same. All 85 diT&@xercised options that were granted under ous Fafuiity Incentive Plan on or before
January 28, 2010 and which had an exercise presgtgrthan $1.50 per share were modified. The mental stock-based compensation
expense due to the modification was immaterialuofimancial statements.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United Stated we use estimates in determining our provigioincome taxes. We use the asset and
liability method of accounting for income taxes.dén this method, deferred tax asset or liabilitgoamt balances are calculated at the balance
sheet date using current tax laws and rates ictefide the year in which the differences are expedb affect taxable income.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is appropridtenarealization of such assets is more likely thain \We recognize a valuation allowance
against our net deferred tax assets if it is mitedyl than not that some portion of the deferredasasets will not be fully realizable. This
assessment requires judgment as to the likelihaddaanounts of future taxable income by tax jurisdic At December 31, 2010, we had a
valuation allowance against all of our deferreddasgets.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the new ait#tioe guidance to account for uncertain tax poss. None of our currently unrecognized
tax benefits would affect our effective income tate if recognized, due to the valuation allowathze currently offsets our deferred tax assets.
We do not anticipate the total amount of unrecogghimcome tax benefits relating to tax positionisting at December 31, 2010 will
significantly increase or decrease in the next batms.
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We assess all material positions taken in any irectar return, including all significant uncertaiositions, in all tax years that are still subject
to assessment or challenge by relevant taxing &ti#so Assessing an uncertain tax position bewiitls the initial determination of the
position’s sustainability and is measured at thhgdat amount of benefit that is greater than 5@%yito be realized upon ultimate settlement.
As of each balance sheet date, unresolved unceabajpositions must be reassessed, and we wilirdéte whether:

= the factors underlying the sustainability assertiame changed; ar
= the amount of the recognized tax benefit is stipr@priate.

The recognition and measurement of tax benefitgires| significant judgment. Judgments concerniggrétognition and measurement of a tax
benefit might change as new information becomegahla.

As of December 31, 2010, we had federal and sttteperating loss carryforwards of $108.5 milliod&107.7 million, respectively. The
federal net operating loss carryforwards will beirexpire in 2026, and the state net operating dasryforwards will begin to expire in 2016.
In addition, as of December 31, 2010, we had fédeard state research and development tax creditfoavards of $2.4 million and $2.6
million, respectively. The federal research andelf@yment tax credit carryforwards will expire in28) if not used, and the state research and
development tax credit carryforwards do not exf@ecause of the net operating loss and credit framyards, all of our tax years, dating to
inception in 2005, remain open to federal tax exatidns. Most state tax jurisdictions have fourrofex years at any point in time.

Under federal and similar state tax statutes, smlisi changes in our ownership, may limit our ifptio use our available net operating loss
tax credit carryforwards. The annual limitation,aasesult of a change-in-control, may result ineRpiration of net operating losses and credits
before utilization. We conducted an analysis thfoDgcember 31, 2010 to determine whether ownerdiapges occurred. We concluded that
two ownership changes had occurred. However, &eoémber 31, 2010, we believe no net operatingsstax credits will expire unused as
a result of these changes.

As of December 31, 2009, we had federal and sk&tteperating loss carryforwards of approximatel9.$5million each and federal and state
research and development tax credit carryforwafdpproximately $1.9 million and $2.0 million, respively. Our federal net operating loss
and research and development tax credit carryfaisvaegin expiring in 2026 unless used prior to tzéé. Our state net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2016, if nased, and our state research and developmentedit carryforwards do not expire. Our
ability to use net operating loss and tax creditydarwards is subject to ownership change rulegrasided under the Internal Revenue Code
and similar state provisions. We have performedraalysis to determine whether an ownership chaagebcurred from inception to
December 31, 2009. Our analysis determined thabtwrership changes have occurred during that pebad to these ownership changes, the
use of these net operating losses and researatieaetbpment credits are subject to annual limitatidowever, we concluded that as of
December 31, 2009, no net operating losses ornesaad development credits will expire beforeizailion due to these ownership change
the event we have a subsequent change in ownergipperating loss and research and developmedit carryovers could be further limited
and may expire unutilized.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2010 and 2011

The following table shows the amounts of the listechs from our statements of operations for théople presented, showing period-over-
period changes (in thousands, except for percestage

Three months ended First Quarter 2011 vs.
March 31, First Quarter 2010
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(unaudited)
Revenue $ 33€ $ 6,83 $ 6,497 1,93%%
Costs and expense
Costs of revenu — 6,582 (6,582 *
Star-up production cost 4,07 — 4,07 *
Research and developm 6,16¢ 6,80¢ (639) (10)%
General and administratiy 3,09¢ 2,78( 31¢ 10%
Sales and marketir 1,22¢ 2,70( (1,479 (120)%
Total costs and expens 14,57 18,87( (4,299 (30)%
Loss from operation (14,239 (12,039 2,19¢ 15%
Interest expens (311) (340 (29) (9%
Interest and other income (expense), 21C (84) (294) (140)%
Net loss $(14,33¢) $(12,46)) $ 1,87t 13%

* result is not meaningfu

Revenue

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, wegweized $6.8 million of revenue, compared to $8ilion during the same period in
2010. In the three months ended March 31, 201@ewerated limited revenue from small-scale pilofgnts. The significant revenue increase
in the three months ended March 31, 2011 as comparhe corresponding period in 2010 reflectsrmmgase in sequencing orders resulting
from our expanded marketing and sales activitiggclvhave expanded our customer base over thaitesmonths. Our price points have
decreased. Average price per genome decreasedHteofaurth quarter of 2010 to the first quarte6L1. Current pricing of genome services
starts at $9,500 per genome for small order sizdg@nges to between $5,000 to $7,500 per genon@ders in the hundreds of genomes.

Costs of Revenue

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, weriied $6.6 million of costs to provide our genmeguencing service. The $6.6 millior
cost of revenue primarily consisted of $2.0 milliarsalaries and benefits expense, $1.7 milliodepreciation expense and $0.8 million in
materials.

We anticipate that these costs as a percentagwerfue will fluctuate as we increase sequencingaigpand our capacity utilization changes,
as the sequencing price we charge to our custochargye and as we continue to improve and autonuatieumman genome sequencing
processes. However, we anticipate that our totstl @brevenue will increase in absolute dollarsvassequence additional genomes and our
revenue grows.

Start-up Production Costs

During the three months ended March 31, 2010, weriied $4.1 million of start-up production coststpport the development of our genome
sequencing service. The $4.1 million of start-updoiction costs primarily consisted of $1.4 millionsalaries and benefits expense and $0.7
million in depreciation expense.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses were $6.8 ndlliong the three months ended March 31, 2011, epetpto $6.2 million during the thi
months ended March 31, 2010, representing an isereb$0.6 million, or 10%. The increase in reskanmd development expenses was
primarily due to an increase in salaries and b&nefi
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expense of $0.5 million and an increase of $0.8aniin genome sequencing costs due to an incrieabe number of genomes sequenced for
research purposes. These increases were partitdt by a decrease in bonus expense of $0.4 millibe increase in salaries and benefits

is a result of increased headcount and the refogusicertain research and development resoureg¢diftl been directed to start-up production
activities in prior quarters.

We expect to continue to invest in research anéldement activities as we seek to enhance our semgeprocesses, components and sys
to improve the yield and throughput and reducectist of our sequencing service. Consequently, Weuaethat in the near future, our research
and development expenses will increase.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $2.8omiftr the three months ended March 31, 2011, coadp@ $3.1 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2010, representing a dec#&0.3 million, or 10%. The decrease in genana administrative expenses was
primarily due to a $0.9 million reduction in stobksed compensation expense related to equity gatw® founders in the three months er
March 31, 2010. Consulting fees also decreasedt®/illion in the first quarter of 2011 when comga to the same period in 2010. These
decreases were partially offset by increases in@mp salaries and benefits and legal and accayfess of $0.3 million each. The increase in
salaries and benefits expense was primarily dircteased headcount to support operations as &mahpany. In addition, outside services
expense for legal and accounting support increpgethrily due to operating as a public company.

We expect that general and administrative expengkescrease for the remainder of 2011 as we ofgeas a public company in 2011.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $2.7 milliomdutie three months ended March 31, 2011, comgar$d.2 million during the three
months ended March 31, 2010, representing an isereg$1.5 million, or 120%. The increase in saled marketing expenses is due primarily
to an increase in employee salaries and benefitsrese of $0.9 million, and an increase in consyléirpense and seminar expense of $0.1
million each. The increase in expenses was prignariesult of the growth of our sales and marketirganization to support the increased <
activity and overall growth of the Company.

We expect that sales and marketing expenses witlrage to increase for the remainder of 2011 agweease our headcount for sales and
marketing personnel to expand our customer bas¢cageherate growth in terms of both complete hugemomes ordered and revenues.
Interest Expens

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, weried interest expense of $340,000 compared td,®80Q during the three months ended
March 31, 2010. The increase in interest expen§2®f000 between the two periods was primarily tdugigher debt balances related to our
loans.

Interest and Other Income (Expense),

Interest and other income (expense), net, forttreetmonths ended March 31, 2011 was an exper& bmillion compared to income of $(
million for the three months ended March 31, 200ite change between the two periods was primarig/tdihe change in the valuation of our
warrant liability.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010

During the year ended December 31, 2009, our sestibbperations were impacted by the following ¢sewhich should be considered when
reading the discussion of our results of operat@mmparing 2010 and 2009:

= |n 2009, we initiated start-up production actistiesing resources from our research and developongabization. Using these
research and development resources for productitvitees decreased research and development ezpehsing 2009 by $2.2
million.
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= |n the second quarter of 2009, we implemented tearga@os-reduction initiatives to conserve cash in lightedcroeconomi
conditions. The temporary cosgeuction initiatives included a salary reductiondll company employees that averaged approxim
50%. The impact of the temporary cost-reductiofidtives on 2009 operating results was a reduaifeexpenses of approximately
$3.4 million, including reductions in employee si@a and benefits of approximately $2.0 millionnsuolting and outside engineering
services of approximately $0.6 million and protaygmuipment expenses of approximately $0.4 millisa result of these cost-
reduction initiatives, research and developmemegad and administrative and sales and marketipgrses decreased $2.7 million,
$0.5 million and $0.2 million, respectively, durigg09.

= During the fourth quarter of 2009, we reevaluatezléxpected useful lives of our equipment, andraetesd that for certain of ot
equipment, the useful life should be shortened.ofaingly, we accelerated depreciation of this emépt, resulting in an additional
$1.0 million in depreciation expense in the fougtharter of 2009. Of this $1.0 million charge, apgpmately $0.5 million was recorded
as start-up production costs and approximately 80l%%n was recorded as research and developmgmree. During 2010, we did
not have equipment that required acceleration pfetgation.

The following table shows the amounts of the listeths from our statements of operations for théople presented, showing period-over-
period changes (in thousands, except percentages).

Years ended December 31, 2009 vs. 2008 2010 vs. 2009
2008 2009 2010 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Revenue $ — $ 62& $ 938 $ 62¢ * $ 8,76¢€ 1,407%
Operating expense
Star-up production cost — 5,03: 19,89t 5,03: * 14,86 (295)%
Research and developme 23,63 22,42¢ 21,69: (1,209 5% (733 3%
General and administratiy 3,17¢ 4,957 9,34t 1,77¢ (56)% 4,392 (89%
Sales and marketir 1,04¢ 1,79¢ 6,111 752 (72)% 4,31: (240%
Total operating expens: 27,85: 34,20¢ 57,04 6,351 (23)% 22,83¢ (67)%
Loss from operation (27,859 (33,58Y) (47,659 (5,729 (21)% (14,069 (42)%
Interest expens (974) (3,465 (2,827 (2,497 (256)% 63€ 18%
Interest and other income (expense), 437 1,107 (7,207) 664 (152)% (8,30¢) (7549)%
Net loss $(28,399)  $(35,949 $(57,687) $ (7,555 2n%  $(21,739 (61)%

* Percentage not meaningfi

Revenue

During 2010, we recognized $9.4 million of revencempared to $0.6 million during 2009. This is theult of our revenue activities not
beginning until the fourth quarter of 2009.

We recognized our first revenue of $0.6 milliorttie fourth quarter of 2009, which represented dalegven customers.

Start-up Production Costs

During 2010, we incurred $19.9 million of startqmmduction costs to support our genome sequeneingcg, compared to $5.0 million during
2009. These activities include the acceptancengsii customer genomic samples, sample sequenoépgi@ation, sample sequencing, the
processing of data generated by our prototype swipginstruments, continued validation of the prciibn process and optimization of
instrument performance. The $14.9 million increiasstart-up production costs was primarily duertcréases in employee salaries and benefits
and stock-based compensation expenses of $5.bmdhid $0.1 million, respectively, depreciationexge of $3.9 million, facilities and
maintenance expense of $2.5 million and consulixgense of $0.6 million. We continued to incurtstar costs in excess of revenue during
2010 to initiate and bring our
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human genome sequencing production process to cosiaihscale. Only a portion of our production expes varies with our service activity.
Accordingly, unless we achieve significantly largeoduction volume and revenue, our productionscesit be greater than our revenue.

During 2009, we incurred $5.0 million of stamp-production costs to support our genome sequgrsarvice. These costs primarily consiste
employee salaries and benefits and stock-basedeamsafpion expense of $1.7 million and $0.1 milli@spectively, depreciation expense of
$1.5 million, facilities and maintenance costs @fgsmillion, reagents, materials and supplies egpasf $0.3 million, data communication
charges of $0.2 million, equipment expense of $ilkon and consulting expense of $0.2 million. \Meurred considerable staup productiol
costs in excess of revenue during 2009 to initae bring our human genome sequencing productiocegs to commercial scale. We
committed significant personnel and equipment recsssito our production process in advance of obieaing full commercial production
volume.

Research and Developme

During 2010, we recognized $21.7 million of reskasind development expenses, compared to $22.4mdliring 2009, representing a
decrease of $0.7 million, or 3%. While there waly @13% change in research and development expbesesen the two periods, there were
changes in the composition of the expenses. Tinegpyi changes during 2010 compared to 2009 werductien in depreciation expense of
$2.4 million, an increase in salaries and benefifeense and stock-based compensation expense3ahdition and $0.7 million, respectively,
and an increase in facilities and maintenance aist4.1 million. The decrease in depreciation exggewas primarily due to the acceleration of
depreciation expense of certain equipment in 20@Bthe redeployment of equipment to start-up prtdna@ctivities. The decrease in data
center expense allocated to research and develdpmasrdue to increased use of the data centeaiitiigd production activities in 2010. The
increase in salaries and benefits expense was filjirdae to a charge associated with an equity gi@one of our founders in 2010 and the
temporary cost-reduction initiatives implementediniy the second quarter of 2009, which resulteldwer overall salaries and benefits
expense for 2009. The increase in facilities anthteaance costs was associated with the expansiour dacilities during 2009. Our research
and development costs should increase in 201leasgbense related to additional headcount hirethg @010 will be included in 2011 for a
full year. In addition, we expect to hire additibhaadcount in 2011. The headcount increase isssacg as our business matures and we strive
to achieve our long term business objectives.

Research and development expenses decreased $iba,rar 5%, in 2009 from 2008 as we used resoaifoBm our research organization to
initiate commercial operations and implemented teragy cost-reduction initiatives in the second ¢graof 2009. This decrease reflects a
reduction in equipment, reagents, materials anglmsgand prototype equipment expense of $1.5anillThe reduction in equipment, reage
materials and supplies expenses primarily refldets usage in start-up production activities. Té@uction in prototype equipment expense
reflects our transition to developing productionipment as well as cost-reduction measures ingbersl quarter of 2009. In addition, the
decrease in research and development expensestsetfleeduction in licensing arrangements expeh$é.a million, of which, $1.0 million
represents a one-time payment to Callida Genorricsjn 2008 pursuant to our intellectual propditgnse arrangement. The decrease in
research and development expenses also refleetiiation in consulting expense and outside engimgeervices of $0.9 million and the
disposal of obsolete equipment in 2008 of $0.5iamlI These decreases in research and developmeenses were offset by increased
equipment depreciation expense of $0.9 milliontegldo investments in computing and other equipraedtsoftware and acceleration of
depreciation expense for certain equipment ancasad employee salaries and benefits of $0.6 milétated to increased headcount. The
decrease in research and development expensesuntbier offset by increased stock-based compensatipense of $0.7 million, increased
facilities and maintenance costs of $0.6 milliosasated with the expansion of our facilities i02@nd increased data communication cos
$0.5 million related to the expansion of our offgilata center.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $9.3omiftir 2010, compared to $5.0 million for 2009,resg@nting an increase of $4.3 million, or
89%. In 2010 compared to 2009, employee salarid$anefits and stock-based compensation expensased $3.1 million and $1.3 million,
respectively. The increase in salaries and benefjtense was primarily due to the temporary cadtiation initiatives implemented during the
second quarter of 2009, which resulted in a lowerall salaries and benefits expense for 2009eased headcount during 2010 and a charge
associated with equity grants to two of our fousdar2010. In addition, outside services expenseased by $0.9 million to support patent
and litigation activities during 2010. Our genexal administrative costs should increase in 20Measxpand our business and incur the costs
associated with being a public company.

General and administrative expenses increasedn§illi8n, or 56%, in 2009 from 2008 primarily refléty increased facilities and maintena
costs of $1.1 million. During 2009, significant gons of our facility were renovated to accommodaie genome sequencing center. During
the period of renovation, the space being renovasiunoccupied, and associated costs were recasdgeineral and administrative expense.
In addition, general and administrative expens#aateincreased employee salaries and benefitsauk-based compensation expense of $0.1
million and $0.2 million, respectively, legal exgenof $0.2 million, primarily related to intelleeuproperty matters and patent prosecution,
increased consulting expense of $0.1 million relatefinancial and human resources consultantsrardased payroll and benefits servicing
fees of $0.1 million.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $6.1 milliomd#010, compared to $1.8 million during 2009, espnting an increase of $4.3 million, or
238%. The increase in sales and marketing expevaggrimarily due to an increase in employee ssdaand benefits of $2.6 million and an
increase in outside services of $0.1 million. Tieréase in sales and marketing expenses was gisatied by increases in travel expenses and
allocation of facilities and maintenance costs@#dmillion each. The increase in expenses wasavifiyra result of the growth of our sales and
marketing organization to support the increaseessattivity and overall order growth in 2010. Weexot that sales and marketing expenses
will continue to increase in 2011 as we increaseheadcount for sales and marketing personnelgpatiour expected growth in revenue and
the expansion of our customer base.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $0.8 midior2%, in 2009 from 2008 reflecting increasegkayee salaries and benefits and stock-
based compensation expense of $0.7 million and®@libn, respectively, related to increased heanhtpincreased facilities and maintenance
costs of $0.1 million and increased travel expef€s% million. The increase in sales and marke¢ixigenses was partially offset by decreased
marketing research and public relations expen$® & million. Our sales and marketing expense®0dB2eflect our initial investment in
marketing activities and primarily consist of maikg research and public relations activities.

Interest Expens

During 2010, we incurred interest expense of $2I1Bam, compared to $3.5 million during 2009. Theadease in interest expense was prim
a result of lower amortization of the debt discoughated to the common stock warrants we issu@di®), compared to amortization of the c
discount related to the Series D preferred stoakamgs issued in 2009. The Series D preferred starkants we issued in the first quarter of
2009 while the common stock warrants were issugthglthe second quarter of 2010, resulting in ategeriod of amortization during 2010
versus 2009.

Interest expense increased by $2.5 million, or 256%2009 from 2008 primarily due to $1.0 milliohinterest expense on higher loan balai
under our new credit facility and $1.5 million oftérest charges related borrowings under convertibtes issued in 2009.
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Interest and Other Income (Expense),

Interest and other income (expense), net, for 209an expense of $7.2 million compared to incofigld million for 2009. The change
between the two periods was due to the changeeimaluation of our preferred stock warrant and pase right liabilities.

The increase in interest and other income (expensé)of $0.7 million in 2009 from 2008 was prifhadue to the change in valuation of our
convertible preferred stock warrants in 2009, dffgelower interest income due to lower cash argh@guivalents balances, as well as lower
effective rates of interest earned on our cashvadprits balance.

Selected Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table presents our unaudited quartexsults of operations for the eight fiscal quarended March 31, 2011. This unaudited
guarterly information has been prepared on the dzsis as our audited financial statements anddesl all adjustments, consisting of only
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for threstatement of the information for the quarterssprged. You should read this table in
conjunction with our financial statements and tlated notes thereto included in this prospecths.ré&sults of operations for any quarter are
not necessarily indicative of the results of opgeret for any future period.

Fiscal 2011,
quarter
Fiscal 2009, quarter ended Fiscal 2010, quarter ended ended
Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31
(unaudited)

(in thousands)
Statements of Operations Data
Revenue $ — $ — $ 628 $ 33€ $ 1,08 $ 4161 $ 3,80 $ 6,83:
Cost and expense

Cost of revenue — — — — — — — 6,58
Star-up production cost 687 1,25¢ 2,762 4,077 4,90¢ 6,007 4,90z —
Research and developme 3,70: 5,63¢ 6,337 6,16¢ 4,92¢ 4,95¢ 5,64( 6,80¢
General and administratiy 822 1,35z 1,481 3,09¢ 1,76¢ 2,33( 2,15¢ 2,78(
Sales and marketir 193 36€ 81z 1,22¢ 1,318 1,591 1,981 2,70(
Total operating expens 5,40t 8,61 11,39: 14,57 12,917 14,88: 14,67 18,87(
Loss from operation (5,405 (8,619 (10,769 (14,23H (11,82) (10,72) (10,879 (12,037
Interest expens (2,379 (1,079 (34)) (311 (833 (90€) (775) (340
Interest and other income (expense),
net (48) 43¢ 73z 21C 25 (8,827 1,38¢ (84)
Net loss $(6,825) $(9,24¢) $(10,379 $(14,33) $(12,63) $(20,456 $ (10,269 $ (12,46)

Basic and diluted net loss per sh
attributed to common sharehold:  $(72.7¢) $(98.1(0) $(110.0) $ (51.15 $ (13.92 $ (21.879) $ (069 $ (0.4%)

Shares used to compute basic
diluted net loss per share attribute
to common shareholde 93,77( 94,26¢ 94,27¢ 280,28: 907,07! 954,02. 14,820,02 25,959,92

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have generated operatisgein every quarter, resulting in an accumuldégidit of $151.3 million as of March 31,
2011. We have financed our operations to date pilyrtarough private placements of preferred staokl promissory notes, borrowings under
our credit facilities, proceeds from our initialtgie offering and term debt. As of March 31, 20« had working capital of $64.7 million,
consisting of $80.2 million in current assets at8.$ million in current liabilities. As of Decemb@t, 2010, working capital was $61.3 milli
consisting of $79.0 million in current assets aad.$ million in current liabilities.
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Our cash is invested primarily in money market firdash in excess of immediate operating requir&niginvested in accordance with our
investment policy, primarily with the goals of ctgbipreservation and liquidity maintenance.
Summary Statement of Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows fa years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 201bhatidree months ended March 31,
2010 and 2011.

Three months ended

Years ended December 31, March 31,
2008 2009 2010 2010 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activit $(24,307)  $(26,667)  $(35,019) $ (4,225 $(8,909
Net cash used in investing activiti (7,419 (9,659 (18,802 (10,172 (3,120
Net cash provided by financing activiti 33,64¢ 37,89t 114,97: 9,00z 11,89¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 1,92¢ $ 1,57¢ $ 61,15! $ (5,399 $ (129)

Cash Flowsfor the Three Months Ended March 31, 2010 and 2011
Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $8.9anilluring the three months ended March 31, 20Hlcansisted of a net loss of $12.5 milli
offset by noncash items of $3.2 million and a netéase in operating assets and liabilities of $fildon. Noncash items for the three months
ended March 31, 2011 consisted primarily of thengeain valuation of our warrant liability of $0.1ilhon, depreciation expense of $2.5
million and stock-based compensation expense &f B@lion. The significant items in the change jpeoating assets and liabilities include an
increase in accounts receivable of $2.4 milliortiply offset by a decrease in prepaid expensedrarehtory of $0.3 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, and increases in deferred revenuaeaoounts payable of $1.3 million and $0.1 millisespectively. The increase in accounts
receivable and deferred revenue were due to inede@venue and advance billing arrangements dthimgjrst three months of 2011. The
increase in accounts payable was due to purchasesx@enses incurred as a result of the growtheCompany during the first three months
of 2011.

Net cash used in operating activities was $4.2Znilluring the three months ended March 31, 20H0cansisted of a net loss of $14.3 milli
offset by noncash items of $3.6 million and a netéase in operating assets and liabilities of §@lkon. Noncash items for the three months
ended March 31, 2010 consisted primarily of detén expense of $1.3 million, noncash compensatiqense related to stock grants to our
founders and stock-based compensation expense®fifitlion and $0.5 million, respectively. The sificant changes in operating assets and
liabilities include increases in prepaid expensesadeferred revenues of $4.6 million and $1.5 wnillirespectively, offset by a decrease in
inventory of $0.4 million.

Investing Activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities was $3.liamland $10.2 million for the three months endedde81, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
amounts related entirely to purchases of propertyegjuipment and a patent. The purchases of pyoaed equipment during the first three
months of 2011 and 2010 were primarily for sequegequipment used in production.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during three months ended March 31, 2011 of $11.9 miltionsisted primarily of $20.0 million
proceeds from our term loan with Oxford. These peats were partially offset by repayments on termms$oof $8.2 million.
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Net cash provided by financing activities during three months ended March 31, 2010 of $9.0 mittiansisted primarily of $10.1 million i
net proceeds from the issuance and sale of SersfPrred stock. These proceeds were partialedtby repayment of notes payable of $1.1
million.

Cash Flowsfor the Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010
Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $35.0anibluring the year ended December 31, 2010 andisted of a net loss of $57.7 millic

offset by noncash items of $21.0 million and aaletnge in operating assets and liabilities of $dilson. Noncash items for the year ended
December 31, 2010 consisted primarily of the changmluation of our preferred stock warrant andcpase right liability of $7.2 million,
depreciation expense of $8.0 million, expensegadlto issuance of common stock to our foundef&ldd million and stock-based
compensation expense of $1.8 million. The signifigeems in the change in operating assets anditieb include a decrease in prepaid
expenses of $4.0 million, an increase in deferez@mue of $3.8 million and increases in inventarg accounts receivable of $3.8 million and
$3.0 million, respectively. The decrease in pregaipenses was due to the use of fully refundalset-gérm deposits to order components used
in the construction of sequencers whose specificativere validated during 2010. The increase irfitry was due to inventory purchases
work-in-process needed to support customer ordéesincrease in deferred revenue was due to advaltiog arrangements during 2010. The
increase in accounts receivable was due to incdeasenue and advance billing arrangements duir® 2

Net cash used in operating activities was $26.Wanibluring the year ended December 31, 2009 andisted of a net loss of $35.9 millic
offset by noncash items of $8.0 million and a rextrdase in operating assets and liabilities of 81illBon. Noncash items for the year ended
December 31, 2009 consisted primarily of depremiaéixpense of $5.2 million, noncash interest expeakated to our promissory notes and
notes payable of $2.1 million and stock-based carsaion expense of $1.4 million, partially offsgtthe change in valuation of our preferred
stock warrant liability of $1.1 million. The sigigint changes in operating assets and liabilitiekide increases in deferred rent of $5.0
million, accounts payable of $1.1 million and deéerrevenue of $1.3 million, partially offset by iacrease in prepaid expenses of $4.7 mi
and an increase in accounts receivable of $1.3omilThe significant change in deferred rent was ttuthe difference between rent amounts
paid and amounts expensed during 2009 on ourtfgaithile the significant increase in prepaid exgeEnis due to making fully refundable
short-term deposits for components used in thetomet®on of sequencers whose specifications wedetarmined. The increase in accounts
payable during 2009 was due to increased purclzssesiated with the start-up of our productionlitées during the fourth quarter of 2009.
The increases in accounts receivable and defeerezhue were due to revenue recognized in the fouriinter of 2009 and advance billing
arrangements with customers.

Net cash used in operating activities was $24.8anifor the year ended December 31, 2008 and stetsbf a net loss of $28.4 million, off:
by noncash items of $3.8 million and net increasesperating assets and liabilities of $0.3 millivoncash items for the year ended
December 31, 2008 consisted mainly of depreciaimhamortization expense of $2.8 million, a losshendisposal of property and equipment
of $0.5 million and stock-based compensation expef$§0.3 million. Changes in operating assetslafidities consisted of an increase in
accrued liabilities of $0.7 million, offset by ireases in prepaid expenses of $0.2 million and @ilveent assets of $0.2 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities were $18.8onj $9.7 million and $7.4 million for the yeaended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2
respectively. The amounts related entirely to pasels of property and equipment. The purchasesopepy and equipment during 2010 were
primarily for sequencing equipment used in produgtiwhile the purchases of property and equipmerihg 2009 were for equipment used in
our start-up production and research and developawivities and leasehold improvements relatedutofacilities. Purchases of property and
equipment during 2008 were primarily for equipmensupport our research and development activities.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during tlear ended December 31, 2010 of $115.0 milliarsisbed primarily of net proceeds frc
our IPO of common stock of $47.2 million, net preds from the issuance of convertible preferredkstd&39.4 million and net proceeds from
the issuance of promissory notes and notes pagl¥@6.2 million offset by repayment of notes pdgatfs $8.6 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities during trear ended December 31, 2009 of $37.9 milliorsisbed primarily of net proceeds from
issuance of convertible preferred stock and proeéman the issuance of promissory notes of $271Ramiand $14.7 million, respectively,
offset by repayment of notes payable of $4.0 nmillio

Net cash provided by financing activities during trear ended December 31, 2008 of $33.6 milliorsisbed primarily of net proceeds from
issuance of convertible preferred stock of $25.Migniand proceeds from notes payable of $13.2iomjloffset by repayment of notes payable
of $5.0 million.

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements

To date, we have not achieved profitability on artgrly or annual basis. We expect our cash expamedi to increase significantly in the short-
term. We plan to fund our short-term liquidity ré@ments using cash on hand at March 31, 2011 p@ucipal short-term liquidity needs are:

= to fund our working capital for commercial operatigincluding personnel costs and other operatipgrese
= to expand the sequencing and computing capaciiyiMountain View and Santa Clara leased facilit

= to finance the further development of our sequentichnology and service

= to finance sales and marketing activities;

= to service our debt obligatior

The cost of expansion of our current sequencingsaipgorting computing capacity in our Mountain Viand Santa Clara, California leased
facilities California in 2011 is estimated to bepegximately $20.0 million. In addition, as a pubtiempany we also incur significant legal,
accounting and other expenses that we did not ias@r private company. We anticipate that we wifitmue to incur net losses for the
foreseeable future as we continue to expand ounéss and build our infrastructure. We believe,thased on our current level of operations
and anticipated growth, the net proceeds from witial public offering, our cash and cash equivalesances, including interest income we
earn on those balances, when taken together vétpritceeds from this offering, will be sufficientrheet our anticipated cash requirements
beyond the 12 months from the date of this filing.

In addition to our continued expenditures for tkpansion of our Mountain View sequencing facilftyither development of our sequencing
technology and services and expansion of our seldsnarketing activities, our principal long-teriguidity needs are:

= to fund our working capital for commercial operasgincluding any growth in working capital requidey growth in our busines
= to finance the possible development of additioeglugncing centers; al
= to service our debt obligatior

Our current cash resources, without giving effedhe proceeds from this offering, are insufficiensatisfy our long-term liquidity
requirements. Based on our current operating pliojesand without giving effect to the proceedsrfrthis offering, we will need to raise
additional capital to fund our operations in 2002l @xpand our business to meet our Itergn business objectives. Additional financing, ¥t
is not in place at this time, may be from the sdlequity or convertible or other debt securitiesiipublic or private offering, from an
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additional credit facility or strategic partnersioipupled with an investment in our company or aloioetion of both. If we raise additional
funds through the issuance of convertible debtrties; or other debt securities, these securitgd have rights senior to those of our
common stock and could contain covenants thaticesurr operations. The issuance of any equity sées will also dilute the interest of our
current stockholders.

We may be unable to raise sufficient additionahficing on terms that are acceptable, if at alle@ithe risks associated with our business,
including our limited operating history and our nbusiness model in an emerging industry, and rediffitulties for life sciences companies
raising funds in the capital markets, we may beblento raise additional capital in the amounts aguire, if at all. Our failure to raise
additional capital and in sufficient amounts wihgrely impact our ability to operate our businesd012 and meet our long-term business
objectives. The timing and amount of our futureitzdpequirements will depend on many factors, udahg, but not limited to, the following:

= the financial success of our genome sequencingéss

= our ability to increase the genome sequencing égpacour Mountain View facility;
= whether we are successful in obtaining paymentsa frostomers

= whether we can enter into collaborations and establ recurring customer ba:

= the progress and scope of our research and develgprojects

= the filing, prosecution and enforcement of patdaines;

= the rate at which we establish possible additigealome sequencing centers and whether we canditabke partners with which to
establish those cente

= the effect of any joint ventures or acquisitionotifer businesses or technologies that we may griteor make in the future; ar
= the costs associated with lawsuits brought agaisisly third parties, including our current litigatiwith Illumina, Inc.

Our forecast of the period of time through which fimancial resources will be adequate to supportaperations and the costs to support our
general and administrative, sales and marketing@seharch and development activities are forwaottitay statements and involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results could vary materialhd negatively as a result of a number of faciaduding the factors discussed under the
caption “Risk Factors.” We have based these estisnat assumptions that may prove to be wrong, andowld use our available capital
resources sooner than we currently expect.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes the future commitmentsiag from our contractual obligations at Decemikr2D10 (in thousands):

Payment Due by Period

Less than More than
1- 3-

Contractual Obligations Total 1year 3 years 5 years 5 years
Debt obligations® $13,58:. $ 588 $769%¢ $ — B —
Interest® 1,611 904 707 — —
Operating lease obligatior® 15,36« 2,59¢ 5,25¢ 5,57: 1,93¢
Purchase obligatior® 5,914 5,21 48€ 212 —
Total $36,47: $14,60.  $14,14¢  $5,78¢ $ 1,93¢

(1) Represents our outstanding debt under our termdaenof December 31, 20!

(2) Represents interest payments on our outstandingwheter our term loans as of December 31, 2010gusites at December 31, 201

(3) Consists of contractual obligations under -cancellable office space operating leas

(4) Consists of purchase obligations related to data center and non-cancellable orders for seqirgncomponents. The table above also includes aggeés to purchase goods or
services that have cancellation provisions requjittle or no payment. The amounts un
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these contracts are included in the table abovebse we believe that cancellation of these corgrisctinlikely and we expect to make future casimeays according to the contract
terms or in similar amounts for similar materia

Term Loans

On December 17, 2010, we entered into a loan angriseagreement with Atel Ventures, Inc., or A®®h March 25, 2011, we entered into a
new loan and security agreement with Oxford Fina@ogporation, or Oxford.

Atel Loan Agreement

The loan and security agreement with Atel, or thel /oan agreement, consists of a $6.0 million tévam for equipment purchases, which is
collateralized to secure the term loan. Under ¢nms$ of the Atel loan agreement, the term loanruaas being repaid in 36 equal monthly
payments of principal and interest. Interest accrethe term loan at a rate of 11.26% per anndma.olitstanding borrowings under the term
loan are collateralized by a senior priority instrie certain of our current property and equipmand all property and equipment that was
purchased during the term of the Atel loan agregénmertonnection with entering into the loan andws#y agreement with Oxford, we and £
made certain administrative and technical amendsierthe Atel loan agreement.

In connection with the Atel loan agreement, we éskto Atel a warrant to purchase 49,834 sharesiof@mmon stock at an exercise price of
$7.224 per share. The Atel warrant expires on @ik &nniversary of the issuance date.

The Atel loan agreement contains customary reptasens and warranties, covenants, including cpsind advancing conditions, events of
defaults and termination provisions. The affirmatoovenants include, among other things, that wiataia certain cash account balances and
liability and other insurance, and that we pledgeusity interests in any ownership interest of taifel subsidiary. The negative covenants
preclude us from, among other things, disposingeofain assets, engaging in any merger or acauusithcurring additional indebtedness,
encumbering any collateral, paying dividends or imgprohibited investments, in each case withoatghor consent of Atel. As of March 31,
2011, we were in compliance with all the covenamthie Atel Loan Agreement.

Oxford Loan Agreement

On March 25, 2011, we entered into a loan and ggagreement, or the Oxford loan agreement, witfio@ Finance Corporation, or Oxford.
The Oxford loan agreement provides for a term lo$20.0 million. The outstanding balance of thentéoan must be repaid in full by

October 1, 2014, which we refer to as the matwétie. Under the terms of the Oxford loan agreentkatoutstanding balance accrues interest
at a rate of 9.80% per annum. Until the amortizatiate, which is, May 1, 2012, we must make monplalyments equal to the accrued interest
on the outstanding loan balance, and, followingaim®rtization date through the maturity date, thistanding loan balance will be repaid in
thirty (30) equal monthly payments of principal @nterest.

As a condition to the Oxford loan agreement, aiporf the term loan was used to repay the remgibadance of $7.4 million on our existing
term loan agreement with Comerica. Following repagtrof the outstanding indebtedness, our Comeoi@a Agreement was terminated. We
intend to use the remainder of the Oxford term lmafund our working capital requirements.

The term loan is secured by a senior priority drofabur assets, excluding our intellectual propend those assets securing borrowings under
the Atel loan agreement. In addition, we have adjres to pledge our intellectual property to anottity without Oxford’s approval or
consent.

In connection with the entry into the Oxford loagreement, we issued to Oxford warrants to purchassggregate of 160,128 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $7.495 peesf&e warrants expire on the seventh anniversiattye issuance date. We also agreed to
provide Oxford certain registration rights coverthg shares underlying these warrants.
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The Oxford loan agreement contains customary reptasons and warranties, covenants, closing amdraxihg conditions, events of defaults
and termination provisions. The affirmative covesanclude, among other things, that we timely fdres, maintain certain operating accol
subject to control agreements in favor of Oxfor@jmtain liability and other insurance and pledgeusigy interests in any ownership interest of
a future subsidiary. The negative covenants precusdfrom among other things, disposing of cemasets, engaging in any merger or
acquisition, incurring additional indebtedness,ugnbering any collateral, paying dividends or makpnghibited investments, in each case
without the prior consent of Oxford. The Oxford hoagreement provides that an event of defaultaeitlur if (1) there is a material adverse
change in our business, operations or conditiora(itial or otherwise), (2) there is a material impant in the prospects of us repaying any
portion of our obligations under the term loan, {8re is a material impairment in the value ofd¢bkateral pledged to secure our obligations
under the agreement or in Oxford’s perfection @oniy over the collateral, (4) we default in thayment of any amount payable under the
agreement when due, or (5) we breach any negativenant or certain affirmative covenants in theeagrent (subject to a grace period in
some cases). The repayment of the term loan idemated following the occurrence of an event ofadétfor otherwise, which would require us
to immediately pay an amount equal to the sumip&l(outstanding principal plus accrued but umpaterest, (ii) the prepayment fee, (iii) the
final payment, plus (iv) all other sums, that sle’e become due and payable but have not beenipalicting interest at the default rate with
respect to any past due amounts. As of March 311 20e were in compliance with all the covenants.

Indemnification

In the normal course of business, we enter intdraots and agreements that contain a variety aéssmtations and warranties and provide for
general indemnifications. Our exposure under tlaggeements is unknown because it involves claimisntay be made against us in the fut
but have not yet been made. To date, we have bapg claims or been required to defend any actidated to our indemnification
obligations. However, we may record charges irftigre as a result of these indemnification obligyad.

In accordance with our certificate of incorporatamd bylaws, we have indemnification obligation®tw officers and directors for specified
events or occurrences, subject to some limits,enhiéy are serving at our request in those capacitihere have been no claims to date, ar
have director and officer insurance that may enabl® recover a portion of any amounts paid fturiipotential claims.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since our inception, we have not engaged in anpalfince sheet arrangements, including the useusftgred finance, special purpose entities
or variable interest entities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard, or FASB, issued a new accounting standetidhanges the accounting for reve
arrangements with multiple deliverables. Specilicahe new accounting standard requires an etdigllocate arrangement consideration a
inception of an arrangement to all of its delivdeatbased on their relative selling prices. In &iddj the new standard eliminates the use of the
residual method of allocation and requires thetiradaselling-price method in all circumstances ihigh an entity recognizes revenue for an
arrangement with multiple deliverables. We adopkésl standard effective in the first quarter of 20and the adoption did not have a
significant impact on our financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB also issued a new acauystandard that changes revenue recognitiorafagible products containing software
and hardware elements. Specifically, if certairuregnents are met, revenue arrangements that adatagible products with software
elements that are essential to the functionalitthefproducts will be accounted for under these aesounting standards, rather than the
existing software revenue recognition accountiniglgice. We adopted this standard effective initlsé uarter of 2011, and the adoption did
not have a significant impact on our financial sta¢nts.
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In January 2010, the FASB issued an amendment &o@wunting standard which requires new disclosiamefir value measurements and
provides clarification for existing disclosure régments. Specifically, this amendment requiregmtity to disclose separately the amounts of
significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and &k fair value measurements and to describe #eores for the transfers and to disclose
separately information about purchases, salesafige®s and settlements in the reconciliation fonfalue measurements using significant
unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs. This amesrtrelarifies existing disclosure requirementsthar level of disaggregation used for clas
of assets and liabilities measured at fair valueraguires disclosure about the valuation techrsiguel inputs used to measure fair value for
both recurring and nonrecurring fair value meas@riniusing Level 2 and Level 3 inputs. We have @bthis guidance and have provided
the additional disclosures.

In April 2010, the FASB issued an accounting staddgdate which provides guidance on the criteribe followed in recognizing revenue
under the milestone method. The milestone methadaafgnition allows a vendor who is involved wikte tprovision of deliverables to
recognize the full amount of a milestone paymemtrugchievement if, at the inception of the reveawrangement, the milestone is determined
to be substantive as defined in the standard. \iptad this standard effective in the first quaae2011, and the adoption did not have a
significant impact on our financial statements.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Mark et Risk

As of March 31, 2011, our investment portfolio cistsof money market funds. The primary objectivEsur investment are to preserve ca|
and maintain liquidity. Our primary exposures torked risk are interest rate income sensitivity, evhis affected by changes in the general
level of U.S. interest rates, and conditions indredit markets, including default risk. Howevence all of our investments are in money
market funds, we do not believe we are subjechjoraaterial market interest rate risk exposure.d&@ot have any foreign currency or any
other material derivative financial instruments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmgmischased with original maturities of three morth¢ess to be cash equivalents. Cash anc
cash equivalents are deposited in a demand acabtub financial institutions and a money marketduAt times, such deposits may be in
excess of federally insured limits.
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Business

Overview

We are a life sciences company that has developg@@nmercialized an innovative DNA sequencingfptat, and our goal is to become the
preferred solution for complete human genome sezjugrand analysis. Our Complete Genomics Analygifédtm, or CGA Platform,

combines our proprietary human genome sequencitgedogy with our advanced informatics and dataagament software and our
innovative, end-to-end, outsourced service modptéwide our customers with data that is immedyateady to be used for genome-based
research. We believe that our solution provideslecac and biopharmaceutical researchers with campleman genomic data and analysis at
an unprecedented combination of quality, cost aadkswithout requiring them to invest in in-housgsencing instruments, high-performance
computing resources and specialized personneleByving these constraints and broadly enablingarebers to conduct large-scale complete
human genome studies, we believe that our soli&snthe potential to significantly advance medieagarch and expand understanding of the
basis, treatment and prevention of complex dise&rse launching our service in May 2010, we hsaguenced over 1,400 complete human
genomes, including over 600 in the first quarte2@f1, and, as of March 31, 2011, we had an oraeklbg of over 2,000 genomes.

We believe that our complete human genome sequgteitinology, which is based on our proprietary D&tfays and ligation-based read
technology, is superior to existing commerciallgitable complete human genome sequencing methadsms of quality, cost and scale. In
the DNA sequencing industry, complete human gensaggencing is generally deemed to be coverageleasit90% of the nucleotides in the
genome. Because we have optimized our technolagfopin and our operations for the unique requireehhigh-throughput complete
human genome sequencing, we are able to achieuesagdevels of 99.999% at a total cost that isigicantly less than the total cost of
purchasing and using commercially available DNAusging instruments and the necessary informatioogssing technology, and then
performing all the required sequence data asseanttyanalysis. We believe that we will be able tohier improve our accuracy levels and
reduce the total cost of sequencing and analyséhlig us to maintain significant competitive adeages over the next several years. Because
our technology resides only in our centralizedlfées, we can quickly and easily implement enhameets and provide their benefits to our
entire customer base. Our goal is to be the fostgany to sequence and analyze tgghlity complete human genomes, at scale, forad ¢ofs
of under $1,000 per genome.

From the earliest days of the field of genomic sggping to the present, companies and organizati@idhave achieved sequencing milestones
in quality, cost and scale have immediately annedrand/or published these sequencing results. Yearty and actively monitor publicatio
and have compared the parameters of our sequepi@ogss and the sequencing results of competitimentercially available technologies
announced in these various publications. We aneently unaware of any scientific publications byrgeetitors publicly announcing superior
sequencing results. Based on this public data,elieMe that our complete human genome sequenaitgadogy provides a superior
combination of quality, cost and scale when comghémeexisting commercially available complete gee@saquencing methods, when taking
into consideration the total cost of purchasingerafing and maintaining the instruments and infaiomesystems necessary for complete hu
genome sequencing.

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequenciingtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdelate, requiring their customers to
invest significant additional resources to prodéss raw data into a form usable for research, ffier our customers an end-to-end, outsourced
solution that delivers research-ready genomic dsgahe cost of complete human genome sequencitimés, we believe the basis of
competition in our industry will shift from the dosf sequencing to the value of the entire sequeensolution. We believe that our integrated
advanced informatics and data management servidemmerge as a key competitive advantage as tifsaccurs.

Our genome sequencing center, which began comrhepszations in May 2010, combines a high-througlgample preparation facility, a
collection of our proprietary high-throughput seacieg instruments and a large-
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scale data center. Our customers ship us theirlsana@ common carrier services such as FederaleSzmnd United Parcel Service. We then
sequence and analyze these samples and provideistomers with finished, research-ready data, @ratiiem to focus exclusively on their
single highest priority, discovery.

Our customers include some of the leading globatiamic and government research centers and biopbatrical companies. At present, our
facility has the capacity to sequence and analyee 400 complete human genomes per month. We eXfiegtapacity to increase between
two- and three-fold by the end of 2011 as we depldgitional sequencers and increase the througfputr sequencing process through
software refinements and component upgrades. imdytears, we plan to construct additional genoemters in the United States and
international strategic markets to accommodatexpeated growing global demand for high-quality, loast complete human genome
sequencing on a large scale.

For genomes sequenced in the first quarter of 281 hverage of over 97% of the genome was reah&btd or greater coverage and we
delivered data results to our customers with a aretlirnaround time of 70 days. In addition, our iaedall rate was over 96% of the genome
and over 95% of the exome.

In April 2011, we announced that we had compleltedrelease of 69 complete human genome sequenodalérpublic domain. These high-
quality data sets can provide the research comguith both a valuable resource for scientific intigation and also serve to further validate
our sequencing technology, as many of these sarhplesbeen previously analyzed as part of theratemal HapMap Project or the 1000
Genomes Project. Since the launch of this initeativFebruary 2011, over 50 terabytes of data baea downloaded from our website by
than 750 unique IP addresses and as of the détésgfrospectus.

Market Overview
Background

Every organism has a genome that contains thedtlbf biological instructions required to builddemaintain a living example of that
organism. The information contained in a genonsased, or encoded, in deoxyribonucleic acid, orADA nucleic acid that is found in each
cell of the organism. DNA is divided into discreteits called genes, which carry specific informatieecessary to perform a particular
biological function, such as instructions for makjmroteins. The chemical building blocks that magesach gene are the molecules adenine,
cytosine, guanine and thymine, commonly labeled,aS, G and T, respectively, which are known asentide bases. Human DNA has
approximately three billion nucleotide bases, drartprecise order is commonly known as the DNA@metic sequence.

Studying how genes and proteins differ betweenisped among individuals within a species, or emariations, helps scientists to
determine their functions and roles in health aisdabke. These genetic variations can have impartedical consequences. Genetic variations
may, for example, cause an individual to have dipp®sition to certain diseases or to respond rdifféy to certain drug treatments.
Accordingly, improving our understanding of the gare and its functions has driven and, we expeditcamtinue to drive advancements in
medical research and diagnostics.

Genetic Analysis Market

Genetic analysis products comprise instrumentscandumables, as well as associated hardware, sefawma services directly involved in the
study of DNA and ribonucleic acid, or RNA. Scientidvisors, a third-party research firm, estimatedgnic revenue in 2009 to be
approximately $5.8 billion and projects the mariegrow to approximately $9.0 billion by 2014. Sdia Advisors further estimates that
human genomics research will grow from $4.6 billior2009 to $7.3 billion in 2014. The medical resbamarket consists of laboratories
generally associated with universities, medicadaesh centers and government institutions, asagdiiotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies. In the longer term, we believe genetidyasis tools will likely play a critical role in abecular diagnostics. By detecting small,
individual genetic differences, we believe molecdegnostic tests could be used to identify prgakition to or the presence of a disease, to
select appropriate medication and dosage and t@tonalisease progression and response to treatment.

59



Table of Contents

Genetic Analysis Technologies

Since the development of the first genetic engingeiechniques in the 1970s, there has been anmgngeolution toward more accurate, faster
and less expensive methods to conduct geneticsisallhe primary analytical methods traditionalbed by genetic researchers fall into three
categories:

= DNA Sequencing. DNA sequencing is the process of determining trecearder, or sequence, of the individual nuclesstich a DNA
strand so that this information can be correlatetthé genetic activity influenced by that segmdrdNHA. Complete human genome
sequencing is currently the most comprehensive fafrgenetic analysis, in which every base is corgao a reference genome to
determine possible mutations or variatic

= Genotyping. Genotyping is the process of examining certain kmavutations or variations in the DNA sequence afageto determin
whether the particular variant can be associatéld avspecific disease susceptibility or drug respc

= Gene Expression Analysis. Gene expression analysis is the process of exagnthénmolecules that are produced when a gene is
activated, or expressed, to determine whetherticplar gene is expressed in a specific biologiisaue.

The first major breakthrough in genetic technolegs the development of the automated DNA sequendé¥86. Subsequent versions of
commercial first-generation DNA sequencers improvrdpeed and throughput, eventually becoming godvenough to enable the first
mapping of the human genome through the Human Gernaject, which was completed in 2003 at an olveosit of over $3 billion. The
prohibitive cost of first-generation sequencingtealogies forced scientists to use the other pynganetic analysis technologies, genotyping
and gene expression analysis. While these targeteetic analysis technologies address the costragms of DNA sequencing, they generally
provide only limited information to the user.

More recently, innovations in DNA sequencing haae tio the development of high-throughput sequentngnologies, commonly referred to
as next-generation or second-generation sequengfrigh produce thousands to millions of sequentesee. These high-throughput
sequencing technologies have led to a significaditiction in the time and cost required for DNA satting. Next- generation sequencing
technologies are supplanting not only the oldeuseqging methods but also less comprehensive metbodssessing gene expression, protein
binding and other biological information. Scienfidvisors estimated that the next-generation sequgreompanies had sales approaching
$600 million for 2009, with an installed base ie theighborhood of 1,300 to 1,500 instruments. Sieiékdvisors expects these suppliers to
generate more than $1.5 billion in sales in 2014.

The Importance of Complete Human Genome Sequencing and the Limitations of General Purpose Sequencing Technologies

One of the most difficult challenges facing the efgmresearch and analysis industry is the neéapoove our understanding of how genes
contribute to diseases that have a complex patteiheritance. For many diseases, multiple geaeb enake a subtle contribution to a
person’s predisposition or susceptibility to a dseor response to a drug treatment protocol. Alaegly, we believe that unraveling this
complex network will be critical to understandingniian health and disease. We believe that sequeaginglete human genomes is the most
comprehensive and accurate method by which to eehiese objectives and improve our understandilgiman disease. However, the cost
and complexity associated with complete human gensequencing have been prohibitively high for resesrs and have slowed our progress
in understanding the genetic underpinnings of disea

Although second-generation sequencing technoldggs led to dramatic reductions in cost and impmoe@s in quality and throughput for
complete human genome sequencing, they were des@ggeneral-purpose instruments for sequencinB i or RNA of plants, animals,
bacteria and viruses. In particular, these segmrmeration sequencing technologies were not desifgmesequencing large numbers of comg
human
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genomes. We believe the key limitations of the nhofiurchasing and using second-generation tecynes to sequence large numbers of
complete human genomes include the following:

= High Cost. Commercially available DNA sequencing instrumerasnot sequence complete human genomes at a prianlough to
make larg-scale complete human genome sequencing projectslalfle to researchel

= |nsufficient Scale and Speed. Laboratories using commercially available DNA setpieg instruments typically require months to
sequence all of the genomes for large projectslé/thé timeline can be accelerated by purchasidgogerating multiple DNA
sequencing instruments in parallel, the capital ogrohibitive for all but the largest resear@miers. Many researchers are unable to
generate the complete human genome data they r@adr-house instruments in an acceptable period of t

= Difficulty of Data Management. Sequencing a large number of complete human gengamesates a substantial amount of data that
must be managed, stored and analyzed. Many usemywhercially available DNA sequencing instrumdatk the costly computing
resources, storage capacity, network bandwidthspedialized personnel to process and analyze thassive data sel

Due to these limitations, many researchers have bsi@g an alternative approach in which a smatio of the genome, referred to as the
exome, is targeted, enriched and sequenced. Exequescing is a selective sequencing strategy fogusi approximately 1.5% of the
complete human genome. However, important aretteeajenome lie outside of the exome, such as thagter regions that control gene
expression and other conserved regions of the gertloat are believed to perform regulatory functidereover, current exome selection
technologies are inefficient, typically sequencinipwer percentage of the exome than can be segddryccomplete human genome
sequencing. Within the next several years, we bel@vances in complete human genome sequencatgding further decreases in cost, will
drive increased adoption of complete human genagaencing.

Complete Genomics’ Solution

Although other sequencing technologies have lattamatic reductions in cost and improvements idityuand throughput for complete hun
genome sequencing, these technologies were designgeheral-purpose instruments for sequencinBire or RNA of plants, animals,
bacteria and viruses. More specifically, thesenebigies were not designed solely for sequencirgelaumbers of complete human genomes.

We have developed a novel approach focused on edenplman genome sequencing. We combine our ptagrieuman genome sequencing
technology, which achieves accuracy levels of 9989with our advanced informatics and data managesadtware and our innovative, end-
to-end service model, to deliver research-readpgen data at a total cost that is significantlysléisan the total cost of purchasing and using
commercially available DNA sequencing instrumemtd the required information management hardwaresaftivare. We believe this novel
outsourced solution overcomes the key limitatiohstber sequencing technologies and addressesithetineeds of the complete human
genome research market.

Proprietary Sequencing Technology

There are two primary components of our proprietamnan genome sequencing technology: DNA nanairalDNB, arrays and combinatorial
probeanchor ligation, or cPAL, reads. Our patterned DiEays, due to their small size and biochemicatatdtaristics, enable us to pack D
very efficiently on a silicon chip. We have deveddm proprietary process that causes the DNA teradio desired spots on the chip, while
conversely preventing the DNA from adhering to dnea between these spots. This enables us taradfiidual particles of DNA to over 90%
of these spots, leading to increased efficienayainoarray assembly. In addition, we have develapeidhly accurate cPAL read technology,
which enables us to read the DNA fragments effityemsing small concentrations of low-cost reagenitde retaining extremely high single-
read accuracy.

We believe this unique combination of our propmgtaNB and cPAL technologies is superior in botfalify and cost to other commercially
available approaches and provides us with sigmificampetitive advantages. As
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reported in the January 2010 editiorSzience we sequenced a complete human genome at a coblesnsast of approximately $1,800 and
with a consensus error rate of approximately 1rérrd 00,000 nucleotides. Our read accuracy wabduwvalidated by one of our customers,
the Institute for Systems Biology, or ISB, as psibéid inScience Expreda March 2010. We have continued to reduce ourscoit
consumables, and, currently, our consumables eostsnder $1,000 per genome. To our knowledged@seur review of scientific
publications in the genome sequencing field annimgnsequencing results, there are no commercialylable technologies that have achie
quality and cost comparable to our sequencing tesiMe have identified and are developing addifipesformance enhancements to our core
technologies that we believe will enable us to ramsignificant competitive advantages over thet several years. As we implement these
technological enhancements, our goal is to beitsedompany to sequence and analyze high-qualityplete human genomes, at scale, for a
total cost of under $1,000 per genome.

Advanced Informatics and Data Management Software

Sequencing complete human genomes generates sidisterounts of data that must be managed, stard@nalyzed. Many users of
sequencing systems have historically conducted thvei in-house data analysis on a limited numbegesfomes and lack the computing,
storage and network bandwidth necessary to mamagaassive data sets generated by larger scaldetenmpman genome studies. In
response to this need by our customers, we halteabggnomic data processing facility with compgtinfrastructure for managing both small-
and large-scale genomic sequencing projects.

There are two major components of our complete aaaagement solution: assembly software and asapéiware. Assembly is the process
of using computers to organize all of the overlagpiO-base nucleotide sequences to reconstrucbthplete human genome. Our proprietary
assembly software uses advanced data analysisthigerand statistical modeling techniques to adelyaeconstruct over 90% of the
complete human genome from approximately two billfi@-base reads. After assembling the genomic da&tase our analysis software to
identify and annotate key differences, or variaimsach genome.

By using our analytical tools and data managemefittvare, our customers can significantly reducér tilvestments in computing
infrastructure. Our customers are provided withatdé access to assembled and annotated sequeada daultiple formats to ease their need
for data sharing and comparative analyses. Iniaddibur data storage options provide flexibilitydaallow customers to customize their data
management strategy based on their particular essjroperational and scientific requirements. Wee lzdso developed a suite of open source
analytical tools, called CGA Tools, designed totgeaur customers to rapidly analyze the data weigge from their samples. As the reagent
cost of sequencing declines, we believe that tise aad complexity of data analysis and managem#neémerge as the primary constraint on
complete human genome analysis.

I nnovative, End-to-End, Outsourced Solution

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequenciingtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdelate, requiring their customers to
invest significant additional resources to prodéss raw data into a form usable for research, ffier our customers an end-to-end, outsourced
solution that delivers research-ready genomic data.genome sequencing center combines a highghput sample preparation facility, a
collection of our proprietary high-throughput seaciag instruments and a large-scale data centarc@iomers ship us their samples via
common carrier services such as Federal Exprestaiteld Parcel Service. We then sequence and anttigse samples and provide our
customers with finished, research-ready genomia, gatabling them to focus exclusively on their Ertgghest priority, discovery.

Our customers can avoid purchasing expensive seiugeimstruments and high-performance computingueses to sequence and analyze
large sets of complete human genomes. Our outsbse®ice model enables our customers to offloagstthe complex processes of sample
preparation, sequencing, computing and data st@adenanagement. We believe our services will eapla potential addressable market by
enabling a broad base of researchers who may Udfikisnt capital and the specialized personnekssary to build and
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operate a sequencing laboratory, or who have gaibr been constrained by the high total costesfieencing, to conduct large-scale complete
human genome studies.

Customer Benefits
We believe our end-to-end solution provides thiofaihg advantages to our customers:
= High-Quality Data. Our technology delivers what we believe is the Btdy's highest quality complete human genome ¢

= Cost Savings. Our customers can avoid purchasing expensive segueimstruments and high-performance computingusses or
hiring the necessary specialized personnel to seguand analyze large sets of complete human gedatas

= Speed at Scale. Our customers can often complete their large-guaigcts more quickly by using our services thamubing
commercially available sequencing instrume

= Easeof Use. We believe our customers can avoid the difficull #ime-consuming process of purchasing and operating tvair
sequencing instruments and can outsource the @gmtoess to us, from sample preparation to delieéngsearc-ready data

= Operational Flexibility. By outsourcing their large-scale complete humarogensequencing projects to us, our customers earufp
the capacity of i-house instruments to run smaller or more targetgdencing projects and applicatio

= Technological Flexibility. As DNA sequencing technology improves, our custamél have available to them the latest technology
that we have implemented, and they avoid the rigkeir expensive instruments becoming technoldlyiabsolete.

= Enables Customersto Focus on Discovery. Outsourcing offloads the operational burdens of agamg larg-scale genome sequenci
projects and enables our customers to focus teeaurces on their strengths in research, whicheduce the time to discovel

Competitive Strengths
We believe that our competitive strengths are hgvis:

= Proprietary Human Genome Sequencing Technology. Our proprietary sequencing technology achievesracguevels of 99.999% i
a total cost that is significantly less than th@ltgost of purchasing and using commercially add DNA sequencing instruments ¢
the necessary information processing technologytiaead performing all the required sequence datanalsly and analysis. We believe
that our quality improvement and cost-reductiotiatives will allow us to maintain our quality asdst advantages over competing
sequencing technologies for the next several y

= Fully Integrated Advanced | nformatics and Data Management Software. Our solution incorporates powerful informatics, lggs anc
data management software that enable our custdmaranage and gain useful information from the wvasgata sets generated in
complete human genome sequencing. Our informatiteare allows us to provide research-ready datafthe billions of nucleotide
sequences we identify and is optimized to refleetaharacteristics of the genomic data our sequegemerate. Unlike software
solutions offered by instrument manufacturers odtparty providers, we are able to continuouskne our informatics and data
management software because of our significantreequee in sequencing and analyzing large numbecsmiplete human genomes
our customers. As the reagent cost of sequencid@nds, we believe that the cost and complexitindiouse data analysis and
management will emerge as the primary constraimtefsearchers conducting complete human genomgsas

= Highly Scalable and Capital-Efficient Business Model. Consolidating volume across our entire customee leasbles us to run a lar
number of genomes through our sequencing process aoiding the cos
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and complexity of employing a large field instailtet and support organization. By implementing ehhdggree of automation, we he
reduced the possibility of human errors that caddersely affect quality and increase costs. Oicabased model allows us to
reduce cost and improve quality as volume incre:

= UniqueInsight into Customer Needs. Because of our unique, end-to-end service modeinteeact directly with our customers on
their discovery projects. This interaction enahigdo develop and enhance our analysis softwarett our customers’ specific needs
while expanding our understanding of variationhie human genom

= Fast and Efficient Deployment of Operational and Technological Enhancements. Because our sequencing operations and data cente
are centralized, we can rapidly upgrade our teadgyéand deliver the benefits to our customersdiitaon, our access to genomic ¢
allows our software engineers to continually refamel improve our software with each genome we sempu

= Expanded Market Opportunity. We believe our outsourced model will expand theptial addressable market by providing acade
and biopharmaceutical researchers who lack suffidiedgets or the specialized personnel necessdmyild and operate a sequencing
laboratory with access to high-quality, low-costngdete human genome data. In addition, we beliexewll be able to service
customers who require rapid sequencing of largebmusnof complete human genom

Customers and Applications

Customers

Since launching our service in May 2010, we havpieaced over 1,400 complete human genomes, inguier 600 in the first quarter of
2011, and, as of March 31, 2011, we had an ordskiba of over 2,000 genomes. We have more thare40gnd current customers, including
the following:

. Academic Medical Center " Erasmus Medical Centre in " Institute for Systems Biology
University of Amsterdam Rotterdam, the Netherlands = Pfizer Inc.

= Brigham & Women’s Hospital ] Flanders Institute for Biotechnolo = SAIC-Frederick, Inc., National

. Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard " Genentech, Inc. Cancer Institute

. Children’s Hospital of Boston " Institute of Cancer Research United = Stanford University

. Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia Kingdom " Scripps Translational Science

. Eli Lilly and Company " Institute of Molecular Medicine at Institute
the University of Texas Health " University of North Carolina
Science Center at Houston ] University of Texas Southwestern

Medical Cente

Selected Customer Examples
SAIC-Frederick, Inc., National Cancer Institute -edtatric Cancer Study

SAIC-Frederick, under a National Cancer InstitiN€[) prime contract, is using our sequencing, dmimatics and scientific services to
sequence and analyze 50 tumor-normal pairs. Thilysis could enable researchers to identify padtefriumorigenesis and ultimately lead to
improved diagnosis and treatment of pediatric cemd&e are identifying and validating mutationsridun the pediatric tumor genomes under
this program. These could include somatic singldeutide polymorphisms, insertion/deletions, copyniber variations and somatic variations.
The sequenced data, as well as the assembled Eaated data sets are expected to be submittdtbtdlational Center for Biotechnology
Information’s Short Read Archive database, as a&lthe TARGET Database. Upon successful complefitins project, the contract contains
a provision for SAIC-Frederick to engage us, abjiion, to sequence more than 500 additional gcazases (more than 1,000 genomes) over
an 18-month period.
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Institute for Systems Biolo— Miller Syndrome Study

Our project with Dr. Leroy Hood of the ISB involvedquencing the complete genomes of a four-membear family, including two healthy
parents and their two children who suffer from tgemetic disorders: Miller Syndrome and primaryaeifi dyskinesia. The data we provided
allowed ISB researchers to pinpoint the causal geesubsequently confirm that gene’s role in MiBgndrome, a disease in which the
genetic basis had previously evaded detectionr@$dts were published Bcience Expresa March 2010 and have led to two follow-on
projects with the ISB to sequence an additional 422 615 genomes, respectively.

Genentech, Inc. — Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Study

Our project with Genentech, Inc. (a member of tbet® Group) compared the complete human genomesegsiof a primary non-small cell
lung tumor with nearby non-tumorous tissue takemfthe lung of a long-term smoker. This project Weesfirst complete human genome
sequence of a primary non-small cell lung tumor mradched normal tissue. Comparison of these seqaargealed both known (KRAS
G12C) and novel mutations in numerous oncogeneseahid the discovery of numerous somatic mutatidihe data we delivered allowed
Genentech to measure the rate of smoking-inducedtimns accumulated over time and resulted in digaton in Naturein May 2010.

University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center ypédrcholesterolemia Study

Our project with Dr. Jonathan Cohen of UniversityTexas Southwestern involved sequencing the camplenome of an 11-month-old breast-
fed girl with cholesterol-laden deposits and veightblood cholesterol levels. Doctors ruled ouiagdosis of a disease called sitosterolemia,
based on certain blood test results. However, seijg of the girl's genome revealed a mutation mnelavant gene. This finding indicated that
the infant definitely has sitosterolemia, desgite prior contradictory test results. The major ifirgdof this study is that complete genome
sequencing identified the culprit mutations andvjated a definitive diagnosis in a patient who did have the classical hallmark features o
disease in question. This finding demonstratesdbatplete genome sequencing can be a valuable didgnosing and treating genetic
diseases, even in individual patients. These estdte published by thexford University Press August 2010.

Applications
Potential applications for our complete human gemseguencing service include:

= Cancer Research. Researchers are sequencing cancer genomes androartham to normal genomes, which are referreasttumor-
normal pairs, to identify the mutations in cancengmes. We believe understanding these mutatidhgwide development of new
cancer therapeutics and diagnostics and ultimatedple doctors to select the best course of thdrapgd on the specific mutations
found in a tumor

= Mendelian Disease Research. There are thousands of Mendelian diseases, orsdiseéhat have been found to run in families, aed ar
accordingly likely to have a significant genetiargmonent. However, the genetic cause of most oktleseases is currently unknown.
By sequencing the complete genomes of the affdatadies, we believe the genetic causes of theseddian diseases can be
discovered, which could lead to the developmemtanfel diagnostics and therapeuti

= Rare Variant Disease Research. Diseases such as central nervous system disomedsac disease and certain metabolic disordets the
appear broadly in the population are thought tediesed by rare genetic variants. Large-scale stwdiaffected individuals may help
to identify the disrupted pathways and lead todéeelopment of novel diagnostics and therapet

= Clinical Trial Optimization. We believe that selecting or stratifying patiemstlee basis of their genetic profiles could enabé
preferential admission of high responders intariadl trial. This stratification could enable ttréal to reach its conclusion with fewer
patients and lower costs and result in fasteradinirials and drug commercializatic
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In addition to these research studies, we expéateiclinical applications to include:

= Companion Diagnostics. We believe that therapeutics that are not-line treatments for the general population maylbeated tc
first-line treatments or used in combination théagor subsets of the population that share a comgenetic profile. Complete
human genome studies may unlock new market opgtesifior these therapies or combination theraj

= Cancer Pathology. We believe that analyzing complex cancer genonegsitirolve large and unpredictable structural clesngill be
most reliably and economically implemented usingiptete human genome sequencing. According to thieiNd Cancer Institute
SEER Cancer Statistics, there are approximatelynllllbn new cases of cancer diagnosed each yetheitunited State!

= Universal Diagnostics. As medical records technology and public healtlicgaddvance, we believe that large numbers of pewodl
have their complete human genomes sequenced aed stcheir electronic medical records for usehmir physicians in managing
their health care decisior

Our Strategy

We intend to become the leading complete humanrgersequencing and analysis company and the prefelagform for human genome
discovery by:

= Continuing to Deliver the Highest Quality Genomic Data and Analysis at a Low Total Cost. By continuing to deliver the highe
quality research-ready data and by enabling ouoousrs to avoid the cost, complexity and risks eisged with purchasing and
operating the instruments and computing resouesired to undertake complete human genome seaqugrmir goal is to become
the preferred solution for our custome

= Maintaining and Strengthening our Technology. We plan to continue to conduct research and praodiesglopment activities 1
further improve quality, reduce costs, increaseughput and reduce our turnaround time. We pldartber develop the biochemist
informatics, instrumentation and software that wédve together make up the industry’s most robakttion. We will also seek to
continually improve our operational processes aralyasis software

= Capitalizing on our Scalable Model. Due to the highly scalable nature of our servicelehowe believe we are well positioned to se
customers looking to sequence a small number afiges as well as customers who are looking to ragiejuence a very large
number of genome

= Establishing Ourselves as the Leader in Outsourced Complete Human Genome Sequencing. We intend to continue to focus
exclusively on human genome sequencing. We betleatethis focus will put us in a strong positionbecome the preferred platform
for human genome sequenci

= Expanding Globally to I ncrease Capacity and Reach New Markets. We expect to enter into partnership agreements ddathestic and
international organizations to build additional gere sequencing centers around the world. Thesengesequencing centers will
increase our sequencing capacity, provide us wighroved access to global markets and expand oanuevopportunities

= Exploring Strategic Partnerships and Collaborations. We expect to explore opportunities for strategidmships and collaboratio
with commercial and research organizations to Eyerour genome sequencing technology with thegttnerof these organizations to
further develop and expand the applications forsmguencing technolog

= Expanding Applications for the Use of our Technology. While our current focus is on providing completertain genome solutions
primarily to academic and biopharmaceutical reseas; we believe that as we sequence and delivex coonplete human genomes
our customers, our growing understanding of theetiemasis of human disease may lead to futurdcgiins in areas such as cancer
pathology.

66



Table of Contents

Our Human Genome Sequencing Platform Technology

Our proprietary human genome sequencing platfomsists of three major technologies: our proprietargnan genome sequencing
technology, our high-throughput process automatehnology and our complete data management solutio

Proprietary Sequencing Technology
There are two primary components of our proprietamnan genome sequencing technology: DNB arraysBAd. reads.

DNB Arrays

We have developed a novel approach to preparimggneated DNA for reading on our sequencing instrusddsing a biochemical process for
copying DNA, we reproduce each DNA fragment in axmex that connects all of the copies togetherhead-to-tail configuration, forming a
long single molecule of connected nucleotides. \Aleetdeveloped proprietary techniques for causich &g single molecule to consolidate,
or ball up, into a small particle of DNA that wel@aDNB. The DNBs are approximately 200-300 nantarein average diameter. Each DNB
contains hundreds of copies of the 70 bases of BMdAre seeking to read in each fragment.

The small size and biochemical characteristicsunfl@NBs enable us to pack them together very yghitl a silicon chip. We use established
photolithography processes developed in the serdigtior industry to create a silicon chip that hasid pattern of small spots. The small
spots are approximately 300 nanometers in diamaterthe center of each spot is separated by ajppaitely 700 nanometers from
neighboring spots. Each silicon chip has approxéfga2.8 billion spots in an area 25 millimeters v@hd 75 millimeters long. We have
developed a proprietary process that causes the @Nwhere to these spots, which we refer to askisspots,” while conversely preventing
the DNA from adhering to the area between the gtigots. When a solution of DNBs is spread acros<ship, the DNBs adhere to the sticky
spots, with one DNB per spot. We have also develgpeprietary techniques to fill over 90% of thielsy spots with exactly one DNB. We
refer to a silicon chip filled with DNA as a DNA naball array. Each completed DNA nanoball arraytaims over 200 billion bases of
genomic DNA prepared for imaging.

cPAL Read

To read the sequence of nucleotides in each DNByave developed a highly accurate proprietary égassed DNA reading technology called
cPAL. Our cPAL technology uses the naturally odogrtigase enzyme, which accurately distinguishetsvben the A, C, T and G nucleotides,
to attach fluorescent molecules that light up waittlifferent color for each of the four nucleotidBg.imaging the color lights of a DNB array
and decoding the color images, we can determineafaence of nucleotides in each DNB. A key chargstic of our cPAL technology is its
high accuracy of reading very short five-base seqeg of DNA. We have developed a proprietary tepimior preparing the DNA fragments
so that we can read seven five-base segments froma# the two ends of the DNA fragment for a tatiafO bases from each fragment. We
have also developed proprietary software that gdlyereconstructs over 90% of the complete humarogees from these 70 base reads from
each fragment.

Advantages of our DNB arrays and our cPAL technploger other commercially available DNA sequendiechnologies include:

= High Accuracy. Our cPAL technology has very high single-read aacydue to the intrinsic nature (high accuracythefligase
enzyme. By reading each nucleotide multiple times achieve a consensus error rate equal to appatedynl error in 100,000
nucleotides

= No Accumulation of Errors. Many other DNA sequencing methods employ sequept@lesses that cause errors to accumulate as
each successive nucleotide is read, which resulishigher potential error rate for each successinteotide. Our cPAL technology
reads each nucleotide independently, and as & test is no accumulation of errors, which enabke$o read successive bases
without increasing our error rai
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= Low Reagent Cost. Our cPAL technology uses low concentrations of-cost commaodity reagents. Our DNB arrays achieverg
high density of DNA on each array, which reducesdbantity, or volume, of reagents we use comptarether DNA array
approaches. The combination of low concentratiolowfcost reagents and smaller quantities resaltsvwer reagent costs compared
to other commercially available DNA sequencing roeth

High Throughput Process Automation

There are five major components of our high-thrqudlprocess automation technology: high-througlspmtple preparation, high-throughput
sequencing instruments, high-performance compunifigstructure, workflow automation software andveee delivery technology.

High-Throughput Sample Preparation

Our high-throughput sample preparation technolagysists of step-by-step protocols for preparing DidAsequencing and pipetting robots
that automatically execute these protocols. Wegmegenome samples in batches of 170 by loadingaimples into two 96-well plates (the
other eleven wells in each plate contain knowrnreterence, DNA that we use to monitor the qualftthe sample preparation process). We
currently have capacity to start a sample prepardiatch weekly, and our sample preparation capeait be scaled by adding additional
sample preparation instruments and staff as needed.

High-Throughput Sequencing Instruments

Our sequencing instruments consist of a fluididgstdhat pipettes multiple types of chemical reagé¢imcluding fluorescent molecules) onto
the flow slides and an imaging system that recor@dges of the fluorescent molecules attached t®tha. Each sequencing instrument
processes 18 flow slides at a time. The 18 flodesliare robotically moved back-and-forth from thélfcs robot to the imaging system. While
one flow slide is being imaged, the other 17 fldidess are prepared with reagents or waiting forith@ger to become available. A sequencing
run takes approximately 11 days. Currently, ouuseging instruments can generate between 85 andigidbases of usable data per flow
slide, or 1.5-2.1 terabases per run. To sequecoenglete human genome at an average coveragetwhd$ requires 120 gigabases of usable
data. We expect to make continued enhancements iteohnology to further increase the amount oblesdata we get from each flow slide.

High-Performance Computing Infrastructure

We have built a genomic data processing faciligt ttonsists of approximately 7,500 core processods2,250 terabytes (a terabyte is one
thousand gigabytes) of high-speed disk storage.s@guencing instruments are connected to our @ataicby a network connection that
transfers data at a rate of 30 gigabits per seddnddata center has the capacity to perform athefrequired computation for several hundred
genomes per month. We plan to expand our datarcenteeeded, and we expect to make continued eaimamts to our software to further
increase the efficiency of our data center.

Workflow Automation Software

Our workflow automation software tracks each sanfyam arrival at our facility to delivery of resedw-ready data to the customer. Sample
tracking is accomplished through bar codes. Eaetvélbplate of samples has a bar code, and eaehdlide has a bar code. The instruments
that process plates and flow slides have bar cealéers attached to them. User interfaces to oukflear automation software allow us to tre
the progress of each sample throughout sample faté@a sequencing and computing. We are also dpirej a web-based customer portal to
enable customers to track their projects real-tineughout the sequencing process.
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Service Delivery Technology

Our cloud-based data delivery system is based omendor relationship with Amazon Web ServicesA@/S. We upload our customers’
finished genomic data to AWS, which AWS then copeebard disks and ships the hard disks to ouousts. Our customers also can pay
AWS to store their data on an ongoing basis.

Complete Data Management Solution
There are two major components of our complete al@iaagement solution: assembly software and asadpsgiware.

Assembly Softwal

Assembly is the process of using computing methodsganize the overlapping 70-base nucleotide esecps to reconstruct the complete
genome. We have developed a proprietary approaassembly that uses a combination of advancedaghatgsis algorithms and statistical
modeling techniques to reconstruct over 90% oftthreplete human genome from approximately two hillf@-base reads. We have designed
our assembly software to run in parallel acrossange network of Linux computers.

As reported in an article i8ciencepublished in January 2010, we generated high-quadise calls in as much as 95% of the genome,
identifying between 3.2 million and 4.5 million ganic variants. Detailed validation of one genom&adst demonstrated a consensus error
rate of approximately 1 error in 100,000 nucleatideor genomes sequenced in the first quarter bf ,28n average of over 97% of the genome
was read at ten-fold or greater coverage and weetletl data results to our customers with a metiemaround time of 70 days. In addition,
our median call rate was over 96% of the genomeocared 95% of the exome.

Analysis Softwar

After assembling the genomic data, we use our arsadoftware to identify key variants in each gee@nd automatically annotate the genc
data. We have developed a suite of open sourcgtinadltools, called CGA Tools, designed to enalle customers to rapidly analyze the data
we generate from their samples. For example, wer aftool facilitating the comparison of two genamenabling the quick determination of
where the genomes differ. We are also developimtiadal analytical tools, such as a tumor-nornmhgparison tool designed to allow cancer
researchers to compare a cancer genome to the Ingenme from which it was derived, a family anéyteol designed to enable researchers
to compare parental genomes with the genomes fdhiédren and a large-scale genome browser desdigm allow researchers to compare the
hundreds of genomes sequenced in a large-scale stud

Technology Strategy

We plan to continue to advance our complete hunemomme sequencing and analysis technology in fojomaseas:

= Array Density. Our unique grid patterned arrays currently corafist 700 nanometer grid. We may reduce the grigl 8500
nanometers and correspondingly reduce the diaro&the sticky spots and DNA nanoballs. If successhis improvement will
increase the density of the DNA on an array, whidhdecrease the reagent cost of sequenc

= |nstrument Speed. Our unique grid patterned arrays enable us to aligrgrid pattern of the DNA on the array with tre pattern of
the pixels in the detector, allowing us to image auays with very short exposure times. We mayease the speed of our instrume
by acquiring and deploying new cameras that talkeges and transfer data at approximately six titnespeed of our existing
cameras. We may also increase the number of camperagquencing instrument from two to fc

= Process Automation. As our instruments get faster, we intend to improuesample preparation, process automation arad dat
management technologies to process and delivercaeasing number of genomes to our customers withaed turnaround tim
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= Assembly and Analysis Software. We continue to improve and extend our analytic bapies through the development of softw:
designed to decrease genome assembly time andsadgirecific application requirements of our custsmieor instance, in December
2010, we started providing copy number variatiod simuctural variation results to our customers. a¥gect to augment our assembly
and analysis software with capabilities to provide customers with additional classes of genomi@tian detection, with a specific
focus on variations found in cancer genon

As we implement a combination of these technolagya@cements, our goal is to be the first comparsetuence and analyze high-quality
complete human genomes, at scale, for a totalofasider $1,000 per genome.

Sales, Marketing and Customer Support

We sell our complete human genome sequencing settwiough our direct field sales and support orztions. Our sales process with each
new customer typically involves undertaking a srpatlject, or pilot program, which enables the costoto become familiar with our
outsourced solution and research-ready data. Wevtlbek with our customers to expand the relatiopsbilarger projects.

Sales

We have assembled a highly experienced and tedhynigaalified field sales team, many of whom hol@la.D. or other advanced degree in a
relevant scientific field. Each of these sales ngang brings a network of extensive contacts intargeted customer segments. The sales groug
develops business opportunities and obtains ofdemur complete human genome sequencing servigedactively identifying, qualifying

and visiting well-funded prospects at major companinstitutions and universities. As we have iasegl commercial sequencing capacity, we
have continued to expand our field sales teams.

Marketing

Our marketing group has developed and maintain€tmplete Genomics brand, increases market awaramesgenerates demand for our
solution through a variety of methods. First, weenareated and continue to maintain a clear madisemce via our website, press releases,
interviews and articles that reinforce our marketspnce and scientific credibility. Second, we gateedemand by promoting the company via
marketing programs and by attending and exhibiinglevant tradeshows and conferences. Third,ongraie to evolve our marketing
strategy by tracking market trends, understandigjaener needs and developing appropriate prodactpegrams. The marketing group also
fulfills traditional product management requirengrsuch as defining our service and applicaticatestryy and roadmap, including partnering
strategies, and developing sales tools, trainintgrizds and competitive analyses for the salesgrou

Customer Support

We are committed to supporting our customers thiiaugetwork of scientific applications staff bagethoth Mountain View and locations n
our most concentrated customer bases. This teamntlyrconsists mostly of Ph.D.-level scientistshwéxtensive bioinformatics experience.
Our scientific applications team works with custosi® address technical questions related to auicgeoffering and provide detailed training
and support.

Most of the training and support efforts are foclisa helping customers understand and use the déangeints of data that are delivered as part
of multi-human genome sequencing projects. We supght these efforts with a team of Mountain Viewdshbioinformatics support
specialists.

Research and Development

Our research and development team brings togetha@riety of technical disciplines required for tievelopment of a high-throughput
sequencing system for commercial human genome seiqgeservices and includes DNA engineers, biocksnimolecular biologists,
chemists, mathematicians, statisticians and
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electrical, mechanical, optical and software engiigeAs of March 31, 2011, we had approximatelgifployees engaged in research and
development, many with Ph.D.s. These professicaady their skills in disciplines including:

= biochemistry (sample preparation, DNA array prepana DNA sequencing assa)

= hardware (optics, fluidics, mechanical design, filides);

= software (algorithms, instrument software, genostusncing software, bioinformatic:
= information technology (hi¢-performance data center manageme

= semiconductors (mask design, surface chemistry)

= process automatio

The research and development teams are engagetrnzation and automation of our human genome segng processes, components and
systems to improve the performance of our humaomensequencing technologies, including increasitgir@acy and completeness, reducing
cost and increasing throughput. Notable researdidamelopment accomplishments in this area include:

= DNA engineering of four directional adapters inedrin genomic DNA segments, providing DNA subssdte unchained DNA
sequencing of 35+35 mi-pair bases

= clonal DNA replication in solution to create coraraers with 300-500 DNA copies folded in DNBs of apgimately 200-300
nanometers in diamete

= high density (700 nanometer pitch) patterned DNByar on a 25mm x 75mm silicon slide with over ZlBdm spots and a single DN
on over 90% of the spot

= reaction flow slide suitable for gravity loadingysencing chemistry by direct pipetting without @spressure or tubing that enah
the processing of up to 18 slides per run on osgument;

= unchained DNA sequencing chemistry using cPAL tetbgy that allows reading 10 bases from each adapie or up to 80 bases
DNA spot, using a fo-adapter library

= high-throughput, two-camera DNA sequencing instmintleat processes 18 flow slides in parallel byotabtransfer of slides from
biochemistry station to imaging station that empl@yp| imaging at 30 frames per seco

= probability-based primary DNA base calling, read mapping ambige sequence and sequence variants determingmnitlams anc
software for fast and accurate sequence analysidasfje number of human genomes using up to 2fdbgses of unchained base
reads per genome; a

= long fragment read technology for phasing the taeptal chromosomes and reducing the final erterlyg one to two orders of
magnitude

Our research and development teams are engagestétoging new applications for our technologiesjuding:

= Cancer Genomes. We are developing new methods for sequencing thplex structural variations found in cancer gengresesh as
duplications, deletions and translocations in tugmmomes. We believe these methods will enablesearch community to better
understand the genetic basis for can

= Diploid Sequencing. We have invented and are developing a method f@pandently sequencing the maternal and pat
chromosomes. We believe this independent chromoseiangencing will be required for many moleculagdisstics, because multiple
variants within a gene may or may not affect batpies of the gen

= Human Methylomes. We are researching possible methods of sequertoiniguman methylome, which we believe will be imppttin
understanding cancer genom
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= Human Transcriptomes. We are researching possible methods of sequentoinguman transcriptome, which, when combined
complete human genomes, we believe will shed bghthe genetic basis of human disease and drugnss|

In the years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2@16pent $23.6 million, $22.4 million and $21.iflion, respectively, on company-
sponsored research and development activitiesegerepared to launch our commercial operations.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tainl#nd maintain intellectual property rights wigspect to our products, technology and
know-how, to prevent others from infringing thestellectual property rights and to operate withiafringing the proprietary rights of others.
Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietargition by, among other methods, filing patent agadlons related to our proprietary technol
inventions and improvements that are importanhéodevelopment and conduct of our business. Weralgmn trade secrets and know-how to
develop and maintain our proprietary position.

Our patent strategy is to seek broad patent pioteon new developments in genome sequencing témiycand also file patent applications
covering new implementations of our technology. kiddally, we file new patent applications directedequipment and software that are used
in conjunction with our genome sequencing technplog

Our core genome sequencing technology originat€hHida Genomics, Inc., or Callida, in the laborgtof Radoje (Rade) Drmanac, Ph.D.,
our Chief Scientific Officer and one of our co-falers. Dr. Drmanac played an important role in Higtoughput sequencing of whole genor
using ligation-based sequencing reactions perforomechicroarrays. In March 2006, we entered inticenlse agreement with Callida pursuant
to which we exclusively licensed from Callida tieéervant patent filings relating to the use of thehhology in random arrays, or arrays of
genomic DNA fragments wherein the position of apgdific fragment on the array is not predetermirsed probe anchor ligation, which we
utilize in our commercial sequencing technologydeinthis license agreement, we also obtained axotusive license under additional patent
filings owned by Callida that permits us to use twedom array technology without infringing suchiliéidnal patents. In exchange for the
licenses, we issued to Callida 13,333 shares otommon stock, paid $1.0 million in cash for repaytnof certain promissory notes held by
Callida and agreed to pay $250,000 each year thetiéarlier of (a) March 28, 2012 and (b) such tEmeur common stock is traded on a
national exchange and the shares issued to Call@feely tradeable and have a minimum fair markéie of $2.0 million. The license
agreement remains in effect until each of the beshpatents has either expired or has been abathdoneled invalid. Either party may
terminate the agreement for a material breach d@0ndays’ notice (or 30 days’ notice if the bre&ctue to failure to make a payment under
the license agreement). Pursuant to the licensseagnt, Callida retains the rights to use the aikahly licensed technology for research
purposes only.

As of May 9, 2011, we have licensed from Callidgh¢issued U.S. patents and six issued interndtpatants that will expire between 2014
and 2027, and we own four issued U.S. patentsathiagxpire between 2027 and 2028. As of May 9, P0&e own or have licensed 100
pending patent applications, including 55 in thetébh States, 38 international applications and sepplications filed under the Patent
Cooperation Treaty.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technolagg,have taken steps to protect our intellectugbgny and proprietary technology by entet
into confidentiality agreements and intellectuapmrty assignment agreements with our employeesutiants, corporate partners and, when
needed, our advisors.

The patent positions of companies like ours areegdly uncertain, and the validity and breadthlafras in DNA sequencing technology
patents may involve complex factual and legal is§oewhich no consistent policy exists. Our pateand licenses may not enable us to obtain
or keep any competitive advantage. Our pending &h8 .foreign patent applications may not issueadsns or may not issue in a form that
will be advantageous to us. Patents we have olst@indo obtain in the future may be challengeddsgxamination, opposition or other
administrative proceeding, or may be challengddigation, and such challenges could result iregedmination that the patent is invalid.
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Our licensed patents may be successfully circunegeby competitors. In addition, the patent law$oogign countries differ from those in the
United States, and the degree of protection affbtleforeign patents may be different from the ectibn offered by U.S. patents.

Our commercial success depends in part on our moimgement of the patents or proprietary rightshafd parties. For a description of the
risks we face relating to intellectual propertyegde see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Intellé&raperty.”

Competition

Competition among organizations developing or coneiaBzing sequencing instruments and servicestenise. The sequencing industry is
dominated by large, established companies thatigedmstruments and reagents for sequencing, esipreanalysis and genotyping. These
companies include lllumina, Inc., Life Technolog{@srporation and Roche Diagnostics Corporation s€leompetitors are large and well-
established, and each maintains a significant mahare. Although historically these companies tsold instruments and reagents, some of
these competitors have made recent forays intsdfjaencing services market. For example, lllumiaged providing whole genome
sequencing services in-house and through its IhanGenome Network in mid-2010 and announced inaltgr2011 that it has a backlog of
over 1,000 genomes for its sequencing servicesitidddlly, Life Technologies recently announcedodlaboration to build a genome
sequencing facility. New competitors may also ettierwhole genome sequencing market, either byigiray sequencing services as we do or
by selling less expensive and more powerful sequagrinstruments. We expect to face more intensepetition if our service-based model is
successful. In addition, future competitors mayude other companies, like NABsys, Inc., Oxford Npore Technologies, Ltd. and Pacific
Biosciences, Inc., which have developed or areldpireg sequencing technologies or services that coaypete with ours in the future. Large,
established companies may acquire smaller compaiiilesmerging technologies and use their extensgeurces to develop and
commercialize or incorporate these technologiestimir instruments and services. For exampleQitD2Life Technologies acquired lon
Torrent Systems, Inc., a chip-based sequencingitdaty company.

A number of these and other organizations are dpugl methods for DNA sequencing using single mdkeor long-read sequencing
technologies. To date, the developers of singleemdé technologies have not demonstrated thatesmglecule sequencing can achieve the
quality required for complete human genome discppeojects at a reasonable cost. While long-reagltically important fode novo
sequencing, or sequencing organisms which havpreetously been sequenced, we believe they areeaired for sequencing high quality
complete human genomes.

In addition to commercial companies, there aredagpvernment-funded or research-sponsored orgamizasuch as the Broad Institute of
MIT and Harvard, the Genome Center at Washingtoiwvéssity, the Baylor College of Medicine Human Gem®Sequencing Center, the
Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute and BGI (formenhptn as Beijing Genome Institute), that purchaseroercial DNA sequencing
instruments and offer DNA sequencing services smlamic and commercial customers.

For a description of the risks we face relatedametition, please see “Risk Factors—Risks Relaigdur Business—We face significant
competition. Our failure to compete effectively hadversely affect our sales and results of operat and “—The emergence of competitive
genome sequencing technologies may impact our éssih

Operations

We have established laboratory operations for iostrgenome center in Mountain View, Californiadame have additional laboratory
operations in Sunnyvale, California. Our Tier Idrtified data center is located in Santa Claraif@alia. We expect to deploy additional
sequencing centers in the future, and it is likbbt these will be located in other regions, inglgdbutside of the United States.

Genomic samples arrive at our facilities by comroarrier, such as Federal Express or United Paemi&, and are tested for a number of
pre-defined quality acceptance criteria. Samplasghss acceptance testing are
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prepared for sequencing, loaded on a flow slidessugienced on a sequencing instrument. After tipgeseing process, data generated by the
sequencing instrument is processed in our higlopmdnce computing center to generate the finaboost data deliverable. We upload our
customersfinished genomic data to AWS, which copies the dataard disks and ships the hard disks to ouoowmsts. Our customers also ¢
pay AWS to store their data on an ongoing basis.

Our genome sequencing center has a finite capacitytime to delivery will increase if demand exdeeur capacity. In the future, we expect
to reduce time to delivery though technical anccpdural improvements. Our sequencing capacityimsagrily determined by the equipment,
automation and personnel we deploy.

Facilities

We lease approximately 67,000 square feet of offitet laboratory space at our headquarters in Moukiaw, California, under a lease that
expires in August 2016. We lease approximatelydatitisnal 11,000 square feet of office and labanagpace in Sunnyvale, California, under
a lease that expires in August 2016. These fagglitontain laboratory and non-laboratory persofelalso recently signed a lease for 20,000
square feet of additional space in Mountain ViewlifGrnia that expires in March 2013. We believatthur current facilities are adequate for
our first genome center over the next two years.nvdg need to acquire additional space as we degulditional genome centers, either in

Mountain View or in other locales, and we may needxpand our Mountain View non-laboratory spageotber uses. We believe additional
non-laboratory expansion space near our Mountagm\facility is readily available.

We also lease approximately 2,200 square feettaf @nter space in Santa Clara, California, undem#ract that expires in June 2011. Our
computing capabilities are principally locatedhistfacility, which is sufficient for our currenperations. As our operations expand, we will
need to acquire additional data center space,rethhis location, or in other regional facilities

Manufacturing and Supply

We have adopted a manufacturing strategy of puiichasost components we use to conduct our sequgseirvices, including silicon wafers,
optical microscopes and various other imaging camepts, sophisticated cameras and chemicals andnsadgrom third party suppliers. This

allows us to maintain a more flexible infrastruetuvhile focusing our expertise on deploying thes®mmonents and supplies to provide high-

quality, lower-cost whole genome sequencing sesvigea large scale.

Although alternative suppliers exist, we currentbe single suppliers for certain key materials usexlir sequencing process. In particular, we
use SVTC Technologies L.L.C. to provide us with siigon chips that are the base of the flow slided in our sequencing process and
Hamamatsu Corporation for the cameras used ineguencing instruments. We are in the process atifgeng and qualifying additional
suppliers, although we cannot predict how long thatlification process will last, and the time negdo establish a relationship can be lenc

Delays, quality issues or interruptions by our digep may harm our business, and we may be forwegdtablish relationships with new
suppliers. However, because the lead time neededdgage a new supplier can be lengthy, we may Exper delays in meeting demand if we
must switch to a new supplier. For more informatiegarding risks related to our supply chain, pesee “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our
Business—We depend on a limited number of suppliectuding single-source suppliers, of variousicail components for our sequencing
process. The loss of these suppliers, or therailo supply us with the necessary componentstionedy basis, could cause delays in the
current and future capacity of our sequencing cearid adversely affect our business.”

Government Regulations

We believe our sequencing service is not curreslyject to FDA regulation, clearance or approvawever, if we expand our service to
encompass products that are intended to be usdidefaliagnosis of disease, such as
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molecular diagnostic products, regulation by gowsgntal authorities in the United States and otbentries will be a significant factor in the
development, testing, production, and marketinguwh products.

Our laboratory is subject to federal, state, regi@md local regulations relating to the handling disposal of hazardous materials and
biohazardous waste, including chemicals, biologiggdnts and compounds and blood and other hunsretigVe utilize qualified third party
vendors for waste disposal and handling, and thesdors are contractually obligated to comply vaitty applicable regulations. Our cost of
waste disposal has historically not been mateaiad, we expect this to be true in the future.

Due to the nature of our current operations, weehat sought accreditation for our facilities untler Clinical Laboratory Improvement
Amendments, or CLIA. In addition, because the geinatata we provide generally neither identifies pmvides a reasonable basis to identify
an individual, we are not currently subject to Health Insurance Portability and Accountability A¢t1996, or HIPAA. However, once
provided to certain of our customers, the genorata @nd the activities of those customers may ¢p@laied under both HIPAA and the Gen
Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008.

Given the evolving nature of this industry, legiisla bodies or regulatory authorities may adoptitiaithl regulation or expand existing
regulation to include our service. For examplehia future, our service could be subject to FDAutation or we may be required to seek Cl
accreditation for our facilities. Changes to therent regulatory framework, including the impositiof additional or new regulations, could
arise at any time, and we may be unable to obtamaintain FDA or comparable regulatory approvatlearance of our service, if required.
These regulations and restrictions may materiadty @alversely affect our business, financial coadiind results of operations. For more
information regarding the risks of future governinesgulation, please see “Risk Factors—Risks RelaieOur Business—Because the market
for genome sequencing is relatively new and rapgdiglving, we may become subject to additional feitgovernmental regulation, which may
place additional cost and time burdens on our djperR”

Backlog

We define order backlog as the number of genonresticch customers have placed sequencing ordersvinhelieve are firm and for which
we have not yet recognized revenue. Estimatingltiiar value of backlog that will be fulfilled with the current fiscal year, or any other
particular period, requires significant judgments @stimates, as the mix of customer orders amihgrierms varies between arrangements
depending on the number of genomes covered byrthagement. It also requires estimating the tinghthe receipt of qualified samples from
our customers, over which we have no control, &editming of the sequencing of the genomes. Unigratied delays in obtaining and fulfilling
sequencing orders would result in a delay in rezigg associated revenue.

Given the revenue variance resulting from this amid the rapidly evolving nature of the sequencivtlystry, we do not believe that backlog as
of any particular date is necessarily indicativéubéire results. However, we do believe that ofzbrklog is an indication of our customers’
willingness to utilize our solution. As of March,21011, we had a backlog of over 2,000 genomeg;iwilve believe could result in
approximately $15.0 million in additional revenueeothe next twelve months. Our backlog at March2ZRiL0 was not significant. See “Risk
Factors—Risk Related to Our Business—Our order lbgakay never be completed, and we may never exence on backlogged contracts
to sequence genomes.”

Segment and Geographical Information

We operate in one reportable business segmentyamtrived a majority of our revenue from custontecated in the United States. Our total
revenue from customers outside of the United Sfatefiscal years 2009 and 2010 was $0.1 milliod &&.7 million, respectively, or
approximately 16% and 29%, respectively, of oualtedvenue. We had no revenue in 2008. Sales toroess located outside of the United
States are denominated in U.S. dollars. We expeattsales to international customers will be andrtgnt and growing source of revenue,
particularly as we construct additional genome segqing centers outside of the United States. Atwaflong-lived assets are located in the
United States.
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Employees

As of March 31, 2011, we had a total of 202 empésy&4 of whom hold Ph.D. degrees and 79 of whaneagaged in full-time research and
development activities. We plan to expand our petida, our sales and marketing and our researctdanelopment programs, and we plan to
hire additional staff as these initiatives are iempénted. None of our employees is representedddyoa union, and we consider our employee
relations to be in good standing.

Legal Proceedings

On August 3, 2010, a patent infringement lawsui filed by lllumina, Inc. and Solexa, Inc. (an gnacquired by lllumina), or the plaintiffs,
against us in the U.S District Court in Delawarke Tase caption Iumina, Inc. and Solexa, Inc. v. Complete Genailiac., Civil Action

No. 1(-649. The complaint alleges that our Complete Geoanalysis Platform, and in particular our corrdiorial probe anchor ligation
technology, infringes upon three patents held hyrlina and Solexa. The plaintiffs seek unspecifrexhetary damages and injunctive relief. If
we are found to infringe one or more valid clainig @atent-in-suit and if the district court graatsinjunction, we may be forced to redesign
portions of our sequencing process, seek a licensease the infringing activity. On SeptemberZXg.0, we filed our answer to the complaint
as well as our counterclaims against the plaint®is November 9, 2010, the U.S. District Court ieldvare granted our motion to transfer the
case to the Northern District of California. On M&y2011, the Court entered a stipulated ordersimids two patents from the lawsuit. The
dismissal is without prejudice but includes corais on the ability to file lawsuits on these padeiricluding a limitation that lllumina may not
re-file such lawsuits against us until the late¢(gfAugust 1, 2012, or (2) the exhaustion of ppeal rights in both (a) the pending
reexaminations in the U.S. Patent and Trademark®©#&nd (b) the pending civil litigation in whichese patents are also assertéfe,
Technologies Corp. v. lllumin&ase No. 11-CV703 (S.D. Cal.). Accordingly, ther@dw only one patent asserted against us inahisuit.

We believe that we have substantial and meritoriaienses to the plaintiffs’ claims and intend itgovously defend our position. However, a
negative outcome in this matter could have a rmedtadverse effect on our financial position, resok operations, cash flows and business. For
more information regarding the risk of this litigat and future litigation, please see “Risk FacteWe currently are, and could in the future
subject to litigation regarding patent and otherppietary rights that could harm our business” ‘ardNe may incur substantial costs as a re
of our current, or future, litigation or other pemdlings relating to patent and other proprietayyts.” We are not currently able to estimate the
potential loss, if any, that may result from thigyhtion.

From time to time, we may become involved in oflegal proceedings and claims arising in the ordimaurse of our business. Other than as
described above, we are not currently a party yolegal proceedings the outcome of which, if defeed adversely to us, we believe would
individually or in the aggregate have a materialeade effect on our business, operating resuitanfiial condition or cash flows.
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Management

Executive Officers, Key Employees and Directors
The following table sets forth certain informatiabout our executive officers, key employees anectiirs, as of March 31, 2011.

Name Age Position
Executive Officer

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 52  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off
Ajay Bansal 49  Chief Financial Officel

Radoje Drmanac, Ph.I 53  Chief Scientific Officet

Bruce Martin 46  Senior Vice President of Product Developrr
Mark J. Sutherlan: 53  Senior Vice President of Business Developn
Key Employee

Dennis Ballinger, Ph.C 56 Vice President of Genomit

William Banyai, Ph.D 56 Vice President of Hardwal

R. John Curso 68 Vice President of Financial Operatic

Alan Dow, Ph.D 55  Vice President of Intellectual Property and Legébks
Ken Prokusk 61 Vice President of Operatiol

Aaron Solomor 46  Vice President of Sale

Jennifer Turcotts 41  Vice President of Marketin

Directors

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 52  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off
Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.I0@) 63 Director

C. Thomas Caskey, M.I 72  Director

Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CF® 46  Director

Andrew E. Senyei, M.C® 61 Director

Lewis J. Shuste® 55 Director

Charles P. Waite, JV@ 55  Director

Robert T. Wall(®@ 65 Director

(1) Member of the compensation commit
(2) Member of the nominating and corporate governarararoittee
(3) Member of the audit committe

Executive Officers and Key Employees

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D., is our co-founder and Chairman and has servedraBresident and Chief Executive Officer since 2095 and as a
member of our board of directors since July 2006nFMarch 2003 to September 2005, Dr. Reid was Piasident of Collaborative Solutia
at Open Text Corporation, a software company. B51®r. Reid co-founded Eloquent, Inc., a digitaleo communications company, and
served as its Chief Executive Officer until 1999 @s its Chairman until 2003, when it was acquing®pen Text. In 1988, Dr. Reid co-
founded Verity, Inc., an enterprise text searchrmgompany, and served as its Vice President girteering from 1988 to 1992 and as its
Executive Vice President from 1992 to 1993. Dr.dReiceived a B.S. in Physics from the Massachubwitidute of Technology, an M.B.A.
from Harvard University and a Ph.D. in Managemeriefce and Engineering from Stanford University.ols President, Chief Executive
Officer and co-founder, Dr. Reid brings expertiad &nowledge regarding our business and operat@osr board of directors. He also brings
to our board of directors an extensive backgrounthé technology industry and in leadership rgtesyiding both strategic and operational
vision and guidance.

Ajay Bansal has served as our Chief Financial Officer since @%0. From June 2009 to January 2010, Mr. Barsgkd as Chief Financial
Officer and Executive Vice President of Businessé&@pment at Lexicon
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Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical compamym December 2007 to October 2008, Mr. Bansakskas Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President of Finance of Tercica,,|laciopharmaceutical company acquired by theni@&®up in October 2008. He also
served as Chief Financial Officer and Senior VicesiRient of Finance of Tercica from March 2006 lun&cember 2007. From February 2003
to January 2006, Mr. Bansal served as Vice Preddrinance and Administration and Chief Financiffic@r of Nektar Therapeutics, a
biopharmaceutical company. From July 2002 to Felgr@@03, Mr. Bansal served as Director of Operatidnalysis at Capital One Financia
bank holding company. From August 1998 to June 2002Bansal was at Mehta Partners LLC, a finana@lisory firm, where he was namr
partner in January 2000. Prior to joining MehtatRens, Mr. Bansal spent more than ten years in gemant roles at Novartis, a
pharmaceuticals company, and in consulting at ArbhwLittle, Inc., McKinsey & Company, Inc. and Z&sociates. Mr. Bansal received a [
in Mechanical Engineering from the Indian InstitofeTechnology (Delhi) and an M.S. in Operationsidgement and an M.B.A. from
Northwestern University

Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D.js our co-founder and has served as our Chief 8fieeOfficer since July 2005. In 2001, Dr. Drmanea-founded
Callida Genomics, Inc., a DNA sequencing company, served as Callida’s Chief Scientific Officerfr@001 to 2004 and has served as its
President since 2004. In 1994, Dr. Drmanadaorded Hyseq, Inc., a DNA array technology comptiay became Hyseq Pharmaceuticals,
and later merged with Variagenics, Inc. to becorngdlb, Inc., and served as its Senior Vice PresidEResearch from 1994 to 1998 and a
Chief Scientific Officer from 1998 to 2001. Priar that, Dr. Drmanac served as a group leader atrrg National Laboratory. Dr. Drmanac
received a B.S., M.S. and Ph.D. in Molecular Bigidiggm the University of Belgrade.

Bruce Martin has served as our Senior Vice President of Prddereelopment since March 2010. From May 2007 to M&@10, Mr. Martin
was our Vice President of Product Development. FPO®5 to May 2007, Mr. Martin served as Vice Presidf Product Strategy at PSS
Systems, Inc., an internet software company. Fro@22o0 2003, Mr. Martin served as Chief TechnicHld@r of Openwave Systems Inc., a
software company. Mr. Martin received a B.S. in Qoier Science and Electrical Engineering from timéversity of California, Davis.

Mark J. Sutherland has served as our Senior Vice President of BusiDegslopment since March 2010. From October 2008aeember
2009, Mr. Sutherland served as Senior Vice PresiofieBusiness Development at GenVault CorporattoBNA storage company. From
November 2005 to September 2007, Mr. Sutherlangedeais Chief Business Officer for Flashpoint Tedbgyp, Inc., a digital conter
management company. Beginning in August 1988, Mth&land served for 17 years in roles of incregasasponsibility at Molecular
Dynamics, a manufacturer of molecular biology aedejic engineering equipment, and its successopani@s, Amersham Biosciences and
GE Healthcare. Mr. Sutherland served as Vice Peasidf Genomics at Amersham from 1998 to 2001 andR Strategic Alliances, at
Amersham and for the Discovery Systems busine&FoHealthcare from 2001 to 2005. Mr. Sutherlaneirgad a B.S. in Chemistry with
Honors from Stanford University.

Dennis Ballinger, Ph.D.,has served as our Vice President of Genomics €xteber 2008. From 2002 to 2008, Dr. Ballinger edras Vice
President of Genomics at Perlegen Sciences, Inieyaloper of genetic tests. From 1999 to 200kemeed as Director of Product
Development at Ingenuity Systems, Inc., a softvearapany. From 1998 to 1999, he served as Seniecir of Functional Genomics at
Hyseq, Inc. From 1994 to 1998, he served as Diredt€ardiovascular Disease Research at Myriad &ene developer of molecular
diagnostic products. From 1989 to 1994, Dr. Bablinggas an Assistant Professor of molecular biolmighe Sloan-Kettering Institute and
Cornell University Graduate School. Dr. Ballingeceived a B.S. in molecular cell biology from Unisigy of Colorado, Boulder and a Ph.D
cellular and developmental biology from the Massaettts Institute of Technology and completed histghmctoral training at the California
Institute of Technology.

William Banyai, Ph.D., has served as our Vice President of Hardware sinlge2006. From March 2000 to February 2006, Dnygawas a
founder and the Chief Technical Officer of Glimmlass Networks, an optical networking company. FRebruary 1996 to February 2000,
Dr. Banyai served as a staff physicist at the
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Lawrence Livermore National Lab. From November 1898lovember 1995, Dr. Banyai served as the Chéehfologist of Silicon Light
Machines, a high-resolution display company. Frapt&mber 1992 to October 1994, Dr. Banyai serveddrasearch engineer at Stanford
University’s Ginzton Laboratory. From January 138August 1992, Dr. Banyai served as a researemssi at the Sandia National Lab’s
Compound Semiconductor Research Facility. Dr. Bargeeived a B.S. in physics and an M.S. in eleatrscience from the University of
Michigan, an Engineer of Electrical Engineeringnfrthe University of Southern California and a PhirDoptical sciences from the University
of Arizona.

R. John Cursonis our co-founder and has served as our Vice Reasif Financial Operations since May 2010. Froig 2005 to May 2010,
he served as our Chief Financial Officer. From Ap@i03 to July 2005, Mr. Curson was a partner odtNPartners, an investment partnership
focusing on special turn-around situations. Frohg 1099 until its acquisition by Open Text Corpdoatin April 2003, Mr. Curson served as
Chief Financial Officer of Eloquent, Inc., a diditddeo communications company. From July 1993uly 1999, Mr. Curson served as Chief
Financial Officer of RasterOps Inc., a digital integgand peripherals company which, during Mr. Catsdenure, was re-incorporated as
Truevision Inc., a digital video company. Mr. Cunrseceived a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering antah. in Operations Research and
Economics from the University of Leeds, U.K., amd\M.B.A. from the University of California, Los Aegges.

Alan Dow, Ph.D.,has served as our Vice President of Intellectuap@rty and Legal Affairs since September 2008. F&aptember 2004 to
September 2008, Dr. Dow worked as an attorneyiiratg practice at BioTechnology Law Group in Saedgi, California, specializing in
patent prosecution and intellectual property-reldtansactions. From June 2001 to July 2004, Dw Berved as Vice President and General
Counsel of Vical Incorporated, a biopharmaceuticahpany. Dr. Dow received a B.S. in Chemistry fritve University of Maine at Orono, a
Ph.D. in Genetics from Harvard University and a. rfbm Stanford Law School.

Ken Prokuski has served as our Vice President of Operationg slanuary 2010. From August 2009 to January 2010PMKkuski served as
an independent consultant to us. From October 1®9anuary 2009, Mr. Prokuski served as Seniordireof Manufacturing Operations at
Applied Biosystems, a life sciences company anivigidn of Life Technologies. From September 1985eptember 1993, Mr. Prokuski
served as Material Manager at Arico Coating Tecbgl a thin film deposition equipment manufactuFgom September 1991 to September
1992, Mr. Prokuski served as Director of Materatld oshiba America, Inc., an electronics compamgnFJanuary 1990 to August 1991,

Mr. Prokuski served as Operations Manager at MitipCorporation, a life sciences company. Mr. Pskveceived a B.A. in Psychology frc
Northeastern lllinois University and an ExecutiveBVA. from Golden Gate Universit

Aaron Solomon,has served as our Vice President of Sales sinceRVE09. From April 2008 to March 2009, Mr. Solonsanved as Vice
President of Business Development at Tethys Bioseiea developer of diagnostic tests. From Oct@béb to April 2008, Mr. Solomon serv
as Director of Western Region Industrial Sales latel as Vice President of Industrial Sales at Aigyrix, a leading DNA microarray compa
From February 2004 until its acquisition by Affymietin October 2005, Mr. Solomon served as Viceskient of Business Development at
ParAllele, a targeted genotyping company. Mr. Saomeceived a B.S. in Biological Sciences fromUméversity of California, Irvine.

Jennifer Turcotte has served as our Vice President of Marketing sBetember 2008. From November 2007 to August 28 served as
our Senior Director of Product Marketing. From J@087 to October 2007, Ms. Turcotte served as $&irector, Marketing Solutions, at
SAP, Inc., a business management software compaosn March 2004 to May 2007, Ms. Turcotte serve&asior Director of Product
Marketing at Siperian, Inc., a software companyuiregl by Informatica in March 2010. Prior to joigisiperian, Ms. Turcotte held senior
product marketing positions at Rearden Commerbtegtanology-based personal assistance company,,Anba a software and information
technology company, Nuance Communications, a softwampany, and BEA Systems, Inc., a software comfaat was acquired by Oracle
Corporation. Ms. Turcotte received a B.Eng. in nattal engineering from Carleton University in @ttg Canada.

79



Table of Contents

Directors

Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D. has served as a member of our board of directocg $varch 2007. In 1997, Dr. Barkas co-founded firos
Venture Partners, a venture capital firm, and aulyeserves as a Managing Director at that firnorrr1991 to 1997, Dr. Barkas was a Partner
at Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers, a venture talgirm. Prior to that, Dr. Barkas was a Founded &hief Executive Officer of BioBridge
Associates, a healthcare industry consulting fibm.Barkas has served as Chairman of Geron Cotipara biopharmaceutical company, si
1993 until early 2011 and as a member of the boadirectors since 1992. Dr. Barkas has also seageal director of Amicus Therapeutics,
Inc., a biotechnology company, since 2004. From [Z@§2 to October 2008, Dr. Barkas served as atdire€ Tercica, and as its Chairman
from August 2003 to October 2008. Dr. Barkas reegia Ph.D. in Biology from New York University aad.A. in Biology from Brandeis
University, where he currently is Chairman of theikérsity Science Advisory Council and serves anBloard of Trustees. As a venture
capitalist, Dr. Barkas brings to our board of dices broad experience in advising and managingtifence and biotechnology companies f
early-stage to mature companies, including expetisapital raising, strategic transactions, fiahbudgeting and reporting, strategy and
operations, recruiting and compensation. In addjtidr. Barkas brings insight on compensation-relatatters to the compensation committee
based on his breadth of exposure to life scienogpemies.

C. Thomas Caskey, M.D.has served as a member of our board of directocg hugust 2009. Since January 2006, Dr. Caskegdragd as
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Browoundation Institute of Molecular Medicine for theelPention of Human Diseases, part of
the University of Texas Health Science Center aidtion. Since 2003, Dr. Caskey has served as amétdRartner at Essex Woodlands Health
Ventures, a venture capital firm. Dr. Caskey sem®gdlanaging Director of Cogene Biotech Ventured,,la venture capital firm, from March
2005 to October 2005 and as President and Chiegfufixe Officer from April 2000 to March 2005. Herged as Senior Vice President,
Research, at Merck Research Laboratories, a divigidderck & Co., Inc., a pharmaceutical compamgnf 1995 to 2000 and as President of
the Merck Genome Research Institute from 1996 @D2Before joining Merck, Dr. Caskey served 25 gestrBaylor College of Medicine in a
series of senior positions, including Chairman, &&pent of Human and Molecular Genetics, and Dire¢iuman Genome Center. He is a
member of the National Academy of Sciences. Drk€aserved as a director of Lexicon Genetics Inoafed, a biopharmaceutical company,
from April 2000 to April 2006 and as Chairman frépril 2000 to March 2005. Dr. Caskey served asraator of Luminex Corporation, a
developer of biological testing technologies, fréamuary 2001 to May 2005. Dr. Caskey received a Boi the University of South Carolina
and an M.D. from Duke University. Dr. Caskey brinigghe board an extensive scientific and operatibackground gained as a research
scientist, executive and venture capital advisou$ed on life science and pharmaceutical companies.

Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CFA, has served as a member of our board of directocg #fAugust 2009. In 1998, Dr. Gordon co-foundedikdell
Advisors LLC, an asset management firm, and hagdexs a General Partner since that time. From &®%997, Dr. Gordon served as a
Senior Biotechnology Analyst at Mehta & Isaly, fredecessor firm to OrbiMed. From 1993 to 1995,&urdon served as a Fellow at The
Rockefeller University. Since May 2008, Dr. Gorduas served as a director of Amarin Corporatiorippiarmaceutical company. From
March 2004 to May 2007, Dr. Gordon served as atbireof Biocryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a pharméicalicompany. Dr. Gordon received
A.B. from Harvard University and a Ph.D. in moleaubiology from the Massachusetts Institute of Tedbgy. As a venture capitalist focused
on life science companies who sits on numerousdso®r. Gordon provides financial and operationxglegtise regarding our industry. In
addition, Dr. Gordon provides substantial expeiitiséhe particularly relevant scientific field ofatecular biology.

Andrew E. Senyei, M.D. has served as a member of our board of directoce $Wlarch 2006. Since 1987, Dr. Senyei has sersed\danagin
Director and a General Partner of Enterprise Pesfraeventure capital firm. In 1989, Dr. Senyeifeonded Molecular Biosystems, Inc., a
biotechnology company acquired by Alliance Pharmécal Corp. in 2000. Prior to joining Enterprisarihers, Dr. Senyei served as a
practicing clinician and Adjunct Associate ProfegssbObstetrics and Gynecology at the Universityalfifornia, Irvine. Dr. Senyei has served
as Chairman of Genoptix, Inc., a specialized médidrratory service provider, since
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April 2000. Dr. Senyei served as a director of Adl&omedical Corporation, a healthcare productspzong, from 1987 until Adeza was
acquired by Cytyc Corporation in April 2007. Dr.ryei has served on the Board of Trustees of Norskeve University since 2005 and on the
Advisory Council of the Jacobs School of Enginegt the University of California, San Diego, sif&¥2. Dr. Senyei received a B.S. from
Occidental College and an M.D. from Northwesternversity Medical School, and he completed his ress@y training at the University of
California, Irvine, Medical Center. Dr. Senyei’'s digal and business expertise, including his expegeas a venture capitalist building and
serving on the board of directors of more than @blip and private emerging life sciences and heaté companies, combined with his
extensive prior experience as an inventor and jefagtclinician, give him valuable insight into oindustry. His experience provides the
seasoned business judgment and broad strategio wigiich enables him to serve as an effective ahgable director and to have the
qualifications and leadership and other skillséose on our board of directors.

Lewis J. Shusterhas served as a member of our board of directocg #pril 2010. In 2002, Mr. Shuster founded Shu€pital, a strategic
and operating advisor to life science companied les served as its Chief Executive Officer sited ime. From June 2003 to November
2007, Mr. Shuster served as Chief Executive Offafé€emia, Inc., a drug discovery and developmembgany. From February 2000 to
December 2001, Mr. Shuster held various operatweg@ive positions at Invitrogen Corporation, atbahnology company that merged with
Applied Biosystems Inc. and became Life Technole@erporation. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Shuster seasChief Financial Officer of
Pharmacopeia, Inc., a drug discovery product andcgecompany, and later as Chief Operating OffafelPharmacopeia Labs, a division of
Pharmacopeia, Inc. Mr. Shuster joined Human GenBaiences as its first employee in September 1982aa Executive Vice President of
Operations and Finance, helped guide the developamehoperation of what was the world’s leadingegeequencing operation in 1994.

Mr. Shuster served as a director and ChairmaneoAtidit Committee of Epitomics, Inc., a private molonal antibody firm, from 2002 until
May 2010, and a director and Chairman of the AGdinmittee of Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc., a biopteaeutical company, from September
2009 to February 2010, and a director of Retrotag&jvately held biotechnology company, since ApBi08, and as a member of the Board of
Managers and Chairman of the Audit Committee of M&lth, LLC, a privately held nurse and profesaldrealth care staffing firm, since
September 2010, and as a director of ADVENTRX Pla@euticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company esharil 2011. Mr. Shuster received
a B.A. in Economics from Swarthmore College andvaB.A. from Stanford University. Mr. Shuster proesithe board with an extensive
background in financial and strategic planning,itiugl and accounting and financial leadership etiper As Chairman of the Audit Committ
Mr. Shuster also keeps the board abreast of cuaretit issues and collaborates with our independagistered public accounting firm and
senior management team.

Charles P. Waite, Jr.,has served as a member of our board of directoce $Wlarch 2006. Mr. Waite has been a General Rasfr@VP
Venture Partners Il and a Vice President of Nortdtwéenture Services Corp. since 1987, a Generah@&anf OVP Venture Partners Il since
1994, a General Partner of OVP Venture Partnersinde 1997, a General Partner of OVP Venture Partvisince 2000 and a General Par
of OVP Venture Partners VI since 2001, all of whiglk venture capital firms. He currently servestmnboard of directors of eight private
companies. Mr. Waite received an A.B. in Historyrfr Kenyon College and an M.B.A. from Harvard Ungigr. Mr. Waite brings to the board
significant operational and leadership experiersca genture capital investor who sits on a numbepards. Mr. Waite’s investment focus on
life science companies also provides substantiadeise in our industry.

Robert T. Wall has served as a member of our board of directoce September 2010. Since August 1984, Mr. Walblezs the Founder a
President of On Point Developments, LLC, a ventnamagement and investment company. Mr. Wall wasiader and, from November 2000
to December 2006, the Chairman of the Board ofd@ims of Airgo Networks, Inc., a Wi-Fi wireless netrking systems company that was
acquired by QUALCOMM, Inc. in December 2006. Frommd 1997 to November 1998, he was Chief Executifie€d and a member of the
board of directors of Clarity Wireless, Inc., a&dband wireless data communications company thatawquired by Cisco Systems, Inc., a
network and communications company, in NovembeB818&. Wall was Chairman of the Board, Presidertt @hief Executive Officer of
Theatrix Interactive, Inc., a consumer
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educational software publisher, from April 1994A10gust 1997. Mr. Wall has also served as a direatdetApp, Inc., an enterprise storage
and data management company, since January 1993Valrhas been a member of the Board of Trustéé&sed-ine Arts Museums of

San Francisco since June 2007 and a member ofisiteny Committee, Arts of Africa, Oceania and thmericas at the Metropolitan Museum
of Artin New York since March 2007. He receivedA® degree in economics from DePauw University and.B.A. degree from Harvard
Business School. Mr. Wall brings to the board @@wears of experience leading and founding sevecahology companies. As a result of
Mr. Wall's service on the boards of other publiergganies and varied strategic mergers and acquisitiperience, he is familiar with a full
range of corporate and board functions. Additiogndir. Wall’'s service as chairman of the compersatiommittee of another public company
provides our board with valuable experience anddeship in developing and implementing our compgasgolicies.

Scientific Advisory Board

We maintain a scientific advisory board consistifignembers with experience and expertise in tHd 6 genomics and genetics who provide
us with consulting services. Our scientific advisboard consists of the following members:

Mark Chee, Ph.D.,is an internationally recognized expert in genomiits presently serves as Chief Executive Officer @hief Scientific
Officer of Prognosys Biosciences, Inc. Previoublyco-founded Illlumina, Inc., and was Director @n@tics Research at Affymetrix, Inc. He
has published scientific papers on microarray teldbgy and applications and is an inventor on okiséued patents. He also serves on the
External Scientific Committee of The Cancer Gend\tias project. Dr. Chee received his B.Sc. in Bietistry from the University of New
South Wales and his Ph.D. in Molecular Biology frira University of Cambridge.

George Church, Ph.D.js Professor of Genetics at Harvard Medical Sclaoal Director of the Center for Computational Gesgetivith

degrees from Duke University in Chemistry and Zgglche co-authored research on 3D-software & RNécstire with Sung-Hou Kim. His
1984 Ph.D. from Harvard in Biochemistry & MolecuBiology with Wally Gilbert included the first dick genomic sequencing method. He co-
initiated the Human Genome Project a few monthey las a Research Scientist at newly formed Biogendnd was a Monsanto Life Sciences
Research Fellow at UCSF. He invented the broaddiegh concepts of molecular multiplexing and taganologous recombination methods
and array DNA synthesizers. Technology transfeautbmated sequencing and software to Genome Therep€orp. resulted in the first
commercial genome sequence (the human pathogeylati, 1994). He has served in advisory rolesifaijournals, five granting agencies and
22 biotechnology companies. His current researchdes on integrating biosystems-modeling with pgasgenomics and synthetic biology.

Leroy Hood, M.D., Ph.D.,is currently President of the Institute for SysteéBi@ogy. His research has focused on the studpagcular
immunology, biotechnology and genomics. His prafess career began at the California Institute e€EfAnology where he and his colleagues
pioneered four instruments, the DNA gene sequesmgisynthesizer and the protein synthesizer angesegr, which comprise the
technological foundation for contemporary molectd@aiogy. In particular, the DNA sequencer has fetionized genomics by allowing the
rapid, automated sequencing of DNA, which playedugial role in contributing to the successful miagpof the human genome during the
1990s. In 1992, he moved to the University of Wiagtin as founder and Chairman of the cross-disipli Department of Molecular
Biotechnology. In 2000, he co-founded the InstifoteSystems Biology in Seattle, Washington to pensystems approaches to biology and
medicine. He is a member of the National Academ@@énces, the American Philosophical Society Afmerican Association of Arts and
Sciences and the Institute of Medicine. He has plizged a role in founding numerous biotechnologmpanies, including Amgen, Inc.,
Applied Biosystems, Inc., Systemix Institute, Darwlolecular Corp. and Rosetta Inpharmatics LLC. wod received an M.D. from Johns
Hopkins School of Medicine and a Ph.D. in Biochdrgifrom the California Institute of Technology. Has published more than 600 peer-
reviewed papers, is listed as an inventor on I4eidpatents and has co-authored textbooks in hioiskry, immunology, molecular biology
and genetics.
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Douglas A. Lauffenburger, Ph.D.,is the Uncas & Helen Whitaker Professor of Bioeeghing and Director of the Biological Engineering
Division at the Massachusetts Institute of Techggland also holds appointments in the DepartmeBiabgy and the Department of
Chemical Engineering. Dr. Lauffenburger receive8.Band Ph.D. degrees in chemical engineering fleruniversity of lllinois in 1975 and
the University of Minnesota in 1979, respectivétys major research interests are in cell engingetime fusion of engineering with molecular
cell biology. A central focus of his research peogris in receptor-mediated cell communication anichcellular signal transduction, with
emphasis on development of predictive computatioradels derived from quantitative experimental &sidon cell cue/signal/response
relationships. These models have applicationsug discovery and development.

Larry Smarr, Ph.D., is the founding Director of the California Instiéutor Telecommunications and Information Technolagpartnership
between the University of California, San Diegod &miversity of California, Irvine, created in 2QdDr. Smarr also holds the Harry E. Gruber
professorship in the Jacobs School’'s Departme@oofiputer Science and Engineering at the Univedditalifornia, San Diego. Dr. Smarr
was the founding director of the National CenterSapercomputing Applications, a position he heltll2000. From 1997 until 2005,

Dr. Smarr served on the Advisory Committee to tlre@or of the National Institutes of Health. Piausly, he was a professor in the
Astronomy and Physics departments of the Univerditylinois at Urbana-Champaign from 1979 until ih 2000. Dr. Smarr received a B.A.
and a M.S. in physics from the University of Misdgpa M.S. in physics from Stanford University aaéh.D. in physics for the University of
Texas, Austin. Dr. Smarr was a member of the FiSlwggntific Biotechnology Council from 1993 throu$98, has been a member of the
InterWest MedTech Advisory Committee since 1999 laasl been Advisor to the CEO, MedExpert Internatioimc. since 2000. Dr. Smarr is a
pioneer in the field of biomedical computing and Inamerous publications in the field, including liedtions and quotations f&cience,
Nature,theNew York Times, Wall Street Journal, Time, Newsyw&f@led, Fortune, Business We#ie Sydney Morning Heraldhe Ageand

the Australian Broadcasting Company.

Leadership Structure of the Board

Our board of directors is currently chaired by resident and Chief Executive Officer of the Conypddr. Reid. Our board has combined the
positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairmarhelp ensure that the board and management dcawibmmon purpose and to facilitate
the flow of information between management andoib&rd. Our board believes that the combinatiomefGhairperson and Chief Executive
Officer position will provide a single, clear chaihcommand to continue to develop our businesseaedute our strategic and business plans.
In addition, our board also believes that it isathageous to have a Chairman with an extensiveriigtith and knowledge of the company :
our industry, as is the case with Dr. Reid, who was of our founders.

Board Composition
I ndependent Directors

Our board of directors currently consists of eigiembers. Our board of directors has determinedathaf our directors, other than Dr. Reid,
qualify as “independent” directors in accordancthwhie NASDAQ listing requirements. Dr. Reid is ©onsidered independent because he is
an employee of Complete Genomics. The NASDAQ inddpece definition includes a series of objectiwtsiesuch as that the director is not,
and has not been for at least three years, oneradraployees and that neither the director noradrhys family members has engaged in var
types of business dealings with us. In additiormeggiired by NASDAQ rules, our board of directoes iImade a subjective determination as to
each independent director that no relationshipstewiich, in the opinion of our board of directomuld interfere with the exercise of
independent judgment in carrying out the respolisés of a director. In making these determinasioour board of directors reviewed and
discussed information provided by the directors amavith regard to each director’s business andqgret activities and relationships as they
may relate to us and our management.
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Classified Board of Directors

Our board of directors is divided into three clasagth staggered, three-year terms. At each ammeating of stockholders, the successors to
directors whose terms then expire will be electeserve from the time of election and qualificatiortil the third annual meeting following
election. Effective upon the completion of thisesfiig, our directors will be divided among the thadasses as follows:

= the Class | directors are Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D.ACIFewis J. Shuster and Charles P. Waite, Jr..thed terms will expire at th
annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2!

= the Class Il directors are Alexander E. BarkasDPhAnd Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., and their terms wipire at the annual meeting of
stockholders to be held in 2012; ¢

= the Class lll directors are C. Thomas Caskey, Mdlifford A. Reid, Ph.D. and Robert T. Wall, aneihterms will expire at the
annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2!

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmgtirovide that the authorized number of directoay be changed only by resolution of the
board of directors. Any additional directorshipsuking from an increase in the number of directeitsbe distributed among the three classes
so that, as nearly as possible, each class wilisbaf one-third of the directors. The divisionaafr board of directors into three classes with
staggered three-year terms may delay or prevelnaage of our management or a change-in-controiio€ompany.

Board Diversity

Our nominating and corporate governance commitiéda/responsible for reviewing with the boarddifectors, on an annual basis, the
appropriate characteristics, skills and experigeggired for the board of directors as a wholeigohdividual members. In evaluating the
suitability of individuals candidates (both new dalates and current members), the nominating argbcate governance committee, in
recommending candidates for election, and the bobdirectors, in approving (and, in the case afaries, appointing) such candidates, will
take into account many factors, including the failog:

= personal and professional integri

= ethics and value!

= experience in corporate management, such as sesiag officer or former officer of a publicly haldmpany

= experience in the industries in which we comp

= experience as a board member of another publidty dempany:

= diversity of expertise and experience in substamiatters pertaining to our business relative hemboard member
= conflicts of interest; an

= practical and mature business judgm

Our board of directors evaluates each individughacontext of the board of directors as a whaelth the objective of assembling a group that
can best maximize the success of the businessegneisent stockholder interests through the exeofiseund judgment using its diversity of
experience in these various areas.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has an audit committee,rapamsation committee and a nominating and corpg@ternance committee. Our board of
directors may establish other committees to fatdithe management of our business. The compositidriunctions of each committee are
described below.
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Audit Committee
Our audit committee oversees our corporate acoogiatind financial reporting process. Among othertenst the audit committee:
= appoints our independent registered public accogritim;
= evaluates the independent registered public acowufitm’s qualifications, independence and performa
= determines the engagement of the independent eegfispublic accounting firn
= reviews and approves the scope of the annual andithe audit fee

= discusses with management and the independenterglgublic accounting firm the results of the wadraudit and the review of o
quarterly financial statement

= approves the retention of the independent regidteublic accounting firm to perform any proposedhpissible no-audit services
= monitors the rotation of partners of the independegistered public accounting firm on our engageineam as required by la

= is responsible for reviewing our financial statetseand our management’s discussion and analysisaofcial condition and results of
operations to be included in our annual and qusirteports to be filed with the SE!

= reviews our critical accounting policies and esti#saanc
= annually reviews the audit committee charter ardcttmmitte’s performance

The current members of our audit committee are Gartlon, Ph.D., CFA, Andrew E. Senyei, M.D. and [sW Shuster. Mr. Shuster serves as
the chairman of the committee. All members of auwdtibcommittee meet the requirements for finanktetacy under the applicable rules and
regulations of the SEC and NASDAQ. Our board oécliors has determined that Mr. Shuster is an aodiimittee financial expert as defined
under the applicable rules of the SEC and hasdtpeisite financial sophistication as defined urttierapplicable rules and regulations of The
NASDAQ Stock Market. Under the rules of the SECmbers of the audit committee must also meet heigliténdependence standar
However, a minority of the members of the audit outtee may be exempt from the heightened audit ctteenindependence standards for
one year from the date of effectiveness of thestegfion statement filed in connection with outialipublic offering. Our board has determit
that each of Dr. Senyei and Mr. Shuster meet thegghtened independence standards. Due to higoredhtp with OrbiMed Advisors LLC ar
its affiliated funds, which may be deemed to befiifiate of us due to the size of its holdingsomr securities, Dr. Gordon does not currently
meet the heightened independence requirements Rulierl0A-3 of the Exchange Act. If necessary, lmard intends to appoint a new
director meeting these heightened independencdat@sito replace Dr. Gordon as a member of outt aodimittee in reliance on the phase-in
exemption pursuant to Rule 10A-3(b)(1)(iv)(A)(2)dan the Exchange Act. Upon expiration of this phasexemption in November 2011, e:
of our audit committee members must meet the hefgttt independence requirements under Rule 10A13(bider the Exchange Act. The
audit committee operates under a written chartgrghtisfies the applicable standards of the SEINASDAQ.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee reviews and recommeolitsgs relating to compensation and benefits afafficers and employees. The
compensation committee reviews and approves caggaals and objectives relevant to compensatiamupfChief Executive Officer and ott
executive officers, evaluates the performance edétofficers in light of those goals and objectiard sets the compensation of these officers
based on such evaluations. The compensation coenaitso recommends to our board of directors titce of stock options and other
awards under our stock plans. The compensation éeemvill review and evaluate, at least annualhg performance of the compensation
committee and its members, including compliancéhiey
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compensation committee with its charter. The cumeembers of our compensation committee are AlesabkdBarkas, Ph.D., Charles P.
Waite, Jr. and Robert T. Wall. Mr. Wall servesas ¢thairman of the committee. Each of the membessitocompensation committee is
independent under the applicable rules and reguisidf The NASDAQ Global Market, is a “non-employlesctor” as defined in Rule 16b-3
promulgated under the Exchange Act and is an “detdirector” as that term is defined in Section(h®§2of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, or Section 162(m). The compensatimmittee operates under a written charter.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The nominating and corporate governance commisteesponsible for making recommendations to ourofdirectors regarding candidates
for directorships and the size and compositionwflmard of directors. In addition, the nominatargl corporate governance committee is
responsible for overseeing our corporate governpnlieies and reporting and making recommendatiormur board of directors concerning
governance matters. The current members of ourmetting and corporate governance committee are AlieaE. Barkas, Ph.D., Charles P.
Waite, Jr. and Robert T. Wall. Dr. Barkas servethashairman of the committee. Each of the membkeosir nominating and corporate
governance committee is an independent directoertg applicable rules and regulations of The NAQDOGIobal Market relating to
nominating and corporate governance committee imgggnce. The nominating and corporate governanoendtee operates under a written
charter.

There are no family relationships among any ofditectors or executive officers.

Oversight of Risk Management

Our board of directors has an active role, as aevaod also at the committee level, in oversedieganagement of our risks. The board of
directors is responsible for general oversightsis and regularly reviews information regarding osks, including credit risks, liquidity risks
and operational risks. Our compensation commigeesponsible for overseeing the management of radkting to our company’s executive
compensation plans and arrangements. Our audit dtaens responsible for overseeing the managewfemir risks relating to accounting
matters and financial reporting and legal and raguy compliance. Our nominating and corporate guaece committee is responsible for
overseeing the management of our risks associatadhve independence of our board of directors @oténtial conflicts of interest. While ea
committee is responsible for evaluating certaikgiand overseeing the management of such riskgrdire board of directors is regularly
informed through committee reports about such ri€kg board of directors believes its administratdd its risk oversight function has not
affected the board of directors’ leadership strrectu

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parti cipation

During 2010, our compensation committee consistelexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., Carl L. Gordon, Ph@FA, and Charles P. Waite, Jr.

Dr. Barkas served as Chairman of the Compensationndittee. None of the members of the compensatiomuttee is currently, or has been
at any time, one of our officers or employees. Noheur executive officers currently serves, or sassed during the last completed three fi
years, as a member of the board of directors opemisation committee of any other entity that hasaak one or more executive office

serving as a member of our board of directors argensation committee. In July 2010, Dr. Gordongmsd from the compensation commit

Corporate Governance Guidelines

We believe in sound corporate governance practindshave adopted formal Corporate Governance Guédelo enhance our effectiveness.
Our Board adopted these Corporate Governance Guegeh order to ensure that it has the necessantipes in place to review and evaluate
our business operations as needed and to makeaacibat are independent of our management. ThpdCate Governance Guidelines are
also intended to align the interests of directord mmanagement with those of our stockholders. Torp@ate Governance Guidelines set forth
the practices our Board follows with respect to Blo@nd committee composition and selection, Boaedtings, Chief Executive Officer
performance evaluation and management development a
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succession planning for senior management, inctuttia Chief Executive Officer position. A copy afradCorporate Governance Guidelines is
available on our website at www.completegenomica.co

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethgaple to all of our employees, officers and diogs, including those officers
responsible for financial reporting as requiredapplicable NASDAQ listing standards, which is ademf ethics” as defined by applicable
SEC rules . The Code of Business Conduct and Eihjasblicly available on our website at http:fempletegenomics.com/governance.cfm.
The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics includesnéorcement mechanism, and if we make any amengn@the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics other than technical, admirtisgaor other non-substantive amendments, or graptwaivers, including implicit waivers,
from a provision of this Code of Business Conduntt Ethics to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief &itial Officer or certain other finance
department executives, we will disclose the natdithe amendment or waiver, its effective date, mna@thom it applies, on our website at
http://ir.completegenomics.com/governance.cfm a ourrent report on Form 8-K filed with the SE@efe were no waivers of the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics during 2010.

Director Compensation

The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to compensation awarded to, paid ®aoned by each of Complete Genomics’
non-employee directors during 2010.

Fees Earned or Paid in Cash

Commencing upon our initial public offering in Naaber 2010, each non-employee director receivechanal retainer of $30,000 that was
prorated to reflect our initial public offering @atOur Chairman of the Board is an employee diresntiol does not receive fees for his service.
Each board member received committee fees for eatimittee on which he served, as follows:

Chair ($) Members ($)
Committee (1) 1)
Audit $15,00( $5,000
Compensatiol $10,00( $5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governar $10,00( $5,000

(1) Amounts shown are for a full year. Directors weagdpl4% of these amounts as a proration for 201feftect our initial public offering date of Novemhl0, 2010

Our Board retained the same levels of cash compiendar 2011.

Equity Awards

In April 2010, our Board granted each of Dr. Caskag Mr. Shuster an option to purchase 10,000 stadreur common stock for $1.50 per
share, which our Board determined to be the faiketaralue of our common stock on the date of gremiuly 2010, our Compensation
Committee amended each of the option grants t@Bskey and Mr. Shuster to increase the exercise pfithese stock options to $2.43 per
share, which our Compensation Committee deternmtioée the fair market value of our common stockhlendate of grant following a
valuation of our common stock as of March 31, 204t0a subsequent meeting of our Board in July 2@10 Board granted each of Dr. Caskey
and Mr. Shuster an option to purchase 2,500 sludrasr common stock for $2.69 per share, whichBosird determined to be the fair market
value of our common stock on the date of granthEddhe stock options vest in 12 equal monthlyahsents measured from the respective
vesting commencement dates of August 12, 2009 fo€Bskey and April 8, 2010 for Mr. Shuster, whichrespond to their dates of
appointment to our Board.

In September 2010, our Board granted Mr. Wall atioopto purchase 12,500 shares of our common $tock6.85 per share, which our Board
determined equaled the fair market value of ourroom stock on the date of grant. The option vestis réspect to one-third of the shares
subject thereto on each of the first three annarées of September 13, 2010, which correspondsaaate Mr. Wall was appointed to our
Board.
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Pursuant to our non-employee director compensaiitioy, upon initial election or appointment to daoard of directors, each non-employee
director is automatically granted a stock optioptwchase 10,000 shares of our common stock wittxarcise price equal to the closing
trading price of our common stock on the date ahgrfor which one-third of the shares underlying stock option vest on the one-year
anniversary of the date of grant, and the remaislyes vest on a monthly basis over the follovg#hgnonths. Upon initial election or
appointment, each non-employee director is alsomaatically granted 5,000 restricted stock units which one-third of the restricted stock
units vest on each anniversary of the date of grach that the award will be fully vested on thiedtlanniversary of the date of grant. In
December 2010, each non-employee director who @ring on our board of directors upon the consurionaif our initial public offering on
November 10, 2010 who had not previously received@tion grant in connection with his appointmenbtr Board, received an initial sto
option and restricted stock unit grant in accor@éanith this policy at the first meeting of our bdaf directors following our initial public
offering. Dr. Caskey and Messrs. Shuster and Welkveach granted 2,500 restricted stock uniteindi the initial stock option and restricted
stock unit grant made to other non-employee dirsdtoDecember 2010, since each had received &al istiock option grant in connection
with his appointment to our Board. Consistent wfith restricted stock units granted to other nonleyge directors, the restricted stock units
vest in substantially equal installments on eactheffirst three anniversaries of the date of grant

Effective in connection with our annual meetingstifckholders in 2012, each non-employee directar ds served as director since the
preceding year’'s annual meeting of stockholderkheilgranted a stock option to purchase 8,000 shareur common stock with an exercise
price equal to the closing trading price of our coom stock on the date of grant, which will vesequal monthly installments over three years,
and 4,000 restricted stock units, which will vesegual annual installments on each anniversatiyeoflate of grant such that the award and
be fully vested on the third anniversary of theedaftgrant.

Expenses

We reimburse our directors for their travel anétedl expenses in connection with attending Boaddcammittee meetings, as well as costs
and expenses incurred in attending director edarcgiograms and other Complete Genomics-relatethsesnand conferences.
Compensation of Directors

The following table provides information concerniig compensation paid by us to each of our nonlerap directors for 2010 board service.
Dr. Reid, who is our employee, does not receivetihdl compensation for his services as director.

Fees Earned or

Stock Option

Non-employee Paid in Cash Awards Awards All Other

Director $) @ (%) Q) (%) Q) Compensation ($) Total ($)
Alexander E. Barkas, Ph. 6,28¢ 38,75( 51,26¢ — 96,30:
Thomas Caskey, M.L 4,19 19,37¢ 23,03( — 46,59
Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CF, 4,89( 38,75( 51,26¢ — 94,90¢
Andrew Senyei, M.D 4,89( 38,75( 51,26¢ — 94,90¢
Lewis J. Shuste 6,28¢ 19,37¢ 23,03( — 48,69:
Charles P. Waite, J 5,58¢ 38,75( 51,26¢ — 95,60+
Robert T. Wall 6,28¢ 19,37¢ 56,68¢ — 82,35!

(1) Amounts reflect 14% of the annual retainers asaation for 2010 to reflect our initial public offeg date of November 10, 201
(2) Reflects the aggregate grant date fair value ogstiand restricted stock units granted in 2010 caltad in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Themapsons used in the valuati
of these awards are set forth in Note 11 to owardirial statements, included elsewhere in this peogs.
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(3) The following table sets forth restricted stocktsiaind stock options outstanding as of Decembe@10.

Number of Shares

of Our Common Number of

Stock subject to Restricted

Option Awards Stock Units
Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.| 10,00( 5,00(
Thomas Caskey, M.L 12,50( 2,50(
Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CF, 10,00( 5,00(
Andrew Senyei, M.D 10,00( 5,00(
Lewis J. Shuste 12,50( 2,50(
Charles P. Waite, J 10,00¢( 5,00(
Robert T. Wall 12,50( 2,50(
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Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This section discusses the principles underlyingpalicies and decisions with respect to the comspgan of our executive officers and the
most important factors relevant to an analysidesé policies and decisions. These officers, whemefer to as our named executive officers,
consist of Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D., President anltie€? Executive Officer, Ajay Bansal, Chief Finand@fficer, Bruce Martin, Senior Vice
president, Product Development, Mark J. Sutherl&aahior Vice President, Business Development, RaDajnanac, Ph.D., Chief Science
Officer and Robert J. Curson, Former Chief FinanOidicer. We did not have any executive officether than the named executive officers
during 2010.

Objectives and Philosophy Regarding our Executive Compensation

We recognize that the ability of our business toeéxlepends on the integrity, knowledge, imagimatgkill, diversity and teamwork of our
employees. To this end, we strive to create anrenmient of mutual respect, encouragement and tegkrivat rewards commitment and
performance and that is responsive to the needaradmployees, including our named executive officEhe principles and objectives of our
compensation and benefits programs for our namedutive officers are to:

= attract, engage and retain individuals of supeahlity, experience and managerial talent to lead@ompany

= align compensation decisions with our corporatateties, business and financial objectives antbtig-term interests of ot
stockholders

= motivate and reward executives whose knowledgéls skid performance are the foundation for our iou@d collective succes:
= ensure that the elements of compensation, indillidaad in the aggregate, do not encourage excesiik-taking; anc
= ensure that total compensation is fair, reasonafdiecompetitive

The compensation components described below argnéesto simultaneously fulfill one or more of tegwinciples and objectives.

Components of our Executive Compensation
The individual components of our executive compgosaonsist primarily of:
= base salary
= performance bonuse
= equity incentives
= pos-termination benefits; an
= various other employee benefi

We view each of these components as related hinctisreviewing them each individually, as wellaslectively, to ensure that the total
compensation paid to our named executive officezstmthe objectives as set forth above. Not athefds are provided to all named executive
officers. For example, only three of our named efige officers have change in control benefitstdasl, we determine the appropriate leve
each compensation component based in part, b@xetisively, on our understanding of the markeeldasn the experience of our
compensation committee and consistent with ouwiieg and retention goals, our view of internaliég and consistency, the length of sen

of our named executive officers, our overall parfance and other considerations we deem relevant.
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Historically, we have not adopted any formal oomfial policies or guidelines for allocating compeien between long-term and currently
paid out compensation, between cash and noncaspermation or among different forms of noncash caregton. However, our philosophy
is to make a significant percentage of our exeeutifficer compensation tied to stockholder retwand to keep cash compensation to a
nominally competitive level while providing the appunity to be well-rewarded through equity if werform well over time. To this end, we
use stock options as a significant component ofpereation because we believe that they best tiedaridual’s compensation to the creation
of stockholder value. While we offer competitivesbasalaries, we believe stock-based compensat@gignificant motivator in attracting
employees in our field.

Each of the primary elements of our executive campgon is discussed in more detail below. Whileharee identified particular
compensation objectives that each element of ekecobmpensation serves, our compensation progaaendesigned to be flexible and
complementary and to collectively serve all of éxecutive compensation objectives described absseordingly, whether or not specifically
mentioned below, we believe that, as a part ofowarall executive compensation policy, each indieidelement, to a greater or lesser extent,
serves each of our objectives.

Compensation Determination Process

Our compensation committee is responsible for renending executive compensation for all of our namegtutive officers, and our board of
directors will retain primary authority regardingetdetermination and approval of compensation.cbmepensation committee also relies on
our President and Chief Executive Officer, basethisrexperience, to provide an evaluation of eahed executive officer, other than hims
to the compensation committee. The evaluationviergin light of the Company’s performance and fesusn the named executive officer’s
leadership qualities, operational performance,rmss responsibilities, career with us, current camsption arrangements and long-term
potential to enhance stockholder value.

Our compensation committee in turn reviews theqrarhnce of each named executive officer, includingPresident and Chief Executive
Officer. This process generally occurs on an anhaalis, though we do not set a predetermined timsuich review. The compensation
committee begins with a review of the primary aspe€ our compensation programs for our named dkexafficers, including base salaries,
performance bonuses and equity incentive targetgaht of this process, the compensation commiliteetly engaged Radford, an Aon He
Consulting Company, to provide compensation suregyka general understanding of current compemsptactices. In determining the
compensation of the named executive officers fdiQ2ehe Company used the 2009 Radford Global Lifer®&es Pre-IPO Survey compiled
compensation data from global life sciences comgsawithout publicly traded securities that haveediat least $80 million in invested capi
The survey provided by Radford reported statistitshe total compensation, position and respoiritsdslof executives. While our
compensation committee reviewed the statisticalpgmation data, the surveys did not include, n& eva compensation committee aware of,
the identity of any of the surveyed companies. Assallt, our compensation committee did not benckragecutive compensation against any
single company or an identifiable select grouparhpanies.

Changes to Named Executive Officers

In March 2010, we hired Mark Sutherland as our &eYiice President, Business Development. Mr. Sidhefs annual base salary is
$250,000, which was established following arms tlemgegotiations but in light of other senior exéoeibase salaries and which our
Compensation Committee determined to be below BhgePcentile of executives in similar positionsompanies included in the compensa
surveys we reviewed. For 2010, Mr. Sutherland Wss eligible for a target performance bonus ofa$70,000 based on our Compensation
Committee’s subjective assessment of the Compamgigress towards its commercial milestones anddnigributions to the development of
the Company’s strategy and staffing of the comna¢ariganization.

In March 2010, Bruce Martin was promoted to SeMime President, Product Development. In conneatith his promotion, Mr. Martin’s
annual base salary was increased to $250,000¢orisstent with other senior executive base salaveedetermined that to be below the 25
percentile of executives in similar positions in
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companies included in the compensation surveysewiewed. For 2010, Mr. Martin was also eligible éotarget performance bonus of up to
$70,000 based on our Compensation Committee’s silgeassessment of the Company’s progress tovargsoduction and development
milestones and his contributions to the developroéttie Company’s strategy and staffing of the piitbn and development organizations.

In May 2010, Robert J. Curson assumed the pogitidfice President of Financial Operations. His e¥pe was needed in this role as we were
beginning our commercial operations. No adjustmeseie made to his compensation.

In May 2010, we hired Ajay Bansal as our Chief Ricial Officer replacing Robert J. Curson. Mr. Bdissannual base salary is $250,000,
which was established following arms length negiaties but in light of other senior executive baakasges and which our Compensation
Committee determined to be below the 25 perceafilxecutives in similar positions in companieduded in the compensation surveys we
reviewed. Mr. Bansal also received a $20,000 sgbitnus in connection with his hiring. For 2010, Bansal was also eligible for a target
performance bonus of up to $70,000 based on ourp@osation Committee’s subjective assessment oberies E Preferred Stock financing,
our initial public offering, and his contributiots the development of the Company’s strategy aaffirsg of the finance organization.

Base Salaries

In general, base salaries for our executive offigee initially established through arm’s-lengtigatéation at the time the executive is hired,
taking into account such executive’s qualificatioeperience and prior salary. Our compensationngitiee has responsibility for conducting
reviews of the base salaries of our named execaffieers and making adjustments based on the sobitee executive’s responsibilities,
individual contribution, prior experience, sustalrmeerformance and internal pay equity among namedwive officers. Decisions regarding
salary increases may take into account the namecliixe officer’s current salary and equity owngrsin making decisions regarding salary
increases, we may also draw upon the experiengeeofbers of our board of directors or compensatiwnmittee with other companies and
may also consider internal equity. Base salariesalso reviewed in the case of significant chamgessponsibility. No formulaic base salary
increases are provided to our named executivearfficThis strategy is consistent with our intenvfdéring compensation that is cost-effective,
competitive and linked to performance.

In March 2010, our Compensation Committee reviethed2009 Radford Global Life Sciences Pre-IPO Suprevided by Radford which
indicated that our named executive officers reatilvase salaries at levels below the 25 percerftdgecutives in similar positions at the
companies included in this survey.

In March 2010, in connection with his promotionSenior Vice President, Product Development, Mr.tMadrase salary was increased from
$200,000 to $250,000. Our compensation committéerakéned that the base salary increase was apptepni light of Mr. Martin’s
experience, his increased responsibilities andbése salaries paid to our other named executiieeo$tf None of our other named executive
officers received a base salary increase in 2010.

For 2010, the base salaries of our named execofivers were as follows:

2010 Base Salary

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. $ 320,00(
Ajay Bansal® $ 250,00(
Bruce Martin $ 250,00(
Mark J. Sutherlan® $ 250,00
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.[ $ 250,00(
R. John Curso $ 230,00(

(1) Mr. Bansa's employment with us commenced on May 10, &
(2) Mr. Sutherlan(s employment with us commenced on March 22, &
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Performance Bonuses

Historically, our named executive officers have patticipated in a performance bonus program. &ustere have relied on stock option grants
to provide performance-based incentives to our maexecutive officers.

In November 2009, upon the recommendation of oorpgensation committee following its review of alpasts of our executive compensation
program, our board of directors approved a targeibopmance bonus amount for each of our named éxeafficers serving as executive
officers at that time. For 2010, the annual taegabunt for Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Curson 480,000, $70,000 and $70,000,
respectively. Our compensation committee recomntiue level of the target bonus amounts basedsaeview of the Radford 2009
compensation survey and based on the experiertbe ofiembers of the compensation committee withlairbbnus programs.

In March 2010, our compensation committee estadtigarget performance bonus amount equal to $70dd@ach of Messrs. Sutherland and
Martin in connection with Mr. Sutherland’s hiringédMr. Martin’s promotion. The level of target performance bomas determined followin
our compensation committee’s review of the Radfrd/eys and in light of the target performance Iscenmounts of other named executive
officers. Each performance bonus was discretioaad/the amount of such bonus was to be based ccooyensation committee’s subjective
assessment of, with respect to Mr. Sutherlandcompany’s progress towards its commercial milest@ral his contributions to the
development of company’s strategy and staffindrefdommercial organization and, with respect to Mirtin, our company’s progress
towards its production and development milestomeshas contributions to the development of comparsgrategy and staffing of the
production and development organizations.

In May 2010, our compensation committee establightdget performance bonus amount equal to $703@0dr. Bansal in connection with
his hiring. The level of target performance bonaswetermined following our compensation commigeeview of the Radford surveys anc
light of the target performance bonus amounts leéohamed executive officers. The performance berassdiscretionary and the amount of
such bonus was to be based on our compensation itle@sisubjective assessment of our Series E Peef&tock financing, our initial public
offering, and his contributions to the developmeintompany’s strategy and staffing of the finanoganization.

In March 2010, Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Cursacch agreed to forgo these target bonus amoudtssiead receive cash payments to
offset taxes in connection with the stock grantscdbed under “— Long-Term Equity Incentives” below

In March 2011, upon the compensation committeesmamendation, our board of directors approved thenent of performance bonuses as
follows:

Percent of
Target
2010 Performance
Performance
Bonus
Bonus Amount
Ajay Bansal $ 70,00( 100%
Bruce Martin $ 70,00( 10C%
Mark J. Sutherlan $ 28,00( 40%

Mr. Bansal received 100% of his target performammeus amount based on our compensation commitee ®ur board of directors’
subjective assessment of his performance in guidimgcompany through the successful completioruofSeries E Preferred Stock financing
and our initial public offering and his contribut®to the development of company’s strategy arféirggeof the finance organization.

Mr. Martin received 100% of his target performaboaus amount based on our compensation commitied'®ur board of directors’
subjective assessment of his performance and troessful transition to commercial operations in@®@td his contributions to the
development of company’s strategy and staffindhefgroduction and development organizations.
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Mr. Sutherland received 40% of his target perforogalbonus amount based on our compensation comiwistee our board of directors’
subjective assessment that only partial progressmaae regarding our commercial milestones inclyttie number of genomes sequenced in
2010. Additionally, only partial progress was maudéuilding and staffing the commercial organizatio

Long-Term Equity I ncentives

The goal of our long-term, equity-based incentiwels is to align the interests of our named exeeufficers with the interests of our
stockholders by focusing our executives on longatstock performance. In addition, because vestifgpsed on continued employment, our
equity-based incentives also encourage the retenfiour named executive officers through the vestieriod of the awards.

Our compensation committee oversees our long-tguityeincentive program and our board of directpproves all equity grants to our
named executive officers. In determining the nundfeshares of our common stock to be subject tg-t@nm equity incentives awarded to our
named executive officers, our compensation comalhites taken into account a number of internal facguch as the relative job scope, the
value of existing long-term incentive awards, indial performance history, prior contributions toand the size of prior grants. Based on
these factors, our compensation committee detestimesize of the long-term equity incentives aele it considers appropriate to create a
meaningful opportunity for reward based on the tiveaof long-term stockholder value.

We use stock options to compensate our named exea@ificers both in the form of initial grants @aonnection with the commencement of
employment and periodic grants aimed at both reiwgrelxceptional performance and continuing to itie&e our named executive officers.
To date, there has been no set program for thedagiahese periodic grants, and our compensatiomuittee has used its discretion to make
stock option awards to employees at any time, dinlyiin connection with the promotion of an empley® reward an employee, for retention
purposes or in other circumstances. Going forwaumd compensation committee expects to adopt a negidar process for determining and
awarding stock grants to all employees.

The exercise price of each stock option grantesfaéliir market value of our common stock on the gdate, as determined by our board of
directors prior to our initial public offering antsing the closing trading price of our common stookhe date of grant following our initial
public offering. Initial stock options granted tarmamed executive officers typically vest oveparfyear period as follows:

= 25% of the shares underlying the option vest orfitebanniversary of the date of the vesting comognent date, which is typically
the date of hire; an

= the remainder of the shares underlying the opt&st in equal monthly installments over the nextfths.

Our periodic grants will typically vest in equal ntbly installments over four years from the datg@nt. On occasion, the vesting schedules
will be altered as part of the incentive process. Mlieve these vesting schedules appropriatelgugage long-term employment with our
Company while allowing our executives to realizenpensation in line with the value they have cre&edur stockholders.

In February 2010, our board of directors approwdditaonal equity grants to our named executiveceffs serving as executive officers at that
time to partially offset the dilutive effect of o8eries D preferred stock financing. Dr. Reid, Dmanac and Mr. Curson were granted options
to purchase 341,667, 218,501 and 59,001 sharag @bonmon stock, respectively, for a per sharea@sermprice equal to $1.50, which our
board of directors determined to be the per starerfarket value of our common stock on the datgraht. These stock options vest with
respect to 1/48 of the total number of shares stibjethe options on each monthly anniversary ofési 12, 2009. In addition, in March 2010,
Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Curson received 285,895,333 and 105,333 fully vested shares otoarmon stock, respectively, to
partially offset the dilutive effect of the Seriegpreferred stock financing. Our board of directals approved cash payments to Dr. Reid,
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Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Curson in the amounts of $383, 500,087 and $133,244, respectively, to reisbthie incremental taxes incurred by
our named executive officers in connection withgteck grants and the cash payments.

As a result of our board of directors’ assessméttiefair market value of our common stock follogithe Series D preferred stock financing,
our board of directors approved a stock option fiication in January 2010. The exercise price obalistanding stock options granted before
January 28, 2010 that were held by then-curreni@meps and consultants and had a per share exeraisegreater than $1.50 per share were
modified to decrease the exercise price to $1.5Glpare, which our board of directors determinebedhe fair market value of our common
stock on January 28, 2010. Other than a reducedisgeprice, the terms and conditions of the stumions remained the same. Our board of
directors determined that the modification was appate in light of the significant decrease in faie market value of our common stock.

In January 2010, our board of directors grantedWattin an option to purchase 4,333 shares of oormon stock for a per share exercise

price equal to $1.50, which our board of directtegermined to be the per share fair market vallmiotommon stock on the date of grant.
These options vested 25% in January 2011 and thaimeler of the shares underlying the option vesijnal monthly installments over the r
36 months.

In March 2010, in connection with his commencenar@mployment with us, our board of directors geanMr. Sutherland an option to
purchase 128,000 shares of our common stock fer ahmre exercise price equal to $1.50, which oardof directors determined to be the
share fair market value of our common stock orddte of grant. These options vested 25% in Mardii 2hd the remainder of the shares
underlying the option vest in equal monthly ingtedhts over the next 36 months. The number of stsaigiect to Mr. Sutherland’s option was
determined by the internal benchmark of 0.8% ddltshares outstanding at the time of grant.

In July 2010, in connection with his commencemdrgrployment with us, our board of directors grantér. Bansal an option to purchase
128,000 shares of our common stock for a per ghegecise price equal to $2.69, which our boardirafotors determined to be the per share
fair market value of our common stock on the déitgrant. These options vest 25% in May 2011 andehgainder of the shares underlying the
option vest in equal monthly installments over riegt 36 months. The size of Mr. Bansal's grant determined after our compensation
committee’s and our board of directors’ reviewlwd Radford survey and in light of Mr. Sutherlandésv hire grant.

In July 2010, in connection with his promotion tlaturred in March 2010, our board of directorswgge Mr. Martin an option to purchase
42,922 shares of our common stock for a per shaeise price equal to $2.69, which our board oféatbrs determined to be the per share fair
market value of our common stock on the date afitgfBhese options vest 25% in July 2011 and theaneder of the shares underlying the
option vest in equal monthly installments over rlext 36 months.

After our initial public offering in November 2016ur board of directors adopted a formal policyareling the timing of stock option grants.
Stock option grants cannot be made at times cdmgidith the release of material non-public infotioa.

Severance Arrangements

Our compensation committee has provided post-textioin severance benefits to some of our named &xeafficers, as it determined that
such benefits were necessary to retain such nareztiive officers. Our termination benefits areeimded and designed to partially alleviate
the financial impact of an involuntary terminatiand maintain a stable work environment. In deteimgithe severance benefits to be payable
pursuant to the agreements entered into with ooredaexecutive officers, we relied on the experiesfdie members of our compensation
committee to determine the level of severance litsnaffficient to retain our named executive officeélThe severance payments and benefits
payable to our named executive officers pursuattig respective severance agreements, are futésaribed in “Executive Compensation —
Severance Arrangements” below.

95



Table of Contents

Under our equity incentive plans, if outstandingc&toptions are not assumed or otherwise subslifotein the change in control of our
company, then the vesting of all outstanding stoutions is fully accelerated as of immediately ptmthe change in control.

Employee Benefits

We provide standard employee benefits to our faletemployees in the United States, including amed executive officers, including
health, disability and life insurance and a 401k, as a means of attracting and retaining oyl@yaes.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 188@Gmended, or the Code, generally disallowg daduction for compensation in excess
of $1.0 million paid to our named executive offtsenther than our Chief Financial Officer. Qualifgiperformance-based compensation is not
subject to the deduction limitation if specifiedjpirements are met. We generally intend to strectioe performance-based portion of our
executive compensation, when feasible, to comptis ekemptions in Section 162(m) so that the comgitiors remains tax deductible to us.
However, our board of directors may, in its judgm@uathorize compensation payments that do not gomiph the exemptions in Section 162
(m) when it believes that such payments are ap@tapto attract and retain executive talent.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth certain informatim@garding the compensation for services performethd the years ended December 2010
2009 awarded to, paid to or earned by our namedutixe officers, or NEO'’s.

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
All Other
Stock Option Compensation Compensation
Salary Bonus Awards Awards Total

Name and Principal Position Year ($) ($) ($) W ($) W ($) ($) ($)
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 201C 320,00( — 668,92¢ 580,74( — 367,46 1,937,13

President and Chief Executive Offic 200¢ 215,78 — — 96,711 — 5,40( 317,89
Ajay Bansal® 201C 153,29: 20,00( — 230,49 70,00( 1,50(@ 475,28

Chief Financial Officel
Bruce Martin 201C 227,60 — — 80,12( 70,00( 5,55(4 383,27:

Senior Vice President of Product

Developmen

Mark J. Sutherlan®) 201C 184,25: — —  228,92! 28,00( 3,97t@ 445,15;

Senior Vice President of Business

Developmen

Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D. 201C 239,58:. — 925,07¢ 371,39. — 505,63 ® 2,041,69!

Chief Scientific Office 200¢  191,36( — — 96,43¢ — 5,40( 293,19¢
R. John Curson 201C 220,41¢ — 246,47¢ 100,28 — 138,794 705,97

Former Chief Financial Office 200¢  171,49¢ — — 96,00¢ — 5,40( 272,90:

(1) Reflects the aggregate grant date fair value dolihawards and options granted during the applieapptar and incremental fair value of options medifiduring the applicable year,
each case, as calculated in accordance with FASB FA&pic 718. The assumptions used in the valuatidhese awards are set forth in Note 11 to ouarfiial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectt

(2) Includes $361,615 paid to Dr. Reid to reimbursetthes incurred in connection with Dr. R's February 2010 stock grant and the taxes incuiiredonnection with such
reimbursement as further described in “Compensabastussion and Analysis — Long-Term Equity Ineesti above and $5,850 in a benefit supplement w@icthe cost of general
health care expense
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(3) Mr. Bansa's employment with us commenced on May 10, &

(4) Benefit supplement to cover the cost of generdtineare expense

(5) Mr. Sutherlan(s employment with us commenced on March 22, &

(6) Includes $500,087 paid to Dr. Drmanac to reimbuttee taxes incurred in connection with Dr. Drma’s February 2010 stock grant and the taxes inculiredonnection with such
reimbursement as further described in “Compensabistussion and Analysis — Long-Term Equity Ineesti and $5,550 in a benefit supplement to covercibst of general health
care expense:

(7) Includes $133,244 paid to Mr. Curson to reimbutse taxes incurred in connection with Mr. Cur’s February 2010 stock grant and the taxes incuiiredonnection with such
reimbursement as further described in “Compensabastussion and Analysis — Long-Term Equity Ineesti and $5,550 in a benefit supplement to covercibst of general health
care expense:

Grants of Plan-Based Awards For 2010
Option Awards

Estimated All Other
Future Payouts All Other Option
Stock Awards; Grant Date
Under Awards: Number of Exercise

Non-Equity Number Fair Value

Incentive Plan of Shares Securities or Base of Stock
Awards Underlying Price of and Option

of Stock Option

Grant or Units Options Awards Awards

Name Date Target ($) D (#) (#) ($/Share) ($) @
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. — 100,00( — — — —
3/10/201( — 285,86° — — 668,92¢
2/24/201(®) — — 341,66° 1.5C 580, 74(
Ajay Bansal — 70,00( — — — —
7/16/201(* — — 128,00( 2.6¢€ 230,49¢
Bruce Martin — 70,00( — — — —
1/28/201(® — — 4,33: 1.5C 2,82¢
7/16/201(®) — — 42,92 2.6¢€ 77,291
Mark J. Sutherlan — 70,00( — — — —
3/22/201(™ — — 128,00( 1.5C 228,92t
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.I — 70,00( — — — —
3/10/201( — 395,33¢ — — 925,07¢
2/24/201(®) — — 218,50 1.5C 371,39:
R. John Curso — 70,00( — — — —
3/10/201( — 105,33 — 246,47¢
2/24/201@®) — — 59,001 1.5C 100,28¢

(1) Represents the target amount payable under ouopeeince bonus plan. Our performance bonus plan doesclude a maximum or threshold amot

(2) Reflects the aggregate grant date fair value ofasyst granted during 2010 and incremental fair vabieptions modified during 2010, in each casecasulated in accordance wit
FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used in thati@h of these awards are set forth in Note laupfinancial statements included elsewhere in gnaspectus

(3) This award vests over a fc-year period in equal monthly installments followihg vesting commencement date, August 12, :

(4) This award vests over a four-year period wii#2of the shares vesting one year after the vestingmencement date and 1/48 of the shares vestingrwnthly basis thereafter; the
vesting commencement date is May 10, 2

(5) The original grant date of this stock optionsa@eptember 21, 2007. The exercise price of thik stption was reduced from $16.50 per share t&Gper share on January 28, 2010
based on a modification approved by the board dadors. This award vests over a four-year periath\25% of the shares vesting one year after tistig commencement date and
1/48 of the shares vesting on a monthly basis #fte the vesting commencement date is May 177.

(6) This award vests over a four-year period wii#®2of the shares vesting one year after the vestingmencement date and 1/48 of the shares vestingonthly basis thereafter; the
vesting commencement date is March 29, 2

(7) This award vests over a four-year period wii#®2of the shares vesting one year after the vestingmencement date and 1/48 of the shares vestingonthly basis thereafter; the
vesting commencement date is March 22, 2
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Narrative to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-based Award Table
Employment Agreements, Offer Letters and Arrangements

We do not currently have employment agreementdfer letter agreements with Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanad 8r. Curson. The Company ente
into offer letter agreements with each of Mr. Banka. Martin and Mr. Sutherland. The terms of eathhe respective offer letters specify
such officer’s salary, target bonus and stock opgjiants.

Equity Compensation

As described under “Compensation Discussion andyAisd above, the compensation committee approvgity compensation awards in the
form of stock options and restricted stock to e@ch Reid and Drmanac and Mr. Curson in Februafy02th connection, with joining the
Company each of Mr. Bansal and Mr. Sutherland weaated stock options in as specified in their oléters. Mr. Martin received a stock
option grant in connection with his promotion. roore information regarding the equity compensasisards and our equity award practices,
please see the section titled “Compensation Dissussd Analysis — Long-Term Equity Incentives.”dddition, the named executive
officers’ equity compensation awards may, undetadeicircumstances, be subject to acceleratedngestithe event that a named executive
officer is terminated or in the event of a chanfieamtrol. For more information regarding the aecated vesting provisions and treatment of
the equity compensation awards in the event a naxecutive officer is terminated or a change oftcrof the company, see the sections
titled “— Severance Arrangements” and “— Poterfflayments upon Termination and/or a Change of Ciiiitetow.

Other Benefits

For a description of the other elements of our etiee compensation program, see the section titGainpensation Discussion and Analysis—
Employee Benefits.”

Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2010

The following table sets forth information regamglioutstanding equity awards as of December 31, &fxi®ach NEO. All vesting is continge
upon continued employment with Complete Genomics.

Option Awards (1)

Number of Number of
Securities Securities Option
Underlying Underlying Exercise
Unexercised Unexercised Option
Options (#) Options (#) Price Expiration
Name Exercisable Unexercisable (%) Date
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 1,287 1,80¢ 1.5C 11/12/201!
66,66(3“) — 1.5C 12/27/201!
113,88® 227,77¢ 1.5C 02/23/202!
Ajay Bansal —®) 128,00( 2.6€ 07/15/202
Bruce Martin 5416 452 1.5C 09/20/201°
3212 1,50¢ 1.5C 11/12/201!
4,721 3,93¢ 1.5C 11/12/201!
14,32¢® 28,65¢ 1.5C 11/12/201!
—0 42,92: 2.6¢ 07/15/202!
Mark J. Sutherlan —(109 128,00( 1.5C 03/21/202
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.I 1,19 1,671 1.5C 11/12/201!
66,66(3“) — 1.5C 12/27/201!
72,833 145,66¢ 1.5C 02/23/202!
R. John Curso 1,04t 1,46¢ 1.5C 11/12/201!
66,6634 — 1.5C 12/27/201!
19,661® 39,33¢ 1.5C 02/23/202
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(1) Each stock option was granted pursuant to our 2B§6ity Incentive Plan. The stock options were ggdrgrior to the consummation of the Comy’s initial public offering on
November 16, 2010. The exercise price of the siptikns reflect the fair market value of the Comy’'s common stock at the date of grant based on tlaecbof directors’
contemporaneous valuations of the Com['s common stocl

(2) This award vests over a fc-year period in equal monthly installments followisgril 1, 2009.

(3) This award vests over a fc-year period in equal monthly installments followifggust 12, 200¢

(4) This award has an early exercise provisi

(5) This award vests over a fc-year period with 25% of the shares vesting on May2D11 and 1/48 of the shares vesting on a mobtsis thereaftel

(6) This award vests over a four-year period wii#2of the shares vesting on May 17, 2008 and 1f4i8eoshares vesting on a monthly basis thereaftee. exercise price of this stock
option was reduced from $16.50 per share to $1&50share on January 28, 2010 based on a modifinaijgproved by the board of directo

(7) This award vests over a fc-year period with 25% of the shares vesting on May2D08 and 1/48 of the shares vesting on a mobtsjs thereaftel

(8) This award vests over a fc-year period with 25% of the shares vesting on Aug2s2010 and 1/48 of the shares vesting on a lnipbasis thereaftel

(9) This award vests over a fc-year period with 25% of the shares vesting on M&@h2011 and 1/48 of the shares vesting on a moh#sis thereaftel

(10) This award vests over a fc-year period with 25% of the shares vesting on M&2h2011 and 1/48 of the shares vesting on a noh#sis thereaftel

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2010

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of
Shares Value Number of Value
Acquired on Realized on Shares Realized on
Acquired on
Exercise Exercise Vesting
Name (#) ($) Vesting ($) ($) @
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. — — 285,86" 428,80:
Bruce Martin
751 1,82% — —
29,11( 70,731 — —
3,34( 8,11¢ — —
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.I — — 395,33 593,00(
R. John Curso — — 105,33 158,00(

(1) Value realized upon vesting represents therfairket value of the shares of our common stocjesutn the fully vested stock award granted inréaby 2010, as determined by our
board of directors

Pension Benefits
We do not maintain any defined benefit pension glan

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
We do not maintain any nonqualified deferred conspéon plans.

Change of Control and Termination
Severance Arrangements

In March 2006, we entered into severance arrangesméth each of Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Carsbhese arrangements set forth the
terms of each named executive officer's severamtled event of his termination of employment urgfggcified circumstances. Under the
arrangements, if a covered named executive offaariployment is terminated at any time without eaarshe experiences a constructive
termination (as each term is defined in his severagreement), the Company will provide continuatidhis base salary for six months
following the termination date, as well as six nftvesting acceleration for stock options andrietstd stock. In addition, severance benefits
would include reimbursement for group health
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continuation coverage premiums for each named eixecofficer and his eligible dependents under@omsolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended for six rhant

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such terminatmecurs within 12 months following a char-in-control, all stock options, restricted stock
other equity awards outstanding automatically ire$tll and become fully exercisable. A covered mahexecutive officer must provide a
general release of claims against our Companydardo be eligible for any severance payments.

Potential Payments upon Termination and/or a Change of Control

The following table illustrates the potential payrtseto each of our named executive officers in eation with:

= the Officer’s termination without cause outside tioatext of a change-in-control of the Companyuassg such termination occurred
on December 31, 201

= the Office’s termination without cause, or constructive teation, within 12 months following a char-in-control of the Compan)
assuming such termination in connection with a gleain-control of the Company occurred on Decemiie2B810 and his options
were assumed or substituted by the acquiring eratitgl

= the acceleration of the Officer’s equity awards@mnection with a change-in-control of the Compawlyere the potential acquiring
entity does not assume or substitute the optioltsbhethe Officer and the Offices’employment is continued with the Company ar
the acquiring entity, assuming such chein-control occurred on December 31, 20

Potential payments in connection with:

Equity
Awards are
not
Assumed or
Termination Without Substituted
Termination Cause or a Constructive in
without Cause Connection
or Constructive Termination Within 12 with a
Months Following a Change-in-
Name Type of Benefit Termination Change -in-Control Control
Clifford A. Reid,
Ph.D. Salary $ 160,00 $ 160,00(®) $ =
Benefits 8,97¢ 8,97¢ —
Equity Award Acceleratiol 817,96'® 1,635,924 1,635,924
Total 986,94 1,804,90! 1,635,92!
Ajay Bansal® Salary — — —
Benefits — — —
Equity Award Acceleratiol — 611,84(# 611,84(@
Total — 611,84( 611,84(
Bruce Martin®) Salary — — —
Benefits — — —
Equity Award Acceleratiol — — 411,38
Total — — 411,38
Mark J. Sutherlan(®) Salary — — —
Benefits — — —
Equity Award Acceleratiol — — 764,16(4
Total — — 764,16(
Radoje Drmanac,
Ph.D. Salary 125,00(@ 125,00(® —
Benefits 7,47(@ 7,47(@ —
Equity Award Acceleratiol 572,473 1,144,944 1,144,94'®
Total 704,94 1,277,41! 1,144,94!
R. John Curso Salary 115,00 115,00(® —
Benefits 1,16:@ 1,16:@ —
Equity Award Acceleratiol 254,45(@®) 508,904 508,90:4
Total 370,61 625,06 508,90:

100



Table of Contents

(1) Represents six mon’ of base salary

(2) Represents six mon’ of health care benefit:

(3) Represents the value of six months of vesting eet&n of unvested option awards, calculated bagsoh the closing market price per share of our cmn stock as reported ¢
NASDAQ on December 31, 2010 minus the exercise.

(4) Represents the value of the vesting acceleratid®@% of unvested option awards, calculated bageshhe closing market price per share of our comistock as reported ¢
NASDAQ on December 31, 2010 minus the exercise.

(5) Executive is not party to a severance agreen

Risk Analysis of Our Compensation Plans

The compensation committee has reviewed our conagiengpolicies generally applicable to our emplasy/aad believes that our policies do
not encourage excessive and unnecessary risk-takmagthat the level of risk that they do encouriaget reasonably likely to have a material
adverse effect on us. Our compensation policiegpaograms are designed to encourage our emplogaesain focused on both the shantc
long-term goals of us. For example, while our dashus plans are intended to measure performanee annual basis, our equity awards
typically vest over a number of years, which waéwad encourages our employees to focus on sustatnekholder appreciation and limits the
potential value of excessive risk-taking. The cotigei believes that the mix of long-term equity imidee, short-term cash incentive bonus and
base salary appropriately balances both the simarteang-term performance goals of us without enaging excessive risk-related behavior.
While the compensation committee regularly evakidtecompensation programs, the committee belithagsts current balance of incentives
both adequately compensates its employees anchdb@somote excessive risk taking.

Confidentiality Information, Secrecy and Invention Agreements

Each of our named executive officers has enteredarstandard form agreement with respect to cenfidl information, secrecy and
inventions. Among other things, these agreemenigaib each named executive officer to refrain frdistlosing any of our proprietary
information received during the course of employtreerd, with some exceptions, to assign to us avgntions conceived or developed during
the course of employment.

Employee Benefit and Stock Plans
2010 Equity I ncentive Award Plan

In September 2010, our board of directors adogted, in October 2010, our stockholders approver2€i0 Equity Incentive Award Plan, or
the 2010 Plan, which became effective in Novemi®di02n connection with our initial public offeringhe principal purpose of the 2010 Plan
is to attract, retain and motivate selected emmsyeonsultants and directors through the gramtirsjock-based compensation awards and
cash-based performance bonus awards. The 2010sRitso designed to permit us to make cash-basadiavand equity-based awards
intended to qualify as “performance-based compé@msatinder Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Cdd®86, as amended, or the Cc
The principal features of the 2010 Plan are sunmadrbelow. This summary is qualified in its entirby reference to the text of the 2010 P
which is filed as an exhibit to the registratioatstnent of which this prospectus is a part.

Share Reserve. Under the 2010 Plan, 2,450,000 shares of our constamk were initially reserved for issuance pursuara variety of stock-
based compensation awards, including stock opt&insk appreciation rights, or SARSs, restrictedlstawards, restricted stock unit awards,
deferred stock awards, dividend equivalent awastdek payment awards and performance awards aed stitck-based awards, plus the
655,394 shares that remained available for awandsnour 2006 Equity Incentive Plan at the comptetf our initial public offering. The
number of shares initially reserved for issuanctansfer pursuant to awards under the 2010 Plt&increased by (i) the number of shares
represented by awards outstanding under our 2008yHqgcentive Plan that are forfeited or lapsexareised and which, following the
effective date of the 2010 Plan, and (ii) an aninelease on the first day of each fiscal yearjregg in 2011 and ending in 2020, equal to
least of:

= 7,000,000 share
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= 4% of the shares of our common stock outstandintherast day of the immediately preceding fisary anc
= such smaller number of shares of stock as detethipeur board of director

Up to the aggregate share reserve may be issuedthp@xercise of incentive stock options.

The following counting provisions will be in effefdr the share reserve under the 2010 Plan:

= to the extent that an award terminates, expiréapses for any reason or an award is settled im wéthout the delivery of shares, a
shares subject to the award at such time will lzglavle for future grants under the 2010 P

= to the extent shares are tendered or withheldtisfgghe grant, exercise price or tax withholdolgigation with respect to any award
under the 2010 Plan, such tendered or withheldeshaill be available for future grants under th&@@lan;

= to the extent that shares of our common stock gdanhder the 2010 Plan are repurchased by, antheeltto, us prior to vesting, such
shares will be available for future grants under2010 Plan

= the payment of dividend equivalents in cash in godfion with any outstanding awards will not be mi@al against the shares avails
for issuance under the 2010 Plan; :

= to the extent permitted by applicable law or angtenge rule, shares issued in assumption of, substitution for, any outstanding
awards of any entity acquired in any form of conalbion by us or any of our subsidiaries will notdmeinted against the shares
available for issuance under the 2010 P

Administration. The compensation committee of our board of directall administer the 2010 Plan unless our boardigdctors assumes
authority for administration. The compensation cdttee must consist of at least two members of @ard of directors, each of whom is
intended to qualify as an “outside director,” withhe meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, a “amployee director” for purposes of Rule
16b-3 under the Exchange Act and an “independeectidir” within the meaning of the rules of The NASDAQ Glohtarket, or other principi
securities market on which shares of our commockstioe traded. The 2010 Plan provides that the eosation committee may delegate its
authority to grant awards to employees other thatuative officers and certain senior executivethefcompany to a committee consisting of
one or more members of our board of directors er@mmore of our officers.

Subiject to the terms and conditions of the 201@,Rlee administrator has the authority to seleetgérsons to whom awards are to be made, to
determine the number of shares to be subject todsweand the terms and conditions of awards, amaktice all other determinations and to take
all other actions necessary or advisable for tmeimidtration of the 2010 Plan. The administrataalso authorized to adopt, amend or rescind
rules relating to administration of the 2010 Planr board of directors may at any time remove tragensation committee as the
administrator and revest in itself the authoritytminister the 2010 Plan. The full board of dioestwill administer the 2010 Plan with respect
to awards to non-employee directors.

Eligibility. Options, SARSs, restricted stock and all other stoaked and cash-based awards under the 2010 Pyabenggianted to individuals
who are then our officers, employees or consultantge the officers, employees or consultantsdiin of our subsidiaries. Such awards also
may be granted to our directors. Only employeassadr certain of our subsidiaries may be grantedritive stock options, or ISOs.

Awards. The 2010 Plan provides that the administrator nraptgor issue stock options, SARs, restricted stoedtricted stock units, deferred
stock, dividend equivalents, performance awardskspayments and other stock-based and cash-baseds or any combination thereof.
Each award will be set forth in a separate agreémigh the person receiving the award and will cade the type, terms and conditions of the
award.

= Nonqualified Stock Options, or NQSOs, will provide for the right to purchag®res of our common stock at a specified pricégtwh
may not be less than fair market value on the dageant, and usuall
will become exercisable (at the discretion of tdmmistrator) in one or more installments after ¢ihant date, subject to the
participan’s continued employment or service with us and/bjesut to the
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satisfaction of corporate performance targets adividual performance targets established by tmeimidtrator. NQSOs may
granted for any term specified by the administr#tat does not exceed ten ye:

= |ncentive Stock Options, or ISOs, will be designed in a manner intendecbtoply with the provisions of Section 422 of thedg and
will be subject to specified restrictions containedhe Code. Among such restrictions, ISOs muselan exercise price of not less
than the fair market value per share of commonksbocthe date of grant, may only be granted to egg#s and must not be
exercisable after a period of ten years measued the date of grant. In the case of an ISO gratateeh individual who owns (or is
deemed to own) at least 10% of the total combiragthg power of all classes of our capital stocle, #8010 Plan provides that the
exercise price must be at least 110% of the fainketavalue per share of common stock on the datgasft and the ISO must not be
exercisable after a period of five years measurath the date of gran

= Restricted Stock may be granted to any eligible individual and madeject to such restrictions as may be determigetdo
administrator. Restricted stock, typically, mayfbeeited for no consideration or repurchased bgtuhe original purchase price if the
conditions or restrictions on vesting are not riregeneral, restricted stock may not be sold oewtise transferred until the
restrictions are removed or expire. Purchasersgificted stock, unlike recipients of options, wilve voting rights and will have the
right to receive dividends, if any, prior to thené when the restrictions lapse. However, extraargindividends will generally be
placed in escrow, and will not be released unélrstrictions are removed or exp

= Restricted Stock Units may be awarded to any eligible individual, typigadlithout payment of consideration, but subjectesting
conditions based on continued employment or sewtia@n performance criteria established by the agstrator. Like restricted stock,
restricted stock units may not be sold, or othesviansferred or hypothecated, until vesting coowlit are removed or expire. Unlike
restricted stock, stock underlying restricted stooks will not be issued until the restricted $tomits have vested, and recipients of
restricted stock units generally will have no vgtior dividend rights prior to the time when vestaanditions are satisfie:

= Deferred Stock Awards represent the right to receive shares of our comstmek on a future date. Deferred stock may natdbe or
otherwise hypothecated or transferred until iss@ederred stock will not be issued until the defdrstock award has vested, and
recipients of deferred stock generally will haveuwating or dividend rights prior to the time whéretvesting conditions are satisfied
and the shares are issued. Deferred stock awangsajly will be forfeited, and the underlying sheud deferred stock will not be
issued, if the applicable vesting conditions arfteotestrictions are not me

= Stock Appreciation Rights, or SARs, may be granted in connection with stopfons or other awards, or separately. SARs gdaint
connection with stock options or other awards tgjbycwill provide for payments to the holder basgubn increases in the price of our
common stock over a set exercise price. The exeprise of any SAR granted under the 2010 Plan tmeisit least 100% of the fair
market value per share of our common stock on #te of grant. Except as required by Section 162fnthe Code with respect to a
SAR intended to qualify as performance-based cosgt@n under Section 162(m) of the Code, theraaneestrictions specified in
the 2010 Plan on the exercise of SARs or the amafugin realizable therefrom, although restrictianay be imposed by the
administrator in the SAR agreements. SARs unde2i® Plan will be settled in cash or shares ofoaummon stock, or in a
combination of both, at the election of the adntrai®r.

= Dividend Equivalents represent the value of the dividends, if any, jpare paid by us, calculated with reference to tivahler of
shares covered by the award. Dividend equivaleaig lbe settled in cash or shares and at such tisméstarmined by the
compensation committee or board of directors, plicgble.
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= Performance Awards may be granted by the administrator on an individugroup basis. Generally, these awards will &selol upol
specific performance targets and may be paid ih oasn common stock or in a combination of botbrfBrmance awards may include
“phantom” stock awards that provide for paymentsellaupon the value of our common stock. Performan@ds may also include
bonuses that may be granted by the administratandndividual or group basis and which may be psya cash or in common sto
or in a combination of botl

= Stock Payments may be authorized by the administrator in the fofmommon stock or an option or other right to fiage common
stock as part of a deferred compensation or otliangement in lieu of all or any part of compermatincluding bonuses, that would
otherwise be payable in cash to the employee, tamswr nor-employee directol

Change-in-Control. If a change-incontrol occurs where the acquiror does not assumeptace awards granted under the 2010 Plan farithre
consummation of such transaction, then such awasittse subject to accelerated vesting such th@4®f such awards will become vested
and exercisable or payable, as applicable. In iaddithe administrator will also have complete di$ion to structure one or more awards under
the 2010 Plan to provide that such awards will beeeested and exercisable or payable on an actsldrasis if such awards are assumed or
replaced with equivalent awards but the individsigirvice with us or the acquiring entity is sulsedly terminated within a designated pel
following the change in control event. The admiigir may also make appropriate adjustments todsuamder the 2010 Plan and is author

to provide for the acceleration, cash-out, terniamatassumption, substitution or conversion of sasfards in the event of a change in control
or certain other unusual or nonrecurring eventsaorsactions. Under the 2010 Plan, a change iradstgenerally defined as:

= the transfer or exchange, in a single or serigglafed transactions, by our stockholders of mioa& 50% of our voting stock to
person or groug

= achange in the composition of our board of dinectaver a two-year period such that 50% or morm@imembers of the board were
elected through one or more contested elect

= a merger, consolidation, reorganization or busicessbination in which we are involved, directlyindirectly, other than a merger,
consolidation, reorganization or business comhamatvhich results in our outstanding voting secesiimmediately before the
transaction continuing to represent a majorityhef toting power of the acquiring company’s outstagdoting securities and after
which no person or group beneficially owns 50% arenof the outstanding voting securities of thesstimg entity immediately after
the transactior

= the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substytll of our assets; ¢

= stockholder approval of our liquidation or diss@ut
Adjustments of Awards. In the event of any stock dividend, stock splitintnation or exchange of shares, merger, cons@iuaspin-off,
recapitalization, distribution of our assets tocktmlders (other than normal cash dividends) orathgr corporate event affecting the number
of outstanding shares of our common stock or tlaeesprice of our common stock that would requirgistchents to the 2010 Plan or any

awards under the 2010 Plan in order to prevenditibéon or enlargement of the potential benefittehded to be made available thereundel
administrator will make appropriate, proportionatustments to:

= the aggregate number and type of shares subj#ut 2010 Plan

= the number and kind of shares subject to outstgnalivards and terms and conditions of outstandirey@s\vincluding, without
limitation, any applicable performance targetsriteda with respect to such awards); ¢

= the grant or exercise price per share of any audstg awards under the 2010 PI
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Amendment and Termination. Our board of directors or the committee (with boapgroval) may terminate, amend or modify the 2Bl at
any time and from time to time. However, we mustagelly obtain stockholder approval to:

= increase the number of shares available under@h@ Rlan (other than in connection with certairpooate events, as described
above);

= grant options with an exercise price that is bel®®% of the fair market value per share of our camstock on the grant dat
= extend the exercise period for an option beyond/éams from the date of grant;
= the extent required by applicable law, rule or tagion (including any applicable stock exchange)t

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an option may be adeel to reduce the per share exercise price bélewedr share exercise price of s
option on the grant date, and options may be gdantexchange for, or in connection with, the cdlatien or surrender of options having a
higher per share exercise price, without receiddditional stockholder approval.

Expiration Date. The 2010 Plan will expire on, and no option or ot&ard may be granted pursuant to the 2010 Ptan, #fie tenth
anniversary of the effective date of the 2010 Phary award that is outstanding on the expiratiotedd the 2010 Plan will remain in force
according to the terms of the 2010 Plan and théicglpe award agreement.

Securities Laws. The 2010 Plan is intended to conform to certairvisions of the Securities Act and the Exchangeakuat related regulations
and rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder, inmojudithout limitation, Rule 16b-3. The 2010 Plaiil\lwe administered, and options will be
granted and may be exercised, only in such a maetr conform to such laws, rules and regulations.

Section 409A of the Code. Certain awards under the 2010 Plan may be considaonqualified deferred compensation” for purposés
Section 409A of the Code, which imposes certairitaacl requirements regarding the payment of defecompensation. Generally, if at any
time during a taxable year a nonqualified defegechpensation plan fails to meet the requiremengeation 409A, or is not operated in
accordance with those requirements, all amouneraf under the 2010 Plan and all other equitynitice plans for the taxable year and all
preceding taxable years by any participant witpeesto whom the failure relates are includiblgiioss income for the taxable year to the
extent not subject to a substantial risk of fotfestand not previously included in gross income. dieferred amount is required to be included
in income under Section 409A, the amount also ligesi to interest and an additional income tax. ifberest imposed is equal to the interes
the underpayment rate plus one percentage poirdsetpon the underpayments that would have occhaddhe compensation been includible
in income for the taxable year when first deferadf later, when not subject to a substantisi 0f forfeiture. The additional U.S. federal
income tax is equal to 20% of the compensationirequo be included in gross income. In additicertain states, including California, have
laws similar to Section 409A, which impose additibstate penalty taxes on such compensation.

Section 162(m) of the Code. In general, under Section 162(m) of the Code, irete deductions of publicly held corporations rbaylimited

to the extent total compensation (including, butlmoited to, base salary, annual bonus and incattrébutable to stock option exercises and
other nonqualified benefits) for certain executficers exceeds $1,000,000 (less the amount of‘@xgess parachute paymengs' defined ir
Section 280G of the Code) in any taxable year efctbrporation. However, under Section 162(m), #gudtion limit does not apply to certain
“performance-based compensation” established bgdependent compensation committee that is addgudiselosed to and approved by
stockholders. In particular, stock options and SAlksatisfy the “performance-based compensatiexception if the awards are made by a
qualifying compensation committee, the 2010 Pldas 8& maximum number of shares that can be graotady person within a specified
period, and the compensation is based solely ancaease in the stock price after the grant dgtecHically, the option exercise price must be
equal to or greater than the fair market valuénefdtock subject to the award on the grant datdeltJa Section 162(m) transition rule for
compensation plans of
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corporations which are privately held and whichdiee publicly held in an initial public offering,&t2010 Plan will not be subject to
Section 162(m) until the earlier of:

= a material modification of the 2010 Pl
= the issuance of all of the shares of our commocksteserved for issuance under the 2010 F
= the expiration of the 2010 Plan; a

= the first meeting of our stockholders at which menstof our board of directors are to be electetidbeurs after the close of the third
calendar year following the calendar year in whach initial public offering occurs

After the transition date, rights or awards grantader the 2010 Plan, other than options and Sailspot qualify as “performance-based
compensation” for purposes of Section 162(m) undesh rights or awards are granted or vest upomrsgtiablished objective performance
goals, the material terms of which are discloseahtt approved by our stockholders. Thus, aftetrtiresition date, we expect that such other
rights or awards under the plan will not constitpgeformance-based compensation for purposes ¢ib8ekb2(m).

2006 Equity I ncentive Plan

Our board of directors adopted, and our stockhsldeproved, the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan in M&@86. The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
provided for the grant of ISOs, NQSOs and stocklpasse rights. As of March 31, 2011, options to pase 2,665,425 shares of our common
stock at a weighted average exercise price peesifa#1.98 remained outstanding under the 2006t tpientive Plan. No stock purchase
rights have been granted under the 2006 Equityntinae Plan. No shares of our common stock are abklfor future issuance pursuant to
awards granted under the 2006 Equity Incentive Btahno further awards will be granted under the@62Bquity Incentive Plan. However, all
outstanding awards will continue to be governedhayr existing terms.

Administration. Our board of directors, or a committee thereof &ed by our board of directors, has the authddgtgdminister the 2006
Equity Incentive Plan and the awards granted uitder

Stock Options. The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan provides for thengicgf ISOs under the federal tax laws or NQSOs.d&@y be granted only
employees. NQSOs and stock purchase rights mayantegl to employees, directors or consultants.eXeecise price of ISOs granted to
employees who at the time of grant own stock repraisg more than 10% of the voting power of alksks of our common stock may not be
less than 110% of the fair market value per shhompcommon stock on the date of grant, and tlegase price of ISOs granted to any other
employees may not be less than 100% of the faiketaalue per share of our common stock on the afageant. The exercise price of NQSOs
to employees, directors or consultants who atithe bf grant own stock representing more than 10%evoting power of all classes of our
common stock may not be less than 110% of thenfaiket value per share of our common stock on #te df grant, and the exercise price of
nonstatutory stock options to all other employe@gctors or consultants may not be less than 1608te fair market value per share of our
common stock on the date of grant. Shares sulgegitions under the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan gahevest in a series of installments over
an optionee’s period of service, with a minimumtirgsrate of at least 20% per year over five ydamn the date of grant, except with respect
to options granted to officers, directors and cdtasts.

In general, the maximum term of options granteisyears. The maximum term of options grantechtoionee who owns stock represen
more than 10% of the voting power of all classeswfcommon stock is five years. If an optiorsegérvice relationship with us terminates ¢
than by disability or death, the optionee may eiserthe vested portion of any option in such pedbtime as specified in the optionseptior
agreement, but in no event will such period be teas 30 days following the termination of servifen optionee’s service relationship with
us terminates by disability or death, the optiormeehe optionee’s designated beneficiary, as apble, may exercise the vested portion of any
option in such period of time as specified in tiianee’s option agreement, but in no event witlsperiod be less than 12 months following
the termination of service. Shares of common stepkesenting any unvested portion underlying th@opn
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the date of termination will immediately cease #oi¢suable and will become available for futuredsse under the 2006 Equity Incentive P
If, after termination, the optionee does not exs&¢he option within the time period specified, tipgion will terminate and the shares of
common stock covered by such option will becomélalke for future issuance under the 2006 Equitsehtive Plan.

Stock Purchase Rights. The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan provides that we risaye stock purchase rights alone, in additioor io tandem with
options granted under the 2006 Equity Incentive Rlad/or cash awards made outside of the 2006 Epgientive Plan. Each stock purchase
right will be governed by a restricted stock pus#ghagreement. We will have the right to repurclsasees of common stock acquired by the
purchaser upon exercise of a stock purchase rigir the termination of the purchaser’s status anapioyee, director or consultant for any
reason. The repurchase price for shares acquirdtelyyurchaser upon exercise of a stock purchgkenwiill be the original price paid by the
purchaser. Except with respect to shares purchasefficers, directors and consultants, the repasehoption lapses at a rate of at least
20% per year over five years from the date of paseh However, this lapsing does not apply to spagkhase rights granted to individuals v
are tax residents of Germany. Once the stock paechight is exercised, the purchaser will havetsigiyuivalent to those of our other
stockholders.

Corporate Transactions. In the event of a proposed dissolution or liquidatithe administrator of the 2006 Equity Incenfilan has the
discretion to take one or more of the followingiaics:

= provide that any option or stock purchase righirfagle exercisable until ten days prior to such &etisn; anc

= provide that our option to repurchase any shareshpged upon exercise of an option or stock puechight will lapse as to all suc
shares

To the extent options and stock purchase rights nat been previously exercised, all such optioksstock purchase rights will terminate
immediately prior to the consummation of the preggbyansaction.

In the event of certain corporate transactionsattrainistrator of the 2006 Equity Incentive Plafi adljust the number of shares of common
stock that may be delivered under the 2006 Equitgmhtive Plan and/or the number, class and prichafes of common stock covered by each
outstanding option or stock purchase right.

Change-in-Control. If we undergo a change-in-control, and any surgworporation does not assume options or stockhpgecrights under
the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or substitute am\elent option of the successor corporation oamept or subsidiary of the successor
corporation, then the vesting of options or stogkchase rights held by participants in the 2006itgdocentive Plan will be accelerated and
the options or stock purchase rights will beconily fexercisable during the 15-day period specifietbw. The holder of such options or stock
purchase rights not assumed or substituted witldi#ied by the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan admirdsdr that the option or stock purchase
right is fully exercisable for a period of 15 ddyem the date of such notice and will be terminafewt exercised within such 15 day period.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In September 2010, our board of directors adogted, in October 2010, our stockholders approve@naployee stock purchase plan, or the
ESPP, which became effective in November 2010 imeotion with our initial public offering. The ESFPdesigned to allow our eligible
employees and the eligible employees of our padiang subsidiaries to purchase shares of comnumk,sat semi-annual intervals, with their
accumulated payroll deductions.

Share Reserve. 750,000 shares of our common stock were initialerved for issuance under our ESPP. The numlstraoés of common
stock reserved under our ESPP will automaticallygase on the first trading day of each year, mggnin 2011 and ending in 2020, by an
amount equal to the least of:

= 2,800,000 share
= 2% of the number of shares of our common stocktauding on the last day of the immediately precgdiscal year; an
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= alesser amount determined by our board of dirsc

Offering Periods. The ESPP is administered through a series of ssiveesffering periods, with a new offering periogginning on May 18
and November 18 of each year. Unless otherwiserdated by the compensation committee, each offguigrgod has a duration of six
months.

Eligible Employees. Our employees, and any employees of our subsidi#ine the compensation committee designatesgiblelto participat:
in the ESPP, who are scheduled to work more thamo2@s per week for more than five calendar mop#rsyear may join an offering period
on the start date of that period.

Payroll Deductions. A participant may contribute from 1% to 15% of bisher compensation through payroll deductionsoupl2,500 per
offering period, and the accumulated deductionsheilapplied to the purchase of shares on each-@emial purchase date. The purchase |
per share will be equal to 85% of the fair markatie per share of our common stock on the firglitigaday of an offering period in which a
participant is enrolled or, if lower, 85% of thérfenarket value per share on the semi-annual psecdate. Semi-annual purchase dates will
occur on the last trading day of each offering geerHowever, not more than 3,000 shares may béhpsea in total by any participant during
any offering period. Our compensation committeethasauthority to change these limitations for angsequent offering period.

Changein Control. If we are acquired by merger or sale of substdwptél of our assets or we merge with another comgpéhen all

outstanding purchase rights may either be assumétebacquirer or be exercised at an early purctiaseprior to the effective date of the
acquisition. The purchase price in effect for epatfticipant will be equal to 85% of the fair marketue per share of our common stock on the
first trading date of the offering period in whittie participant is enrolled at the time the acdjoisioccurs or, if lower, 85% of the fair market
value per share on the purchase date prior todtpeisition.

Plan Provisions. Our board may at any time amend, suspend, termaratiscontinue the ESPP. However, certain amentsmeay require
stockholder approval.
401(k) Plan

We maintain a defined contribution employee retigatrplan, or 401(k) Plan, for our employees. Owrceitive officers are also eligible to
participate in the 401(k) Plan on the same basmiasther employees. The 401(k) Plan provideseahah participant may contribute up to the
statutory limit, which is $16,500 for calendar y@@d 1. Participants that are 50 years or olderatsmmake “catch-up” contributions, which in
calendar year 2011 may be up to an additional $6seb@ve the statutory limit. In 2010, we did note@any contributions to the 401(k) Plan
behalf of eligible employees. The 401(k) Plan teided to qualify under Section 401 of the Codéhabcontributions by employees to the 401
(k) Plan, and income earned on the 401(k) Planributions, are not taxable to employees until wittveh from the 401(k) Plan. The trustees
under the 401(k) Plan may, at the direction of gzatticipant, invest the 401(k) Plan employee gatiferrals in selected investment options.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification Matters

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatontains provisions that limit the liability ofir directors for monetary damages to the
fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Consediyeour directors will not be personally liablets or our stockholders for monetary
damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as threcexcept liability for:

= any breach of the direc’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholde
= any act or omission not in good faith or that ires intentional misconduct or a knowing violatidiaw;

= unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stockuechases or redemptions as provided in Sectiorol#e Delaware General
Corporation Law; o

= any transaction from which the director derivedraproper personal benef
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmeaind amended and restated bylaws provide thateveequired to indemnify our directors
and officers, in each case to the fullest extentnjtéed by Delaware law. Our amended and restayéaus also provide that we are obligatet
advance expenses incurred by a director or officadvance of the final disposition of any actiorpooceeding, and permit us to secure
insurance on behalf of any officer, director, enyel® or other agent for any liability arising outhi$ or her actions in that capacity regardless
of whether we would otherwise be permitted to inddéynhim or her under Delaware law. We have entened expect to continue to enter into
agreements to indemnify our directors, executifieefs and other employees as determined by owdafadirectors. With specified
exceptions, these agreements provide for indenatidio for related expenses including, among othieigs, attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines
and settlement amounts incurred by any of thesgithdals in any action or proceeding. We believat tihese bylaw provisions and
indemnification agreements are necessary to atratretain qualified persons as directors andef§i. We also maintain directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification pwisions in our amended and restated certificaieadrporation and amended and restated
bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringihgvwesuit against our directors and officers for loteaf their fiduciary duty. They may also
reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation agsi our directors and officers, even though aroacif successful, might benefit us and our
stockholders. Further, a stockholder’s investmeay e adversely affected to the extent that wetlpayosts of settlement and damage awards
against directors and officers as required by tlmdemnification provisions. Insofar as indemnifioa for liabilities arising under the

Securities Act may be permitted to our directofficers and controlling persons pursuant to thedaing provisions, or otherwise, we have
been advised that, in the opinion of the SEC, sndémnification is against public policy as expegsi the Securities Act and is, therefore,
unenforceable. At present, there is no pendinggliton or proceeding involving any of our direct@ficers or employees for which
indemnification is sought, and we are not awaramf threatened litigation that may result in clabmsindemnification.

Rule 10b5-1 Sales Plans

Our directors and executive officers have adoptatiem plans, known as Rule 10b5-1 plans, in whigy contract with a broker to buy or sell
shares of our common stock on a periodic basisetadrule 10b5-1 plan, a broker executes tradesipnot to parameters established by the
director or officer when entering into the planthwiut further direction from the director or offic& he director or officer may amend or
terminate the plan in limited circumstances. Ouectors and executive officers may also buy orasdlitional shares of our common stock
outside of a Rule 10b5-1 plan when they are npossession of material, nonpublic information.

Subsequent Event — Change in Control and Severance  Plan

On May 5, 2011, our board of directors approvetiange in control and severance plan for our exeeuwtficers and other members of
management. The change in control and severannégpéxpected to be effective in mid-2011 uponekecution of letter agreements by the
plan participants. In the event an executive offisgerminated without cause or experiences atoactsve termination, the plan provides for a
lump sum cash payment equal to between six anddi2he base salary and for COBRA coverage for tleewtive officer and his covered
dependents for between six and 12 months, in ez lzased on the seniority of the executive offi€such termination occurs within 12
months of a change in control, the plan providesaftump sum cash payment equal to between nind&mdonths base salary and for COB
coverage for the executive officer and his covelependents for between nine and 18 months, in@sdbased on the seniority of the
executive officer, and the immediate and automaggting in full and exercisability of all unvestedquity awards.
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Certain Relationships and Related Party Transaction s

We describe below each transaction, since Jany&§aB, to which we were a party or will be a partywhich:
= the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed $10),8nd
= adirector, executive officer, holder or group ofders known to us to beneficially own more than &any class of our votin
securities or any member of their immediate farhdygl or will have a direct or indirect material i&st in the transactiol

The share numbers and purchase prices disclose@ belve been adjusted to reflect the 30:1 reveosdk split that occurred on November 13,
20009.
Initial Public Offering

In connection with our initial public offering, thenderwriters allocated an aggregate of 1,650,0@8es of our common stock in the offering
certain of our principal stockholders and/or adfilis on the same terms as the other shares thab¥fered and sold in our initial public
offering. These allocations are listed in the tdigéow:

Number of shares of
common stock allocated

in connection with

Name initial public offering

Caduceus Private Investments Ill, @) 602,77¢
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VI, 1(3®), 602,77¢
Enterprise Partners VI, L.[5)®) 111,11:
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L™ 333,33

(1) Includes 5,687 shares allocated to OrbiMed Assesidli, LP, an affiliate of Caduceus Private Invasnts Ill, LP.

(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisda partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!

(3) Includes 39,386 shares allocated to Essex Woodlkieddth VVentures Fund VI- A, L.P. and 17,124 shares allocated to Essex dadd Health Ventures Fund—B, L.P., each of
which is an affiliate of Essex Woodlands Healthtuess VIII, L.P.

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner in Essex Woodlands Healtht\/ies.

(5) Includes 111,111 shares allocated to Enterprisetfas V, L.P., an affiliate of Enterprise Partnéfk L.P.

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofétprise Partners

(7) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directnsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

Preferred Stock Issuances
2010 Bridge Financing

In April, May, June and August 2010, we sold cotitd promissory notes, or the 2010 Notes, to aebour existing investors for an
aggregate purchase price of $22.2 million. The 20ates accrued interest at a rate of 8% per anmdrhad a maturity date of the earliest of
(i) a corporate reorganization as defined in the®2Rotes, (ii) the closing of the initial publicfefing of our stock, (iii) an event of default
pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Notes or (iv)il&dt, 2011. In August 2010, in connection with @eries E preferred stock financing
described below, the full principal amount of tf&@ Notes, along with accrued but unpaid intettesteton of $364,266, were automatically
converted into an aggregate of 2,990,355 sharearoferies E preferred stock at a conversion @id&y .56 per share. In addition, each
investor who purchased 2010 Notes also receivedawi to purchase a number of shares of our constock equal to (a) the product of

(i) 5% of the principal amount of 2010 Notes puisdd by such investor and (ii) the number of mob#itsveen the date of issuance of the
warrant and the date of our next financing (upte months), divided by (b) $1.50, resulting in thguance of warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 1,848,849 shares of common stock.
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The table below sets forth the participation inshée of the 2010 Notes by our directors, execudffieers and 5% stockholders and their
affiliates.

Number of shares of
common stock underlying
Principal amount of
warrants received in

2010 Notes connection with

Name purchased purchase of 2010 Notes

Caduceus Private Investments Ill, @) $ 3,291,191 294,37¢
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LO®®) $ 3,291,191 294,38(
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[4 $ 4,78¢ 252
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I5)®) $ 2,144,83 191,84
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1™ $ 2,049,633 176,49¢
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I&)©@) $ 2,144,82! 191,84:
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L9 $ 2,078,34: 185,89’
SCV-CG, LLC $ 7,000,001 501,66°

(1) Includes $31,050 in 2010 Notes and warrants to lpase 2,777 shares of common stock purchased byvi@dohssociates Ill, LP, an affiliate of Caduceus/Rte Investments Ill, LF

(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!

(3) Includes $215,050 in 2010 Notes and warrants tapase 19,235 shares of common stock purchaseddex Bgoodlands Health Ventures Fund - A, L.P. and $93,500 in 2010
Notes and warrants to purchase 8,364 shares of aomstock purchased by Essex Woodlands Health nfun«B, L.P., each of which is an affiliate of Essexod#fands Health
Ventures VIII, L.P

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner in Essex Woodlands Healtht\/ies.

(5) Includes $74,417 in 2010 Notes and warrants to lpase 7,856 shares of common stock purchased bypErseePartners Management, LLC and $690,167 in®Rbtes and warrant
to purchase 55,808 shares of common stock purcHas&shterprise Partners V, L.P., each of whichnsa#filiate of Enterprise Partners VI, L.|

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofdtprise Partners

(7) Includes $600,672 in 2010 Notes and warrants t@hase 51,725 shares of common stock purchaseddbyard Credit Opportunities CDO, L.P., an affiliaté Highland Crusade
Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusader OffshBegtners, L.P. beneficially owns more than 5% af eutstanding common stoc

(8) Includes $35,418 in 2010 Notes and warrants to pase 3,167 shares of common stock purchased byMD¥Rtrepreneurs Fund, L.P., an affiliate of OVPntlee Partners VI, L.F

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directamsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventiartners Ill, L.P.

I ssuance of Series E Preferred Stock and Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In August, September and October 2010, we issu@P6181 shares of Series E preferred stock ata pfi$7.56 per share for gross proceeds
of approximately $52.3 million. The table belowsskirth the number of shares of Series E prefesteck sold to our directors, executive
officers and 5% stockholders and their affiliat@sd includes the shares of Series E preferred $$sakd in connection with the conversion of
the 2010 Notes, including the consideration paidstech shares by cancellation of the 2010 Notefisatosed above.

Number of

Shares of Aggregate

Series E Purchase
Name Preferred Stock Price
Caduceus Private Investments Ill, (1)@ 1,279,13 $9,670,28:
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIiI, LO®@ 1,279,13 $9,670,27!
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[4 1,84« $ 13,94(
Enterprise Partners VI, L.[5)6) 833,60: $6,302,02:
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1 796,42( $6,020,93!
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®)® 833,59¢ $6,301,98!
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L0 807,76( $6,106,66!
SCV-CG, LLC 938,95 $7,098,51!
Wall Family Investment Partnership, L1 50,00( $ 378,00(

(1) Includes 12,068 shares held by OrbiMed AssocidtekP, an affiliate of Caduceus Private Investneelit, LP.
(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!
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(3) Includes 83,580 shares purchased by Essex Woodkealsh Ventures Fund VI—A, L.P. and 36,339 shares purchased by Essex \&fudslHealth Ventures Fund—B, L.P., each of
which is an affiliate of Essex Woodlands Healthtuess VIII, L.P.

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner of Essex Woodlands Healtht¥fes.

(5) Includes 27,049 shares purchased by EnterpriserfeastManagement, LLC and 259,458 shares purchagémhterprise Partners V, L.P., each of which isaffiliate of Enterprise
Partners VI, L.P

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner oféprise Partners

(7) Includes 233,402 shares purchased by Highland @€@gdportunities CDO, L.P., an affiliate of Highla@tusader Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusa@éfshore Partners, L.F
beneficially owns more than 5% of our outstandingimon stock

(8) Includes 4,767 shares purchased by OVP VI EntrearenFund, L.P., an affiliate of OVP Venture Pargn¥l, L.P.

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directnsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

(11) Robert T. Wall is one of our directors and mainsagtispositive power over the shares held by thd Réahily Investment Partnership, Lt

2009 Bridge Financing

In February 2009, April 2009, June 2009 and Au@@€9, we sold convertible promissory notes, or20@9 Notes, to certain of our existing
investors for an aggregate purchase price of $llibn. The 2009 Notes accrued interest at a 0% per annum and had a maturity date of
the earliest of (i) a change of control as defimedur certificate of incorporation, (ign event of default pursuant to the terms of thH@92Qotes

or (i) on or after December 31, 2009, within fisasiness days after our receipt of written ndftioe the investors holding at least 51% of the
principal amount of the 2009 Notes. In August 20dA8%;0nnection with our Series D preferred stodiaficing described below, the full

principal amount of the 2009 Notes, along with aedrbut unpaid interest thereon of $329,393, wetenaatically converted into an aggregate
of 1,991,325 shares of our Series D preferred stbekconversion price of $7.56 per share. In aditnvestors who purchased 2009 Notes
also received warrants to purchase up to an aggre278,165 shares of our Series D preferrecksiban exercise price of $7.56 per share.

The table below sets forth the participation ind$hée of the 2009 Notes by our directors, execuiffieers and 5% stockholders and their
affiliates.

Number of
shares of
Number of Series D
shares of preferred
Series D stock
preferred underlying
stock warrants
issued received in
upon connection
Principal conversion with
amount of purchase of
2009 Notes of the
Name purchased 2009 Notes 2009 Notes
Enterprise Partners VI, L.IO@ $4,000,45! 541,72( 79,31¢
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, | $3,027,53! 407,29 46,057
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®@ $4,000,45! 541,72( 79,31¢
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® $3,621,54 490,42. 71,87:

(1) Includes $1,234,762 in 2009 Notes purchased byrfige Partners V, L.P., an affiliate of EnterpriBartners VI, L.P., which converted into 166,70@rsls of Series D preferre
stock. In connection with its purchase of the 2B@%es, Enterprise Partners V, L.P. received warsantpurchase up to 25,639 shares of Series D pegfestock at an exercise price
$7.56 per share

(2) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofdtprise Partners

(3) Includes $59,811 in 2009 Notes purchased by OVErifepreneurs Fund, L.P., an affiliate of OVP VeatRartners VI, L.P., which converted into 8,14&rs of Series D preferre
stock. In connection with its purchase of the 2B@%es, OVP VI Entrepreneurs Fund, L.P. receivedrars to purchase up to 1,423 shares of Seriesdfepred stock at an exercise
price of $7.56 per shar

(4) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(5) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our direciansl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

Issuance of Series D Preferred Stock

Between August 2009 and March 2010, we sold 7,3B0sBares of Series D preferred stock at a pri&¥ &6 per share for gross proceeds of
approximately $55.3 million. The table below seigh the number of shares of
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Series D preferred stock sold to our directorscetiee officers and 5% stockholders and their iafils and includes the shares of Series D
preferred stock issued in connection with the cosiea of the 2009 Notes, including the considerapaid for such shares by cancellation of
the 2009 Notes as disclosed above.

Number of

shares of Aggregate

Series D purchase
Name preferred stock price
Caduceus Private Investments Ill, @) 2,274,35. $17,194,11
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, L®®) 2,274,35. $17,194,11
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[® 3,307 $ 25,00!
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I[5)®) 731,66¢ $ 5,531,38!
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1 588,66 $ 4,450,30
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I&)©@) 731,66: $ 5,531,36!
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L0 674,42t $ 5,098,66:

(1) Includes 21,456 shares held by OrbiMed AssocidtekP, an affiliate of Caduceus Private Investneetit, LP.

(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!

(3) Includes 148,608 shares purchased by Essex Woadtdedlth Ventures Fund V—A, L.P. and 64,612 shares purchased by Essex \AtmdslHealth Ventures Fund—B, L.P., each of
which is an affiliate of Essex Woodlands Healthtuess VIII, L.P.

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner of Essex Woodlands Healtht¥fes.

(5) Includes 66,138 shares purchased by EnterprisereastManagement, LLC and 176,737 shares purchagé&thterprise Partners V, L.P., each of which isaffiliate of Enterprise
Partners VI, L.P

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofdtprise Partners

(7) Includes 52,969 shares purchased by Highland C@gdportunities CDO, L.P., an affiliate of Highla@tusader Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusa@éfshore Partners, L.F
beneficially owns more than 5% of our outstandingimon stock

(8) Includes 9,477 shares purchased by OVP VI EntreqarenFund, L.P., an affiliate of OVP Venture Parg¥l, L.P.

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directamsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

I ssuance of Common Stock Warrants

In August and September 2010, we issued warramgarithase up to 1,318,719 shares of our commok stogn exercise price of $2.69 per
share to certain existing investors who purchabades in our Series E preferred stock financinggs€hwarrants subsequently terminated and
were no longer outstanding as of September 30,.Z0®table below sets forth the number of shafesmmon stock that were issuable upon
the exercise of these warrants, prior to their teation, that were issued to our directors, exeeutifficers and 5% stockholders and their
affiliates.

Number of

Shares of
Common Stock

Initially
Issuable Upon

Exercise of
Name Warrants
Caduceus Private Investments Ill, @) 234,10
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LO®) 234,10
C. Thomas Caskey, M.I[# 33€
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I[5)®) 152,56:
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1 145,74¢
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I&)®) 152,56:
Prospect Venture Partners IlI, L0 147,83:
SCV-CG, LLC 234,73¢

(1) Includes warrants to purchase 2,209 shares of comstck held by OrbiMed Associates Ill, LP, anliaf# of Caduceus Private Investments lIl, |

(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!

(3) Includes warrants to purchase 15,297 shares of comstock held by Essex Woodlands Health Venturad Milil—A, L.P. and warrants to purchase 6,651 share®ofroon stock
held by Essex Woodlands Health Ventures B, L.P., each of which is an affiliate of Essex Wands Health Ventures VIIl, L.I

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directors iarah adjunct partner of Essex Woodlands Healtht¥fes.
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(5) Includes warrants to purchase 3,835 shares of comstick held by Enterprise Partners Management, bh@ warrants to purchase 48,330 shares of comrtank $ield by Enterpris
Partners V, L.P., each of which is an affiliateEwfterprise Partners VI, L.F

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofdtprise Partners

(7) Includes warrants to purchase 42,713 shares of comstock held by Highland Credit Opportunities COCR., an affiliate of Highland Crusader Offshorarkhers, L.P. Highlanc
Crusader Offshore Partners, L.P. beneficially owmsre than 5% of our outstanding common st

(8) Includes warrants to purchase 1,192 shares of comstack purchased by OVP VI Entrepreneurs Fund.,, la® affiliate of OVP Venture Partners VI, L

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directamsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

In August 2009, we issued warrants to purchase &amtaggregate of 1,630,629 shares of our comnook st an exercise price of $1.50 per
share to certain existing investors who purchaséshat $1.0 million more than their pro rata pamtdf our Series D preferred stock financing.
The table below sets forth the number of shareopfmon stock issuable upon the exercise of wariesited to our directors, executive
officers and 5% stockholders and their affiliates.

Number of

shares of
common stock

issuable upon

exercise of
Name warrants
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I0@ 447,72«
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1® 329,63t
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®®) 447,72
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® 405,54

(1) Includes warrants to purchase 308,930 shares ofngomstock held by Enterprise Partners V, L.P., fiitigte of Enterprise Partners VI, L.

(2) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner oféprise Partners

(3) Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, L.P. beneflgiawns more than 5% of our outstanding commonks:

(4) Includes warrants to purchase 3,134 shares of comstack purchased by OVP VI Entrepreneurs Fund.,, la® affiliate of OVP Venture Partners VI, L

(5) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(6) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directansl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

I ssuance of Series C Preferred Stock

In February 2008, we sold 166,346 shares of S€ripeeferred stock at a price of $159.30 per shargrioss proceeds of approximately $26.5
million. In March 2008, we issued 1,004 sharesaies C preferred stock valued at approximately0FI®0 to a professional consulting
services firm in exchange for their services. Tdidd below sets forth the number of shares of S&ipreferred stock sold to our directors,
executive officers and 5% stockholders and théiliags.

Number of

shares of Aggregate

Series C purchase
Name preferred stock price
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I® 21,48¢ $ 3,423,033
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1@ 100,43 $15,999,77
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®® 21,48¢ $ 3,423,033
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® 19,48: $ 3,103,48:

(1) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and general partner of Eptese Partners

(2) Includes 43,941 shares held by Highland Credit Qpputies CDO, L.P., an affiliate of Highland Crusder Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusader Offi€hPartners, L.P
beneficially owns more than 5% of our outstandingimon stock

(3) Includes 429 shares held by OVP VI Entrepreneursdi-u.P., an affiliate of OVP Venture Partners VP.

(4) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(5) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directnsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.
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Investor Rights Agreement

We have entered into an investors’ rights agreemvéhtthe purchasers of our outstanding prefertedksand certain holders of common stock
and warrants to purchase our common stock andrpeefstock, including entities with which certaihowr directors are affiliated. As of

April 29, 2011, the holders of 21.7 million shaodur common stock, including the shares of comistogk issued upon the conversion of
preferred stock and shares of common stock issped exercise of warrants, are entitled to righthwespect to the registration of their shares
under the Securities Act. For a more detailed digthon of these registration rights, see “Descaptof Capital Stock—Registration Rights.”

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreementk eétch of our directors and executive officers.seh&greements, among other things,
require us to indemnify each director and executiffieer to the fullest extent permitted by Delagdaw, including indemnification of
expenses such as attorneys’ fees, judgments, dimésettlement amounts incurred by the direct@xecutive officer in any action or
proceeding, including any action or proceeding binaight of us, arising out of the person’s sees as a director or executive officer.

Stock Options and Stock Option Modification

We have granted stock options to our executiveeiffi. For more information regarding these stodloop, see the section titled “Executive
Compensation — Compensation Discussion and Analysis

In January 2010, our board of directors approvetbek option modification. See “Management’s Disiois and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Stock Ophtwdification” for a description of our 2010 opti@xchange program.

Other Transactions

In March 2006, we entered into a licensing agreeémth Callida Genomics, Inc., or Callida, for usfecertain patents, patent applications,
know-how and other intellectual property relatingsequencing by hybridization. See “Business—Ilatéllal Property.” As partial
consideration for the rights acquired pursuanh&license agreement, we issued 13,333 shares @fammon Stock to Callida. Callida is
owned by Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., our Chief Scien@fficer, and his wife, Snezana Drmanac.

We have granted stock options to our executiveeifii and certain of our directors. For a descriptibthese options, see “Executive
Compensation — Compensation Discussion and Analysiong-Term Equity Incentives.” In addition, in k&d 2010, we issued:

= 285,867 shares of common stock to our Presidengf Executive Officer and director, Clifford A. REiPh.D., at a purchase price of
$1.50 per share

= 105,333 shares of common stock to R. John Cursba,was our Chief Financial Officer at the time oduigt and is now our Vic
President of Financial Operations, at a purchaise pif $1.50 per share; a

= 395,333 shares of common stock to our Chief Sdier@ifficer, Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., at a purchaseepf $1.50 per shar

Dr. Reid, Mr. Curson and Dr. Drmanac received besus $361,615, $133,244 and $500,087, respectiireonnection with these grants. !
“Executive Compensation — Compensation DiscussimhAnalysis — Long-Term Equity Incentives.”

In November 2007, we entered into a consultingement with Mrs. Drmanac, the wife of Dr. Drmanaar, €hief Scientific Officer and one
our founders. Mrs. Drmanac provides research amdldpment services related to our sequencing tdogp@s an independent contractor.
Mrs. Drmanac is compensated at a rate of $150 @arfor her services. In 2009, Mrs. Drmanac wasid p total of $150,930 for her services
pursuant to the consulting agreement. The conguitgreement is for a term of five years and cateburinated by either party with ten days
written notice.
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We have entered into indemnification agreementk egtch of our directors. Each of our directors wifilbremain on the board following the
completion of this offering, and each of our exaauibfficers, have entered into new indemnificatemreements, which will be effective
immediately prior to the consummation of this offigr See “Management — Limitation on Liability andlemnification Matters.”

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transacti  ons

Our board of directors has adopted a written rdlatrson transaction policy to set forth the pelcand procedures for the review and appr
or ratification of related person transactions sTmlicy covers, with certain exceptions set fantitem 404 of Regulation S-K under the
Securities Act, any transaction, arrangement @timiship, or any series of similar transactiomsaragements or relationships in which we v
or are to be a participant, where the amount ireblexceeds $120,000 and a related person hadldravé a direct or indirect material inter
including, without limitation, purchases of goodsservices by or from the related person or estitiewhich the related person has a material
interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebte@nesemployment by us of a related person. Our bofgitectors has delegated to the Audit
Committee the responsibility and authority over mlated person transaction policy.
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Principal Stockholders

The following table sets forth information knownus about the beneficial ownership of our commouglsat April 29, 2011, as adjusted to
reflect the sale of the shares of common stockisdffering, by:

= each person or group of affiliated persons knowastto be the beneficial owner of more than 5%ufasmmon stock
= each named executive officer and each director.
= all of our executive officers and directors as augr.

The information in the table below is calculateddxhon 26,011,321 shares of common stock outstghdifore this offering and 31,511,321
shares of common stock outstanding after this ioffer

In computing the number of shares of common stacieficially owned by a person, entity or group #melcorresponding percentage
ownership of that person, entity or group, shafemmon stock underlying common stock or prefestatk options and warrants that are
held by that person, entity or group and that areenitly exercisable or exercisable within 60 dafyApril 29, 2011 are considered to be
outstanding. We did not deem these shares to lstaodling, however, for the purpose of computingatieentage ownership of any other
person, entity or group.

Unless otherwise noted below, the address of eankfizial owner listed on the table is c/o Complganomics, Inc., 2071 Stierlin Court,
Mountain View, CA 94043. We have determined bernafiownership in accordance with the rules of tEECSExcept as indicated by the
footnotes below, we believe, based on the inforomatiirnished to us, that the persons and entitiesenl in the tables below have sole voting
and investment power with respect to all shareafmon stock that they beneficially own, subjecapplicable community property laws

where applicable.
Beneficial ownership after

Beneficial ownership prior to this offering this offering
Percentage Percentage
Number of Number of Number of
shares shares of shares of
Common exercisable beneficially beneficial beneficially beneficial
stock within 60 days owned ownership owned ownership

5% Stockholders
Entities affiliated with OrbiMed Advisors LL( 4,156,271 294,37¢ 4,450,64! 16.% 4,450,64! 14.(%
Entities affiliated with Essex Woodlands Hee

Ventures@) 4,156,26! 294,38( 4,450,64! 16.€% 4,450,64! 14.(%
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® 2,994,35! 185,89° 3,180,25! 12.1% 3,180,25! 10.%
Entities affiliated with Enterprise Partne4 2,820,52! 183,98t 3,004,51 11.5% 3,004,51 9.5%
Entities affiliated with OVP Venture Partne®) 2,701,54 191,84 2,893,399 11.(% 2,893,391 9.1%
Entities affiliated with Highland Capiti

Management, L.F®) 2,494,86! 176,49¢ 2,671,36. 10.2% 2,671,36. 8.4%
SCV-CG, LLC™ 938,95° 501,66° 1,440,62. 5.4% 1,440,62. 4.5%
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D® 319,20( 231,18t 550,38t 2.1% 550,38t 1.7%
Ajay Bansal® — 37,58: 37,58: * 37,58 *
Bruce Martin(0 54,93¢ 24,93¢ 79,87¢ * 79,87¢ *
Mark J. Sutherlan@) — 42,12 42,12 * 42,12 *
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.[(12) 441,99¢ 171,86: 613,86 2.3 613,86: 1.%
R. John Curso@3) 116,99¢ 96,15( 213,14¢ * 213,14¢ *
Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.l14 2,994,35: 187,56 3,181,922, 12.1% 3,181,92. 10.(%
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[(19 5,151 12,75: 17,90: * 17,90: *
Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CF16) 4,156,271 296,04 4,452,31! 16.% 4,452,31! 14.(%
Lewis J. Shusted?) — 12,50( 12,50( * 12,50( *
Andrew E. Senyei, M.C(18) 2,820,52! 185,65« 3,006,18. 11.5% 3,006,18. 9.5%
Charles P. Waite, J19) 2,701,54 193,50° 2,895,05! 11.(% 2,895,05! 9.1%
Robert T. Wall20) 50,00( 9,37¢ 59,37¢ * 59,37¢ *
All Executive Officers and directors as a grou,

(12 persons)21) 13,543,99 1,405,09. 14,949,08 54.5% 14,949,08 45.2%

*  Represents beneficial ownership of less than
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Includes: (i) 4,117,059 shares held, and 291,6G2ehthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants held by Caduceus Private Investmemtd R (‘Caduceus”) and

(i) 39,211 shares held, and 2,777 shares that beagcquired pursuant to the exercise of warrant©byiMed Associates I, LP (“OrbiMed AssociatesQrbiMed Capital GP IlI, LP
is the general partner of Caduceus, and Samues#lylis the general partner of OrbiMed Capital GR LP. OrbiMed Advisors LLC (“OrbiMed Advisors”sithe general partner of
OrbiMed Associates, and Mr. Isaly is the managiregber of OrbiMed Advisors, and Carl L. Gordon, Phdmember of our board of directors, is a mendfedrbiMed Advisors.
Mr. Isaly is deemed to have voting and dispositiverer over the shares held by Caduceus and OrbiMmtciates. The address of OrbiMed Advisors LLTB%&Third Avenue, 30
Floor, New York, New York 1001

Includes: (i) 3,766,620 shares held, and 266, 7&Irehthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants by Essex Woodlands Health Ventures RUHdL.P. (‘Essex
Woodlands Ventures Fund”); (ii) 271,574 shares haldd 19,235 shares that may be acquired pursuatite exercise of warrants by Essex Woodlands h&ahtures Fund VIII—A,
L.P. (‘Essex Woodlands Fund A”) and (iii) 118,075 shahedd, and 8,364 shares that may be acquired pursizatine exercise of warrants by Essex Woodlandsthi&/’entures Fund
VIII—B, L.P. (“Essex Woodlands Fund B"). Essex Waads Health Ventures VIII, L.P. (“Essex VentureB.L) is the general partner of each of Essex Waadk Ventures Fund,
Essex Woodlands Fund A and Essex Woodlands FufssBx Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LI'‘Essex Ventures LLC”) is the general partner of &s¥entures L.P. James
Currie, Ron Eastman, Jeff Himawan, Ph.D., Guidollddartin Sutter, Immanuel Thangaraj, Petri Yai.D., Ph.D., and Steve Wiggans are managing dirsabf Essex Ventures
LLC and are deemed to have shared voting and disp®power over the shares held by Essex Woodl¥edsures Fund, Essex Woodlands Fund A and Esserl#als Fund B
Each of the managing directors disclaims benefioiahership of the shares held by these entitiegpxo the extent of any pecuniary interest tireréhe address of each of 1
entities affiliated with Essex Woodlands Health tdess is 335 Bryant Street, Palo Alto, Californié3®1.

Includes 2,994,358 shares held and 185,897 shaesnay be acquired pursuant to the exercise ofavas. Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., a member oftmard of directors, is
managing member of Prospect Management Co. lILA.,lthe general partner of Prospect Venture Patrif, L.P. The managing members of Prospect Mamagnt Co. IIl, L.L.C.,
are deemed to have shared voting and dispositiveepover the shares held by Prospect Venture Pesthk L.P., and each disclaims beneficial ownepsbf these shares, except to
the extent of his or her pecuniary interest ther&ime address for Prospect Management Co. IIl,C.s 435 Tasso Street, Suite 200, Palo Alto, Gailia 94301.

Includes: (i) 2,052,418 shares held, and 128,1&0ehthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants by Enterprise Partners VI, L“Enterprise VI"); (ii) 667,068 shares
held, and 55,808 shares that may be acquired puntsizethe exercise of warrants by Enterprise Pansné, LP (“Enterprise V") and (iii) 101,043 sharé®ld by Enterprise Partners
Management, LLC (“Enterprise LLC"). Andrew E. Seiyé.D., a member of our board of directors, is amaging director of Enterprise Management PartnétsLLC, the general
partner of Enterprise VI, a managing director oftérprise Management Partners V, LLC, the generatr@ of Enterprise V and a managing director oft&prise LLC. Dr. Senye
together with Carl Eibl, J.D., are deemed to hakarsd voting and dispositive power over the shaedd by each of Enterprise VI, Enterprise V andeffmtise LLC. Each of

Dr. Senyei and Mr. Eibl disclaims beneficial owrrepsof these shares, except to the extent of lusrpary interest therein. The address for eacthefentities affiliated with Enterpris
Partners is 2223 Avenida de la Playa, Suite 300Jdléa, California 92037

Includes: (i) 2,669,470 shares held, and 188,67t ehthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants by OVP Venture Partners VI, L.FOVP VI”) and (ii) 32,079 shares
held, and 3,167 shares that may be acquired putsizetine exercise of warrants by OVP VI Entrepreadtund, L.P. (“OVP Entrepreneurs Fund”). Charles Waite, Jr., a member of
our board of directors, is a managing member of @/M, LLC, the general partner of each of OVP Vil@VP Entrepreneurs Fund. Mr. Waite, together wlih other managing
members of OVMC VI, LLC are deemed to have shartdgvand dispositive power over the shares hel@b¥ VI and OVP Entrepreneurs Fund. The addressoh of the entities
affiliated with OVP Venture Partners is 1010 Markteet, Kirkland, Washington 980:

Includes: (i) 1,846,375 shares held, and 124,77rehthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants by Highland Crusader Offshore Partners?. (‘Highland Crusader”)
and (ii) 648,491 shares held, and 51,725 sharesriay be acquired pursuant to the exercise of wagdy Highland Credit Opportunities CDO, L.P. (“&iit Opportunities”).
Highland Capital Management, L.F‘Highland”) acts as investment adviser to certaimfls, including Highland Crusader and Credit Oppmities. Strand Advisors, Inc. (“Strand
Advisor?) is the general partner of Highland. James Donalés the President of Strand Advisors and Highladigthland, Strand Advisors and Mr. Dondero may berded to have
shared voting and dispositive power over the shhegd by each of Highland Crusader and Credit Oppoities. The address for Highland, Strand Advisamd Mr. Dondero is Two
Galleria Tower, 13455 Noel Road, Suite 800, Dallbexas 7524(

Includes 938,957 shares held and 501,667 shargsiihg be acquired pursuant to the exercise of wasaCharles M. Preston Il is the manager of $CG, LLC and is deemed to
have voting and dispositive power over the shastd by SC-CG, LLC. The address for StCG, LLC is 600 Congress Avenue, Suite 200, AuBtiras 78701

Consists of: (i) 319,200 shares held by théf@iil A. Reid Living Trust, dated September 3, 1@®Which Dr. Reid is trustee and (ii) 231,186 ssathat may be acquired pursuant to
the exercise of stock options within 60 days ofl 28; 2011.

Consists of 37,582 shares that may be acquireduamtsto the exercise of stock options within 60sdafyApril 29, 2011

Consists of: (i) 33,201 shares held by the tMilaRose Revocable Trust, of which Bruce Martitristee and Heather Rose is trustee, (ii) 21,735ehheld by Bruce Martin and

(iii) 24,939 shares that may be acquired pursuarthe exercise of stock options within 60 dayspsfl 89, 2011.

Consists of 42,125 shares that may be acquireduautsto the exercise of stock options within 60sdafyApril 29, 2011

Consists of: (i) 428,666 shares held by thenBmac Family Trust, dated June 21, 2000, of whichOdmanac is trustee; (ii) 171,863 shares that nbayacquired pursuant to the
exercise of stock options within 60 days of Ap@il 2011 and (iii) 13,333 shares held by Callida Gmics, Inc.

Consists of: (i) 116,999 shares held by Thes@u Family Living Trust, dated July 30, 2001, d¢fietn Mr. Curson is trustee and (ii) 96,150 sharfesttmay be acquired pursuant to the
exercise of stock options within 60 days of Ap®il 2011.

Consists of (i) the shares described in Note ()vab Dr. Barkas disclaims beneficial ownershiphef shares held by Prospect Venture Partners IR, s described in Note (3) abo
except to the extent of his pecuniary interestdimeand (ii) 1,666 shares that may be acquired byBarkas pursuant to the exercise of stock optisitsin 60 days of April 29, 201
Consists of: (i) 5,151 shares, (ii) 252 shattest may be acquired pursuant to the exerciseasfamts and (iii) 12,500 shares that may be acodipeirsuant to the exercise of stock
options within 60 days of April 29, 201

118



Table of Contents

(16) Consists of (i) the shares described in Nbjeapove. Dr. Gordon disclaims beneficial ownerstifiphe shares held by the entities affiliated vttbiMed Advisors LLC as described in

Note (1) above, except to the extent of his pecyimigerest therein and (ii) 1,666 shares that nb@yacquired by Dr. Gordon pursuant to the exeroisstock options within 60 days
April 29, 2011.

(17) Consists of 12,500 shares that may be acquiredyaumtsto the exercise of stock options within 60sdafyApril 29, 2011

(18) Consists of (i) the shares described in Né)eabove. Dr. Senyei disclaims beneficial ownersififhe shares held by the entities affiliated \iétiterprise Partners as described in Note

(4) above, except to the extent of his pecuniasrést therein and (ii) 1,666 shares that may bguaed by Dr. Senyei pursuant to the exerciseaflsbptions within 60 days of
April 29, 2011.

(19) Consists of (i) the shares described in NB)eapove. Mr. Waite disclaims beneficial ownersbfiphe shares held by the entities affiliated v@¥iP Venture Partners as described in

Note (5) above, except to the extent of his pecyimigerest therein and (i) 1,666 shares that nb@yacquired by Mr. Waite pursuant to the exercisgtack options within 60 days
April 29, 2011.

(20) Consists of: (i) 50,000 shares held by thel\Wainily Investment Partnership, Ltd., over which Wall is deemed to having voting and disposifieaver and (ii) 9,375 shares that may
be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock aptisithin 60 days of April 29, 201

(21) Includes 13,543,992 shares held and 1,386,134 sHagreficially owned by our executive officers diméctors, which includes 856,357 shares that maspcquired pursuant to tt
exercise of warrants and 548,734 shares may beiatjpursuant the exercise of stock options wilrdays of April 29, 201.
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Description of Capital Stock

General

We have authorized under our amended and restatgficate of incorporation 300,000,000 sharesahmon stock, $0.001 par value per
share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stodBQ$@ar value per share. As of April 29, 2011, ¢hgere outstanding:

= 26,011,321 shares of our common stock held by appedely 34 stockholders of recot

= 27,500 shares of common stock issuable upon vestirgstricted stock units outstandir
= 2,165,323 shares of our common stock issuable apercise of outstanding warrants; ¢
= 4,014,727 shares of our common stock issuable agercise of outstanding stock optio

The following description of our capital stock gmabvisions of our amended and restated certifiohtecorporation and amended and restated
bylaws to be in effect upon the completion of thfifering are summaries. Copies of these documeaus heen filed with the SEC as exhibit
our registration statement of which this prospeébuss a part. The descriptions of the common stoek preferred stock reflect changes to
capital structure that will occur upon the closafghis offering. Currently, there is no establidhmiblic trading market for our capital stock.
Common Stock

Voting Rights

Each holder of our common stock is entitled to woie for each share on all matters submitted tota of the stockholders, including the
election of directors. Our stockholders do not haweulative voting rights in the election of direxs. Accordingly, holders of a majority of t
voting shares are able to elect all of the director

Dividends

Subject to preferences that may be applicable yatzen outstanding preferred stock, holders ofammmon stock are entitled to receive
dividends, if any, as may be declared from timért@ by our board of directors out of legally aggike funds. The terms of our credit facility
currently prohibit us from paying cash dividendsoum common stock.

Liquidation

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or wing up, holders of our common stock will be eatitto share ratably in the net assets legally
available for distribution to stockholders aftee fayment of all of our debts and other liabilitesl the satisfaction of any liquidation
preference granted to the holders of any then andétg shares of preferred stock.

Other Rights and Preferences

Holders of our common stock have no preemptiveyersion, subscription or other rights, and theeerar redemption or sinking fund
provisions applicable to our common stock. Thetsghreferences and privileges of the holders ofcommon stock are subject to and may be
adversely affected by the rights of the holdershafres of any series of our preferred stock thathag designate in the future.

Fully Paid and Nonassessable

All of our outstanding shares of common stock argl the shares of common stock to be issued irotfasng will be, fully paid and
nonassessable.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors has the authority, withautHer action by our stockholders, to issue up,0®8,000 shares of preferred stock in one or
more series and to fix the rights, preferencesjlpges and restrictions
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thereof. These rights, preferences and privilegeddcinclude dividend rights, conversion rightstimg rights, terms of redemption, liquidation
preferences, sinking fund terms and the numbehaifes constituting, or the designation of, sucleseany or all of which may be greater than
the rights of common stock. The issuance of oufepred stock could adversely affect the voting powefeholders of common stock and the
likelihood that such holders will receive dividepadyments and payments upon our liquidation. Intaadithe issuance of preferred stock cc
have the effect of delaying, deferring or prevegtinchange of control of our company or other cafgoaction. As of March 31, 2011, no
shares of preferred stock are outstanding, andawve ho present plan to issue any shares of prdfstoek.

Warrants
The following table sets forth information aboutstanding warrants to purchase shares of our ste@{ March 31, 2011.

Exercise price

Number of
Class of stock underlying warrants shares per share Expiration date
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share 1,838,73. $ 1.5C Various dates between 4/12/2|
and 8/4/201¢
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per shv 3,15¢ $ 9.5(C 9/6/2016
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per st 10,29¢ $ 11.64 8/3/2017
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per sh3 103,17: $ 7.5€ 7/30/201€
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per st 49,83¢ $ 7.22¢ 12/17/202C
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per st 160,12¢ $ 7.49¢ 3/25/2018

(1) In connection with our initial public offering, tee warrants converted from warrants to purchaseeSek preferred stock into warrants to purchaserskaf our common stoc
(2) In connection with our initial public offering, tee warrants converted from warrants to purchaseeSeB preferred stock into warrants to purchaserebaf our common stoc
(3) In connection with our initial public offering, tee warrants converted from warrants to purchaseeSeD preferred stock into warrants to purchaserssaf our common stoc

Registration Rights

Under our amended and restated investor rightssagget, following the closing of this offering, thelders of 21.7 million shares of common
stock, including shares issuable upon exerciseanfamts, or their transferees, have the right¢oire us to register their shares under the
Securities Act so that those shares may be pubkdygld, or to include their shares in any registrastatement we file, in each case as
described below.

Demand Registration Rights

Based on the number of shares outstanding as a@fZqr2011, the holders of approximately 20.8 ioillshares of our common stock,
including shares issuable upon exercise of warranttheir transferees, are entitled to certain alehregistration rights. Beginning on May 16,
2011, the date six months following the consumnmmegibour initial public offering, the holders of letast 40% of these shares can, on not more
than two occasions, request that we register alortion of their shares. Such request for reggisin must cover a number of shares with an
anticipated aggregate offering price, net of undliing discounts and commissions, exceeding $510ami Additionally, we will not be

required to affect a demand registration duringpeod beginning 60 days prior to the filing ar8DXays following the effectiveness of a
company-initiated registration statement relatim@ fpublic offering of our securities, providedtthe have complied with certain notice
requirements to the holders of these shares.

Piggyback Registration Rights

Based on the number of shares outstanding as af2§r2011, in the event that we determine tosegiany of our securities under the
Securities Act, either for our own account or foe ticcount of other security holders, the holdéepproximately 21.7 million shares of our
common stock, including shares issuable upon eseiafi
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warrants, or their transferees, will be entitledéotain “piggyback” registration rights allowiniget holders to include their shares in such
registration, subject to certain marketing and olingitations. As a result, whenever we proposéléoa registration statement under the
Securities Act, other than with respect to a regiiin related to employee benefit plans or corf@oraorganizations, the holders of these share:s
are entitled to notice of the registration and hdneeright, subject to limitations that the undeterns may impose on the number of shares
included in the registration, to include their sfgain the registration.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

Based on the number of shares outstanding as af2§r2011, the holders of approximately 20.8 ioillshares of our common stock,
including shares issuable upon exercise of warranttheir transferees, will be entitled to certeorm S-3 registration rights. The holders of at
least 2.5% of these shares can make a written setheg we register their shares on Form S-3 ifiveeeligible to file a registration statement
on Form S-3 and if the aggregate price to the pudflthe shares offered exceeds $5.0 million. Tis¢ésekholders may make an unlimited
number of requests for registration on Form S-3weleer, we will not be required to affect a registma on Form S-3 if we have previously
affected two such registrations in the 12-monthquepreceding the request for registration. Additilty, we will not be required to affect a
registration on Form S-3 during the period begigréf days prior to the filing and 180 days followithe effectiveness of a company-initiated
registration statement relating to a public offgrof our securities, provided that we have compligti certain notice requirements to the
holders of these shares.

Expenses of Registration

We will pay the registration expenses of the haddrthe shares registered pursuant to the denpigglyback and Form S-3 registration rights
described above. In an underwritten offering, tleaging underwriter, if any, has the right, subjectpecified conditions, to limit the number
of shares such holders may include.

Expiration of Registration Rights

The demand, piggyback and Form S-3 registratidmsigescribed above will expire, with respect tp particular stockholder, five years after
our initial public offering or when that stockhotdean sell all of its shares under Rule 144 ofSkeurities Act. In any event, all such
registration rights shall expire upon the earliefiee years after the consummation of this offgrior the consummation of certain events,
including the sale of all of our assets or a changmntrol of our company in which our stockhokleeceive cash or marketable securities.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmgtirovides for our board of directors to be diddieto three classes, with staggered three-
year terms. Only one class of directors will bectdd at each annual meeting of our stockholdets, the other classes continuing for
remainder of their respective three-year termsaBse our stockholders do not have cumulative vatgigs, our stockholders holding a
majority of the shares of common stock outstandliiigbe able to elect all of our directors. Our arded and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws gedbiat all stockholder action must be effectea @tily called meeting of stockholders and
not by a written consent, and that only our bodrdir@ctors, chairman of the board, chief executffecer or president (in the absence of a
chief executive officer) may call a special meetirigtockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamattquires a 68 /3% stockholder vote for the atmemt, repeal or modification of certain
provisions of our amended and restated certifiohtecorporation and amended and restated bylalatirg to:

= the classification of our board of directo
= the requirement that stockholder actions be efteatex duly called meeting; a
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= the designated parties entitled to call a specedting of the stockholder

The combination of the classification of our boafdlirectors, the lack of cumulative voting and & 2 /3% stockholder voting requirements
make it more difficult for our existing stockholdeio replace our board of directors as well asfmther party to obtain control of us by
replacing our board of directors. Because our bo&directors has the power to retain and dischargeofficers, these provisions could also
make it more difficult for existing stockholdersamother party to effect a change in managememddiition, the authorization of undesigna
preferred stock makes it possible for our boardictors to issue preferred stock with voting tirep rights or preferences that could impede
the success of any attempt to change our control.

These provisions may have the effect of deterrigtile takeovers or delaying changes in our comrehanagement. These provisions are
intended to enhance the likelihood of continuediita in the composition of our board of directasd its policies and to discourage certain
types of transactions that may involve an actugharatened acquisition of us. These provisionglastgned to reduce our vulnerability to an
unsolicited acquisition proposal. The provisiorsoare intended to discourage certain tacticsntiagtbe used in proxy fights. However, such
provisions could have the effect of discouragingeos from making tender offers for our shares bextise attempting to control of us, and, as
a consequence, they also may inhibit fluctuatiorth@ market price of our shares that could rdsuth actual or rumored takeover attempts.
Such provisions may also have the effect of premgrthanges in our management.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware Géi@orporation Law, which prohibits a Delaware aygiion from engaging in any busine
combination with any interested stockholder foreaigd of three years after the date that such bmldier became an interested stockholder,
unless:

= before such date, the board of directors of thpa@tion approved either the business combinatidheotransaction that resulted in
the stockholder becoming an interested hol

= upon completion of the transaction that resultethéstockholder becoming an interested stockhptherinterested stockholder ow!
at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporatatstanding at the time the transaction begarnudig for purposes of determining
the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstagdioting stock owned by the interested stockhgltterse shares owned

= persons who are directors and also officers;

= employee stock plans in which employee participdotsot have the right to determine confidentiallyether shares held subject to
the plan will be tendered in a tender or excharftgr;cor

= on or after such date, the business combinatiapggsoved by the board of directors and authorizesh@annual or special meeti
of the stockholders, and not by written consentheyaffirmative vote of at least 66 3% of the outstanding voting stock that is
not owned by the interested stockholc

In general, Section 203 defines “business comhinatio include the following:
= any merger or consolidation involving the corparatand the interested stockhold

= any sale, transfer, pledge or other dispositiohQ86 or more of the assets of the corporation anégority-owned subsidiary that
involves the interested stockhold

= subject to certain exceptions, any transactionrigults in the issuance or transfer by the cotmoraf any stock of the corporation to
the interested stockholde

= subject to certain exceptions, any transactionlinmg the corporation that has the effect of insieg the proportionate share of 1
stock or any class or series of the corporatiorefieially owned by the interested stockholder

= the receipt by the interested stockholder of theelieof any loans, advances, guarantees, pledgether financial benefits by «
through the corporatiol
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In general, Section 203 defines an “interestedk$toicler” as an entity or person who, together whth person’s affiliates and associates,
beneficially owns, or is an affiliate or associafehe corporation and within three years priothte time of determination of interested
stockholder status did own, 15% or more of thetaatding voting stock of the corporation.

Limitations of Liability and Indemnification Matter S

For a discussion of liability and indemnificatigrlease see “Management—Limitation on Liability dndemnification Matters.”

The NASDAQ Global Market Listing
Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global kgrunder the symbol “GNOM.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our commocksi®Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A. The transfgent and registrar’s address is
Shareowner Services, 161 North Concord ExchangghSgt. Paul, Minnesota 55075.
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Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to No n-U.S. Holders

The following is a summary of material U.S. fedénglome tax consequences to non-U.S. holders fageddelow) of the acquisition,
ownership and disposition of our common stock idgugérsuant to this offering. This discussion isdshsn the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended, or the Code, Treasury Regulations pgated thereunder, judicial decisions and publistutidgs and administrative
pronouncements of the Internal Revenue ServiclR®r all as in effect as of the date of this praspe These authorities may change, possibly
retroactively, resulting in U.S. federal income tasequences different from those discussed bédlhis.discussion is not a complete analysis
of all of the potential U.S. federal income tax sequences relating thereto, nor does it addressstate and gift tax consequences or any tax
consequences arising under any state, local oigfotex laws or any other U.S. federal tax laws.rling has been or will be sought from the
IRS with respect to the matters discussed belod tlagre can be no assurance that the IRS willal@t & contrary position regarding the tax
consequences of the acquisition, ownership or difpa of our common stock by a non-U.S. holderthat any such contrary position would
not be sustained by a court.

This discussion is limited to non-U.S. holders vguwchase our common stock issued pursuant to tfeisngy and who hold our common stock
as a “capital asset” within the meaning of Secfi@@1 of the Code (property held for investment)sTiscussion does not address all of the
U.S. federal income tax consequences that mayléeard to a particular holder in light of such hefd particular circumstances. This
discussion also does not consider any specifis faictircumstances that may be relevant to holslgsgect to special rules under the

U.S. federal income tax laws, including, withoumikation:

= U.S. expatriates or former lo-term residents of the United Stat

= partnerships or other pithrough entities classified as a partnership f@.Jederal income tax purpos:
= real estate investment trus

= regulated investment compani

= “controlled foreign corporations,” “passive foreigrvestment companies” or corporations that accatewgarnings to avoid
U.S. federal income ta:

= banks, insurance companies or other financialtutgins;

= brokers, dealers or traders in securities, comrgsddr currencies
= tax-exempt organization:

= tax-qualified retirement plan:

= persons subject to the alternative minimum ta

= persons holding our common stock as part of a Ingdgii conversion transaction, straddle or a constel sale or other risk-reduction
strategy.

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR XADVISORS REGARDING THE PARTICULAR U.S. FEDERAL
INCOME AND ESTATE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF ACQRING, OWNING AND DISPOSING OF OUR COMMON STOCK,
AS WELL AS ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING UNDER ANY BATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX LAWS AND ANY OTHER

U.S. FEDERAL TAX LAWS AND TAX TREATIES.

Definition of Non-U.S. Holder

For purposes of this discussion, a non-U.S. haklany beneficial owner of our common stock thatdsa “U.S. person” or a partnership (or
other entity treated as a partnership) for U.Sefabincome tax purposes. A U.S. person is anh@fallowing:

= an individual citizen or resident of the United 8t
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= a corporation (or other entity treated as a copmrdor U.S. federal income tax purposes) createdrganized under the laws of t
United States, any state therein or the Districofumbia;

= an estate the income of which is subject to U.@eifal income tax regardless of its source

= atrust (1) the administration of which is subjecthe primary supervision of a U.S. court andsalystantial decisions of which are
controlled by one or more U.S. persons or (2) lizeta valid election in effect under applicableabrey Regulations to be treated as a
U.S. person

Distributions on Our Common Stock

If we make cash or other property distributionsoon common stock, such distributions will consgtdividends for U.S. federal income tax
purposes to the extent paid from our current ouaedated earnings and profits, as determined udderfederal income tax principles.
Amounts not treated as dividends for U.S. federedine tax purposes will constitute a return of teind will first be applied against and
reduce a holder’s adjusted tax basis in the comsiaek, but not below zero. Distributions in excebsur current and accumulated earnings
and profits and in excess of a non-U.S. holderdiasis in its shares will be treated as gain zedlon the sale or other disposition of the
common stock and will be treated as described ufRdeGain on Disposition of Our Common Stock” below.

Dividends paid to a non-U.S. holder of our commiartils that are not effectively connected with a Ut&de or business conducted by such
holder will be subject to U.S. federal withholditax at a rate of 30% of the gross amount of th&ldivds, or such lower rate specified by an
applicable income tax treaty. To receive the béméfa reduced treaty rate, a non-U.S. holder rwsish to us or our paying agent a valid IRS
Form W-8BEN (or applicable successor form) centifysuch holder’s qualification for the reduced rdteis certification must be provided to
us or our paying agent prior to the payment ofa#iwids and must be updated periodically. If the dd-holder holds the stock through a
financial institution or other agent acting on tten-U.S. holder’s behalf, the non-U.S. holder Wwél required to provide appropriate
documentation to the agent, who then will be resgibo provide certification to us or our paying rtgeither directly or through other
intermediaries. Non-U.S. holders that do not tinplyvide us or our paying agent with the requiredification, but who qualify for a reduced
treaty rate, may obtain a refund of any excess atsauithheld by timely filing an appropriate clafor refund with the IRS. Non-U.S. holders
should consult their tax advisors regarding possdititiement to benefits under a tax treaty.

If a non-U.S. holder holds our common stock in amtion with such holder’s conduct of a trade oribess in the United States, and dividends
paid on the common stock are effectively conneutitld such holder’'s U.S. trade or business, angggtiired by an applicable income tax
treaty, attributable to a permanent establishmexibtained by the non-U.S. holder in the U.S., the-b.S. holder will be exempt from

U.S. federal withholding tax. To claim the exemptithe non-U.S. holder must furnish to us or owyipgagent a properly executed IRS

Form W-8ECI (or applicable successor form), ceitifythat the dividends are effectively connectethulie non-U.S. holder’s conduct of a
trade or business within the United States.

Any dividends paid on our common stock that areai¥ely connected with a non-U.S. holder’s U.&d#& or business (and, if required by an
applicable income tax treaty, attributable to axymearent establishment maintained by the non-U.Slemah the United States) will be subject to
U.S. federal income tax on a net income basiseatégular graduated U.S. federal income tax ratéise same manner as if such holder were a
resident of the United States, unless an applidabteme tax treaty provides otherwise. A ndr8. holder that is a foreign corporation also 1

be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30%s(wh lower rate specified by an applicable incoaxetreaty) of a portion of its effectively
connected earnings and profits for the taxable,y@saadjusted for certain items.

Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisorsarding their entittiement to benefits under a reféwacome tax treaty.
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Gain on Disposition of Our Common Stock

Subiject to the discussion below regarding backupheiding, a non-U.S. holder generally will notdgbject to U.S. federal income tax on any
gain realized upon the sale or other dispositioawfcommon stock unless:

= the gain is effectively connected with the non-Uh8lder’s conduct of a trade or business in theddhStates, and if required by an
applicable income tax treaty, attributable to axymerent establishment maintained by the-U.S. holder in the United State

= the nor-U.S. holder is a nonresident alien individual preése the United States for 183 days or more dutirggtaxable year of the si
or disposition, and certain other requirementsaeé or

= our common stock constitutes'United States real property intel” by reason of our status as a United States repkpsoholding
corporation, or USRPHC, for U.S. federal incomepgarposes during the relevant statutory pet

Unless an applicable income tax treaty provideemitse, gain described in the first bullet poinbed will be subject to U.S. federal income
tax on a net income basis at the regular graduat8dfederal income tax rates in the same manniésash holder were a resident of the
United States. Further, nd®-S. holders that are foreign corporations also bregubject to a branch profits tax equal to 30sgah lower rat
specified by an applicable income tax treaty) pbetion of their effectively connected earnings @nofits for the taxable year, as adjusted for
certain items. NoJ.S. holders are urged to consult their tax adgisegarding any applicable income tax treatiesrtiat provide for differer
rules.

A gain described in the second bullet point aboileb& subject to U.S. federal income tax at a 8&%o rate (or such lower rate specified by an
applicable income tax treaty), but may be offseth$. source capital losses (even though the iddaliis not considered a resident of the
United States), provided the non-U.S. holder hasli filed U.S. federal income tax returns withgest to such losses.

With respect to the third bullet point above, wéidwe we are not currently and do not anticipatedoeing a USRPHC for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. However, because the determinatiarnether we are a USRPHC depends on the fair magke¢ of our U.S. real property
interests relative to the fair market value of otlrer trade or business assets and our non-U [Srogzerty interests, there can be no assurance
that we are not a USRPHC or will not become onénfuture. Even if we are or were to become a USRRa gain arising from the sale or
other taxable disposition by a non-U.S. holderwf@mmon stock will not be subject to tax if swtdss of stock is “regularly traded,” as
defined by applicable Treasury Regulations, onstat#ished securities market, and such blo&- holder owned, actually or constructively,

or less of such class of our stock throughout Huetsr of the five-year period ending on the ddtthe sale or other taxable disposition of the
stock or the non-U.S. holder’s holding period focls stock. We expect our common stock to be “retyuteaded” on an established securities
market, although we cannot guarantee it will béraded. If a gain on the sale or other taxableatigipn of our stock were subject to taxation
under the third bullet point above, the non-U.Sdbobwould be subject to U.S. federal income tathwéspect to such gain in the same manner
as a U.S. person (subject to any applicable altigeneninimum tax and a special alternative minimiaxin the case of nonresident alien
individuals).

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

We must report annually to the IRS and to eachlWd@h-holder the amount of distributions on our camrstock paid to such holder and the
amount of any tax withheld with respect to thosgritiutions. These information reporting requiretseapply even if no withholding was
required because the distributions were effectigelynected with the holder’s conduct of a U.S.dradbusiness, or if withholding was
reduced or eliminated by an applicable incomettaaty. This information also may be made availalviéer a specific treaty or agreement with
the tax authorities in the country in which the Ad1$. holder resides or is established. Backuphwiliting, currently at a 28% rate, will not
apply to distribution payments to a non-U.S. holofeour
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common stock provided the non-U.S. holder furnidbass or our paying agent the required certif@ats to its noJ.S. status, by providing
valid IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8ECI, as apabte, and satisfying certain other requirementawiNbstanding the foregoing, backup
withholding may apply if either we have or our payagent has actual knowledge, or reason to kriwt the holder is a U.S. person that is not
an exempt recipient.

Unless a nord.S. holder complies with certification procedutestablish that it is not a U.S. person, infoiorateturns may be filed with tl
IRS in connection with, and the non-U.S. holder rhaysubject to backup withholding on the proceeaisif a sale or other disposition of our
common stock. The certification procedures desdrihghe above paragraph will satisfy these ceatfon requirements as well.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any @mts withheld under the backup withholding rulesyrhe allowed as a refund or a credit
against a non-U.S. holder’s U.S. federal incomditdility, provided the required information isrtely furnished to the IRS. Backup
withholding and information reporting rules are qdex. Non-U.S. holders are urged to consult theiradvisors regarding the application of
these rules to them.

New Legislation Relating to Foreign Accounts

Newly enacted legislation may impose withholdingetaon certain types of payments mad“foreign financial institutions” (as specially
defined under these rules) and certain other n@-ghtities. Under this legislation, the failurectimply with additional certification,
information reporting and other specified requiretsecould result in withholding tax being imposedpayments of dividends and sales
proceeds to foreign intermediaries and certain dd®-holders. The legislation imposes a 30% wittiimgl tax on dividends on, or gross
proceeds from the sale or other disposition of,aaummon stock paid to a foreign financial instidatior to a foreign nofinancial entity, unles
(i) the foreign financial institution undertakegteén diligence and reporting obligations or (hetforeign non-financial entity either certifies it
does not have any substantial U.S. owners or faesigdentifying information regarding each subsshtt.S. owner. If the payee is a foreign
financial institution, it must enter into an agresrhwith the U.S. Treasury requiring, among othérgs, that it undertake to identify accounts
held by certain U.S. persons or U.S.-owned foreigtities, annually report certain information absut¢h accounts, and withhold 30% on
payments to account holders whose actions prevéon complying with these reporting and otheruiegments. The legislation would apply
to payments made after December 31, 2012. Progpéntiestors should consult their tax advisors mdigg this legislation.

The foregoing discussion of U.S. federal income tabonsiderations is for general information purpose®nly and is not tax or legal
advice. Accordingly, you should consult your own ta advisor as to the particular tax consequences §mu of purchasing, owning and
disposing of our common stock, including the applability and effect of any U.S. federal, state or lcal or non-U.S. tax laws, and of any
changes or proposed changes in applicable law.
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Underwriting

We are offering the shares of our common stockrdeest in this prospectus through the underwritenmed below. Jefferies & Company, Inc.
and UBS Securities LLC are the book-running maregéthis offering and the representatives of theéeuwriters. We have entered into an
underwriting agreement with the underwriters. Saibje the terms and conditions of the underwritiggeement, each of the underwriters has
severally agreed to purchase the number of sh&ismmon stock listed next to its name in the fallog table.

Number of
Underwriter shares
Jefferies & Company, In 1,925,001
UBS Securities LLC 1,925,001
Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporate 825,00(
Cowen and Company, LL 825,00(
Total 5,500,00!

The underwriting agreement provides that the undeswg must buy all of the shares if they buy ahthem. However, the underwriters are not
required to take or pay for the shares coveredheyhderwriters’ over-allotment option describetbhe

Our common stock is offered subject to a numbeooiditions, including:
= receipt and acceptance of our common stock by idemwriters; ant
= the underwriter right to reject orders in whole or in pe
In connection with this offering, certain of thedemwriters or securities dealers may distributespeztuses electronically.

Over-Allotment Option

We have granted the underwriters an option to utowan aggregate of 825,000 additional sharesioEommon stock. The underwriters may
exercise this option solely for the purpose of emgover-allotments, if any, made in connectiotiwvthis offering. The underwriters have

30 days from the date of this prospectus to exetbis option. If the underwriters exercise thisiap they will each purchase additional shares
approximately in proportion to the amounts spedifiethe table above.

Commissions and Discounts

Shares sold by the underwriters to the public initially be offered at the public offering pricetsorth on the cover of this prospectus. Any
shares sold by the underwriters to securities deatay be sold at a discount of up to $0.4125 pparesfrom the public offering price.

Sales of shares made outside the United Statedbemade by affiliates of the underwriters. If &k tshares are not sold at the public offering
price, the representatives may change the offgriitg and the other selling terms. Upon executioih® underwriting agreement, the
underwriters will be obligated to purchase the ebat the prices and upon the terms stated therein.

The following table shows the per share and tatdlenwriting discounts and commissions we will payhte underwriters assuming both no
exercise and full exercise of the underwritersiapto purchase additional shares of our commocksto

No exercise Full exercise
Per shart $ 0.687¢ $ 0.687¢
Total $3,781,25! $4,348,43!
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We estimate that the total expenses of this offepayable by us, not including the underwritingcdisnts and commissions, will be
approximately $900,000.

No Sales of Similar Securities

We, our executive officers and directors and certailders of shares our common stock and warrargsiichase shares of our common stock
have entered into lock-up agreements with the wndters. Under these agreements, subject to cegtaiaptions, we and each of these persons
may not, without the prior written approval of d&fés & Company, Inc. and UBS Securities LLC, qffell, contract to sell or otherwise
dispose of, directly or indirectly, or hedge oungunon stock or securities convertible into or exdesable or exercisable for our common st
These restrictions will be in effect for a peridd®0 days after the date of this prospectus. Attang and without public notice, Jefferies &
Company, Inc. and UBS Securities LLC may, in tiselle discretion, release some or all of the sdéearitom these lock-up agreements.

If:

= during the period that begins on the date thabisdlendar days plus 3 business days before thddgof the 90-day lock-up period
and ends on the last day of the-day locl-up period,

= We issue an earnings release
= material news or a material event relating to uucs; or

= prior to the expiration of the -day loc}-up period, we announce that we will release eamiagults during the -day perioc
beginning on the last day of the-day loct-up period,

then the 90-day lock-up period will be extendedluhé expiration of the date that is 15 calendaysdplus 3 business days after the date on
which the issuance of the earnings release or dtenal news or material event occurs.

Indemnification

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters aed ttontrolling persons against certain liabilifiexcluding certain liabilities under the
Securities Act. If we are unable to provide thidamnification, we have agreed to contribute to paytsthe underwriters may be required to
make in respect of those liabilities.

NASDAQ Global Market Listing
Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global kgrunder the trading symbol “GNOM.”

Price Stabilization, Short Positions, Passive Marke  t Making

In connection with this offering, the underwritengy engage in activities that stabilize, maintaintherwise affect the price of our common
stock, including:

= stabilizing transaction:

= short sales

= purchases to cover positions created by short;s
= imposition of penalty bids

= syndicate covering transactions; ¢

= passive market makin

Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purésamade for the purpose of preventing or retardidgcline in the market price of our comn
stock while this offering is in progress. Thesasactions may also include making short sales oEommon stock, which involve the sale by
the underwriters of a greater number of shareswincon stock than they are required to purchadeis$roffering, and purchasing shares of
common
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stock on the open market to cover positions crelayeshort sales. Short sales may be “covered shates,” which are short positions in an
amount not greater than the underwriters’ overtalént option referred to above, or may be “nakeattstales,” which are short positions in
excess of that amount.

The underwriters may close out any covered shaitipa either by exercising their over-allotmentiop, in whole or in part, or by purchasing
shares in the open market. In making this deteridinathe underwriters will consider, among oth@ngs, the price of shares available for
purchase in the open market as compared to the ariwhich they may purchase shares through theallément option.

Naked short sales are short sales made in excélss ofe-allotment option. The underwriters must closeany naked short position by
purchasing shares in the open market. A naked ghsition is more likely to be created if the undeters are concerned that there may be
downward pressure on the price of the common stottke open market that could adversely affect $twmes who purchased in this offering.

The underwriters also may impose a penalty bids Becurs when a particular underwriter repays éouthderwriters a portion of the
underwriting discount received by it because tipeagentatives have repurchased shares sold by trefaccount of that underwriter in
stabilizing or short covering transactions.

As a result of these activities, the price of coimenon stock may be higher than the price that wtisermight exist in the open market. If these
activities are commenced, they may be discontirnyetthe underwriters at any time. The underwriteesyarry out these transactions on The
NASDAQ Global Market, in the ov-the-counter market or otherwise.

In addition, in connection with this offering cdrtaf the underwriters (and selling group memberay engage in passive market making
transactions in our common stock on The NASDAQ @ldWarket prior to the pricing and completion oitbffering. Passive market making
consists of displaying bids on The NASDAQ Globalrk no higher than the bid prices of independeautket makers and making purchases
at prices no higher than these independent bidetiaected in response to order flow. Net purchdsea passive market maker on each day are
generally limited to a specified percentage ofgihssive market maker’s average daily trading voliumtee common stock during a specified
period and must be discontinued when such lirmééched. Passive market making may cause thegiframa common stock to be higher than
the price that otherwise would exist in the opemk®gin the absence of these transactions. If passarket making is commenced, it may be
discontinued at any time.

Affiliations

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliatesynfitom time to time in the future provide certaimnemercial banking, financial advisory,
investment banking and other services for us fackvthey will be entitled to receive separate f@dge underwriters and their affiliates may
from time to time in the future engage in transawdiwith us and perform services for us in theradi course of their respective businesses.
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Notice to Investors

Notice to Prospective Investors in the European Eco nomic Area

In relation to each Member State of the EuropeamnBmic Area, or EEA, which has implemented the pectus Directive (each, a “Relevant
Member State”), with effect from, and includingettlate on which the Prospectus Directive is implaetin that Relevant Member State (the
“Relevant Implementation Date”), an offer to thébfici of our securities which are the subject of differing contemplated by this prospectus
may not be made in that Relevant Member State pexbat, with effect from, and including, the Redev Implementation Date, an offer to the
public in that Relevant Member State of our semgiimay be made at any time under the followingrexens under the Prospectus Directive,
if they have been implemented in that Relevant Mem8iate:

a) to legal entities which are authorized or regpdao operate in the financial markets or, if sotauthorized or regulated, whose
corporate purpose is solely to invest in our seiesti

b) to any legal entity which has two or more of; &b average of at least 250 employees duringaibte(dr, in Sweden, the last two)
financial year(s); (2) a total balance sheet ofertban €43,000,000 and (3) an annual net turndueioce than €50,000,000, as shown in
its last (or, in Sweden, its last two) annual onsmgidated accounts;

c) to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (otiien qualified investors as defined in the ProymeDirective), subject to
obtaining the prior consent of the representatisesiny such offer; or

d) in any other circumstances falling within Aréc3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, provided tteasuch offer of our securities
shall result in a requirement for the publicatignus or any underwriter or agent of a prospectusyant to Article 3 of the Prospectus
Directive.

As used above, the expression “offered to the publirelation to any of our securities in any Relat Member State means the
communication in any form and by any means of sigfit information on the terms of the offer and securities to be offered so as to enable
an investor to decide to purchase or subscribedosecurities, as the same may be varied in takvant Member State by any measure
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Rate\sMember State; and the expression “Prospectiesidie” means Directive 2003/71/EC
and includes any relevant implementing measuradh &elevant Member State.

The EEA selling restrictions are in addition to anlger selling restrictions set forth in this prespus.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the United Kingd om

This prospectus is being distributed only to ananly directed at: (1) persons who are outsidelthiged Kingdom; (2) investment
professionals falling within Article 19(5) of therancial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financralnfotion) Order 2005 (the “Order”) or
(3) high net worth companies, and other persomgiom it may lawfully be communicated, falling withArticle 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order
(all such persons falling within (1) through (3p&ther being referred to as “relevant persons”g 3ires are available only to, and any
invitation, offer or agreement to subscribe, pusehar otherwise acquire such shares will be engegenly with, relevant persons. Any pers
who is not a relevant person should not act oreelyhis prospectus or any of its contents.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Switzerland

This prospectus does not constitute an issue pcasppursuant to Article 652a or Article 1156 of thwiss Code of Obligations (“CQ”), and
the shares will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exgje. Therefore, this prospectus may not complly thi¢ disclosure standards of the CO
and/or the listing rules (including any prospectasemes) of the SIX Swiss Exchange. Accordingly sthares may not be offered to the public
in or from Switzerland, but only to a selected &ndted circle of investors, which do not subscribehe shares with a view to distribution.
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Notice to Prospective Investors in Australia

This prospectus is not a formal disclosure docuraadthas not been, nor will be, lodged with thetfalign Securities and Investments
Commission. It does not purport to contain all imfation that an investor or his, her or its proif@sal advisers would expect to find in a
prospectus or other disclosure document (as defintdte Corporations Act 2001 (Australia)) for therposes of Part 6D.2 of the Corporations
Act 2001 (Australia) or in a product disclosuretataent for the purposes of Part 7.9 of the CorpamatAct 2001 (Australia), in either case, in
relation to the securities.

The securities are not being offered in Austradiéretail clients” as defined in sections 761G &6d GA of the Corporations Act 2001
(Australia). This offering is being made in Ausiaasolely to “wholesale clients” for the purposésection 761G of the Corporations Act 2001
(Australia), and, as such, no prospectus, prodsctature statement or other disclosure documerglation to the securities has been, or will
be, prepared.

This prospectus does not constitute an offer intralia other than to wholesale clients. By submgtan application for our securities, you
represent and warrant to us that you are a wheesiaint for the purposes of section 761G of thepGrations Act 2001 (Australia). If any
recipient of this prospectus is not a wholesalent|ino offer of, or invitation to apply for, owaurities shall be deemed to be made to such
recipient and no applications for our securitieB e accepted from such recipient. Any offer teeaipient in Australia, and any agreement
arising from acceptance of such offer, is persanal may only be accepted by the recipient. In &idiby applying for our securities, you
undertake to us that, for a period of 12 monthmftbe date of issue of the securities, you will tnabsfer any interest in the securities to any
person in Australia other than to a wholesale tlien

Notice to Prospective Investors in Hong Kong

Our securities may not be offered or sold in Horamé by means of this prospectus or any documeet ditfan (1) to “professional investors”
within the meaning of the Securities and Futuredifiamce (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rolegle thereunder, (2) in circumstances
which do not constitute an offer to the public witthe meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.8&s of Hong Kong) or (3) in other
circumstances which do not result in the documeirtgdba “prospectus” within the meaning of the Coniga Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of

Hong Kong). No advertisement, invitation or docutreating to our securities may be issued or majntthe possession of any person for the
purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Komdsewhere) which is directed at, or the comsteftwhich are likely to be accessed or
read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if peretdtto do so under the securities laws of Hong Kartiggr than with respect to the securities
which are, or are intended to be, disposed of tmpyersons outside Hong Kong or only to “profesalanvestors” within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Lawtoofy Kong) and any rules made thereunder.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Japan

Our securities have not been and will not be regést under the Financial Instruments and Exchamagedf Japan (the “Financial Instruments
and Exchange Law”), and our securities will nooiffered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japam,to, or for the benefit of, any resident of
Japan (which term, as used herein, means any pegsigent in Japan, including any corporation deoentity organized under the laws of
Japan), or to others for re-offering or resaleedtiy or indirectly, in Japan, or to a residenfapan, except pursuant to an exemption from the
registration requirements of, and otherwise in clianpe with, the Financial Instruments and Exchabge and any other applicable laws,
regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Singapore

This document has not been registered as a praspeith the Monetary Authority of Singapore, andsSingapore, the offer and sale of our
securities is made pursuant to exemptions proviieections 274 and 275 of the Securities and EatAct, Chapter 289 of Singapore
(“SFA"). Accordingly, this prospectus and any other
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document or material in connection with the offesale, or invitation for subscription or purchaskour securities may not be circulated or
distributed, nor may our securities be offeredadd sor be made the subject of an invitation fdsstription or purchase, whether directly or
indirectly, to persons in Singapore, other thant@1an institutional investor as defined in Sec@nof the SFA pursuant to Section 274 of the
SFA,; (2) to a relevant person as defined in se@it#(2) of the SFA pursuant to Section 275(1) ef$frA, or any person pursuant to

Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance Withconditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA3) otherwise pursuant to, and in
accordance with the conditions of, any other applie provision of the SFA, in each case subjecbtopliance with the conditions (if any) set
forth in the SFA. Moreover, this document is ng@iraspectus as defined in the SFA. Accordingly ustey liability under the SFA in relation
the content of prospectuses would not apply. Pdsgeinvestors in Singapore should consider céisefuhether an investment in our
securities is suitable for them.

Where our securities are subscribed for or purchaséer Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant penstirch is:

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited itmeas defined in Section 4A of the SFA) the salsibess of which is to hold
investments and the entire share capital of whiatwined by one or more individuals, each of whoamisiccredited investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accrediiteglstor) whose sole purpose is to hold investsiantl each beneficiary of the trust
is an individual who is an accredited investor,reRaf that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rigghnd interest (howsoever described) in
that trust shall not be transferable for six morgfier that corporation or that trust has acquiredshares under Section 275 of the SFA,
except:

(1) to an institutional investor (for corporatiomsder Section 274 of the SFA) or to a relevantgredefined in Section 275(
of the SFA, or to any person pursuant to an offat is made on terms that such shares of that ipo or such rights and interest
in that trust are acquired at a consideration ofless than 200,000 Singapore dollars (or its exjaivt in a foreign currency) for
each transaction, whether such amount is to beipaidsh or by exchange of securities or othertasaad further for corporations,
in accordance with the conditions, specified int®ac275 of the SFA,

(2) where no consideration is given for the trangsie

(3) where the transfer is by operation of law.
In addition, investors in Singapore should note fegurities acquired by them are subject to remadetransfer restrictions specified under
Section 276 of the SFA, and they, therefore, sheakk their own legal advice before effecting asate or transfer of their securities.
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Legal Matters

The validity of our common stock offered by thi®gpectus will be passed upon for us by Latham &KiMatLLP, Menlo Park, California.
Certain attorneys and investment funds affiliatéhwhe firm own 36,862 shares of our common sta# warrants to purchase 1,800 shart
our common stock. Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP, New York,W¥ork, is counsel for the underwriters in connectivith this offering.

Experts

The financial statements as of December 31, 2082840 and for each of the three years in the gesimled December 31, 2010, included in
this prospectus, have been so included in reliandde report (which contains an explanatory paalgrelating to the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern as described in NatgHe financial statements) of Pricewaterhouse@mopLP, an independent registered pt
accounting firm, given on the authority of suchrfias experts in auditing and accounting.

Where You Can Find Additional Information

We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Casion a registration statement on Form S-1 urtteSecurities Act relating to the shares
of our common stock we are offering. This prospgctoes not contain all of the information set fantlthe registration statement and the
exhibits and schedules to the registration statén$enme items are omitted in accordance with tlesrand regulations of the SEC. For further
information with respect to us and the common steelare offering, we refer you to the registratitetement and its exhibits and schedules.
Statements contained in this prospectus as todiiets of any contract, agreement or other doctiarenrsummaries of the material terms of
that contract, agreement or other document, ancefee you to a copy of the entire contract, agreroe other document that we have filed as
an exhibit to the registration statement. A copyhef registration statement, and its exhibits argdules, may be inspected without charge at
the public reference facilities maintained by tf#&CSat 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 2054%i€> of these materials may be obtained
by writing to the Public Reference Section of th&CSat 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 2054&ade call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330
for further information on the operation of the pabeference facility. The SEC maintains a wel #fitat contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information reygydegistrants that file electronically with th&S. The address of the SEC’s website is
http://www.sec.gov.

We are subject to the information and periodic répg requirements of the Exchange Act and fileiguic reports, proxy statements and other
information with the SEC. Such periodic reportsxyr statements and other information will be av@@dor inspection and copying at the
public reference facility and web site of the SErred to above. We maintain a website at www.detegenomics.com. You may access our
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports omi10-Q, current reports on Formk8proxy statements on Schedule 14A and amendr

to those reports free of charge at our websit@as as reasonably practicable after such materieictronically filed with, or furnished to, the
SEC. The reference to our website address doesonetitute incorporation by reference of the infatimn contained in, or that can be acce:
through, our website.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Complete Genomics, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheetsfandelated statements of operations, of conderfibeferred stock and stockholdeesjuity
(deficit) and of cash flows present fairly, in alhterial respects, the financial position of Cortgol@enomics, Inc. (the “Company”) at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results opsgations and its cash flows for each of the tlgezes in the period ended December 31,
2010 in conformity with accounting principles geslfr accepted in the United States of America. Efagancial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these friahstatements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these financial statemierdscordance with the standards of the Public GompAccounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan eriidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatitether the financial statements are

of material misstatement. An audit includes exangnbn a test basis, evidence supporting the are@unat disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarst significant estimates made by managementeaaldating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 of the financial statemahtsCompany has incurred reoccurring losses frperaiions. The Company’s ability to
continue to meet its obligations and achieve its®ess objectives is dependent, among other tharges ability to raise additional capital
and/or generate sufficient revenues.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 30, 2011 except for the second paragraphoté Ml to the Financial Statements as to which #te & May 9, 2011.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expense
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Other asset
Total asset

Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stocklolders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities

Notes payable, curre

Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities
Notes payable, net of curre
Deferred rent, net of curre
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Preferred stock, par value $0.—no shares authorized or outstanding at Decembe2(8;
5,000,000 shares authorized and no shares outstpatiDecember 31, 2010 and March 31,
2011 (unaudited), respective
Convertible preferred stock, par value $0.001—6,833 shares authorized and 6,472,996 she

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2009 (kdjoidl value—$127,721 at December 31,

2009); no shares authorized or outstanding at Dbee®il, 2010 and March 31, 2011,

respectively

Stockholder equity (deficit)

Common stock, $0.001 par va—13,333,334 shares authorized and 94,281 shareslissc
outstanding at December 31, 2009; 300,000,000 slzuthorized and 25,922,627 and
25,988,934 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2010 and March 31, 2011
(unaudited), respective

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholder equity (deficit)

December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011
(unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and

per share amounts)

$ 7,768 $ 6891¢ $ 68,79:
1,28¢ 4,94: 7,38¢
354 3,08( 3,17¢
5,15¢ 1,101 77¢
45€ 78 54
15,01 79,02( 80,17¢
14,86 23,84 24,25
39t 297 657
$30,27¢  $103,16(  $ 105,08
$ 4281 $ 3,066 $ 3,25¢
2,03: 3,10z 3,78¢
4,44( 5,78( 1,412
1,30: 5,73¢ 7,021
12,05¢ 17,68 15,47;
3,51( 7,521 22,72
5,017 4,31¢ 4,13:
1,55¢ — —
22,13 29,52 42,33:
85,83 — —
— 26 26
3,471 212,45 214,03
(81,167  (138,84) (151,309
(77,690 73,63 62,75¢
$30,27¢  $103,16(  $ 105,08

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
Statements of Operations

Three months ended

Years ended December 31, March 31,
2008 2009 2010 2010 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Revenue $ = $ 622 $ 9,38¢ $ 33¢€ $ 6,83
Operating expense
Cost of revenu — — — — 6,582
Star-up production cost 5,03: 19,89¢ 4,07 —
Research and developmt 23,63t 22,42 21,69: 6,16¢ 6,80¢
General and administrati\ 3,17¢ 4,95 9,34t 3,09¢ 2,78(
Sales and marketir 1,04t 1,79¢ 6,111 1,22¢ 2,70(
Total operating expens 27,851 34,20¢ 57,04: 14,57 18,87(

Loss from operation (27,85)) (33,58 (47,659 (14,235 (12,03)
Interest expens (974) (3,46%) (2,82%) (311) (340
Interest and other income (expense), 437 1,101 (7,207) 21C (84)
Net loss (28,399 (35,949 (57,68 (14,33¢) (12,467)
Deemed dividend related to beneficial conversi@iuee of

Series E convertible preferred stc — — (405) — —
Net loss attributed to common stockhold $(28,399) $(35,949) $ (58,097 $(14,33¢) $ (12,46)
Net loss per share attributed to common stockhe—basic

and dilutec $(369.3¢6) $(386.5¢) $ (13.60) $ (51.1% $ (0.4¢)
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstandied

in computing net loss per share attributed to commo

stockholder—basic and dilute 76,87 92,99¢ 4,271,171 280,28: 25,959,92

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.

Statement of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockh

Convertible
preferred stock

Common stock

Shares Amount

Shares

Amount

olders’ Equity (Deficit)

Additional

paid-in
capital

Accumulated

deficit

Total
stockholders’

equity
(deficit)

(in thousands, except
share and per share amounts)

Balances at December 31, 20( 341,59: $ 20,22:

91,66¢

(in thousands, except
share and per share amounts)

$ (309 $ (16,819

Issuance of Series C convertible
preferred stock for cash at $159.30
per share, net of issuance costs of
$1,101

Issuance of Series C convertil
preferred stock as issuance costs
$159.30 per shai

Employee stock based compensa

Nonemployee stock bas:
compensatiol

Exercise of stock optior

Net loss

166,34t

1,004

25,39¢

2,16(

284

52
25

(28,3;)

$ (17.12)

284

52
25
(28,39/)

Balances at December 31, 20(

Issuance of Series D convertit
preferred stock for cash at $7.56
share, net of issuance costs of
$2,879

Issuance of Series D convertible
preferred stock upon conversion of
promissory notes and accrued
interest at $7.56 per she

Issuance of common stock warrant:
connection with Series D
convertible preferred stoc

Employee stock based compensa

Nonemployee stock bas:
compensatiol

Exercise of stock optior

Net loss

508,94:

3,972,72!

1,991,32!

27,15¢

15,05¢

(1,999

93,82¢

45¢

58

1,99¢
1,142

26¢

(45,217)

(35,91)

(45,15/)

1,99¢
1,142

26¢
4
(35,949)

Balances at December 31, 20(

Issuance of Series D convertible
preferred stock for cash at $7.56
share, net of issuance costs of $

Issuance of common stock to found
at $2.34 per share for services
renderec

Issuance of common stock warrant:
connection with promissory not

Issuance of Series E convertible
preferred stock upon conversion of
promissory notes and accrued
interest at $7.56 per she

Issuance of Series E convertil
preferred stock for cash in at $7.-
per share, net of issuance costs ¢
$187

Issuance of common stock warrants in
connection with sale of Series E
convertible preferred stoc

Issuance of purchase rights for Serit
convertible preferred stoc

6,472,991

1,346,76:

2,990,35!

2,284,511

85,83¢

9,94¢

15,40¢

17,08¢

(882)

(1,149

94,28:

786,53:

3,471

1,83¢

5,38¢

2,02(

(81,167)

(77,690)

1,84(

5,38¢

2,02(
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
Statement of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockh

olders’ Equity (Deficit)—(Continued)

Convertible Total
preferred stock Common stock Additional stockholders’
Accumulated
paid-in equity
Shares Amount Shares capital deficit (deficit)
(in thousands, except (in thousands, except
share and per share amounts) share and per share amounts)
Beneficial conversion featu
embedded in Series E convertible
preferred stock issued for cs — (405) — — 40¢ — 40&
Recognition of conversion featu
embedded in Series E convertible
preferred stock issued for cs — 40¢ — — (405) — (405)
Reclassification of preferred sto
purchase right liability to addition:
paid in capital upon exercise of
those rights — 9,15: — — — — —
Issuance of Series E convertible
preferred stock for cash at $7.56
share, net of issuance cost of 1,637,31 12,36¢ — — — — —
Exercise of common stock warrants
cash — — 413,39¢ 1 61¢ — 62C
Conversion of preferred stock into
common stock immediately prior to
initial public offering (14,731,93) (147,76Y 17,445,66 17 147,74¢ — 147,76!
Net exercise of preferred and comn
stock warrants immediately prior
initial public offering — — 1,065,39: 1 @ — —
Reclassification of preferred stock
warrant liability into additional
paid-in capital upon initial public
offering — — — — 2,271 — 2,27
Issuance of common stock in init
public offering at $9.00 per share
net of issuance costs of $6,8 — — 6,000,00! 6 47,16¢ — 47,17°¢
Employee stock based compensa — — — — 1,63(C — 1,63(
Nonemployee stock bas:
compensatiol — — — — 121 — 121
Exercise of stock optior — — 117,35¢ — 17¢€ — 17¢€
Net loss — — — — — (57,68)) (57,68)
Balances at December 31, 20 — — 25,922,62 $ 26 $212,45¢ $ (138,84) $ 73,63¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

Three months ended

Years ended December 31, March 31,
2008 2009 2010 2010 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $(28,399) $(35,949 $(57,687) $(14,33¢) $(12,46°)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,79¢ 5,24( 8,01¢ 1,30¢ 2,54¢
Amortization of debt issuance co: 22¢€ 25¢ 41C 65 —
Writedown of inventory — — 14¢ — —
Increase in inventory reserv — — — — 32
Issuance of common stock to found — — 1,84( 1,84( —
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stackrant liability
and stock purchase rig (65) (1,08¢) 7,211 (209) 96
Stock-based compensatic 33€ 1,41( 1,751 54C 494
Noncash interest expense related to the promisgiigs and notes
payable — 2,11: 1,48¢ 43 27
Loss on the disposal of property and equipn 50¢€ 31 10¢ 33 7
Changes in assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl — (1,289 (3,655 (72 (2,442)
Inventory — (3549 (3,779 (364) 77z
Prepaid expenst (231 (4,68¢) 4,05¢ 4,61¢ 331
Other current asse (190 11C 11¢ 63 24
Other asset 27 (143 (53 28 (110
Accounts payabl (30 1,07¢ 481 401 96
Accrued liabilities 717 28¢ 78¢ 50C 59C
Deferred revenu — 1,302 4,43 1,48¢ 1,28
Deferred ren — 5,015 (700 (16€) (184)
Net cash used in operating activit (24,309 (26,667) (35,019 (4,225 (8,902
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipm (7,419 (9,659 (18,802 (10,179 (2,870
Purchase of paten — — — — 25C
Net cash used in investing activiti (7,419 (9,659 (18,807) (10,179) (3,120
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from promissory notes and notes pa 13,19¢ 14,72¢ 36,24: — 20,00(
Repayment of notes payat (4,970 (3,990 (8,647) (1,065 (8,205)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferreckstoet of
issuance cos! 25,39¢ 27,15¢ 39,40: 10,06( —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in initiddlic offering,
net of issuance cos — — 47,17¢ — —
Exercise of stock options and common stock wart 25 4 79€ 8 10C
Net cash provided by financing activiti 33,64¢ 37,89¢ 114,97: 9,00: 11,89¢
Net increase in cash and cash equival 1,92¢ 1,57¢ 61,15: (5,399 (127)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 4,26( 6,18¢ 7,76 7,76 68,91¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 6,18¢ $ 7,76¢ $ 68,91¢ $ 2,371 $ 68,79:
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Complete Genomics, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows—(Continued)

Years ended Three months
December 31, ended March 31,
2008 2009 2010 2010 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for intere: $34¢ $ 1,06¢ $ 1,19¢ $ 19¢ $31¢
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing andiancing activities
Issuance of warrants for convertible preferredisinconnection with

promissory note $77¢ $ 1,541 $ — $ — $ —
Issuance of warrants for common stock in connegtiibh convertible preferre

stock financings — 1,99¢ 2,02( — —
Conversion of promissory notes and interest intovedtible preferred stoc — 15,05¢ 15,40: — —
Acquisition of property and equipment under acceynatyable — 2,45¢ 1,69¢ 1,44(C
Issuance of warrants for common stock in conneatiith notes payabl — — 5,671 — 987
Issuance of purchase rights for Series E converfibéferred stoc — — 2,66¢ — —
Reclassification of purchase right liability to feeed stock upon exerci: — — 9,15: — —
Reclassification of warrant liability to additiongid-in capital upon initial

public offering — — 2,27 — —
Conversion of preferred stock into common stockruipdtial public offering — — 147,76! — —
Deemed dividend related to the beneficial conver§ature of Series

convertible preferred stoc — — 405 — —
Issuance of convertible preferred stock as payruerdosts associated with

issuance of Series C preferred convertible s 16C — — — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Organization and description of business

Complete Genomics, Inc., (the “Companig)a human genome sequencing company that hasopedeind commercialized a DNA sequen
platform for complete human genome sequencing aatysis. The Company’s Complete Genomics Analykifétm (“CGA Platform”)
combines its proprietary human sequencing techiolath its advanced informatics and data managemeftivare and its end-to-end
outsourced service model to provide customers datia that is immediately ready to be used for genbased research. The Company’s
solution provides academic and biopharmaceuticaarchers with complete human genomic data angsisalithout requiring them to invest
in in-house sequencing instruments, high-performammmputing resources and specialized personnéielDNA sequencing industry,
complete human genome sequencing is generally dktniee coverage of at least 90% of the nucleofitéise genome. The Company was
incorporated in Delaware on June 14, 2005 and begarations in March 2006. Since inception, the Gany has been engaged in developing
its complete human genome sequencing technologyngacapital and recruiting personnel. In May 20the@ Company commenced full
commercial operations.

These financial statements are prepared on a goingern basis that contemplates the realizati@sséts and discharge of liabilities in their
normal course of business. The Company has incmeedperating losses and negative cash flows épenations during every year since
inception. At March 31, 2011, the Company had amuanilated deficit of $151.3 million (unaudited). @ating losses and negative cash flows
may continue for the foreseeable future so faitargenerate sufficient revenues, raise additiomadl$ through public or private financings, or
other arrangements, or reduce certain discretiospending could have a material adverse effecherfCompany’s ability to achieve its
intended business objectives. There can be noasseithat such additional financings, if needed,bei available on terms attractive to the
Company, if at all. The Company’s failure to ratsgital when needed could have a material advéiset @n its business, financial condition
and operating results. If additional funds areaaigrough the issuance of equity securities, dregmtage ownership of the Company’s then-
current, stockholders would be reduced. Furtherpsareh equity securities may have rights, prefexsmme privileges senior to those of the
Company'’s currently outstanding common stock.

On November 16, 2010, the Company closed the liitilic offering of its common stock (the “IPO"hd sold 6,000,000 shares of its
common stock at a public offering price of $9.00 gleare. The Company received gross proceeds obxipmately $54.0 million from this
transaction, before underwriting discounts and c@ssions and offering expenses.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements have begraped in accordance with accounting principles gglyeaccepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) and include all adjustments neagdor the fair presentation of the Company’s ficial position, results of operations and
cash flows for the periods presented. In prepatiedginancial statements, management must makaasts and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andltbgosure of contingent assets and liabilitiesfate date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses duringploeting period. Significant estimates includswesptions made in the liability for
warrants to purchase common stock and stock-basagensation. Actual results could differ from theséimates.

Stock Split

The Company initiated a 30-for-1 reverse stockt gfective November 2009. All share and per slaneunts in these financial statements
have been retroactively adjusted to give effe¢ch&reverse stock split.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

Segment | nformation

The Company operates in one segment. Managemenbasemeasure of profitability and does not segritehiusiness for internal reporting.
All of the Company’s assets are located in the éthBtates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from selling its hupeaome sequencing services under purchase andeositracts. Revenue is recognized
when all of the following criteria are met: persirasevidence of an arrangement exists, title rassfierred, the price is fixed or determinable
and collectability is reasonably assured. Upon detign of the sequencing process, the Company shgesesearch-ready genomic data to the
customer. The Company uses shipping documentshindddarty evidence to verify shipment of the ddteorder to determine whether
collectability is reasonably assured, the Compasgsses a number of factors, including past tréinsatstory with the customer and the
creditworthiness of the customer. If the Compangieines that collectability is not reasonably asduthe Company defers the recognition of
revenue until collectability becomes reasonablyigst The Company also receives down payments éustomers prior to the
commencement of the genome sequencing process.

For revenue generated under purchase orders, @&y has established standard terms and conditiahgre specified for all orders. The
Company uses the purchase order to establish pérewavidence of an arrangement and whether theadixed and determinable price for the
order. Revenue is recognized based upon the shipshérdividual genomic data to customers and &atieon of related terms and conditions
contained in the purchase order. Any down paymeusived are recorded as deferred revenue untCémepany meets all revenue recogni
criteria.

For revenue generated under contracts, the Comguarsiders each contract’s terms and conditiongterthine its obligations associated with
the contract. The Company will defer revenue untlividual genomic data has been shipped to custoarad related significant obligations,
defined in the contract, have been met. Any dowmyents received are recorded as deferred revertilehenCompany meets all revenue
recognition criteria.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to all of the risks inheiergn early-stage company developing a new appraa®NA sequencing. These risks
include, but are not limited to, significant capit@sources, limited management resources, intemsgetition, dependence upon consumer
acceptance of the products in development anditaeging nature of the DNA sequencing industry. Toenpany’s operating results may be
materially affected by the foregoing factors.

The Company depends on a limited number of sugpliecluding single-source suppliers, of variouaal components in the sequencing
process. The loss of these suppliers, or theinrkailo supply the Company with the necessary comusron a timely basis, could cause delays
in the sequencing process and adversely affecCtmepany.

The Company derives accounts receivable from dealets and amounts contractually due, but notwvedeunder contracts. The Company
reviews its exposure to accounts receivable andrgéiy requires no collateral for any of its acctsureceivable. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the atradlexpected credit losses existing in accoumtgivable and is based upon specific
customer issues that have been identified. As aeBwer 31, 2009, 2010 and March 31, 2011, the Coynpas not recorded any allowance
doubtful accounts.

The Company’s allocates its revenues to individaaintries based on the primary locations of itdamsrs.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

Customers representing greater than 10% of accoecess/able were as follows:

December 31, March 31,
Customer 2009 2010 2011
(unaudited)

Customer A 43% * 17%
Customer K 20% * *
Customer * 27% 25%
Customer L * * 18%
Customer V * 16% *
* Less than 109
Customers representing greater than 10% of reveeue as follows:

December 31, March 31,
Customer 2009 2010 2010 2011

(unaudited)

Customer A 16% * * 34%
Customer E * * * 18%
Customer C * * 30% *
Customer C * * 30% *
Customer E * * 30% *
Customer F 16% 11% * *
Customer C 16% * * *
Customer 13% * * *
Customer 16% * * *
Customer . 17% * * *
* Less than 109
Countries representing greater than 10% of reverare as follows:

December 31, March 31,
Country 2009 2010 2010 2011

(unaudited)

Belgium 16% 11% * —
United State: 84% 71% 70% 70%
The Netherland — — — 24%
Canade * — 30% —

* Less than 109
The Company did not recognize revenue during tlae gaded December 31, 2008.

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s finahinstruments, including cash and cash equivalgrepaid expenses and other current
assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilitgspaimate fair value due to short maturities. Bage borrowing rates currently available to

the Company for promissory notes, notes payablaennda loans with similar terms, the carrying vatdig@romissory notes, notes payable and
term loans approximate their fair value.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmgmischased with original maturities of three morth¢ess to be cash equivalents. Cash anc
cash equivalents are deposited in a demand acabtwo financial institutions and a money marketduAt times, such deposits may be in
excess of federally insured limits.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciatibproperty and equipment is computed
using the straight-line method over their estimatsefful lives as follows:

Computer equipmet 3 year:
Computer softwar 3 year
Furniture and fixture 5 year:
Machinery and equipmel 3 year

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shoftthe useful life or the remaining term of tease. Upon retirement or sale, the cost
related accumulated depreciation are removed fhenbalance sheet and the resulting gain or lagflescted in operations. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to operations as incurred.

I mpairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impant whenever events or changes in circumstandésate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability issovea by comparison of the carrying amount to tiieré net cash flows which the assets are
expected to generate. If such assets are consittetedimpaired, the impairment to be recognizedesisured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the projeisedunted future net cash flows arising fromahset. There have been no such
impairments of long-lived assets to date.

Inventories

Inventories consist of chemical reagents and sexogrsupplies that are stated at the lower of opstarket value. Cost is determined using
standard costs, which approximate actual costsfoatdn, first-out basis. Market value is detenead as the lower of replacement cost or net
realizable value.

Start-up Production Costs

Startup production costs are incurred during the peoiodevelopment and validation of the productiongess and include the costs associ
with commercialization of the sequencing procesge Tompany'’s start-up production costs primarilgsist of costs related to the acceptance
testing of customer genomic samples, sample sequgepeparation, sample sequencing, the procesdidgta generated by the prototype
sequencing instruments, continued validation ofptfueluction process and optimization of instrunparformance. These costs primarily
include salaries and benefits and stock-based casagien expenses, chemical reagents and enginesstegials and supplies, consultant fees,
depreciation of equipment and facilities-relatedtso

Research and Development

Research and development costs are charged tatioperas incurred. Research and development audtedie, but are not limited to, salaries
and benefits and stock-based compensation expdabesatory supplies, consulting costs and otherlosad expenses.
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Government Grant

The Company accounts for its government grantraslaction of expense related to either researctdamdlopment or general and
administrative expense. The allocation is basethergrant agreement and the related expense resethurotal reimbursement of expenses by
the government grant is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2008 2009 2010
(in thousands)

Research and development expe $ 77z $ 80C $687

General and administrative expel 25C 218 172

$1,02¢ $1,01¢ $85¢

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiangements with employees using a fair value nietiioich requires the recognition of
compensation expense for costs related to all dbaskd payments, including stock options and mdsttistock units. The fair value method
requires the Company to estimate the fair valugtadk-based payment awards on the date of gramg asi option pricing model for stock
options. The Company uses the Black-Scholes prigiadel to estimate the fair value of options grdnihe fair value of stock options and
restricted stock units is expensed on a straigletfiasis over the vesting period.

The Company accounts for stock options issued temployees based on the estimated fair value aiwaeds using the BlacReholes optiol
pricing model. The measurement of stock-based cosgimn is subject to periodic adjustments as tiuerying equity instruments vest, and
the resulting change in value, if any, is recogaizethe Company statements of operations during the period tla¢eet services are render

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under tret asd liability method, which requires, among otiéngs, that deferred income taxes be
provided for temporary differences between thebi@sis of the Company’s assets and liabilities aed financial statement reported amounts.
In addition, deferred tax assets are recordechiofuture benefit of utilizing net operating lossesl research and development credit
carryforwards. A valuation allowance is provideciagt deferred tax assets unless it is more likedy not that they will be realized.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopte@dticeunting guidance for uncertainties in incomesaxvhich prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement process for recordingrtaic tax positions taken, or expected to be takea tax return in the financial
statements. Additionally, the guidance also préssrinew treatment for the derecognition, classiioaaccounting in interim periods and
disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positidite Company accrues for the estimated amourxestfor uncertain tax positions if it is
more likely than not that the Company would be negflito pay such additional taxes. An uncertainpgasition will not be recognized if it ha:
less than 50% likelihood of being sustained.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (FASB) issued a new accounting standardctiatges the accounting for revenue
arrangements with multiple deliverables. Specificahe new accounting standard requires an etdigllocate arrangement consideration a
inception of an arrangement to all of its delivdeatbased on their relative selling prices. In &iddj the new standard eliminates the use of the
residual

F-13



Table of Contents

Complete Genomics, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

method of allocation and requires the relativeisgiprice method in all circumstances in which an gnécognizes revenue for an arranger
with multiple deliverables. The Company adopted giandard effective in the first quarter of 20hd does not believe the adoption will have
a significant impact on its financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB also issued a new acogystandard that changes revenue recognitiorafggible products containing software
and hardware elements. Specifically, if certairuregnents are met, revenue arrangements that adatagible products with software
elements that are essential to the functionalitthefproducts will be accounted for under these aesounting standards, rather than the
existing software revenue recognition accountinglgiice. The Company adopted this standard effeitittee first quarter of 2011 and does
not believe the adoption will have a significanpeat on its financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued an amendment &oc@wunting standard which requires new disclosiamefir value measurements and
provides clarification for existing disclosure régments. Specifically, this amendment requiregmtity to disclose separately the amounts of
significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and &k fair value measurements and to describe teores for the transfers; and to disclose
separately information about purchases, salesafig®s and settlements in the reconciliation fonfalue measurements using significant
unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs. This amesrrelarifies existing disclosure requirementsthar level of disaggregation used for clas
of assets and liabilities measured at fair valuraguires disclosure about the valuation techrsiguel inputs used to measure fair value for
both recurring and nonrecurring fair value meas@mrisiusing Level 2 and Level 3 inputs. The Comgeasyadopted this guidance and has
provided the additional disclosures.

In April 2010, the FASB issued an accounting staddgdate which provides guidance on the criteribe followed in recognizing revenue
under the milestone method. The milestone methadaafgnition allows a vendor who is involved wikte tprovision of deliverables to
recognize the full amount of a milestone paymemtrugchievement, if, at the inception of the reveauwangement, the milestone is determined
to be substantive as defined in the standard. Tdmpany adopted this standard effective in the fjustrter of 2011 and does not believe the
adoption will have a significant impact on its firtgal statements.

3. Netloss per share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividingass attributed to common stockholders by theghteid-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, excluding sharegestitto repurchase. The Company’s potential dikighares, which include outstanding
common stock options and restricted stock unitgseated common shares subject to repurchase, ciregneferred stock and warrants, have
not been included in the computation of dilutedloss per share for all the periods as the resoltidvbe anti-dilutive. Such potentially dilutive
shares are excluded when the effect would be tacesthe net loss per share.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and denominateediin the calculation of basic and diluted nes$ losr share follows:

Three months ended
Years ended December 31, March 31,

2008 2009 2010 2010 2011

(unaudited)
(in thousands except share and per share amounts)

Historical net loss per share:

Numerator
Net loss $(28,399) $(35,949 $ (57,68 $(14,33¢) $ (12,46)
Deemed dividend related to beneficial conversi@iuee of

Series E convertible preferred stc — — (405) — —
Net loss attributed to common stockhold $(28,39¢) $(35,949) $ (58,097 $(14,33¢) $ (12,46)
Denominator
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 92,54¢ 94,24: 4,271,171 280,28: 25,959,92
Less: Weighte-average shares subject to repurct (15,676 (1,249 — — —
Denominator for basic and diluted net loss peres 76,87 92,99¢ 4,271,117 280,28: 25,959,92
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributezbtomon

stockholder: $(369.3¢) $(386.5¢) $ (13.60 $ (51.1% $ (0.4%)

The following outstanding shares of potentiallyutlite securities were excluded from the computatibdiluted net loss per share for the
periods presented because including them would hasgiean anti-dilutive effect:

December 31, March 31,
2008 2009 2010 2010 2011

(unaudited)
Options to purchase common st¢ 105,92( 1,535,46! 2,869,74 2,430,28 2,875,12!
Restricted stock units for common stc — — 27,50( — 27,50(
Common stock subject to repurchi 7,46t — — — —
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred s 7,71( 384,15: — 384,15: —
Warrants to purchase common st — 1,630,62! 2,007,45! 1,630,62! 2,165,32.
Convertible preferred stock (on ar-if converted basis 3,222,67. 9,186,72 — 10,533,49 —
Total 3,343,76! 12,736,97 4,904,70: 14,978,55 5,067,94

4. Fair value measurement

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia fimancial statements are categorized based inglevel of judgment associated with the
inputs used to measure their fair value. HieramdHevels which are directly related to the amaefrgubjectivity associated with the inputs to
the valuation of these assets or liabilities areosws:

Level 1:Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in antewkets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2:Observable inputs, other than Level 1 prices, saschuoted prices for similar assets or liabilitgasoted prices in markets that are not
active or other inputs that are observable or @aodsroborated by observable market data for sotialy the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3:Unobservable inputs that are supported by littta@mmarket activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or liabilities.
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The following table sets forth the Company’s fin@hinstruments that are measured at fair valua oecurring basis and by level within the
fair value hierarchy. Assets and liabilities measuat fair value are classified in their entireaséd on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Canys assessment of the significance of a particufautito the fair value measurement ir
entirety requires management to make judgmentsansider factors specific to the asset or liahility

As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s fair valieednchy for its financial assets and financiabilidies that are carried at fair value was as
follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Money market fund (included in Cash and cash edgig) $6,12( $ — $ — $6,12(
Liabilities
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil $ — $ — $1,55: $1,55:

As of December 31, 2010, the Company’s fair valieednchy for its financial assets and financiabilidies that are carried at fair value was as
follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Money market fund (included in Cash and cash edgnig) $50,62: $ — $ — $50,62:
Liabilities
Warrants to purchase common st $ — $ — $ 28z $ 282

As of March 31, 2011, the Company’s fair value &iehy for its financial assets and financial liéilgis that are carried at fair value was as
follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Assets
Money market fund (included in Cash and cash edgiis) $40,63¢ $ — $ — $40,63¢
Liabilities
Warrants to purchase common st $ — $ — $ 37¢ $ 37¢

The Company valued its warrant liabilities using Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expetéenh for these warrants is based on the
remaining contractual life of these warrants. Theeeted volatility assumption was determined byn@xéng the historical volatility for

industry peers, as the Company did not have acserffi trading history for its common stock. Thek+isee interest rate assumption is based on
U.S. Treasury investments whose term is consistghtthe expected term of the warrants and purchigbés. The expected dividend
assumption is based on the Company’s history apdatation of dividend payouts. Details of the agstions are discussed in Note 11.
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The change in the fair value of the convertiblegmed stock warrant and purchase right liabilysummarized below:

(in thousands)

Fair value at December 31, 200 $ 1,10(¢
Issuance of convertible preferred stock warr: 1,541
Increase in the fair value recorded in interest@her income (expense), r (1,08¢)
Fair value at December 31, 200 1,55:
Issuance of convertible preferred stock purchages 2,66¢€
Issuance of warrants to purchase common ¢ 282
Increase in the fair value of convertible preferseatk purchase rights recorded in interest andratitome (expense

net 7,211
Reclassification of value of convertible preferstdck purchase rights to additional f-in capital upon exercis (9,159
Reclassification of value of convertible preferstdck warrants to additional p-in capital upon initial public offerin (2,2779)
Fair value at December 31, 201 282
Increase in the fair value recorded in interest@theér income (expense), net (unaudil 96
Fair value at March 31, 2011 (unaudited $ 37¢

The Company valued the convertible stock purchigges using the Black-Scholes option pricing modedtails of stock purchase rights are
discussed in Note 8.

5. Balance Sheet Components

I nventory

Inventory consists of the following:

December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011
(in thousands)

(unaudited)

Raw materials $237 $1,42¢ $ 944
Work-in-progress 38 1,917 1,55¢
Finished good 79 637 673
Total $354 $3,98( $ 3,17¢
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Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, consist of the foliayyvi

December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Computer equipmet $ 5,107 $ 7,51¢ $ 7,68t
Computer softwar 1,39( 1,85% 1,86:
Furniture and fixture 341 354 354
Machinery and equipmel 7,612 19,36: 20,40:
Leasehold Improvemen 6,06 7,024 7,301
Equipment under constructic 1,451 37 1,50z
21,96¢ 36,15 39,11(
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (7,107 (12,310 (14,859

$14,86¢ $ 23,84: $ 24,25¢

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010 was $Ri8mm$5.2 million and $8.0 million,
respectively. Depreciation and amortization expdos¢he three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2@&1$1.3 million and $2.5 million,
respectively.

Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Accrued professional fet $ 20t $ 42 $ =
Accrued compensation and bene 987 1,93¢ 2,16¢
Accrued interes 69 — —
Deferred rent, curret 341 70z 71¢
Warrants to purchase common st — 282 37¢€
Other 43C 142 527

$2,032 $3,10z $ 3,78t

6. Commitments and contingencies
Operating Lease Obligations

In October 2007, the Company entered into an ageaefor office facilities consisting of approximbtd.0,560 square feet under an operating
lease, which began on January 1, 2008 and expirBé¢ember 2010. This agreement was amended anéxmves in June 2011.

In October 2008, the Company entered into an ageaefor office facilities consisting of approximbt®6,096 square feet under an operating
lease, which began on March 1, 2009 and expirésigust 2016.

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straighbasis over the non-cancellable lease term ecatds the difference between cash rent
payments and the recognition of rent expense a&feardd rent liability. Where leases contain esaaleclauses, rent abatements and/or
concessions, such as rent holidays and landlotenant incentives or allowances, the Company apfitiem in the determination of straight-
line rent expense over the lease term. Rent exdensiee years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 abd &@s $0.9 million, $1.9 million and
$2.0 million, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under these non-kalbleeoperating leases as of December 31, 201asafellows:

(in thousands)
Years Ending December 31

2011 $ 2,59¢
2012 2,58¢
2013 2,66¢
2014 2,747
2015 2,82¢
Thereaftel 1,93¢
Total future minimum lease paymel $ 15,36«

Secured Equipment Loan Agreements

In July 2008, the Company entered into a securaietent loan agreement (“Loan”) for $13.0 millionitkvSVB, Leader Equity LLC and
Oxford Finance Corporation. The Loan was drawroir tranches between July and December 2008. Taeest rate for each tranche drawn
under the Loan was set at the greater of 10.508eoprime rate plus 8.03%, as determined at the tifthe draw of each tranche. The interest
rate on each of the tranches under the Loan rabpgeeeen 10.50% and 11.04%. The Loan required driation payment be made with the
final loan payment under each tranche. The terigingtayment was 4% of each of the drawn trancheuaitispwhich caused the loans to have
effective interest rates ranging between 12.81%1&h84%. Repayment of the Loan began one monthtafefirst draw and continued for

36 equal monthly installments. In connection witk t.oan, the Company issued warrants to purch@€dmpany’s Series D convertible
preferred stock, which converted into warrantsuochase shares of the Company’s common stock inatedgliprior to the consummation of
the Company’s IPO, as discussed in Note 8. The @ampledged as collateral all property and equigdrparchased pursuant to the Loan.
There are no financial covenants in the Loan. Atddeber 31, 2009, $8.0 million was outstanding urldedoans. In connection with the term
loans entered into with Comerica and Atel on Decamily, 2010, the amount outstanding under the lo6&4.0 million was repaid. The
Company also paid a prepayment penalty of $0.2anilivhich is recorded in interest expense.

Loan Agreements

On December 17, 2010, the Company entered intodadrsecurity agreements with each of Comerica Babdmerica”) and Atel Ventures,
Inc. (“Atel”). On March 25, 2011, the Company eetinto a new loan and security agreement with @Fonance Corporation (“Oxford”), a
portion of the proceeds of which were used to rapayoutstanding balance on the Comerica Loan Agea¢ (as defined below).

Comerica Loan Agreement

The loan and security agreement with Comerica‘@uwmerica Loan Agreement”) consists initially ofeam loan of $8.0 million. A portion of
the borrowings under the Comerica Loan Agreemeistwsad to repay the outstanding balance of $4libmibn the Company’s then existing
secured equipment loan agreement with Silicon Ydllank, Leader Equity LLC and Oxford Finance Cogtimm, including certain pre-
payment expenses. The loan initially provided &gayment in 36 equal monthly payments of princgual interest. Interest accrues on the
loan at a rate equal to the Prime Referenced Ra$e3025% per annum. The Prime Referenced Ratgul ¢o the prime rate established by
Comerica plus 2.5% (but in no event shall the Priteéerenced Rate be lower than the Daily AdjustiiBOR Rate plus 2.5%). The interest
rate at December 31, 2010 was 6.5%.
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The Comerica Loan Agreement also required thaCirapany repay a minimum of $2.0 million of the tdoan and, at such time, the repaid
balance of the term loan will automatically convatb a line of credit. The Company also had thiéitgtto elect to repay up to the entire
remaining term loan balance and convert up to tieeerepaid balance to a line of credit. Advangeder the line of credit are limited to the
lesser of (i) 80% of eligible domestic accountsereable or (ii) the actual amount converted on Apri2011, up to $8.0 million. Amounts
borrowed under the line of credit were requiretdéaepaid and reborrowed at any time prior to thoker 1, 2012 maturity date, at which ti

all advances under the line of credit shall be alué payable. Outstanding borrowings under thedfrexedit incur interest at a rate equal to the
Prime Reference Rate plus 2.50% per annum. Upoveesion of a portion of the term loan to the lidedit, the remaining term loan bala
that is not converted will be re-amortized and r@éfa 32 equal monthly payments of principal angrast.

Borrowings under the Comerica Loan Agreement wehateralized by a senior priority on all of ther@pany’s assets, excluding the
Company'’s intellectual property and those assetsrs®y borrowings under the Atel Loan Agreementdeined below). In addition, the
Company has agreed not to pledge its intellectraperty to another entity without Comerisapproval or consent. The entire loan amount
paid off on March 25, 2011 when the Company entéeredthe Oxford Loan Agreement (discussed below).

Atel Loan Agreement

The loan and security agreement with Atel (the tAtgan Agreement”tonsists of a $6.0 million term loan for equipmpatchases. Under tl
terms of the Atel Loan Agreement, the term loarabe¢ is being repaid in 36 equal monthly paymehgsiocipal and interest. Interest accrues
on the term loan at a rate of 11.26% per annum.olitgtanding borrowings under the term loan arlatehlized by a senior priority interest in
certain of the Company’s current property and eapeipt, and all property and equipment that is pusetiauring the term of the Atel Loan
Agreement.

In connection with the Atel Loan Agreement, the @amy issued to Atel a warrant to purchase 49,8a4eshof the Company’s common stock
at an exercise price of $7.224 per share, as disdus Note 10.

Future loan payments under the Comerica and Asgl &greements as of December 31, 2010 are as follow

(in thousands)
Years Ending December 31

2011 $ 6,78¢
2012 4,44;
2013 3,96:
Total Payment 15,19«
Less:

Interest expens 1,611

Unamortized portion of value of warrants issuedannection with Atel loal 282
Total principal payment 13,30!
Less: notes payable, curre 5,78(
Notes payable, net of curre $ 7,521

The Comerica Loan Agreement and Atel Loan Agreereanh contain customary representations and wasagbvenants, closing and
advancing conditions, events of defaults and teation provisions by, among and for the benefithef parties. The affirmative covenants
include, among other things, that the Company maairitability and other insurance and pledge seégumierests in any ownership interest of a
future subsidiary. The negative covenants precladeng other things, disposing of certain assegagng in any
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merger or acquisition, incurring additional indebtess, encumbering any collateral, paying dividemwdaaking prohibited investments, in
each case, without the prior consent of ComericbAtrl. The Comerica Loan Agreement also requitesg time the Company’s total cash is
greater than $10.0 million, the Company shall naamits primary depository and operating accourith ®@omerica. At any time when the
Company’s total cash is less than $10.0 millior, @ompany shall maintain its depository and opegaticcounts with Comerica or its
affiliates. As of December 31, 2010 and March 311,22 the Company was in compliance with all theez@nts.

Oxford Loan Agreement

On March 25, 2011, the Company entered into a émahsecurity agreement (the “Oxford Loan and Sgcgreement”) with Oxford Finance
Corporation (“Oxford”). The Oxford Loan Agreemenmbpides for a term loan of $20.0 million. The oatsiing balance of the term loan must
be repaid in full by October 1, 2014 (the “Maturidpte”). Under the terms of the Oxford Loan Agreaméhe outstanding balance accrues
interest at a rate of 9.80% per annum. Until Magd12 (the “Amortization Date”), the Company isueggd to make monthly payments equal
to the accrued interest on the outstanding loaanual, and, following the Amortization Date throulya Maturity Date the outstanding loan
balance will be repaid in thirty (30) equal montplyments of principal and interest.

As a condition to the Oxford Loan Agreement, aiporbf the term loan was used to repay the remgibalance of $7.4 million on the
Company'’s existing loan agreement with Comericdloldng repayment of the outstanding indebtedntrss] oan and Security Agreement
with Comerica was terminated. The remainder ofténe loan will be used to fund the Company’s wogk@apital requirements.

The term loan is secured by a senior priority drofalhe Company’s assets, excluding the Compaimg&dlectual property and those assets
securing borrowings under the Loan and Securitye@grent with Atel. In addition, the Company has edneot to pledge its intellectual
property to another entity without Oxford’s apprbeaconsent.

In connection with the entry into the Oxford Loagréement, the Company issued to Oxford warranpsitohase an aggregate of 160,128
shares of common stock at an exercise price oB$7pér share, as discussed in Note 10. The wareaptee on the seventh anniversary of the
issuance date. The Company also agreed to proviftedcertain registration rights covering the veants.

The Oxford Loan Agreement contains customary repriegions and warranties, covenants, closing amdrexihg conditions, events of defat
and termination provisions by, among and for theeffi¢ of the parties. The affirmative covenantdude, among other things, that the
Company timely file taxes, maintain certain opemgiccounts subject to control agreements in faf/@xford, maintain liability and other
insurance, and pledge security interests in anyeosinip interest of a future subsidiary. The negatievenants preclude, among other things,
disposing of certain assets, engaging in any mengacquisition, incurring additional indebtednesms;umbering any collateral, paying
dividends or making prohibited investments, in eeabe, without the prior consent of Oxford. The @afLoan Agreement provides that an
event of default will occur if (1) there is a maatadverse change in the Company’s business, tpesaor condition (financial or otherwise),
(2) there is a material impairment in the prospetthie Company repaying any portion of its obligas under the term loan, (3) there is a
material impairment in the value of the collatgrldged to secure the Company’s obligations urftdeagreement or in Oxford’s perfection or
priority over the collateral, (4) the Company dédfsin the payment of any amount payable undeatireement when due, or (5) the Company
breaches any negative covenant or certain affikmatdvenants in the agreement (subject to a gragedoin some cases). The repayment o
term loan is accelerated following the occurrenfcaroevent of default or otherwise, requiring tren@any to immediately pay to Oxford an
amount equal to the sum of: (i) all
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outstanding principal plus accrued but unpaid &ggr(ii) the prepayment fee, (iii) the final paymheplus (iv) all other sums, that shall have
become due and payable but have not been paidding interest at the default rate with respectrip past due amounts. As of March 31,
2011, the Company was in compliance with all theeo@ants.

The Company paid to Oxford an aggregate of appratéip $100,000 in commitment fees in connectiorlie Oxford Loan Agreement. In
connection with the entry into the Oxford Loan Agmeent, the Company and Atel amended the Atel Logreément for certain technical and
administrative amendments.

Promissory Notes

In April, May and June 2010, the Company issuedniseory notes to certain of its existing investorsan aggregate principal amount of
$22.1 million. The principal amount of the promigsaotes accrued interest at an annual rate ofiB¥he event that the Company issued
shares of a new series of preferred stock witheggge gross cash proceeds in excess of $17.0millie outstanding principal and interest of
the promissory notes would automatically convetd that series of preferred stock at the lowesteppiaid by any investor in the financing (not
to exceed $7.56 per share). In August 2010, thmissory notes converted into Series E convertibdéepred stock, as discussed in Note 7. In
connection with the issuance of the promissory sydtee Company issued warrants to purchase the &oyfgpcommon stock to the purchasers
of the promissory notes, as discussed in Note 10.

I ntellectual Property Agreement

In March 2006, the Company entered into an intali@goroperty agreement, as discussed in Note &R ,@allida Genomics, Inc. for licenses
related to the Company’s core technology. Undematireement, the Company will make annual paymdr2%0,000 for a duration of six
years starting in March 200

Purchase Commitments

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had outstgrulinchase commitments related to its data centénan-cancellable orders for
sequencing components of $5.9 million.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to claims and assessmemistime to time in the ordinary course of busind$® Company’s management does not
believe that any such matters, individually ortie figgregate, will have a material adverse effieche Company’s business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Indemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company im&y contracts and agreements that contain atyaof representations and warranties and
provide for general indemnifications. The Compangkposure under these agreements is unknown keeitausolves claims that may be me
against the Company in the future, but that have/abbeen made. To date, the Company has notgpgidlaims or been required to defend
any action related to its indemnification obligatso However, the Company may record charges ifutiiee as a result of these indemnifical
obligations.

In accordance with its Certificate of Incorporatimmd bylaws, the Company has indemnification olilige to its officers and directors for
certain events or occurrences, subject to cermits] while they are serving at the Company’s esjun such capacity. There have been no
claims to date, and the Company has director aficeofiinsurance that enables it to recover a portibany amounts paid for future potential
claims.
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Legal Proceedings

On August 3, 2010, a patent infringement lawsui$ fil@d against the Company by lllumina, Inc. arde®a, Inc. (an entity acquired by
lllumina) (the “Plaintiffs), in the U.S District @ot in Delaware. The case captiorlisnina, Inc. and Solexa, Inc. v. Complete Genonigs ,
Civil Action No. 10-649. The complaint alleges tila¢ Company’s Complete Genomics Analysis Platf@na in particular its combinatorial
probe anchor ligation technology, infringes uporeéhpatents held by lllumina and Solexa. The Rftsrdeek unspecified monetary damages
and injunctive relief. If the Company is found tdringe one or more valid claims of a patentsirt and if the district court grants an injunctj
the Company may be forced to redesign portionssaféquencing process, seek a license or ceas#rihging activity. On September 23,
2010, the Company filed its answer to the complagivell as its counterclaims against the plamti@n November 9, 2010, the U.S. District
Court in Delaware granted the Compangiotion to transfer the case to the Northern Bistf California. On May 5, 2011, the Court entba
stipulated order to dismiss two patents from tlveslsit. The dismissal is without prejudice but ird#is conditions on the ability to file lawsuits
on these patents, including a limitation that lllaenmay not re-file such lawsuits against the Camypantil the later of (1) August 1, 2012, or
(2) the exhaustion of all appeal rights in bothtfeg pending reexaminations in the U.S. Patenflaademark Office and (b) the pending civil
litigation in which these patents are also assettiéel Technologies Corp. v. llluminaCase No. 11-CV703 (S.D. Cal.). The Company beBev
it has substantial and meritorious defenses taethiesms and intends to vigorously defend its pmsjthowever, a negative outcome in this
matter could have a material adverse effect orCrapany’s financial position, results of operatioresh flows and business. The Company is
not currently able to estimate the potential Idsany, that may result from this claim.

From time to time, the Company may become invoiveather legal proceedings and claims arising endhdinary course of its business. Ot
than as described above, the Company is not clyr@ipiarty to any legal proceedings the outcometdth, if determined adversely to the
Company, would individually or in the aggregate énavmaterial adverse effect on its business, dpgregsults, financial condition or cash
flows.

7. Preferred Stock

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as adezhin November 2010, authorizes the Company t®i§s000,000 shares of $0.001 par
value preferred stock. There was no preferred ssmtled or outstanding at December 31, 2010, aktheth 31, 2011 (unaudited).

As of December 31, 2009, the convertible prefestedk consisted of the following:

Proceeds,
Shares Liquidation net of
Shares issued and issuance
Series authorized outstanding amount costs

(in thousands, except share amounts)

A 138,65¢ 137,97 $ 6,05 $ 5,86¢
B 205,75¢ 203,62( 14,05( 13,87!
C 167,35 167,35( 39,98¢ 25,39¢
D 6,421,55"  5,964,05 67,63: 40,211

6,933,33; 6,472,991 $127,72. $ 85,347

In February and March 2010, the Company sold 178@shares of Series D convertible preferred sabdk.56 per share to existing investors
for net proceeds of $9.9 million.

In August and September 2010, the Company sol##528 shares of Series E convertible preferredksad87.56 per share to existing
investors for net proceeds of $17.1 million. Tharsls sold in the Series E convertible preferredkstimancing contained an embedded
beneficial conversion feature which was measuretiasglifference between the proceeds received fhensale of a share of Series E
convertible preferred stock and the
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value of a share of common stock. The beneficialeosion feature was valued at an aggregate ofr#illién and recorded by the Company
a credit to additional paid-in capital. The benieficonversion feature was recognized on the degeSeries E convertible preferred stock was
issued as a result of the Series E convertibleemexd stock being convertible at the election eftiblder. In addition, in conjunction with the
Series E convertible preferred stock financing,$B2.6 million of principal and accrued interesttbea Company’s convertible promissory
notes converted into 2,990,355 shares of Seriemkettible preferred stock.

On October 6 and 14, 2010, the holders of the Sé&ieonvertible preferred stock purchase rightsaésed their rights and purchased 1,398
and 238,730 shares of Series E convertible prefestack, respectively, at $7.56 per share, as sésziiNote 8.

The total gross proceeds from the Series E fingnéitiuding the conversion of the convertible pigsory notes and interest, were $52.3
million.

Each share of Series A, B, C, D and E preferrecksias convertible, at the option of the holdem ithat number of fully paid and
nonassessable shares of common stock that is &eq$4B.85, $69.00, $159.30, $7.56 and $7.56, réispdc(as adjusted for stock splits,
combinations, reorganizations and the like), didig the conversion price of $9.50, $11.64, $1983356 and $7.56, respectively, (as adju
for stock splits, combinations, reorganizations tredlike).

On November 10, 2010, the holders of more than 608e outstanding convertible preferred stock edr® the automatic conversion of each
of the outstanding shares of convertible prefestedk into 17,445,662 shares of common stock aapipdicable conversion price effective
immediately prior to the consummation of the CompaitPO.

8. Warrants and Purchase Rights for Convertible Prefer  red Stock

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had the fatigwnexercised warrants for convertible prefestxtk:

Exercise Shares as of Fair value as of

price per December 31, December 31,
Underlying Stock share 2009 2009

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Series A $ 43.8¢ 684 $ 5
Series E $ 69.0( 2,131 21
Series C $ 7.5¢€ 381,33 1,52i
Total 384,15! $ 1,55

At December 31, 2009, the outstanding warrantsdowvertible preferred stock were revalued usingBlaek-Scholes option pricing model
with the following assumptions: remaining contrattierm ranging from 2.15 to 8.58 years; volatilinging from 71.98% to 91.55%; 0%
dividend rate; and a risk-free interest rate ragdiom 1.38% to 3.33%.

As of December 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011, the gaoy had no warrants or purchase rights for coiblempreferred stock outstanding.
SeriesA

In 2006, the Company issued warrants to purchadesb8res of Series A convertible preferred stocnaxercise price of $43.85 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with aredceequipment loan agreement with SVB. The infaal value of the warrants of $36,000
was recorded as a credit to warrant liability artisgount to the carrying value of the debt. Theedunt was fully amortized in 2008.
Immediately prior to the consummation of Compar®, these convertible preferred stock warrantveded to warrants for 3,156 shares of
common stock with an exercise price of $9.50 paresh
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SeriesB
In 2007, the Company issued warrants to purcha3esB8res of Series B convertible preferred stoanaixercise price of $69.00 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with pgsamy notes. The initial fair value of the warraoit$25,000 was recorded as a credit to

warrant liability and a discount to the carryindueaof the debt. The discount on the debt was fathortized to interest expense upon
conversion of the debt in 2007. These warrantsraatizally expired immediately prior to the consuntiora of the Company’s IPO.

In 2007, the Company issued warrants to purcha8Ishares of Series B convertible preferred stban exercise price of $69.00 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with thguat 2007 secured equipment loan with SVB and GldidThe initial fair value of the
warrants of $172,000 was recorded as a credit teawhliability and an issuance cost of the debie Ssuance cost of the debt was fully
amortized in 2008. Immediately prior to the consuation of Company’s IPO, these convertible prefestatk warrants converted to warrants
for 10,299 shares of common stock with an exenmige of $11.64 per share.

Series C converted into Series D

In 2008, the Company issued warrants to purcha&@54hares of Series C convertible preferred sdbek exercise price of $159.30 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with the2D08 secured equipment loan. The exercise pncenumber of warrants were subjec
change upon the closing of a Series D convertitdéepred stock financing agreement. In conjunctidgth the Series D convertible preferred
stock financing in August 2009, the warrants becarecisable for Series D convertible preferredlstd he conversion resulted in warrant:
purchase 103,173 shares of Series D convertibferpeel stock with an exercise price of $7.56. Tiitadl fair value of the warrants of $0.8
million was recorded as a credit to warrant ligpiind an issuance cost of the debt. The issuarsteo€the debt was amortized to interest
expense over the life of the debt. In 2010, 20092008, the Company had amortized debt issuands ¢b$410,000, $259,000 and $108,000,
respectively. For the period from June 14, 200%¢(dinception) to December 31, 2010, amortizelot desuance costs amounted to $0.8
million. Immediately prior to the consummation bétCompany’s IPO, the convertible preferred stoekrants converted to warrants for
103,173 shares of common stock with an exercisemf $7.56 per share.

SeriesD

In 2009, the Company issued warrants to purcha8gl83 shares of Series D convertible preferreckstib@an exercise price of $7.56 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with pgeamy notes. The initial fair value of the warraoft$1.5 million was recorded as a credit to
warrant liability and a discount to the carryindueaof the promissory note. The discount on therpssory notes was amortized to interest

expense over the life of the debt in 2009. In Au@@99, the discount was fully amortized upon theversion of the promissory notes. These
warrants automatically net exercised into shareofmon stock immediately prior to the consummatibthe Company’s IPO.

SeriesE

In August and September 2010, the Company issueghase rights for an aggregate of 1,587,302 studr8sries E convertible preferred stock
to the purchasers of its Series E convertible prefestock. The purchase rights allowed each hatdpurchase a pro-rata portion of additional
shares of Series E convertible preferred stock @&8pper share in the second and third closingseoSeries E convertible preferred stock
financing. Pursuant to the terms of the Seriesriverible preferred stock purchase agreement,gbersl and third closings must occur by

December 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively, or d@alipublic offering, in each case whichever occeaslier. The initial value of the purchase
rights was determined to be an aggregate of $2.7
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million of which $1.5 million was recorded as aueton to the net book value of the Series E cditerpreferred stock issued upon
conversion of the promissory notes in August 201 $1.1 million was recorded as a reduction tontsiebook value of the Series E convert
preferred stock sold for cash in August and Sepezr@db10. The initial valuation of the Series E pase rights was calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following as®mptions: contractual term ranging from 0.4 to lyéars; volatility ranging from 59.52%
70.10%; 0% dividend rate; and a risk-free interat ranging from 0.19% to 0.25%.

On October 6, 2010, the Series E convertible prefestock purchase agreement was amended to, astiuergmatters, accelerate the timing of
the second and third closings and increase the auoflshares to be sold during these closings &ggnegate of 1,637,310 shares.
Subsequently, on October 6 and 14, 2010, the Iohfahe Series E convertible preferred stock pasetrights exercised their rights and
purchased 1,398,580 and 238,730 shares of Seden\ertible preferred stock, respectively, at $B6share for total gross proceeds of $
million. Upon exercise of the Series E convertipleferred stock purchase rights, the Company rsifiled the value of these rights to prefer
stock.

9. Common Stock

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as adeshin November 2010, authorizes the Company te@i860,000,000 shares of $0.001 par
value common stock.

On March 10, 2010, the Company granted 786,533stafrcommon stock to its founders. The Compangrcel the common stock’s fair
value of $1.8 million as an expense, of which $@ilion was recorded in general and administragxpense and $0.9 million in research and
development expense.

On November 16, 2010, the Company closed its IP@@J0,000 shares of common stock at an offeringepof $9.00 per share, resulting in
net proceeds of approximately $47.2 million, afteducting underwriting discounts, commissions difering expenses. Immediately prior to
the consummation of the Company’s IPO, all outstamdhares of preferred stock were converted intoroon stock, and the associated
liquidation preference rights were terminated. ddition, certain of the Company’s outstanding pnefé and common stock warrants were
automatically exercised on a net basis and theiréngaoutstanding convertible preferred stock watsaautomatically converted into warrants
to purchase 116,628 shares of common stock, asssied in Note 8.

10. Warrants for Common Stock

On August 12, 2009, the Company issued warranpsitchase 1,630,629 shares of common stock at anisxgrice of $1.50 per share. These
warrants were issued in connection with the ComjsaBgries D convertible preferred stock offeringeTinitial fair value of the warrants was
calculated using the Black-Scholes option priciradel with the following assumptions: seven-yeartastual term; 105.56% volatility; 0%
dividend rate; and a risk-free interest rate ofl362 The fair value of $2.0 million was allocatedhe warrants and recorded as a credit to
additional paid-in capital and as a reduction efpnoceeds from Series D convertible preferredkstoaring November 2010, warrants for
405,542 shares were exercised for cash. Immediptidy to the consummation of the CompaniPO, the remaining outstanding warrants \
exercised on a net basis into shares of commoR.stoc

In connection with the issuance of promissory notebe second and third quarters of 2010, the Gomssued warrants to purchase a nut
of shares of common stock equal to the produc®e®bthe principal amount of the promissory noted the number of months between the
date of issuance of the warrant and the date afi¢iefinancing (up to five months), divided by $0.. Consequently, contingent warrants to
purchase up to an aggregate of 3,707,130 shamswhon stock were issued (assuming the full fivatlng). The warrants have an exercise
price of $1.50 per share and expire upon the &fthiversary of their issuance date
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which is the same date as the issue date of theamiel promissory notes. The initial value of thatawent warrants was calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the followgi assumptions: five-year contractual term; vatgtianging from 80.87% to 81.43%; 0%
dividend rate; and a risk-free interest rate ragdiom 1.76% to 2.58%. The fair value of the cogéint warrants in the amount of $5.4 million
was recorded as a credit to additional paid-intehpind as a discount on the proceeds of the psamisiotes. The fair value of the warrants
was being amortized to interest expense usingffeeteve interest rate method over the term ofgghemissory notes. On August 6, 2010, upon
conversion of the promissory notes into Series ivedible preferred stock, the remaining valuehaf debt discount of $4.5 million was
recorded as an issuance cost of the Series E dinegreferred stock. In connection with the casien of the promissory notes into Series E
convertible preferred stock, the Company determthedactual number of shares of common stock uyidegrthe warrants previously
contingently exercisable to be 1,848,849 sharesn@WNovember 2010, warrants for 7,856 shares wregcised for cash. As of December 31,
2010, warrants for 1,840,993 shares of common gttiain outstanding.

During August and September 2010, each investBenies E convertible preferred stock received comstock warrants for 25% of the
number of shares of Series E convertible prefesteck purchased by each investor. Contingent wetarpurchase an aggregate of 1,318,719
shares of common stock were issued. The warradtsim&xercise price of $2.69 per share and weegge on the fifth anniversary of their
issuance date, which was the Series E convertiefemped stock purchase date, if not terminatelieeahe warrants were exercisable only if
the Company failed to ship genomic data for attl889 genomes between May 1, 2010 and Septemb&030, The initial value of the
contingent warrants was calculated using the BBcheles option pricing model with the following asptions: five-year contractual term;
volatility ranging from 80.71% to 80.87%; 0% divitterate; and a risk-free interest rate ranging flod1% to 1.51%. The value of the
warrants was determined to be $2.0 million of wikdhl million was recorded as a reduction of thieboek value of the Series E convertible
preferred stock issued upon conversion of the pgsany notes in August 2010 and $0.9 million wasreed as a reduction of the net book
value of the Series E convertible preferred stad#l for cash in August and September 2010. On $dpte 29, 2010, the Company’s Board
determined that the Company had shipped genomicfdaat least 369 genomes between May 1, 201Gaptember 30, 2010. Pursuant to
their terms the warrants were subsequently terméhahd are no longer outstanding as of Decembe&t(@0.

On November 16, 2010, certain of the Company’stanting convertible preferred stock warrants autarally converted into warrants to
purchase 116,628 shares of common stock, as detirsdlote 8.

In December 2010, the Company issued a warraninchpse 49,834 shares of common stock at an eggrdte of $7.224 per share in
connection with the Atel Loan Agreement. The warexpires on the tenth anniversary of its issuatate. The initial fair value of the warrant
was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pgichodel with the following assumptions: 10-yeantcactual term; 76.2% volatility; 0%
dividend rate; and a risk-free interest rate o833 The value of the warrant was determined to282®00 and was recorded as liability and a
discount to the carrying value of the loan. Theueadf the warrant was recorded as a liability dueertain mandatory redemption features at
the option of the holder. The discount is being aiped to interest expense using the effectiverggerate method over the three-year term of
the loan. These warrants will be marked to markeheeporting period and the fair value will be anfed in part by the change in the
Company'’s stock price, among other factors.

In March 2011, the Company issued a warrant tohage 160,128 shares of common stock at an exgnitseof $7.494 per share in
connection with the Oxford Loan Agreement. The watrexpires on the seventh anniversary of its imseid@ate. The initial fair value of the
warrant was calculated using the Black-Scholesoaptricing model with the following assumptionsvee year contractual term; 75.01%
volatility; 0% dividend rate; and a risk-free ingst rate of 2.87%. The fair value of the warrans watermined to be $987,000
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and was recorded as equity in additional paid-pitahand a discount to the carrying value of thenl. The discount is being amortized to
interest expense using the effective interestrragthod over the 42-month term of the loan.

11. Stock Options

In 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Equity Ineermlan (the “2006 Plan”) which provides for thaugting of stock options to employees,
directors and consultants of the Company. In Sejpéera010, the Board approved the 2010 Equity Irieetward Plan (the “2010 Plan”) and
the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”)jra@ttober 2010, the Company’s stockholders apmtakie 2010 Plan and ESPP. The
2006 Plan was terminated and no further stock asvaitl be granted out of the 2006 Plan as of tlieativeness of the 2010 Plan. Outstanding
stock options granted under the 2006 Plan will ionrst to be governed by the provisions of the 20@é Bntil the earlier of the stock option’s
expiration or exercise.

Equity Incentive Awards

The 2010 Plan has a reserve of 2,450,000 sharasldition to the shares currently reserved unde010 Plan, the shares available under the
2006 Plan as of the 2010 Plargffective date, which was 655,394 shares, wededtb the 2010 Plan reserve. Upon cancellatiangfoption:
outstanding under the 2006 Plan, subsequent t2ahe Plan’s effective date, the shares underlyirod ®ptions will also be added to the 2010
Plan reserve. On the first day of each year, baggnim 2011 and ending in 2020, the 2010 Plan keseill be increased by the lesser of

(i) 7,000,000 shares, (ii) 4% of the shares of camstock outstanding on the last date of the piagegtar and (iii) such smaller number of
shares of common stock as determined by the Bbdartvithstanding the foregoing, no more than 75,283,shares of common stock may be
issued upon the exercise of incentive stock optiorder the 2010 Plan. The number of shares resenger the 2010 Plan increased by
1,036,905 shares (unaudited), effective Janua?@1l. As of December 31, 2010 and March 31, 20tketwere 2,971,894 and 3,938,944
(unaudited) shares, respectively, available torbatgd under the 2010 Plan.

Under the 2010 Plan, the Board, or a committe@@Board, may grant incentive and nonqualifiedlstmations, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock units, or restricted stock awaodsmployees, directors and consultants to the @ompr any subsidiary of the Company. The
purpose of the 2010 Plan is to promote the suaeg®nhance the value of the Company by linkingolreonal interests of the members of
Board, employees and consultants to those of Coyngtackholders and by providing such individualshvan incentive for outstanding
performance to generate superior returns to Compengkholders.

Under both the 2006 and 2010 Plans, options tohase the Company’s common stock may be grantegradeanot less than the fair market
value (“FMV") on the grant date, except for an inttee stock option grant to an employee who ownsentban 10% of the voting power of all
classes of stock of the Company, in which casexeecise price shall be no less than 110% of th® pr share on the grant date. The
Company has historically granted options that eest a fouryear period. Options expire as determined by thar@of Directors, but not mao
than ten years after the date of grant.
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The following table summarizes stock option acivit

Outstanding Options Weighted
Weighted average
remaining
average Aggregate contractual
Number of exercise intrinsic
shares price value life (years)

(in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 200 1,535,46! $ 3.47 $ 754

Options grante: 1,650,19! 2.6¢

Options exercise (117,359 1.5C 28C

Options forfeitec (76,687 1.5C

Options expirec (121,87) 1.54

Outstanding at December 31, 201 2,869,74 2.1¢ 15,16¢ 9.0
Options vested and expected to \ 2,619,45! 2.1¢ 13,88t 9.0¢
Options vested and exercisa 996,49! $ 1.57 $ 6,66¢ 8.6¢€

Valuation of Stock Option Grantsto Employees

The Company estimates the fair value of its stqutlons to employees on the grant date, using taekBScholes option valuation model. The
fair value of employee stock options is being aiet on a straight-line basis over the requisitgise period of the awards. The fair value of
employee stock options was estimated using theviilig assumptions:

Years ended December 31,

2009 2010
Expected tern 5.3- 6.1 year 5.5 years
Expected volatility 74.0- 92.4% 79.0- 80.8%
Expected dividend raf 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rat 1.8-2.7% 1.5-2.8%

Risk-Free Interest Rate: The Company determined the risk-free interestlgtesing a weighted average assumption equivabethet
expected term based on the U.S. Treasury constanrity rate as of the date of grant.

Expected Volatility: Prior to the consummation of its IPO on November2l8.0, the Company determined its future stockepvilatility
based on the average historical stock price vijatf comparable peer companies. After the consation of its IPO, the Company used a
blend of the historical stock price volatility abmparable peer companies and the historical stock golatility of the Company’s own
common stock.

Expected Term: Due to the limited exercise history of the Comparyivn stock options, the Company determined theerp term based
the term used by companies that are in a simitfustry and life cycle and have comparable revemdenzarket capitalization.

Expected Dividend Rate: The Company has not paid and does not anticipaiegany dividends in the near future.

Restricted Stock Units

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company tgdr27,500 restricted stock units to members dio&rd of directors. The weightederage
grant date fair value of the restricted stock uisit87.75 per share. The restricted stock units amsually over three years. None had vested as
of December 31, 2010 or March 31, 2011 (unaudited)ing the three months ended March 31, 2010 &1d 2he Company did not grant any
restricted stock units.
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Valuation of Stock Option Grantsto Nonemployees

Total options outstanding as of December 31, 20tide 88,987 options that were granted to noneyegl®, of which 13,421 options were
unvested. The Company mainly grants stock optiomohemployees on its scientific advisory boardcktbased compensation expense
related to stock options granted to nonemployeescisgnized as the stock option is earned. The @agnpelieves that the estimated fair value
of the stock options is more readily measurable tha fair value of the services rendered. Thevalue of the stock options granted to
nonemployees is calculated at each reporting dateythe Black-Scholes options pricing model with following assumptions:

December 31,

2009 2010
Remaining contractual ter 6.5-10 years 6.9-9.7 year
Expected volatility 104.2- 111.5% 75.5- 76.6%
Expected dividend 0% 0 %
Risk-free interest rat 2.8-3.4% 1.8-3.2%
Compensation Expense
The Company granted stock options to employeesiandmployees to purchase common stock as follows:
Years ended Three months ended
December 31, March 31,
2008 2009 2010 2010 2011
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Number of options granted to nonemploy — 155,71: 37,50( — —
Number of options granted to employt 38,09( 1,307,911 1,612,69! 915,18¢ 103,70(
Weightec-average grant date fair value per share of op
granted to employee $ 42.6( $ 1.7¢C $ 2.1t $ 1.7¢C $ 4.9¢

Total fair value of options granted to employeescivivestec $ 201 $ 89¢ $ 74¢ $ 177 $ 30¢

The following table summarizes the stock-based @maation expense from stock option and restridimekaunit grants to employees and
nonemployees:

Years ended Three months ended
December 31, March 31,
2008 2009 2010 2011 2010
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Employee grant $284  $1,14:  $1,63C $ 472 $ 47€
Nonemployee grani 52 26€ 121 21 64
Total compensation expen $33€  $1,41C $1,751 $ 494 $ 54C

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had unrecedrétock-based compensation expense related tetaavgtock options and restricted
stock units granted to employees of $3.7 milliohjchi is expected to be recognized over the remgini@ighted-average vesting period of 2.8
years. As of March 31, 2011, the Company had umgeized stoc-based compensation expense related to unvestddmtitions and restricted
stock units granted to employees of $3.9 milliongudited), which is expected to be recognized tweremaining weighted-average vesting
period of 2.8 years (unaudited).
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Stock Option Modifications

In December 2009, the Company modified the vesteigedule of 731,944 options originally granted ovBimber 2009 to approximately 100
employees. The modification did not change the remalh options granted, and it did not have a sigaift impact on the compensation
expense recognized in the statement of operatanthé year ended December 31, 2009.

In January 2010, the Company modified stock opttorgurchase 85,477 shares of the Company’s constozk held by 106 employees and
consultants. The modification did not change anthefother terms or conditions of the options, it not have a significant impact on the
compensation expense recognized in the statemeenétions for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2010 ESPP became effective on November 16, @0d®as a reserve of 750,000 shares of commok fetoissuance thereunder. On the
first day of each year, beginning in 2011 and egd@n2020, the ESPP reserve will be increased byesser of (i) 2,800,000 shares, (ii) 2% of
the shares of common stock outstanding on thelasbf the preceding year or (iii) such other nundseis determined by the Board.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the reserve mayaxaeed 28,750,000 shares. Subject to certain tionits, the Compar's employees may

elect to have 1% to 15% of their compensation veéttithrough payroll deductions to purchase sharesmmon stock under the ESPP.
Employees purchase shares of common stock at@ peicshare equal to 85% of the lower of the fairkat value at the start or end of the six-
month offering period. The first offering periodder the 2010 ESPP will start May 15, 2011. The nemab shares reserved for issuance under
the ESPP increased by 518,452 shares (unaudifed}ie¢ January 1, 2011. As of December 31, 20XDMarch 31, 2011, 750,000 and
1,268,452 (unaudited) shares, respectively, of comstock are available for issuance under the ESPP.

12. Related Party Transactions

On March 28, 2006, the Company entered into afiécteal property license agreement (the “Agreefemith Callida Genomics Inc.
(“Callida™), a company owned by the Company’s Cl8efentific Officer, for use of certain patentstgyd applications, know-how and other
intellectual property relating to the Company’setechnology. As consideration for the rights doerises granted in this agreement, the
Company issued 13,333 shares of common stock t@&ain March 28, 2006, which was recorded atdisharket value as research and
development expense. The Company agreed to pagl&alcash payment of $250,000 on a yearly bagiksthe earlier of: (i) six years from

the date of the agreement of March 28, 2006, @ala, or other similar liquidity event, of Callidar consideration equal to, or exceeding, $2.0
million, (iii) the registration, listing and tradjnof the Company’s securities on an establisheckst@change or national market system or

(iv) the fair market value of the common sharesésisto Callida becoming equal to, or exceedind) $dllion. The agreement also required
Company to pay Callida a cash payment of $1.0 oni/livhich was paid in November 2008 and was recbadea research and development
expense. Additionally, the Company reimbursed @al$50,000 for the cost of patent prosecution imzlithrough the date of the agreement.

The intellectual property license agreement withidaincludes several termination provisions, udihg: any time after 15 months from the
contract date until the expiration of the conttactn the Company may terminate the agreement fpreason, or no reason, by giving Callida
written notice of termination. Upon terminationtbfs Agreement, the Company’s obligation to make famther payments, including those
referred to in the paragraph above, and the Conipaight to use any items covered in the licenseagent, are both cancelled.

During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2002@hd, the aggregate expenses under the licensenagné recorded in research and
development expense were $1.3 million , $250,0@D$250,000, respectively. In 2011,
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the Company exited the development stage. Accolglitiie $250,000 licensing payment made in March128 recorded as intangible asse
Other Assets. The intangible assets have an estimeeful life of five years and as of March 311 2Qhere was no accumulated amortization
recorded.

On February 21, 2007, the Company entered into {gsory notes with entities affiliated with OVP Raats and Enterprise Partners (existing
investors). The borrowing was for an aggregateggwal amount of up to $2,000,000, plus simple ie$éon the outstanding principal amount,
at the annual rate of 6%. The Company drew dowthemotes for a total of $1,000,000 during the ysated December 31, 2007. The
outstanding balance plus interest on the balansecaaverted into Series B convertible preferredlstiuring 2007. In connection with the
notes, the Company issued warrants to purchaseshfthe Company’s Series B convertible prefestedk as discussed in Note 8.

In November 2007, the Company entered into a ctingukgreement with Snezana Drmanac, the wife oDbmanac, the Company’s Chief
Scientific Officer and one of its founders. Mrs.ntanac provides research and development servilzgeddo the Company’s sequencing
technology as an independent contractor. Mrs. Demm@m compensated at a rate of $150 per hour fosdreices. In 2008, 2009 and 2010,
Mrs. Drmanac was a paid a total of approximately7Q00, $150,000 and $151,000, respectively, foisbevices pursuant to the consulting
agreement. The consulting agreement is for a térimeyears and can be terminated by either paitly ten days written notice.

On February 13, 2009, the Company entered into {ggory notes with various holders of the Compamyreferred stock. The borrowings w
for an aggregate principal amount of up to $14.Ifianj plus simple interest on the outstanding pipal amount, at the annual rate of 8%. The
Company drew down on the notes for the full priatimount during 2009. The outstanding balance iptesest on the balance was converted
into Series D convertible preferred stock durin@20n connection with the notes, the Company idsuarrants to purchase shares of the
Company’s Series D convertible preferred stockissudsed in Note 8.

13. Income Taxes

The Company has not recorded any income tax exgensiee years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 ah@d @0e to its history of operating
losses. The tax effects of temporary differencas gfive rise to significant portions of the defertax assets are as follows:
December 31,
2008 2009 2010

(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 13,37( $ 23,797 $ 43,16«
Research and development cre: 1,48¢ 2,40¢ 2,917
Capitalized sta-up costs 4,071 4,11¢ 3,46’
Accruals and reserve 221 2,34 2,54¢
Fixed assets and depreciat 143 261 251
Deferred tax asse 19,28¢ 32,93( 52,34(
Valuation allowanct (19,289 (32,930 (52,340
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ = $ =

The Company has established a full valuation allmesagainst its deferred tax assets due to thetairdg surrounding realization of these
assets. The valuation allowance increased $121libbmi$13.6 million and $19.4 million during thegrs ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and
2010, respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had net apgrlass carryforwards of approximately $108.5 iorland $107.7 million available to
reduce future taxable income, if any, for federal £alifornia state income tax
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purposes, respectively. The federal net operating tarryforward begins expiring in 2026, if ndlized, and the state net operating loss
carryforward begins expiring in 2016, if not utéid. The net operating loss related deferred teatas® not include excess tax benefits from
employee stock option exercises.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had reseathl@evelopment credit carryforwards of approximagil.4 million and $2.7 million
available to reduce taxable income, if any, forefedland California state income tax purposes.e@sgely. The federal credit carryforwards
begin expiring in 2026, and the state credit camyfrds do not expire. Because of net operating dmsl credit carryforwards, all of the
Company'’s tax years, dating to inception in 2008ai open to federal tax examinations. Most statiedictions have four open tax years at
any point in time.

Utilization of net operating loss and tax creditrgéorwards is subject to ownership change rulegrasided under the Internal Revenue Code
and similar state provisions. The Company has pmdd an analysis to determine whether an ownerdtapge has occurred from inception to
December 31, 2010. The analysis has determinedwisadwnership changes have occurred during thasgeDue to the ownership changes,
the utilization of these net operating losses asearch credits are subject to annual limitatiasweler, the Company believes that as of
December 31, 2010, no net operating losses orngdsead development credits will expire beforeizaiion due to these ownership change
the event the Company has a subsequent changengrsiip, net operating loss and research and dawelot credit carryovers could be
further limited and may expire unutilized.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adoptegtbeisions of the FASB’s guidance on accountinguiocertainty in income taxes. These
provisions provide a comprehensive model for tleegaition, measurement and disclosure in finarste@lements of uncertain income tax
position that a company has taken or expects ® daka tax return. Under these provisions, a compan recognize the benefit of an income
tax position only if it is more likely than not @ater than 50%) that the tax position will be sasté upon tax examination, based solely on the
technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise bemefit can be recognized. Assessing an uncegaiposition begins with the initial
determination of the sustainability if the positiand is measured at the largest amount of behetii$ greater than 50% likely of being reali
upon ultimate settlement. As of each balance sifeget unresolved uncertain tax positions must &ssessed. Additionally, companies are
required to accrue interest and related penalfiapplicable, on all tax exposures for which ressrhave been established consistent with
jurisdictional tax laws. The cumulative effect bfgt adoption is recorded as an adjustment to tiea@iog balance of its retained deficit on
adoption date.

As a result of the implementation of these provisiche Company recognized a $40,000 increase umiiecognized tax benefits. There wa:
increase in the January 1, 2007 balance of retaleédit since the benefit relates to attributergavers for which the related deferred tax asset
was subject to a full valuation allowance. At tli@jtion date of January 1, 2007 and as of DeceBibe2010, the Company had no accrued
interest or penalties related to the tax contingenSince the unrecognized tax benefit relatedttibute carryovers for which the related
deferred tax asset was subject to a full valuagidwance, the recognition of the unrecognizedatemefits will not affect the Company’s
effective tax rate. The Company has elected taigeinterest and penalties as a component of fagrese. The Company does not anticipate
that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits redatth tax positions existing at December 31, 2010significantly increase or decrease wit
the next 12 months.
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The aggregate changes in the balance of grossagmeed tax benefits were as follows:

(in thousands)

January 1, 2007 $ 40
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing the current peric 164
December 31, 200 204
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing the current peric 39t
December 31, 200: 59¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing the current peric 37C
December 31, 200! 96¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing the current peric 30C
December 31, 201! $ 1,26¢

14. Subsequent Events (unaudited)

On May 5, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directorgraped the filing of a Registration Statement omnfr&-1 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

On May 5, 2011, the Comparsyboard of directors approved a change in contrdlsseverance plan for its executive officers amgomember

of management. The change in control and severaaods expected to be effective in mid-2011 ugumnexecution of letter agreements by the
plan participants. In the event an executive offisgerminated without cause or experiences atoacts/e termination, the plan provides for a
lump sum cash payment equal to between six anddi2hs base salary and for COBRA coverage for tleewive officer and his covered
dependents for between six and 12 months, in ez ltased on the seniority of the executive offi€such termination occurs within 12
months of a change in control, the plan providesaflump sum cash payment equal to between nind&mdonths base salary and for COB
coverage for the executive officer and his covetependents for between nine and 18 months, in edbased on the seniority of the
executive officer, and the immediate and automaggting in full and exercisability of all unvestedquity awards.

F-34



Complete 4

genomics s




